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Financial Highlights

In millions, except per common share and selected data. At or for the year ended November 30.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Net revenues $ 19,257 § 17,583 $ 14,630 $ 11,576 $ 8647
Net income £ 4192 $ 4,007 $§ 3,260 g 2,369 $ 1,699
Total assets $691,063 $503,545 $410,063 $357,168 $312,061
Long-term borrowings » $123,150 % 81,178 $§ 53,899 $ 49,365 $ 35,885
Total stockholders equity § 22490 $ 19,191 $ 16,794 $ 14,920 $ 13,174
Total long-term capital = $145,640 $100,369 $ 70,693 $ 64,285 $ 50,369

PER. COMMON SHARE DATA®
Earnings (diluted) $ 720 $ 681 $ 543 $ 39 $ 317
Dividends declared $ 060 § 048 $ 040 $ 032 $ 024
Book value » $ 3944 $ 3347 $ 2875 $ 2466 $ 2209
Closing stock price $ 6263 § 7367 $ 6300 § 4189 $ 36.11

SELECTED DATA
Return on average commott

stockholders’ equity ® 20.8% 23.4% 21.6% 17.9% 18.2%
Return on average tangible

comumon stockholders’ equity ® 25.7% 29.1% 27.8% 24.7% 19.2%
Pre-tax margin 31.2% 33.6% 33.0% 30.4% 29.3%
Leverage ratio » 30.7x 26.2x 24.4x 23.9x 23.7x
Net leverage mtio » 16.1x 14.5x 13.6x 13.9x 15.3x
Weighted average common

shares (diluted) (in millions) » 568.3 578.4 587.2 581.5 519.7
Employees 28,556 25,936 22919 19,579 16,188
Assets under management (in billions) § 282 $ 225 $§ 175 $ 137 $§ 120

{1) Long-tarm bartowings excluda borrowings with ramaining
contraciual maturities within twelva months of the financial
statemant date,

12} Tatal long-1eem cepital includes long-term borrowings (exclud-
ing any borrowings with remaining contractual maturities within
one yaar of the financia! statament data) and total stockhoidars’
equity ang, &1 Novamber 30, 2003 preferrad sacurities subject o
mandatory rademption. We balive total Jong-tarm capital is useful
10 invastors as 4 measure of gur financial strangth.

{5) Return on average cammen stockholders’ equity is computed
by dividing net incoma applicable to common stock for the periad
by average comman stockholders’ eguity. Netincame appliceble
to common stock for the years anded Novembes 2007, 2006, 2005,
2004 and 2003 was, $4 1 billion, $1.9 bitlion, $3 2 billion, $2.3 biflion
and §1 6 billion, respactivaly. Average commen stockhalders’
squity for the years endad November 30, 2007, 2006, 2005, 2004,
and 2003 was $19.8 billicn, $18.8 billion, $14.7 billion, $12.8 billion,
and $9.1 billion, respaetrvsly.

{6] Return on average tangibla common stockholders’ equity is
puted by dividing net income agplicable to common stack for

(3) Common share and per share have been p
tivaly adjusted to give effect for the 2-for-1 comman stack split
effected in the form of  100% stock dividand, which became
affactiva April 28, 2006.

|4) The book value per commpn share calculation includes amor-
tized :astrictad stock units granted under ¢mployee stock awarg
programs, which hava been included in total stockholders” equity.

tha period by average tangibla cammon stockholders’ equity. Aver-
ege tangidle common stockholdars' equity equals averags total
comman stockholders’ equity tess avarage igentfiabla intangible
essots and goodwill. We baliave tengible common stockholdars’
equity is 8 meaningful measure bacause it reflects the cemmon

ders’ equity daployed in aur busi Avaraga identifi-
abla intangible assets and goodwill for the years endad November
20, 2007, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $3.8 billion, $3.3 illion, £33
bilfian, $3.5 bilkion, and $474 million, respectively.

{7 Levarage ratio is defined as total assets divided by tetal
stockholders’ aquity.

{8} Met leverage rato is defined as net assets {iotal assets
excluding: (i) cash and securities sagregated and on daposi for
regulatory and ather purpeses; (i) collateralized lending agree-
ments; and {iii) identifiable intangible assets and goodwill) divided
by tangibla equity capital. We believe net assets to be a mara
useful measura ot our assets than total assets bacause it excludes
certain low-risk, non-inventory assats. We beligve tangibla equity
capital to be 5 more meaningful measure of cur equity base as
itincludes instruments wa consider to be equity-kke due 1o their
subordinated nature, lang-term maturity snd interest deferral fea-
tures and excludes assets we do not consider gvailabla 1o support
our ramaining net assets. These massuras may not be comparable
ta othar, similarly titled calculations by other compenies as a result
of different calculati thodologies. See "Salactad Financis!
Data™ for additional information abous net assets and tangitle
aguity capital.
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that reflect our expectations over the next five years,
between 2008 and 2012. These growth metrics include
achieving a five-year organic sales compound annual
growth rate between 3 percent and 5 percent. We also
expect to deliver bottom-line growth in diluted earnings
per share from continuing operations of between 10
percent and 15 percent on a compound annual basis.

Additionally, we have set profitability goals to drive
long-term shareholder value. We expect to achieve

an EBITDA! margin of between 14 percent and 16
percent by 2012. We also introduced a Return on Gross
Investment (ROGI) metric, which strongly correlates to
total shareholder return, in order to focus the enterprise
on cash returns on investment. We expect to achieve
ROGI of between 10 percent and 12 percent by 2012.
These goals establish our expectations for delivering
sustainable and profitable long-term growth.

of our past accomplishments and see even greater
opportunities ahead. We have built a solid foundation
from which to grow and we are committed to leveraging
it on a global scale. Our enhanced profitability profile

has resulted from key strategic and structural changes. Our
strong balance sheet and free cash-flow generation, together
with our global footprint and scalable organization, has set
the stage for profitable organic growth.

In 2008, we anticipate continued challenging market
conditions. However, we are confident in our growth
strategy, one that is focused on customer intimacy,
innovation, differentiation and adding value. We
have the leadership and structure in place to take our
company to the next level. We have great employees,
energy, enthusiasm and momentum. And we are
committed to the long-term satisfaction of our
shareholders, customers, partners and associates.

In 1887, Harvey Benjamin Fuller, a man with an
entrepreneurial streak, dabbled in glue, and a company
- our company - was born. We have a rich heritage, but
even more importantly, we have a fantastic future. We
are 120 years young. We are turning the page on a new
chapter in our story, one that is focused on profitable
organic growth. We look forward to continuing our
transformation, and to continuing to deliver solid
financial results. Thank you for your ongoing support.

Ll d 4
Micp#le Volpi

President and Chief Executive Officer
H.B. Fuller Company

IEBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure defined as gross profit, less SG&A expense, plus depreciation expense, plus amortization expense.



2007 Net Revenue by Segment

We are pleased that the actions we have taken over the
past several years have resulted in improved and more
predictable results, and gratified that our performance
has been recognized by Forbes. For the third consecutive
year, H.B. Fuller was included on the magazine's list of
the 400 Best Big Companies in America, affirmation that
we are consistently delivering shareholder value. We will
remain vigilant in our efforts to enhance profitability.
The turnaround is just chapter one of our story.

Strategic Priorities for Future Growth

The next phase of H.B. Fuller’s transformation,
beginning in 2008, centers on growing our core
business. Importantly, we are enhancing our value
proposition in order to leverage future growth
opportunities, evolving from simply an adhesives
manufacturer to an integrated solutions player. Our
focus is on creating customer intimacy, through
collaboration and partnerships with our customers,
with end users, and with others in the value chain who
prize innovation, differentiation and performance
through value-added, high-quality products, services
and solutions. We will harness the power of Lean Six
Sigma, which has proven instrumental in helping us
achieve dramatic process improvements, to now help
drive growth.

In addition to growing our core business, we will invest
in future growth through geographic expansion, and
mergers and acquisitions.

[l North America
] Europe

(] Latin America
[] Asia Pacific

2007 Operating Income by Segment

Geographic Expansion ~ Our focus is on the fast-
growing areas of Eastern Europe, the Middle East,
Africa, China, Brazil, India and Mexico. We will
consider both organic investments and alliances to
help establish our footprint, better serve our global
accounts and enhance our growth profile.

Mergers and Acquisitions — We intend to

take a highly disciplined approach to mergers

and acquisitions. Generally, we will look for
acquisitions to be accretive within one year,
although we may consider opportunities that
positively contribute to our growth and return on
investment objectives within three years that are
dilutive in the short term. We have established
four criteria for potential acquisitions. They must:
be synergistic with our core strengths in adhesion
technology and applications; reinforce our pursuit
of a differentiation strategy; present opportunities
to leverage our global presence, and commercial
and technical capabilities; and contribute to the
company’s profitability and growth objectives.

We envision that any acquisitions would either
provide opportunities for geographical expansion
in target markets such as Asia, Latin America,
Eastern Europe, the Middle East and Africa;

be bolt-on acquisitions of small businesses in
markets where we have an existing presence;

or give us greater scale. Our industry remains
highly fragmented and we see these types of
opportunities as a low-risk, quickly executable
means of achieving our desired growth.



The past year was remarkable in many respects for

H.B. Fuller. Our 3,200 associates celebrated the
company'’s 120th anniversary year, reflecting our long
history of success. We delivered solid financial results,
continued our turnaround under a new management
team, and launched our plan for H.B. Fuller’s continued
transformation and future growth.

Financial Highlights

[ am pleased to report that H.B. Fuller continued to
show solidly improved performance in fiscal 2007. The
company's financial results exceeded our expectations,
despite a challenging North American macroeconomic
environment and slowing growth in Europe, Latin
America and Asia.

The full-year financial highlights:

+ Netrevenue of $1.4 billion, up 1.0 percent

»  Gross margin expanded 160 basis points
to 29.9 percent

»  Return on gross investment (ROGI) increased
from 7.5 percent at the end of 2006 to 9.6 percent

+  Made key strategic portfolio move, divested
interest in automotive joint venture

Notably during the year, H.B. Fuller authorized its first
share repurchase program in nearly 10 years. Our strong
balance sheet, free cash-flow generation and ongoing
commitment to long-term shareholder value creation
led us to initiate a $100 million repurchase program

in July 2007. The company completed the entire share
buyback within five months, reflecting our expectations
for the continued strong performance of the business.

“Our strong balance sheet and free cash-flow generation,
together with our global footprint and scalable organization,
has set the stage for profitable organic growth.”

- Michele Volpi, President and Chief Executive Officer

Completing the Turnaround

H.B. Fuller’s turnaround is, for the most part, complete.
We have made foundational changes meant to radically
transform the company for the years to come, such as
our implementation of profitable pricing disciplines,
productivity improvements, cost controls, net working
capital efficiencies and capital structure enhancements.
These are some of the process improvement changes
that we expect will deliver long-term, improved results
for our shareholders.

We have realigned the organization to accelerate
growth. The company is now organized around four
operational regions: North America, Europe, Latin
America and Asia Pacific.

We also repositioned our product lines and business
portfolio. Our market focus is now balanced between
counter-cyclical segments in two primary markets: the
fast-moving consumer goods market, serving packaging,
hygiene and textiles; and the construction market,
encompassing doors, panels, flooring and insulating glass.
Our commercial efforts are directed toward building
strategic accounts with global multinational companies.

We also seek strategic partnerships with original
equipment manufacturers and product distributors,

In addition, we have divested those businesses that did
not fit with our strategic focus. Accordingly, in 2007,
we exited our automotive joint venture.

Our goal is to pursue opportunities where we both have
market leadership positions and are able to generate the
highest return on our investment. Across our markets,
we will pursue specialty products, brands, applications
and services where we can differentiate ourselves.



H.B. FULLER AT A GLANCE

H.B. Fuller Company is a leading worldwide
manufacturer and marketer of adhesives,
sealants, paints and other specialty chemical
products. Our products lie at the heart of
many of the manufactured goods we use every
day. The materials from which our homes are
built, the household appliances upon which we
depend, the shoes we wear, the paper products
we use — many of them rely on H.B. Fuller
products to make them better, stronger, easier
to use and sometimes, simply possible. Our
customers and stakeholders also rely on

H.B. Fuller’s vision, reliability and predictability
- all fruits of our 120-year legacy in the
specialty chemical industry.

H.B. Fuller Company is headquartered in

St. Paul, Minn., employs approximately 3,200
associates and maintains a global network of
manufacturing plants and technical service
centers. The company has sales operations

in 32 countries across North America,
Europe, Latin America and the Asia Pacific
region, allowing us to reach customers in
100 nations. H.B. Fuller Company’s stock

is traded on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol FUL.

THE MARKETS WE SERVE:

H.B. Fuller’s business and product lines,
delivered across its regional operating
segments, allow us to serve a broad customer
base in an increasing number of markets
around the world.

The graphic to the right, like the cover
of our annual report, illustrates some
of the end-market applications for our
adhesive technologies.

FAST-MOVING CONSUMER GOODS

PACKAGING

Hot Melt Adhesives

HYGIENE

Hot Melt Adhesives

TEXTILES

Reactive Hot
Melt Adhesives

CONSTRUCTION

PERFORMANCE WOOD

Reactive Hot
Melt Adhesives

FLOORING

Cement, Water-based

and Reactive Hot
Melt Adhesives

WINDOW

Reactive Hot Melt
Adhesives, Sealants
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DIVERSIFICATION ACROSS BUSINESSES

[nvestment Banking

Our [nvestment Banking Division employs a global
approach geared to each of the markets in which it does
business. Qur goal is to be a trusted partner for our clients,
meeting their most important needs by developing and
delivering innovative and tailored solutions.

The evidence that we are delivering value for our
chents is in our results. The Investment Banking Division
posted its fourth consecutive record year in 2007, bolstered
by continued growth in the Americas, increased activity n
Europe and the Middle East, and strong performance in
Asia-Pacific. In the Amertcas, we strengthened our pres-
ence in Canada and added an investment banking team in
Brazil. The division continued to expand its footprint in
Europe and the Middle East by opening an office in Dubai,

securing a license to operate in Qatar, and establishing a

presence in Russia and Turkey. As part of the Firm’s multi-

year plan to build a full-scale franchise in the Asia-Pacific

region, we expanded senior banker coverage, as well as
M&A and financial sponsor capabilities, and utilized Global
Finance, aligned with Capital Markets, through our proven
joint venture framework.

During the year, we advised on 10 of the 20 largest
announced M&A transactions worldwide, and on four of

the top five completed M&A transactions. As we extend

our global presence and capabilities, we continue to focus

on deepening our partnerships with our clients by deliver- A GE Plastics
ing the entire Firm to them. Lehman Brothers acted as financial
advisor to General Electric on its

$11.6 billion sale of its GE Plastics unit

to Saudi Basic Industries Corporation.
The transaction represents the third-
largest US. chemicals deal in history.
The Firm has a long-standing rela-
tonship with General Electric, having
completed in excess of §125 billion of

fixed income transactions since 2000,

-
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< ABN AMRO
Lehman Brothers acted as financial advisor to
ABN AMRQ on its €71 billion sale to a consortium
of Royal Bank of Scotland, Fortis and Banco
Santander, the largest-ever M&A transaction
in the banking sector. In addition, the Firm
advised ABN AMRRO on the $21 billion sale
of LaSalle Bank, its U.S. subsidiary, to Bank
of America, the disposal of ABN AMRO
Mortgage Group to CitdMortgage, and the

€8.2 billion acquisition of Banca Antonveneta
in 2005.

A Linn Energy, LLC
tn 2007, Linn Energy, an independent natural gas
and oil company, priced a $1.5 billion private
investment in public equity (PIPE), the largest
marketed PIPE transaction ever priced. Lehnuan
Brothers acted as lead placement agent and
Lehman Brothers MLP Opportunity Fund
L.Pacted as the lead investor. In conjunc-
tion with this transaction, Linn hedged 223
befe of matural gas and oil. Lelunan Brothers
Conunodity Services acted as sole structur-
ing and execution agent. The Firm was joint
bookrunner on Linn’s [PC in 2006, and has

served as placement agent on two previous
PIPE offerings.

A Altria Group, Inc.
Lehman Brothers acted as financial advisor to
Altria Group, Inc. on its $62 billion spin-off of
Kraft Foods, Inc., the largest U.S. spin-off and
the second-largest global spin-off in history.




IDIVERSIFICATION ACKOSS BBUSINESSES

Equities

Global equity markets continue to deepen, highlighted by
increased use of derivative products, expanded trading
mediums, and explosive volumes. This growing complexity
underscores the necessity of partnering with chents to
provide seamless execution, the highest-quality research,
and robust infrastructure.

Throughout 2007, we made significant progress
n executing our growth and diversification strategy —
balanced investments across regions, segments, and products.
We have invested heavily in our Asia and Emerging
Markets franchises. Our strengthened presence in Asia was
demonstrated by our acquisition of the Institutional Equity
Group of Brics Securities, a leading brokerage firm in India.
In addition, we added significant capabilities in Turkey,
Russta, and Brazil.

As the equities market structure 1s dynamic, access
to liquidity continues to be a critical resource. Our global
LX™ platform allows clients to access the Firm’s liquidity
directly via a suite of electronic direct access trading algo-
richms. In December 2007, we announced the acquisition
of Van der Moolen's specialist book. This new business
emphasizes our commitiment to promoting a competitive,
transparent, public market, while increasing liquidity.

We continue to invest in our infrastructure —
enhancing our trading platforms and ensuring the highest
risk management standards. As our clients continue to seek
opportunities beyond their home markets, we look to com-
bine local expertise with a superior global infrastructure.
This strategic combination has led us to hold top market

share positions across major markets globally.

v Electronic Trading
Our Electronic Trading Services business
continues to enhance access to liquidity options
and provide a sophisticated suite of trading
analytics to assist clients in decision-making.
In 2007, we expanded our offering through
the European launch of LX™, our global
crossing placform. which offers access to
dark Bquidiry. We also broadened our suite
of LMX trading strategies by adding several

new advanced algorithms.

130 brendesw M3t
4 cranwell Mar
1 chang M3t
6 chang Mit
8 brandesw Mar
5 chang Mar
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158 chang Mat

A China Financial Investor Forum
In September 2007, Lehman Brothers sponsored
the China Financial lnvestor Forum in Beijing,
which was organized by the financial
publication Caijing magazine. The Forum
showecased the Firm’s capital markets and
investrent banking capabilities, introduc-
ing our global investors to China’s financial
sector, and providing a platform for in-depth
dialogmie among policymiakers, senior

corporate management, and investors.
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< Capital Markets Prime Services
Capital Markets Prime Services is a premier
provider of comprehensive financing, servicing,
and industry expertise to hedge fund managers,
institutional asset managers and financial institu-
tions. In 2007, we delivered for our Equiries
clients by extending our imarket-leading
scenario-based margining globally, providing
superior short covering, and demonstrating
strong Furures and Quant Prime brokerage
leadership. We also extended our footprint in
Asia, providing increased prime solutions for

our clients.

LEHMAN BroTezrs 2007 ANsual REPORT

< VMware Inc,

Lehman Brothers acted as
joint bookrunner on ViMiware's
$1.1 biltion IPO. VMiware is
the global leader in virtual-
ization solutions from the
desktop to the dam center.
The offering represents

the largest technology [PO
since 2004 and the largest

software 1PO ever.

| < China CITIC Bank

Lehman Brothers was joint global coordinator,

joint bookrunner and joint sponsor for the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange IPO of China CITIC Bank’s
$5.9 billion IPO and concurrent listing in Hong
Kong and Shanghai. The offering was one of the
largest [POs globally and the largest iPO on

the Hong Kony Stock Exchange for the year.

L

A MF Global Led.
Lehman Brothers acted as joint bookrunner on
MF Global’s $2.9 billion IPO. The company is
the largest specialty broker of exchange-listed
futures and options. providing execution and
clearing services for its clients throughout
the world. The offering represented both the
second-lirgest ULS. TPO sinece 2003 and the

largest-ever financial technology [PO.

9
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v Capital Markets Prime Services
. We offer proven expertise and strategic solu-
leed Income tions to our clients at every stage of growth,
across the capital markets. In 2007, Prime
Services leveraged the Firm's Fixed
Income market share to provide clients
with optimal financing, short and liquid

Our Fixed Income Capital Markets business continued
muarket coverage. We also provide clients

to partner with clients on some of their most important with access to the Firm's leading research

transactions in 2007, helping them bring to market and analytics, and an extensive and scal-
. , able intermediation and derivatives prime
landmark issues such as the world’s first managed constant

brokerage offering worldwide.

proportion debt obligations, the largest-ever United Arab
Emirates dirham-denominated bond, and several of the
biggest and most challenging leveraged transactions.
International Financing Review magazine named Lehman
Brothers its European Leveraged Finance House for the
second time in two years, and Inustittional Investor ranked
the Firm #1 for the e¢ighth consecutive year in its All-
America Fixed Income Research poll.

We continued to invest in our franchise, appointing
key personnel as we grew our Commodities, Foreign
Exchange and Credit businesses, and expanded our foot-
print — most notably in the Asia-Pacific region and key
emerging markets.

Amid unprecedented credic market dislocation
and weakening global growth, clients increased the amount
of business they do with us. One measure of how we
delivered for our clients, Fixed Income sales credit volume,
rose 40% in 2007. More than ever, we believe, our risk

management capabilities, strategic advice, and support

across cycles has been of significant value to our clients A Jebel Ali Free Zone FZE

One of the world’s largest free zones and
logistical hubs, the Jebel Ali Free Zone hosts in
excess of 5,700 companies from more than 110

and partners.

countries. Marketing a $1 billion equivalent
five-year Sukuk through a syndicate which
included Lehman Brothers, the deal saw
such momentum that it was doubled in size.
The deal was the first bookrun Sukuk for
Lehman Brothers and, at AED 7.5 billion,
was the largest AED-denominated bond

and/or Sukuk ever.




500 -
For the periods ended {in millions U.S. except per-share and percentage data)

600 -
2005 2006 2007

Net revenue $1,320.6 $1,386.1 $1,400.3 wor
Gross profit $367.4 $406.4 $418.7 . 2005 2006 2007
Gross margin 27.6% 20.3% 29.9% Net Revenue (U.S. dolfars in millions}
Selling, general and $289.0 $296.9 $275.9
administrative expenses (SG&A) so0
Operating income? $78.4 $108.5 $142.8

400
Qperating margin 5.9% 7.9% 10.2% —
EBITDA? $128.0 $156.2 $193.2 300 -
EBITDA margin 9.6% 11.3% 13.8%
Income from continuing operations $0.91 $1.21 $1.66 wor
before cumulative effect of accounting
change per diluted share 1o

2005}

Selected Balance Sheet Data (in millions U.S. except percentage data) Gross Profit (U1.S. dotiars in millions)

200
2005 2006 2007
Total assets $1,107.6 $1,478.5 $1,364.6 150k
Cash and cash equivalents $158.1 $255.1 $246.4
BrzRg
Total debt $146.8 $258.7 $172.6 ook
Total stockholders’ equity $587.1 $777.8 $799.0
Total debt to total capital ratio 20.0% 25.0% 17.8% sof
2005]

'In fiscal year 2008, SG&A expense included $12.3 million in charges associated with a separation agreement
entered into with the company's former chief executive ofticer.

2Operating income is a non-GAAP financial measure defined as gross profit less SG&A expense. zo0r
See reconcitiation below {in millions U.5.).
2005 2006 2007 150k
Gross profit $367.4 $406.4 $418.7 :
Less: SGAA expense $289.0 $296.9 $275.9
Operating income $78.4 $109.5 $142.8
% of Net revenue 5.9% 7.9% 10.2% 1601
0
2EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure defined as gross profit less SG&A expense plus depreciation S0
expense plus amortization expense. See reconciliation below (in millions U.S.). o050k
2005 2006 2007
Gross profit $367.4 $406.4 $418.7 005}
Less: SG&A expense $289.0 $296.9 $2759 0.00
Plus: Depreciation expense $;6.8 $g?.7 236.3 Income from continuing operations
Plus: Amortization expense 2.7 9.0 14,0 b : ;
e —_—  Ten-an efore cumulative effect of accountin
EBITDA $128.0 $156.2 $193.2 ch r diluted share 9
% of Net revenue 9.6% 11.3% 13.8% ange per ailuied s
*Return on Gross Investment (ROGI) is defined as Gross Cash Flow divided by Gross Investrment. 0
Gross Cash Flow for a given period is calculated as:
{Gross Profit — SG&A expense) X (1- an assumed tax rate of 29%,) + Depreciation Expense +
Amortization Expense — Maintenance Capital Expenditure (defined as 50% of depreciation expense) 8

Gross Investment for a given period is calculated as: v
Total Assets + Accumulated Depreciation — Non-debt Current Liabilities — Cash

Regulation G: The information presented in this report regarding operating income and earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation, and amontization (EBITDA} does not conform to generally accepted accounting principles
{GAAP) and should not be construed as an alternative to the reported results determined in accordance

with GAAR Management has included this non-GAAP information to assist in understanding the operating
performance of the company and its operating segments and in understanding the comparability of results in 120051
light of the items identified in this report. The non-GAAP information provided may not be consistent with the
methodologies used by other companies. All non-GAAP information is reconciled with reported GAAP results.

4]
Return on Gross Investment (ROGI)*




At H.B. Fuller, we strive to create strong, collaborative
relationships with existing and new customers who
prize innovation, differentiation and performance
through value-added, high-quality products, services
and solutions. We call it customer intimacy.

We listen closely to our customers and follow a
disciplined body of methods and procedures, such

as Lean Six Sigma® and Total Cost of Ownership, to
develop a pipeline of new and improved products

and solutions that deliver superior results. We also
work to build relationships with other suppliers. As a
result, H.B. Fuller has been rewarded with long-term
business relationships in which everyone can prosper.
In fact, some customers have been with us for more
than 100 years.

As we celebrate a milestone year in business, some
might say we are 120 years old. With our focus on the
future, we like to say we are 120 years young. We will
continue to endeavor to delight our customers, creating
and selling products, services and solutions that they
value, by sharing our expertise and our efforts.

Following are several examples of the partnerships that
we have proudly built.

Over its 124-year history, family-owned Schroeder
Company, based in St. Paul, Minn., has grown from its
modest dairy farm beginnings to one of the foremost
dairy businesses in its region. Today, Schroeder
produces and packages tens of millions of gallons of
milk per year, as well as orange juice and other specialty
dairy products.

Schroeder is also a leading contract packaging service
provider. Naturally, the company places a premium on
superior packaging. In 2007, the company turned to
H.B. Fuller to help improve its packaging quality and
optimize its processes.

H.B. Fuller worked hand-in-hand with Schroeder to
audit its packaging processes and identify problems
that led to costly downtime. By working together,
this team was able to optimize Schroeder’s tray- and
case-forming lines by incorporating H.B. Fuller’s
Advantra® packaging adhesive. But the key to this
solution was the joint efforts of these two groups.

The result? Vastly reduced line downtime and enhanced
quality of Schroeder’s packaged goods. According

to Dan Carver, maintenance manager at Schroeder
Company, H.B. Fuller’s combination of innovative
products and ongoing service puts the company and its
associates in a league all their own.
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“H.B. Fuller is very committed to service,

%| visiting us on an ongoing basis to re-audit our

. packaging lines, to make sure they are running
correctly, and to give us advice on how to further
improve our processes. We don't get that level of
commitment from any other company. In fact,
very few companies place a premium on service
anymore. H.B. Fuller views its relationship with
Schroeder as a partnership. We agree.”

Lavrry Gevweam, tervitony waneggey for

.. Pullien, discmsees packaging euality
Sctoroedter Compay. HLE. Fuller amdl Sdhreedler
Canmppary calliioruted to andic Sdvosder's
[t precess, redtice e alovritbne aod

Lean Six Sigma®™ is a registered service mark of George Group Consulting, L.P.
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A CVS Caremark
CVS Caremark's $5.5 billion senior notes issue
and Enhanced Capital Advantaged Preferred
Securities {(ECAPS™) offering was the first such
issue from a consumer retail’healthcare company
in the 1.8, One of five advisory amd capiral
markets transactions that Lelunan Brothers
executed for CVS in 2007, this transacton
allowed the repavment of borrowings related

to its merger with Careimark,
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< Domino’s Pizza, Inc.
On behalf of Domino’s Pizza and its largest
shareholder, Bain Capital, Lehman Brothers
structured and execoted an innovative recapitafiza-
tion plan which included a $1.85 hillion whole
business securitization, a bridge loan facility, equity
and bond tender offers, and related hedging
arrangements. The new capital siructure
resulted in a unigque *public LBO™ enabling
Domino’ to use low=-cost sceuritization debt
to fund a special cash dividend, The transaction
was well received, with Dominoes stock trading

up 17% during the recapitalization process.

A Freddie Mac
Advising Freddie Mac on the altematives for capital
raising after its third quarter eamings announce-
ment, Lehman Brothers concurrently marketed both
a non-convertible and a convertible offering. The

quality and strength of the demand was such
that Freddie Mac chose to issue only the
nou-dilutive non-convertible preferred shares.
With the $6 billion deal pricing at the dght
end of guidance and the ¢company’s common
stock appreciating 14.7% during marketing,
the result was an undeniable success for both

Freddie Mac and mvestors alike.
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v Lehman Brothers Private Equity
tn 2007, our Private Equity business increased
Investment Management st o g 95 1
approximately $11 billion. Cur success is
grounded in our historic track record and |
commitment to future performance, Our |
Fulfilling our clients’ varied and increasingly complex funds include the Emerging Manager Fund, |

which invests in emerging private equity

investinent needs is the focus of our Investment Manage- sanagers with a focus on minority- and

ment Division, the youngest of our divisons building on women-owned firms; and Lehman Brothers |
Private Equity Parmers, the Firms first-ever
publicly listed Private Equity Fund of Funds.
our heritage in merchant banking. Through the division, In 2007, the business also closed its largest
fund to date, Merchant Banking 1V, with

seven decades of experience at Neuberger Berman and

we deliver our intellectual capital in traditional and alter-

more than $3 billion in commitments,

native asset management products and advisory services
to institutional and high net worth clients.

In 2007, we won important institutional mandates
in equities, fixed income, hedge funds, private equity, and
structured products. Within Private Asset Management,
the Total Portfolio Returns (net of fees) of the Equity
Composite was nearly double that of the S&P 500. We
are doing more with existing clients and adding new
relationships, all on the strength of five simple principles:

* Deliver consistently superior performance

« Continuously improve our capabilities to meet
chent needs

* Demonstrate strength across asset classes

» Work across businesses to deliver solutions

* Listen

We have measurably strengthened our capabihties,

adding, for example, a global team investing in Real Estate
Investment Trusts based in Amsterdam, a significant team
of Infrastructure investors within Private Equity, and a
tean investing in emerging markets based in New York.
We have also attracted top talent from other parts of the
Firm to play strategic roles in the division. Within the
division, we have also moved talented individuals across
geographies to better source alpha for our chents.

In all of this, we have demonstrated a continuing

ability to synchronize talent to value-creating opportunity

and to deploy intellectual capital where our clients need us.
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< Fonds de Réserve pour les
Reetraites (FRR)
In June 2007, FRR, the French Public Reserve
Fund, awarded Lehman Brothers a mandate of
€500 million to invest in a diversified portfolio
of North American private equity funds. The
mandate win, a significant gain against
fierce competition, was a joint effort
benween our capital markets e based in
Paris, which has an ongoing relationship
with the FRR_, and the private equity

business in London, Dallas and New York.

v Increasing Our Capabilities
In 2007, we significantly enhanced the invest-
ment management capabilities we offer our
clients through several targeted acquisitions
and minotity stakes in selected investment
managers. The Firm purchased a 20%
interest in the top-level investitent manage-
ment entities of the 1D.E. Shaw group, the
global investment and technology develop-
ment firm, and a 25% interest in Spinnaker
Capital Group, an investor in emerging
markets. The Firm also acquired high net
warth money manager H.A. Schupf & Co.
and Lightpoint Capital Management, a

leveraged loan investment manager.

h - !
)

< Universities Superannuation Scheme
The Universities Superannuation Scheme {USS) is

a pension scheme for staff at approximately 360
universities in Great Britain, making it the UK’s
second-largest pension fund. Lebiman Brothers
Private Equity began its relationship with

USS in the Autumin of 2005, when USS

committed themselves to the Lehman Brothers

Co-Investment Fund. USS subsequently

committed themselves to Merchant Banking [V,

13
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IDIVERSIFICATION ACROSS IVEGIONS

We continue to strengthen
local capabilities for our
clients around the world.

Driving diversified growth is one of the pillars
of our strategy, and we continue to build our
capabilities in all the major investment bank-
ing markets worldwide. In 2007, we entered
or significantly expanded our presence in
markets such as Australia through our acquisi-
tion of Grange Securities; Canada by opening
offices in Calgary and Toronto; India by
adding a new office in Mumbay; and Europe
and the Middle East by opening offices in
Turkey and Russia and establishing a presence
in Dubai and Qatar. As a result of our contin-
ued investments in expanding our global
franchise, we reported record results in our
Europe and the Middle East and Asia-Pacific
regions, and 50% of our net revenues for the
year came from outside the Americas. We have
built a balanced platform, diversified not only

by business but also by region.




Diversification
Across Regions
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Americas

In 2007, the Firm expanded its

reach in the Americas by adding
capabilities in Brazil and increasing
resources in Canada, and strength-
ened its platform through targeted
acquisitions and the taking of
minority stakes. We contined to
offer our clients the very best advice,

expertise and execution, advising on

some of the region’s most important
ome o SIOMS MOSL P A GlobalSantaFe

transactions of the year. In 2007, GlobalSantaFe agreed to combine with
Transocean in a $53.3 billion merger of equals.
In addition to acting as lead financial advi-
sor to GlobalSantaFe, the Firm rendered

a fairness opinion and provided financing
on a $15 billion bridge loan facility. The
transaction represented the largest oilfield
service transaction and largest energy
company recapitalization ever, and created
the second-largest oilfield service company
in the world.

> DuPont Fabros Technology, Inc.
Lehman Brothers acted as joint bookrunner on
DuPont Fabros’ $736.6 million 1PO. DuPont
Fabros is a leading owner, developer. opera-
tor and manager of wholesale data centers in
the US., and leases its data centers primarily
to invesnnent-grade international technology
companies. The offering represented one of
the largest REIT IPOs ever,
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< InterGen
InterGen’s mutti-denomination $3.5 billion equiva-
lent financing package was successfully priced in
the headwinds of a radically evolving high yield
market. Lchiman Brothers combined its global

power, project finance and high yield cababili-
ties to create a unique, “hybrid” debt structure
which obrained improved credit ratings rela-
tive to tradidonal corporate structures. Target-
ing a unique investor base ensured successful
execution and outperformance in the volatile
aftermarket — a win-win for the issuer, its
owners AlG Highstar Capital II and Ontario

Teachers’ Pension Plan, and investors alike.

< Och-Ziff Capital
Management Group
Lehman Brothers acted as joint global coordina-
tor and joint booksunner for Och-Ziff's $1.2 hillion
IPO. The offering represented the first hedge
fund manager 1PO in the U.S. Och-Ziff 1 a
leading international, institutional, alternative
asset nanagement firny, Lehman Brothers has
a strong relationship with the firng, serving as
one of its top capital markets counterparties
and utilizing our Capital Markets Prime
Services business to provide QOch-Ziff wich a

full suite of products, services, and expertise.

A Brazil Team

In 2007, Lehman Brothers hired a team of invest-
ment banking professionals from a leading Brazilian
investment banking advisory firm. The team
brought more than 30 years of investiment
banking experience to the Firni. The hiring
underscores the Firmy commitment to expand-
ing and strengthening our capabilities in Brazil,
reflecting our efforts o better serve our global

clients locally.

17
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AMmericas com

v Eagle Energy Parmers I, L.P.

< Kohlberg Kravis Roberts &

Reflecting the importance of the commodities
market, in 2007 Lehman Brothers acquired
Eagle Energy Partners, one of the largest
providers of energy marketing and services.
The resulting platforin broadens our abil-
ity to facilitate risk management for cur
clients, and allows the Firm to better serve
our Investment Banking client base by
seamlessly delivering an integrated suite

of commodities products to clients in

partnership with Fixed Income.

> Jarden Corporation

In earty 2007, Lehman Brothers advised Jarden
on a series of financing transactions that took
full advantage of the issuer-friendly environ-
ment. Having priced an upsized $550

million accelerated offering, Jarden revisited

the markert three days later for a $100
million add-on. The transaction was the
most successful similarly rated high yield
offering in two years. Later in the year,
Lehman Brothers served as exclusive
financial advisor and debt provider on
Jarden’ $1.2 billion acquisition of K2, Inc.

Co. and Texas Pacific Group
Lehman Brothers acted as financial advisor
to KKR and Texas Pacific Group on their

$45 billion acquisition of TXU Corp., the
largest leveraged buyout in history. The
Firm also provided financing in support
of the acquisition and invested equity
alongside the sponsors. Lehiman Brothers
has worked closely with both KKR and
Texas Pacific Group on a number of

landmark acquisitions.
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< SkyPower Corp.
In 2007, Lehman Brothers and its Private Equity
business acquired a significant equity stake in
SkyPower, a leading Canadian renewable energy
devetoper. SkyPower is developing a substandal
portfolio of wind and solar power projects
through an inhovative strategy which includes
communities, First Nadons, local nnici-
palities, and large corporate users of energy
across Canada. This investinent reinforces the
Firm’ conunitment to renewable energy and

sustainable development,

A Ford Motor Company
tn December 2006, Ford Motor Company and
its affiliates successfully raised more than
$8 Yillion in senjor notes and convertible debt
financing, along with more than $10 billion
of bank credit tacilities. Based on Ford and
Lehman Brothers’ strong reladonship, the
Firm was selected as a lead invesement
bank across all of Fords offerings. Demand
for the senior notes offering (Ford Motor
Credit’s first 10-year transaction in three
years} was significant, allowing the Coni-
pany to upsize the ransaction as well as

tighten pricing below guidance.

19
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Europe and the Middle East

[n 2007, we deepened the penetra-
tion of our business expertise into
established European markets and
expanded into new product areas
and geographies, including Turkey,
Russia and the UAE. We intensified
our focus on winning market share,
particularly in the Equities space,
with Lehman Brothers the #1 trader
by volume across every major
European exchange this year. Once
again, Europe and the Middle East
produced record revenue contribu-
tions for the Firm’s full year 2007

results.

v Nanette Real Estate Group
Lehman Brothers Real Estate Partners (LBREP}
enjoys a strong partnership with Nanette,
a Dutch company listed on the AIM at the
London Stock Exchange. In February 2007,
LBREP acquired a 15% stake in Nanette,
building on the various joint venture projects
already established in Poland and Hungary.
In November, LBREP invested in four of
the five projects Nancette acquired in Ro-
mania. In total, Nanette is in the process of
developing approximately 18,000 residential
units in Central and Eastern Europe.
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< The Republic of France
Creating the second-largest utility in
Europe with a combined 13.7 million
energy customers and 80 million
water customers around the world,
the merger of Gaz de France and
SUEZ will create a global leader in
energy and environmental services.

Advising Gaz de France’s major-
ity shareholder, the Republic of
France, Lehman Brothers played
an importatt role in the €75

billion merger, one of the largese

announced during the year,

> Cerberus Capital Management
Based on Lehman Brothers' strong relationship
with Cerberus Capital Management, the Firm was
selected as lead advisor, financing provider and also
a co-investor in a Cerberus-led consortium on the
£3.2 billion acquisition of Austria-based BAWAG
PS.K. The €1.9 billion acquisition financing
arranged by Lehman Brothers represents the
fargest-ever mezzanine debt tacility syndicated
in Europe. The acquisition both complement-
ed Cerberus’s existing portfolio of international
financial institutions and presented Cerberus

with significant new opportunities.
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Europe and the Middle East .......
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A Expanding Our Footprint
Reflecting the increasingly global nature of our
clients, Lehman Brothers continued to invest in
its platform during 2007. The Firm entered
new nuarkets, opening offices in Dubai and

Turkey, and appointing key business heads

in these countries and in Russia. [n order

to better serve the needs of our existing
clients, we also significantly upgraded several
offices, moving to new locations in Paris and
Madrid, and opening an office in Geneva
for the firse time,

A Norwegian Government
Announced in December 2006, the $29 billion
merger of NorskHydro's oil and gas business
with Statoil created the world's largest ofishore
operator. With the Norwegian State as

majority shareholder, the combined entity
had an enterprise value of $90 billion. The
merger was one in a series of ransactions
on which Lehman Brothers advised the

Norwegian governimment.
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< Munich Re Group
As the company’s sole financial advisor on the
$1.3 billion acquisition of The Midland Company,
Lehman Brothers assisted Munich Re Grouop in
achieving one of its strategic goals. The acquisi-
tion provided the Munich, Germany-based
global insurance group with one of the leading
specialty reinsurance businesses in the US,,
with a presence in 50 staces and consistent
cross-cycle growth. The acquisition built on
Munich Re’ existing expertise and gave it

leading positions in targeted arcas of growth.

A GlaxoSmithKline

Despite an uncertain economic outlook and market
volatility, GlaxoSmithKline launched its first long-dated
sterling issue in five years. With an oversubscribed

book of top-tier sterling investors, Lehman Brothers
was able to price the £1 billion issue at the tight
end of guidance and extend GlaxoSmithKline's
debt maturicy ro 35 years. As the largest long-dated
corporate sterling issue to date, the transaction un-
derscored GlaxoSmithKline’s proven track record
as a benchmmark issuer and Lehman Brothers’ ex-

ecution experuse in challenging marker conditions,

ta
[
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Asia-Pacific

In 2007, we continued to increase the
depth and diversity of our offering to
clients in the Asia-Pacific region, with
expanded capabilities in structured
products, Capital Markets sales and
Investment Banking, The Firm
complemented its geographic reach
with the acquisittons of Brics Securi-
ties in India and Grange Securities

int Australia, and the opening of an
additional China office in Shanghai.
In existing geographies, the Firm
secured new licenses across multiple
markets, enabling deeper local access.
Lehman Brothers Asia-Pacific

posted its fifth consecutive year of

record performance in 2007,

> China Petroleum & Chemical
Corporation (Sinopec)
Lehman Brothers acted as the sole global
coordinator and joint bookrunner on Sinopec’s
HK$11.7 billion Zero Coupon Convertible Bond
offering, the largest international convert-
ible bond offering ever in Asia ex—Japan
and the largese-ever natural resources
convertible bond offering in Asia. The
Firm had previously acted as independent

financial advisor and financial advisor, re-

spectively, to Sinopec subsidiary companics

Beijing Yanhua and Zhenhai Refiming
when they were taken private by Sinopec
in 2004 and 2005.

A Edelweiss Capital
Lehman Brothers acted as joint bookrunner on
Edetweiss Capital’s $175 million [P0 on the
Indian exchanges (NSE and BSE}. Lchman

Brothers has partmered with Edelweiss in
nuany areas and played an important role in
shaping and communicating the unigue
story of this diversified modern Indian
investment bank to investors, which
helped to achieve an exceptionally
successful transacton in the Indian

financial services space.

e e
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> Tathan Electric Wire Co. Ltd.
Lehman Brothers acted as sole financial
advisor to Taihan and provided a commit-
ment facility in support of Taikan’s offer
on its €392 million acquisition of a 9.9%
stake in Prysmian. We delivered the full
capabilities of our global platformi to
support our clients cross-border needs
on this transaction. The Firm had
previously acted as joint bookrunner
on Taihan'’s §130 million convertible
offering in 2005,
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A Brics Securities
Underscoring the strategic importance
of India as a key growth market for
the Firm, we acquired the Institutional
Equity Group of Brics Securities, a
leading brokerage firm in India. The
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acquisition significantly increased
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our presence in the country, and
the resulting platform in Mumbai

enables the Firm to offer our clients
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more sophisticated and compre-
p p

hensive services throughout India.
The transaction Jdemonstrates our
conuuitment to building a strong

franchise in India.
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Asia-Pacific e

> Kirin Holdings Company,
Limited
Lehman Brothers acted as financial advisor to
Kitin on its $2.5 billion acquisition of all shares
of Nationa! Foods Limited, Australia’ leading
manufacturer of dairy and juice products,
from San Miguel Corporaton. The acqui-
sition gave Kirin immediate market leading
positions in the Australian dairy and juice
market and ownership of some of the
most popular feod and beverage brands in
Australasia, with over 100 years of heritage.
Caliburn Parenership Pry Lid. also advised
Kirin on the transacoon.

> Qlympus Capital Holdings Asia
Lehman Brothers acted as financial advisor
to Olympus on its sale of Arysta LifeScience
Corporation to entities controlled by The Permira
Funds for ¥250 billion. The Firm also acted as
sole stapled financing provider, supporting
the sale with teams dedicated to nmlaple
bidders. The transaction was the largest
announced leveraged buyout in Japan in

2007 and is among the country’ largest ever.
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< Shanghai Office Opening
China is a key component of Lehman Brothers’
strategy in the Asia-Pacific region. As the
fastest-growing major economy in the
world, China presents many exciting
business opportunities for the Firm. In
February 2007, Lebiman Brothers added

a Shanghai representative office to its
footprint in China, demonstrating our

strong commitment to this vital marker,

j < The DLF Group

Lehman Brothers acted as senior
bookrunner on DLF’s $2.25 billion
IPO on the Indian exchanges

{NSE and BSE). The offering
represented, at that tine, the
largest-ever [PQ in India.
DLF is a leading real estate
developer in India, with its
primary business focused on
the development of residential,
commercial and retail proper-
ties in India. The Firm has built
a strong relationship with DLE
and our role in the 1PO and
three other financing transac-
tions reflects the strength of
our India franchise.

A Grange Securities Limited
Expanding into the Australian market, the Firm
acquired Grange Securities Limited, a leading
investment and advisory firm in Australia.

The transaction expands our geographic

reach, increases the capabilities of our
Asia-Pacific operations, and provides
Grange’s broad range of clients with access
to the global resources and capabilities of
Lehman Brothers.
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Sustainability

As a global corporate citizen,
Lehman Brothers is commited to
addressing the challenges of climate
change and other environmental issues
which affect our emiployees, clients, and
shareholders alike. It is critical that we
continue to develop initiatives to focus
on these challenges facing our environ-

ment now and in the future.
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In 2007, the Firm created
The Lehman Brothers Council on
Climate Change and appointed
Theodore Roosevelr 1V, who brings
to the role a deep knowledge of
environmental issues, as its chairnan.,
By harnessing the Firm's global re-
sources, the Council is uniguely
positioned to accelerate the under-
stanrding of chmate change issues, In
December, the Council held the firse
of three regional summits in New
York. These summits serve to facilitate
constructive dialogue on global climate
change policy among our clients,
govermment officials and academics.

The Firm is increasingly engaged

in cfforts to find environmentally
sustainable business solutions and
develop market-based mechanisms thac
will respond to and reduce the effects
of climate change. Examples of these
business models mclude participation
in carbon-relaced markets and manag-
ing socially responsible investment

funds which udlize criteria such as

identifying environmentally responsible
leaders. In addition, we have a strong
and growing platforin in underwriting,
advising, and investing in renewable
energy companices. The Firm is using
these initiatives to engage the strong
interest shown by our employees in
addressing environmental issues,

Our environmental initiatives
also address how climate change has
and will affect our clients. In 2007,
Lehman Brothers published two
groundbreaking studies on the effects
of ¢limate change on business, entitled
The Business of Climate Change I and I1.
The studies, authored by Dr. John

Llewellyn, the Finm's senior economic

policy advisor, were written to help
clients better understand the effect
that climate change will have on the
business landscape. They included
significant contributions from Lehman
Brothers equity analysts who assessed
the impact of climate change on
specific industry sectors,

The Firm anticipates that regula-
tion will be put in place to address,
slow, and reverse the impact of climate
change, and that these policies will
drive an economic transformation. Thas
transformation represents both oppor-
tuniries and challenges for the Firn’s
clients. The Firm will be well posi-
tionted to help our clients take advan-
tage of the opportunities and face the
challenges posed by this regulation.

We are also looking inward. In
2007, Charlotte Grezo, an expert in
socially responsible business practices,
joined the Firm as global head of
Sustainability and president of the
Council on Climate Change. In
addition to overseeing the Council’s
activities, she will further the develop-
ment of the Firm’s own environmental
policy and strategy.

We have executed and will
continue to exccute Ot initiatives that
mitigate the environmental impact of
our operations, mcluding investigating
and implementing ways to reduce our
cneryy consumption. We are already
seeing results. Qur headquarters
buildings in New York and London
have been awarded the Carbon Trust
Energy Efficiency Accreditation
Scheme, recognizing the Firm'’s effores
to manage energy use and reduce

carbon enussions.
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Where will you make your mark?
At Lehman Brothers, that is what we ask
all of our employees.

[n 2007, emplovees responded as
they always have, continuing the Firms
proud history of charitable giving and
community involvement. Thousands of
our employees participated in the Firm’
2007 Employee Giving Campaign,
personally contributing more than $4.6
miillion to the Lehman Brothers Foun-
dations for grants. Of those grants, more
than 82% were awarded to organizations
recommended by our employees. On
the ground. more than 8,000 employecs
volunteered in a community activity,
and hundreds more served the commu-
nity on not-for-profit boards and in
leadership groups.

Our focus remains: work with
organizatons that give children a chance
to succeed, help the sick, or benefic the
arts, [n doing so, we are continuing our
MISSION [0 SUPPOrt OUTr COMITIUINLILS.

‘The followving are sonre hightights of our
phifmzthvopic efforts in 2007

Lehman Brothers has a strong rela-
tionship with The Posse Foundation, a
program that prepares urban high school
students for enrollment at top-tier
universitics. In addition to monetary
support, the Firm has hired more than
200 Posse scholars over the years, both
as interns and full-time employees, and
one of our employees serves on the
organization’s board of directors.

A Lehman Brothers Foundation
grant will support the construction of
a medical center at the newly built
SOS Children’s Village i Malawi. The
Village provides permanen, family-style
housing for 150 orphaned, abandoned
and neglected children. The new medical

facility will provide annual medical and

counsefing services to an estimated
20,000 children and adults in the
surrounding area,

Society for AIDS Care is the only

community-based facility in Hong Kong
that provides direct care to people iving
with HIV and their familics. At the
recommendation of one of our employ-
ees,a grant from The Lehman Brothers
Foundaton funded a traming program
for AIDS healtheare workers.

CLIC Sargent is the UK’ leading
children’s cancer charity, supporting
children with cancer and their families
by providing care during and after
treatment. In 2007, Firm employees
raised nearly €130,000 for CLIC, a
Lehman Brothers UK employee charity
partner, through fundraising events
and activities.

Our employees in Milan have
partered with Centro di Aiuto al
bambino malcrattato e alla Famiglia in
crisi (CAF), the first private facility in
Italy to provide shelter for abandoned
and abused children. More than half of
the employees in our Milan office took

part in volunteer opportunitics, and a

Lehman Brothers Foundadon Europe
grant will expand the counsehng services
CAF provides to children and their
families.

The Firm ininated the Community
Leadership Program. More than 20 of
our New York-based summer analysts
worked with owo local community
organizations, renovating schoals and
rejuvenating public parks, and preparing
and delivering meals to homebound
patients. The new program offered our
summier analysts an opportunity to
experience an important part of the
Firm’s culture: giving back to the

communitics in which we live and work.
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TALENT MANAGEMENT AND PARTNERING WITH SPELMAN COLITGE

Talent Management

Our people are our most valuable
asser. Qur focus is not solely on
atrracting and developing top talent;
putting the right people in the right
jobs is critical to our ability to deliver
the full capabilitics of our global
fianchise.

Carcer mobility is vital to ensuring
that we are able to fully leverage the
skills and experiences of our people.
This mobility happens within and
across divisians and geographic regions,
at all levels of the Firmy, including our
Exccutive Committee. For example, in
2007 we appointed Erin Callan chief

financial officer and added her to the

Developing top talent and

putting the right people in the
right jobs is critical to our

ability to deliver the Firm.

Exccutive Committee. She had previ-
ously headed Global Hedge Fund
Coverage within the Investment
Banking Division. In connection with
this appoinument, Chris O’Meara,

our former chief financial officer, was

named global head of risk management.

These individuals are among the
many examples of the Firm putting the
right talent where it is needed most. In
2007, we transferred more individuals
into new positions than ever before.

By moving top talent from within one
of our business segments into another,
we strengthen our Capital Markets,

lavesoment Banking, and Investment

Management businesses with an influx
of new experiences and expertise.
Carcer mobility also plays a vital role in
our continuing commitment to driving
diversified growth geographically. Our
India franchise has been strengthened
by moving key management from
other regions and areas of the Firm,
and people from across the Firm have
contributed to the continued expansion
of our Asia-Pacific platform, By moving
our people into these arcas, we also
ensure that the Firm’s culture remains

StrOng as we Continue to grow.
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In 2007, Lehman Brothers an-
nounced a groundbreaking partnership
with Spelman College. Spelman is the
#1-ranked insticution among all
historically Black colleges and universi-
ties in the country by U.S. News and
Word Report. The development of the
Lehman Brothers Center for Global
Finance and Economic Development
at Spelman College will create a new
maodel that will prepare students for
active participation in the global
marketplace and increase the pipeline
of women ready to enter the financial
SeCtor.

As part of this endeavor, Lehman
Brothers has committed $10 million
as well as ongoing funding support
and professional expertise to create
the Center. [n support of the Center’s
enhanced curriculum offerings,
Lehman Brothers and Spelman are
working together to attract and retain
top faculty to develop a rich interdisci-
plinary curriculum, prioritizing core
subjects that have not been traditionally
offered by the college. Additionally,
this partnership will:

* Create a new interdisciplinary minor,
focused on global finance and eco-
nomic development, that will evolve
into a full major over the next several
years;

* Establish a Lehinan Brothers Scholars
Program to provide scholarships to
help talented students complete their
education;

* Provide opportunities for inter-
national nternships in finance;

» Offer an investment banking
immersion programt for Spelman

sophomores to introduce them to

a career in global finance;

+ Conduct periodic simulated portfolio
managetnent competitions;

* Match Spelman students focused
on business and finance to Lehman
Brothers career mentors;

* Collaborate with Spelman faculey
and other experts to develop initia-
tives around economic development /
urban development / microfinance as
well as diversity 1ssues; and

* Leverage Lehman Brothers’ in-house
expertise and network of global
eXperts to create a speaker series,
among many other projects.

Like our partnerships with Harlem
Children’s Zone in New York, the
Lehman Brothers Centre for Women
in Business at London Business School,
and Oaklands School in London, our
collaboration with Spelman College
underscores the Firm’s commitment to
leveraging our institutional knowledge
and expertise to ensure the future

success of this inidative,

Joe Gregory, President
and Chief Operating
Officer, Lehman
Brothers, Dr. Beverly

Tatum, President,
Spelman College,
and Scott Freidheim,
Co-Chief Administra- [
tive Officer, Lehman

Brothers, celebrate

the groundbreaking

partnership between

the Firm and Spelman

College.
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LEHMAN BROTHERS 2007 ANNUAL REPORT
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

INTRODUCTION

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. ("Holdings™) and subsidiartes {(eol-
lectively, the “Company,” the “Firm,” “Lehman Brothers,” “we.” “us” or
“our”) serves the furancial needs of corporations, governments and
municipalities, institutional clients and high net worth individuals world-
wide with business activities organized in three segments, Capital
Markets, Invesanent Banking and Investment Management. Founded in
1850, Lehman Brothers maintains nxarket presence in equity and fixed
incotne sales, trading and research, investment banking, asset manage-
ment, private investment management and private equity. The Firm is
headquartered in New York, with regional headquarters in London and
Tokyo, and operates in a network of offices in Narth America, Europe,
the Middle East, Latin America and the Asia-Pacific region. We are a
member of all principal securities and commodities exchanges in the
US., and we hold memberships or associate memberships on several

principal international securities and commodities exchanges, including

the London, Tokyo, Hong Kong, Frankfurt, Paris, Milan and Australian
stock exchanges.

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Resulrs of Operations (“MID&A"™) should be read together with the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes con-
tained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
November 30, 2007 (the “Form 10-K"). Unless specifically stated oth-
erwise, all references to the years 2007, 2006 and 2005 in this MD&A
refer to our fiscal years ended November 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005, or
the last day of such fiscal years, as the context requires. All share and per
share amounts have been retrospectively adjusted for the two-for-one
comunon stock split, effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend,
which became effective April 28, 2006. For additional information, see
“2-for-1 Stack Split” in this MD&A and Note 10, “Stockholders’

Equiry,” to the Consolidated Financiat Statements.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements contained in this MD&A, including those
relating to our strategy and other statements that are predictive in nature,
that depend on or refer to future events or conditions or that include
words such as “expects,” “anticipates.” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,”"esti-
mates” and similar expressions, are forward-looking statements within
the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. These statements are not historical facts bur instead represent
only management’ expectations, estimates and projections regarding
future events. Similarly, these statements are not guarantees of future
performance and involve certain risks and uncertainties that are difficult
to predict. which may include, but are not limited to, market risk, inves-
tor sentiment, liquidity risk, credic ratings changes, credit exposure and

operational, legal, regulatory and reputational risks. For further discussion

of these risks, see “Certain Risk Factors Affecting Results of Operations”
below as well as “Risk Factors™ in Part [, ltem 1A in the Form 10-K.
As a global investment bank, the nature of our business makes pre-
dicting furure performance difficult. Revenues and earnings may vary
from quarter to quarter and from year to year. Caution should be used
when extrapolating historical results to future perieds. Qur actual results
and financial condition may differ, perhaps materially, from the antici-
pated resules and financial condition in any such forward-looking state-
ments and, accordingly, readers are cautioned not to plce undue
reliance on such statements, which speak only as of the date on which
they are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events

or otherwise.
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EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW!

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

On the basis of a record first half and a reasonably successful naviga-
tion of difficult market conditions in the second half, we achieved our
fourth consecutive year of record net revenues, net income and diluted
earnings per common share in 2007. Net income totaled $4.2 billion,
$4.0 billion and $3.3 billion it 2007, 2006 and 2065, respectively, increas-
ing 5% in 2007 and 23% in 2006 from the corresponding 2006 and 2005
periods, respectively. Diluted earnings per common share were $7.26,
$6.81 and $5.43 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, up 7% in 2007 and
25% in 2006 from the corresponding prior periods, respectively.®

2007 net revenues were $19.3 billion, which exceeded the prior
year record level by 10% and represents the fifth consecutive year of
record net revenues. The second half of the 2007 fiscal year presented
some of the most challenging mortgage and credit markets experienced
in almost a decade, particularly in the US$. Record net revenues were
reported in each of our three business segments and in both the Furope
and the Middle East and Asia-Pacific geographic segments. Pre-tax mar-
gin for the 2007 fiscal vear was 31.2%, compared to 33.6% and 33.0%
reported in 2006 and 2005, respectively. Full year return on average
comman stockholders’ equity® was 20.8%, 23.4% and 21.6% for 2007,
2006 and 2003, respectively. Return on average tangible common stock-
holders’ equity was 25.7%, 29.1% and 27.8% in full years 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively,

2007 vs, 2006 In 2007, Capital Markets segment net revenues
increased 2% to a record $12.3 billion from $12.0 billion in 2006. Capital
Markets—Equities, operating in 2 favorable environment of strong cus-
tomer-driven activity and favorable global equities markers, reported net
revenues of $6.3 billion in 2007, a 76% increase from $3.6 billion in
2006. These record results in the Equities component of our Capital
Markets business segment were offset by a decrease in Capital Markets—

Fixed Income’s net revenues which declined 29% to $6.0 billion in 2007

from $8.4 billion in 2006. This decline corresponds to the deterioration
throughout the fiscal year in the ULS. residential mortgage sector and the
follow-on dislocation in the broader credit markets that occurred fater
in the fiscal year. Investiment Banking segment net revenues increased
24% to §3.9 billion in 2007 from $3.2 billion in 2006, representing
record Debt and Equity underwriting-related activities as well as record
Advisory Services revenues. These results reflect the significant prog-
ress made in building market share in the areas of mergers and acqui-
sitions (“M&A"™) and high yield offerings as well as the development
of a broader range of geographic and client bases. Investment
Management segment net revenues increased 28% to $3.1 billion in
2007 from $2.4 billion in 2006, reflecting record net revenues in both
Asset Management and Private Investment Management and our con-
tinued expansion of this business segment globally. For the fiscal year,
assets under management {"AUM”) of $282 billion increased 25%
from 2006 from both net inflows and asset appreciation. Non—U.S. net
revenues increased 49% to $9.6 billion in 2007 from $6.5 billion in
2006, representing 50% and 37% of total net revenues in the 2007 and
2006 periads, respectively.

2006 vs. 2005  Net revenues increased 20% in 2006 from 2005.
Capital Markets segiment net revenues increased 22% to $12.0 billion in
2006 from $9.8 billion in 2005. Capital Markets—Equities ner revenues
rose 44% to §3.6 billion in 2006 from $2.5 billion in 2005, driven by
solid client—flow activity in the cash and prime services businesscs.
Capital Markets—Fixed Income net revenues increased 15% to §8.4
billien in 2006 from $7.3 billion in 2005 due to broad-based strength
across products and regions, Investment Banking segment net revenues
increased 9% to $3.2 billion in 2006 from $2.9 billion in 2005, reflecting
strength in each business. Investment Management segment net revenues
increased 25% to $2.4 billion in 2006 from $1.9 billion in 2003,

reflecting growth in alternative investment offerings and an increase in

| Market share, volume and ranking statistics in this MD&A were obtained from Thomson Financial, an operating unit of The Thomson Corporation.

2 Th 2006 results included an after-tax gain of $47 miltion ($0.08 per diluted common share} fram the cumulative effect of an accounting change for equity-based compensatien resulting from
the Company's adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards {“SFAS") No. 123 {revised), Share-Based Payment {“SFAS 123{R)"). For additional information, see Note 12, “Share-Based

Employee Incentive Plans,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

3 Return on average com:non stockholders” equity and return on average tangible commen stockholders’ equity are computed by dividing net income applicable to common stock for the period by average
common stockholders' equity and average tangible common stockholders' equity, respectively. We believe average fangible common stockholders’ equity is a meaningful measure because it refiects
the common stackholders' equity deployed in our businesses. Average tangible commen stockholders' equity equals average common stockholders’ equity less average identifiable intangible assets

and goodwill and is computed as follows:

Year Ended Hovember 30,
In millions 2007 2006 2005
et income applicable to common stock $ 4125 $ 3941 $ 319
Average stockholders’ equity $20,910 $17.91 $15,535
Less: average preferred stock (1,095} {1.095) {1,195}
Average comman stockholders’ equity $19,815 $16,876 $14,741
Less: average identifiable intangible assets and goodwill (3,756} 3,312} (3,272
Average tangible common stockholders' equity $16,059 $13,564 $11.469
Return on average common stockhelders’ equity He% 23.4% 21.6%
Return on average tangible common stockholders’ equity 25.7% 29.5% 21.8%




equity-related actvity. In 2006, AUM increased 29% to $225 billion
from $175 billion in 2005, Non-U.S. net revenues increased 21% to $6.5
biltion in 2006 from $5.4 billion In 2003, representing 37% of total net
revenues for both the 2006 and 2005 periods.

While we generated record operating results in 2007, our business,
by its nature, does not produce predictable earnings. Qur results in any
given period can be materially affected by conditions in global financial
markets and economic conditions generally. For a further discussion of
factors that may affect our future operating results, see “Certain Facrors
Affecting Results of Operations™ below as well as*Risk Factors” in Part
I, Item 1A in the Form 10-K. For a detailed discussion of results of
operations by business segnients and geographic regions, see “Business
Segments” and “Geographic Revenues.”

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

As an investment banking, securities and investmient management
fiem, our businesses are wmaterially affected by conditions in the global
financial markets and worldwide economic conditions, A favorable busi-
ness environment is generally characterized by, among other factors, high
global gross domestic product growih, stable geopolitical conditions,
transparent and efficient capital markets, liquid markets with active inves-
tors, low inflation, high business and consumer confidence and strong
business earnings. These factors provide a positive climate for our invest-
ment banking activities, for many of our capital markets trading busi-
nesses and for wealth creation, which contributes to growth in our asset
management business. For a further discussion of how market conditions
can affect our business, see “Cerrain Factors Affecting Results of
Operations™ below as well as “Risk Factors™ in Part 1, Item 1A in the
Form 10-K. A further discussion of the business environment in 2007
and economic outlook for 2008 is set forth below.

The global market environment was generally favorable for our
businesses for the first half of the 2007 fiscal year. These favorable con-
ditions resulted from a number of factors: strong equity markets, con-
tinued strong gross domestic product in most major economies,
tghtening credit spreads, minimal interest rate actions by major cenrral
banks, active trading volumes, and strong M&A and underwriting
activities driven by favorable interest rate and credit spread environ-
ments. During the second half of the 2007 fiscal year, the global
economy was impacted by the deterioration within the U.S. subprime
residential mortgage asset category, the weakening of the U.S. housing
sector became worse than most observers expected and dislocations
began to occur beyond the residential mortgage component of credit
markets. Also during the latter part of the 2007 fiscal year, risk aversion
escalated following rating agency downgrades of certain structured
assets which, in part, led to many market participants re-pricing assets
and taking large write-downs. Central banks sought to prevent a more
serious downturn by central bank interest rate and liquidity actions.
Our fiscal year ended with dislocated inter-bank markets, constrained
bank balince sheets and credit uncertainty regarding monoline issuers

and structured investment vehicles.
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The global fixed income environment was characterized by spreads
tightening in the first half of the year and, conversely, unprecedented
spread widening in the second half of the year, Globat high yield and
high grade spread indices ended our fiscal year up 209 and 86 basis
points, respectively, compared to the end of our 2006 fiscal year. Global
equity markets rose over the fiscal year; however, many equity markets
experienced high volatility in the second half of the year. Globally, cor-
porate activity levels in completed and announced M&A transactions
were up compared o our last fiscal year, In addition, equity underwriting
activity remained solid, particularly in convertibles; but debt underwrit-
ing activity declined, particularly in leveraged finance during the second
half of the 2007 fiscal year.

Global ecanomic growth was approximately 3.4% for calendar year
2007 and is forecasted to be lower for calendar year 2008. Our forecast
differs by geogmphies: our growth assumptions for the Americas and
Eurozone are lower than thase for Asia and other territories. Our growth
outlook is dependent on how extended and severe the credit dislocation
may be, results from fiscal and monetary policy actions, accessibilicy of
new sources of iquidity and oil prices leveling or continuing to increase.
The underpinnings of these growth assumptions also form our view on
prospective Investment Banking activity, We expect M&A volumes to
decline in 2008 by approximately 20% as compared to 2007 and believe
that (i) strategic buyers will continue to account for a larger proportion
of overall deal volume, (1) stock will become prominent in transactions
and (ii) cross-border and international activity will continue to increase.
If the anticipated higher volatility in global equity markets is realized in
calendar 2008, we expect cquity issuance will be down compared to
2007. Equity capital markets experienced a 17% return in 2007 in local
currency terms, and we expect lower returns in 2008, We expect global
fixed income origination to decline in 2008 as a result of lower voluines
of securitizations and M&A financings. Fixed income capital markets are
expected to continue to face uncertainties in the 2008 calendar year.

In the US., economic growth showed signs of strength at the
beginning of our fiscal year, driven by higher net exports and consump-
tion levels, among ather indicators, but the pace of growth slowed in the
latter half. Over the twelve-month period, the U.S. howsing market
weakened, business confidence declined, and, in the last six months of
the year, consumier confidence dropped. The habor market followed the
same trajectory, showing signs of deterioration in the second half of the
period as unemployment levels increased modestly and payroll data
showed some signs of weakness. Responding to concerns over liquidity
in the financial nrarkets and inflarionary pressures, the U.S. Federal
Reserve reduced races three times during the calendar year and made an
additional inter-meeting rate cut in January 2008, and most observers
anticipate additional reductions will oceur in the early part of our 2008
fiscal year. Long-term bond yields declined, with the 10-year Treasury
note yield ending our fiscal year down 52 bass points at 3.94%. The S&
500 Index, Dow Jones Industrial Average and NASDAQ composites

were up 5.7%, 9.4%, and 9.4%, respectively, from November 2006 levels.
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The current high levels of U.S. home inventories suggest that an extended
peried of censtruction declines and housing price cuts will combine with
tighter credit conditions and increasing oi] prices to slow down consumer
spending. We believe those conditions will continue to strain the capital
markets, particularly the securitized products and residential housing
components. We also believe that those conditions will stress other com-
ponents of the capital markets, such as commercial real escate. We believe
these impediments will decrease the U.S. growth rate in 2008.

In Eurozone countries and the UK., economic growth contin-
ued in the second half of the 2007 fiscal vear, although it was modest
compared to the first half. Business activity reflected a slight tapering
at the end of the fiscal year. Unemployment levels declined over the
fiscal year. and inflationary pressures appeared contained. The European
Central Bank increased rates twice during our fiscal year and is fore-
casted 1o hold those levels through the early part of our 2008 fiscal
year. The Bank of England (the "BOE"} increased rates three times
during our fiscal year, and in {Jecember 2007 the BOE began to ease
with a rate reduction. Further rate reductions are anticipated in the
early part of the 2008 calendar year. The Bund and Giles 10-year yiclds
were 4.13% and 4.64%, respectively, at the end of our 2007 fiscal year
compared to 3.70% and 4.51%, respectively, at the end of our 2006
fiscal year. Equity indices and volatility for continental Europe and the
U.K. were up compared to levels at the end of our 2006 fiscal year. At
the end of our 2007 fiscal vear, stresses in the banking system, particu-

larly in the U.K, were causing bank credit conditions to tighten. We

believe that those tighter conditions, lower anticipated world growth
and 3 stronger Euro will combine to slow regional growth for our
upcoming 2008 fiscal year.

In Japan, real gross doinestic product growth decelerated, unem-
ployment levels modestly decreased and deflation eased during our
2007 fiscal year. The Bank of Japan increased its rates in early 2007 and
held those rates for the remainder of our fiscal year, and is antictpated
to continue to do so into our 2008 fiscal year. The yield on the 10-year
Japanese government bond fell 18 basis points to 1.48% at the end of
our 2007 fiscal year. The Nikkei 225 equity index was 3.6% lower at
the end of our fiscal year than its level at the end of our 2006 fiscal
year. Residential and non-residential construction spending is decreas-
ing, and the recovery in the corporate sector during the period has yet
to have an effect on wages and consumption, thus increasing the risk
of a possible recession. Elsewhere in Asia, however, equity markets
broadly ended our fiscal year higher compared to the prior period. We
expect three trends to emerge in China’s economy in 2008: (i) GDP
growth to fall on an annual basis for the first time in six years; (ii) infla-
tion to increase over the long-term; and (i) overcapacity concerns to
shape central bank actions. During 2008, we expect India to exhibit
many of the same characteristics that Japan, South Kerea and China did
during their economic mkeoffs: GDI* accelerating, investment and sav-
ings rates surging and the economy rapidly opening up. Effects from
the region’s dependency on exports and severe overcapacity may exac-

erbate the regional growth slowdown predicted for 2008.

CERTAIN FACTORS AFFECTING RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

We are exposed to a variety of risks in the course of conducting
our business operations. These risks, which are substantial and inherent
in our businesses, include market, liquidicy, credit, operational, legal
and regulatory risks. A summary of some of the significane risks chat
could affect our financial condition and results of operations includes,
but is not limited to the items below. For a discussion of how manage-
ment seeks to manage these risks, see “Risk Management” in this
MD&A. For a further discussion of these and other important factors
that could affect our business, see “Risk Factors” in Part |, ltem 1A in
the Form 10-K.

MARKET CONDITIONS AND MARKET RISK

Global financial markets and economic conditions materially affect
our businesses. Market conditions may change rapidly and without fore-
warning. We believe a favorable business etvironment for our businesses
is generally characterized by, among other factors, high global gross
domestic product growth, stable geopolitical conditions, transparent and
efficient capital markets, liquid markets with active investors, low infla-
tion, high business and consumer confidence and strong business earn-
ings. The converses of these facrors, individually or in their aggregate,

have resulted in or may result in unfavorable or uncertain market and

economic conditions for our businesses. The effects on our businesses
may inclhude the following:

B We are exposed to potentiat changes in the value of financial
instruments caused by fuctuations in interest rates, exchange
rates, equity and fixed income securities and commodities and
real estate prices, credit spreads, Hquidity volatility, overall mar-
ket activity or other conditions. We may incur losses as a result
of changes in market conditions. especially if the changes are
rapid and without warning, as these fluctuations may adversely
impact the valuation of our trading and inventory positions and
principal investments,

@ Market fluctuations and volacility may reduce our or our custom-
ers’ willingness to enter into new transactions. Conversely, certain
of our trading businesses depend on market volarility to provide
trading and arbitrage opportunities, and decreases in volatility may
reduce these opportunities and adversely affect these businesses.
Any change in volume of executed transactions impacts both our
costs incurred and revenues received from those trades.

® Although we deploy various risk mitigation and risk monitoring

techniques, they are subject to judgments as to the timing and



duration of their application. Additionally, no risk management
procedure can antictpate every market event and the exis-
tence of risk management in our businesses does not provide
complete assurance against incurring losses. Increased market
volatility directly impacts our measurement of risks. Increases
to our measured risk may cause us to decrease our proprietary
positions or certain business activities. In such circumstances, we
may not be able to reduce our positions or our exposure in a
timely, cost-effective way or in 2 manner sutficient to offset the
increase in measured risk. For additional discussion on risk miti-
gation and risk monitoring techniques, see “Risk Management”
in this MD&A.

® Declines in the size and number of underwritings and M&A
transactions may have an adverse impact on our resuls of opera-
tions and, if we are unable to reduce expenses, our profit margins.
An ovenall decrease in global markers” appetites for transactions
may also impact our ability to syndicare various loan or equity
commitinents we have made. Additionally, pricing and other
competitive pressures may adversely affect revenues for our
Investment Banking segment.

B Asset valuations of our clients’ portfolios are impacted by changes
in equity market conditions or interest rates. In turn, our fees for
managing those portfolios are also affected. Changing market
conditions may cause investors to change their allocations of
investiments in our funds or other products. Our asset manage-
ment business operates in a highly competitive environment.
Changes in our asset management business” perfornance could
result in a decline in AUM and in incentive and inanagement fees,
CREDIT RISK
We are exposed to the potential for credit-related losses that can

occur as a result of an individual, councerparty or issuer who owes us
money, securities or other assets being unable or unwilling to honor its
contractual obligations. We are alse at risk that our rights against any
individual, counterparty or issuer may not be enforceable in all circum-
stances. Additionally, deterioration in the credit quality of third parties
whose securities or obligations we hold could result in losses or adversely
affect our ability to otherwise use those securides or obligations for
liquidity purpases. The amount and duration of our credit exposures
have been increasing over the past several years, 2s have the number and
range of the entities to which we have credit exposures. Although we
regularty review credit exposures to specific clients and counterparties
and to specific industries, countries and regions that we belicve may
present credit concerns, new business initiatives may cause us to transact
with a broader array of clients, with new asset classes and in new markets.
In addition, the recent widening of credit spreads and dislocations in the
credit markets have in some cases made it more difficult co syndicate
credit commitments 1o investors, and further widening of credic spreads
or worsening of these dislocations could increase these difficulcies, result-

ing in increased credit exposures.
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LIQUIDITY RISK

While our liquidity strategy seeks o ensure that we maintain suf-
ficient liguidity to meet all of our funding obligations in all markets, our
liquidity could be impaired by an inability to access secured and/or
unsecured debt markets, an inability to access funds from our subsidiar-
ies, an inability to sell assets or unforeseen outflows of cash or collateral.
This situation may arise due to circumstances that we are unable to
control, such as a general market disruption or an operational problem
that affects third parties or us. As we continue to employ structured
products to benefit our clients and ourselves, the financial instrunents
that we hold and the contracts to which we are a party are becoming
increasingly complex and these complex structured products often do
not have readily available markets to access in times of liquidity stress.
Growth of our principal investing activities could further restrict
liquidity for these positions. Further, our ability to sell assets may be
impaired if other market participants are seeking to sell similar assets at
the same time.

Qur credit ratings are important 1o our liquidity. A reduction in
our credit mangs could adversely affece our liquidity and competitive
position, increase our borrowing costs, limit our access to the capital
markets or trigger provisions under certain bilateral provisions in some
of our trading and collateralized financing contracts that could permit
counterparties to terminate contracts or require us to post additional
collateral. Termination of our trading and collateralized financing con-
tracts could cause us to sustain Josses and impair our liquidity by requir-
ing us to find other sources of financing or to make significant cash
payments or securities moverments,

OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or
failed internal or outsourced processes, people, infrastructure and tech-
nology, or from external events. Qur businesses are dependent on our
ability to process, on a daily basis, a large number of transactions across
numerous and diverse markets. These transactiens have become increas-
ingly complex and often must adhere to requirements unique to each
transaction, as well as legal and regulatory standards. Although contin-
gency plans exise, our ability to conduct business may be adversely
impacted by a disruption in the infrastructure that supports our business.

LEGAL, REGULATORY AND REPUTATIONAL RISK

The securities and financial services industries are subject to exten-
sive regulation under both federal and state laws in the US. as well as
under the laws of all of the other jurisdictions in which we do business,
We arc subject to regulation in the US. by governmental agencies
including the SEC and Commaodity Futures Trading Comumission, and
outside the U.S. by various internatiomal agencies including the Financial
Services Authority in the United Kingdom and the Financial Services
Agency in Japan. We also are regulated by a number of self-regulatory
organizations such as the Fimancial Industry Regulatory Authoricy
(“FINRA"} {formed in 2007 by the consolidation of NASID, Inc., and

the member regulation, enforcement and arbitration functions of the
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New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (*NYSE™), the Municipal Securities
Rulemaking Board and the National Futures Association, and by
national securities and commodities exchanges. Violation of applicable
regulations could result in legal and/or administrative proceedings,
which may impose censures, fines, cease-and-desist orders or suspension
of a firm, its officers or ¢mployees.

The scrutiny of the financial services industry has increased over
the past several vears, which has led to increased regulatory investigations
and licigation against financial services firms. Legislaion and rules
adopted both in the U.S. and around the world have imposed substantial
new or more stringent regulations, internal practices, capital require-
ments, procedures and controls and disclosure requirements in such areas
as financial reporting, corporate governance, auditor independence,
equity compensation plans, restrictions on the interaction between
equity research analysts and investment banking employees and money
laundering. The twend and scope of increased regulatory compliance
requireiments have increased costs.

Qur reputation is critical in maintaining our reladonships with
clients, investors, regulators and the general public, and is a key focus in

our risk management efforts. In recent years, there have been a number

of highly publicized cases involving fraud, conflicts of interest or other
misconduct by employees in the financial services industry, and we run
the risk that misconduct by our employees could occur, resulting in
unknown and unmanaged risks or losses. Emiployee misconduct could
also involve the improper use or disclosure of confidential information,
which could result in regulatory sanctions and serieus reputational or
financial harm. In addition, in certain circumstances our reputation
could be damaged by activities of our clients in which we participate, or
of hedge funds or other entities in which we invest, over which we have
little or no control.

We are involved in a number of judicial, regulatory and arbitration
proceedings concerning matters arising in connection with the conduct
of our business, including actions brought against us and others with
respect to transactions in which we acred as an underwriter or financial
advisor, actions arising out of our activities as a broker or dealer in
securities and actions brought on behalf of various classes of claimants
against many securities firms and lending insticutions, including us. See
Part I, Item 1A, “Business—Regulation™ and Part I, ltem 3, “Legal
Proceedings” in the Form 10-K for more information about legal and

regulatory mateers.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

The following is a summary of our critical accounting policies that
may involve a higher degree of management judgment and in some
instances complexity in application. For a further discussion of these and
other accounting policies, sce Note 1 “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies,” to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

USE OF ESTIMATES

In preparing our Consolidated Finaneial Statements and accompa-
nying notes, managentent makes various estimates that affect reported
amounts and disclosures. Broadly, those estimates are used in:

W measuring fair value of certain financial instruments;

® accounting for identifiable intangible assets and goodwill;

® establishing provisions for potencial losses that may arise from
litigation, regulatory proceedings and tax examinations;

B assessing our ability to realize deferred axes; and

® valuing equity-based compensation awards.

Estimates are based on available informarion and judgment.
Therefore, actual results could differ from our estimates and that differ-
ence could have a material effect on our Consolidated Financial
Statemenss and notes thereto.

CONSOLIDATION POLICIES

The assessment of whether accounting criteria for consolidation of
an entity is met requires managentent to exercise judgment. We con-
solidate the entities in which the Company has a controlling financial
interest. We determine whether we have a controlling financial interest

in an entity by first determining whether the entity is a voting interest

POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

entity (sometimes referred to as a non-VIE}, a variable interest entity
(“VIE") or a qualified special purpose entity (“QSPE”).

Voting Interest Entity Voting interest entities are entities that
have (i} total equity investment at risk sufficient to fund expected
future operations independently and (ii) equity holders who have the
obligation to absorb losses or receive residual returns and the right to
make decisions about the entity’s activities. In accordance with
Accounting Research Bulletin ("ARB™) Ne. 51, Consalidated
Financial Statements, and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS™) No. 94, Conselidarion of Al Majority-Oumed Subsidiarics,
voting interest entities are consolidated when the Company has a
controlling financial interest, typically more than 50 percent of an
entity’s voting interests,

Variable Interest Entity VIEs are entities that lack one or more
voting interest entity characteristics. The Company consolidates
VIEs in which it is the primary beneficiary. In accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation
("FIN") No. 46-R,, Conselidation of Variable Interest Entitics (revised
December 2003)—an interpretation of ARB No. 51 ("FIN 46(R)"), we
are the primary beneficiary if we have a variable interest, or a com-
bination of variable interests, that will either (i) absorb a majority of
the VIEs expected losses, (i) receive a majority of the VIEs expected
residual returns, or (iii) both. To determine if we are the primary
beneficiary of a VIE, we review, among other factors, the VIE'

design, capital structure, contractusl terms, which interests create or




absorb variability and related party relatianships, if any. Additionally, we
may caleulate our share of the VIES expected losses and expected
restdual returns based upon the VIE's contractual armngements and/or
our position in the VIE’ capital structure. This type of analysis is typically
performed using expected cash flows allocated to the expected losses and
expected residual returns under various probability-weighted scenarios.

Qualified Special Purpose Entity (QSPEs are passive entities with
limited permitted activities. SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and
Servicing of Finandial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities—a replace-
ment of FASB Statement No. {25 (“SFAS 1407), establishes the criteria
an entity must satisfy to be a QSPE, including types of assets held, limits
on asset sales, use of derivatives and financial guarantees, and discretion
exercised in servicing activities. In accordance with SFAS 140 and FIN
46(R), we do not consolidate QSPEs,

For a further discussion of our involvernent with VIEs, QSPEs and
other entities see Note 6,“Securitizations and Special Purpose Entites,”
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Equity-Methed Investments Entdties in which we do not have a
controlling financial interest (and therefore do not consolidate) but in
which we exert significant influence (generally defined as owning a vot-
ing interest of 20 percent to 30 percent, or a partnership interest greater
than 3 percent) are accounted for either under Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 18, The Equiry Methed of Acconnting for Investments
in Common Steck ot SFAS No. 1539, The Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities (*SFAS 1597}, For further discussion of
our adoption of SFAS 159, see “Accounting and Regulatory
Developments—SFAS 159" below.

Other When we do not consolidate an entity or apply the equity
method of accounting, we present our investment in the entity ar fair
value, We have formed various non-consolidated private equity or other
alternative investment funds with chird-party investors that are typically
organized as limited partnerships. We typically act as general partner for
these funds, and when third-party investors have (i) rights to either
remove the general partner without cause or o liquidate the parmer-
ship; or (1) substantive participation rights, we do not consolidate these
partnerships in accordance with Emerging lssue Task Force (“EITF")
No. 04-5, Determining HWhether a General Partner, or the General Parmers
as @ Group, Controls a Limited Partnership or Sintilar Entity When the
Limiied Partuers Have Centain Rights (“EITF 04-5"),

A determination of whether we have a controlling financial
interest in an entity and therefore our assessment of consolidation of
thar entity is initally made ac the tme we become involved with the
entity. Certain events may occur which cause us to re-assess our ini-
tial determination of whether an entity is a VIE or non-VIE or
whether we are the primary beneficiary if the entity is a VIE and
therefore our assesstent of consolidation of that entity, Those events
generally are:

@ The entity’s governance structure is changed such thart either (i)

the characteristics or adequacy of equity at risk are changed, or
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(i) expected returns or losses are reallocated among the partici-

pating parties within the entity.

B The equity investment (or some part thereof) is returned to the
equiry investors and other interests become exposed to expected
recurns or losses.

B Additional activities are undertaken or assets acquired by the
entity that were beyond those anticipated previously. |
B Participants in the entity acquire or sell interests in the entity.

B The entity receives additional equity at risk or cureails its activi-
ties in a way that changes the expected returns or losses,
VALUATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
We measure Financial instruments and other inventory positions

owned, excluding Real estate held for sale, and Financial instruments and

other inventory positions sold but not yer purchased ac fair value, We
account for Real estate held for sale at the lower of its carrving amount
or fair value less cost to sell. Both realized and unrealized gins or losses
from Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned and

Financial instruments and other inventory positions sold but not yet

purchased are reflected in Principal transactions in the Consolidared

Statement of Income.

We adopted SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157",
in the first quarter of 2007. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value, establishes a fair value hierarchy
based on the inputs used to measure fair value and enhances disclosure
requirements for fair value measurements. Additionally and ako in the
first quarter of 2007, we adopted SFAS 139, and applied this option o
certain hybrid financial instruments not previously accounted for at fair
value under SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial
Instriments—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140, as
well as certain deposit liabilities at our UL.S. banking subsidiaries.

SFAS 157 defines “fair value” as the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a Hability in an orderly transaction
berween market participants at the measurement date, or an exit price.
The degree of judgment utilized in measuring the fair value of financial
instrutents genenally correlates to the level of pricing observability.
Financial instruments with readily available active quoted prices or for
which fair value can be measured from acrively quoted prices in active
markets generally have maore pricing observability and less judgment
utilized in measuring fair value. Conversely, financial instruments rarely
traded or not quoted have less observability and are measured at fair
value using valuation models that require more judgment. Pricing
observability is impacted by a number of factors, including the type of
fimancial instrument, whether the financial instrument is new to the
market and not yer established, the characteristics specific to the transac-
tion and overall market conditions generatly.

The overall valuation process for financial instruments may include
adjustments to valuadons derived from pricing models. These adjust-
ments may be made when, in management’ judgment, either the size of

the position in the financial instrument or other features of the financial
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instrument such as its complexiry, or the market in which the financial
instrument is traded (such as counterparty, credit. concentration or
liquidity) require that an adjustment be made to the value derived
from the pricing models. An adjustment may be made if a trade of a
financial instrument is subject to sales restrictions that would resule in
a price less than the computed fair value mmeasurement from a guoted
market price. Additionally, an adjustment from the price derived from
a model typically reflects management’s judgment that other partici-
pants in the market for the financial instrument being measured at fair
value would also consider such an adjustment in pricing that same
financial instrument.

We have categorized our financial instruments measured at fair
vatue into a three-level classification in accordance with SFAS 157. Fair
value measurements of financiat instruments that use quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities are genenally categorized
as Level [, and fair value measurements of financial instruments that have
no direct observable levels are generally categorized as Level II1 The
lowest level inpur that is significant to the fair value measurement of a
financial instrument is used to categorize the instrument and reflects the
judgment of management. Financial assets and liabilities presented ac fair
value in Holdings' Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial
Condition generally are categorized as follows:

Level 1 Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for

identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

The types of assets and liabilities carried at Level [ fair value gener-

ally are G-7 government and agency securities, equities listed in

active markets, investments in publicly waded mutual funds with
quoted market prices and listed derivatives.

Level 1T Inputs {other than quoted prices included in Level 1) are

either direcdy or indirectly observable for the asset or liability

through correlation with market data at the measurement date and
for the duration of the nstrument’s anticipated life.

Fair valued assets and liabilides that are generally included in this

category are non-G-7 government securities, municipal bonds, cer-

tain hybrid financial instrumenss, certain mortgage and asset backed
securities, certain corporate debt, certain commitments and guaran-
tees, certain private equity invesanents and certain derivatives.

Level 111 Inputs teflect mamagements best estimate of what

market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at

the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent
in the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to
the model.

Generally, assets and Labilitics carried ac fair value and included in

this category are certain mortgage and asset-backed securities, cer-

tain corporate debt, cerain private equity investments, certain
commitments and guarantees and certain derivatives.

Financial assets and liabilities presented at fair value and categorized
as Level 11l are generally those that are marked to model using relevant

empirical data to extrapolase an estimated fair value. The models” inputs

reflect assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the
instrument in a current period transaction and outcomes from the models
represent an exit price and expected future cash flows. Qur valuadon
odels are calibrated to the market on a frequent basis. The parameters and
inpurs are adjusted for assumptions abour risk and current imarket condi-
ttons, Changes to inputs in valuation models are not changes to valuation
methodologies; rather, the inputs are modified to reflect direct or indirect
impacts on asset classes from changes in market conditions. Accordingly,
results from valuation models in one period may not be indicative of
future period measurements. Valuatons are independently reviewed by
employees outside the business unit and, where applicable, valuations are
back tested comparing instruments sold to where they were marked.

During the 2007 fiscal year, our Level Il assets increased, ending
the year at 13% of Financtal instruments and other inventory positions
owned, measured at fair value and with our derivatives on a net basis.
The increase in Level I assets resulted largely from the reclassification
of approximately $11.4 billion of morigage and asset-backed securites,
including approximately $5.3 billion in U.S. subprime residential mort-
gage-related assets, previously categorized as Level [T assers into the Level
I category. This reclassification genernlly occurred in the second half of
2007, reflecting the reduction of liquidity in the capital markets that
resulted in a decrease in the observability of market prices. Approximately
half of the residential mortgage-related assets that were classified as Level
HI at the end of the 2007 fiscal year were whole loan mortgages. In
particular, the decline in global trading activity impacted our ability to
directly correlate assumpdons in valuatdon models used in pricing
mortgage-related assets, including those for cumulative loss rates and
changes in underlying collateral values to current market activity.
Additionally and during the fiscal year, the increase of assets character-
ized as Level II[ was also attributable to the acquisition of private equity
and other principal investmene assets, funded lending commitments that
had not been fully syndicated at the end of the fiscal year as well as
certain commercial mortgage-backed security positions.

For a further discussion regarding the measure of Financial instru-
ments and other inventory positions owned, excluding Real estate held
for sale, and Financial instriunents and other inventory positions sold but
not yet purchased at fair value, see Note 4, “Fair Value of Financial
Instruments,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Determining the carrying values and useful lives of certain assets
acquired and liabilities assumed associated with business acquisitions—
intangible assets in partcular—requires significant judgment. At least
annually, we are required to assess whether goodwill and other intangible
assets have been impaired by comparing the estimated fair value, calcu-
lated based on price-earnings multiples, of each business segment with
its estimated net book value, by estimating the amount of stockholders’
equity required to support each business segment. Periodically estimat-
ing the fair value of a reporting unir and carrying values of intangible

assets with indefinite lives involves significant judgiment and often




nvolves the use of significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates
and assumptions coultd have a significant effect on whether or not an
impairment charge is recognized and the magnitude of such a charge. We
completed our last impairment test on goodwill and other intangible
assets a5 of August 31, 2007, and no impairment was identified.

LEGAL, REGULATORY AND TAX PROCEEDINGS

In the normal course of business, we have been named as a defen-
dant in a number of lawsuits and other legal and regulatory proceedings.
Such proceedings include actions brought against us and others with

respect to mansactions in which we acted as an underwriter or financial
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advisor, actions arising out of our activities as a broker or dealer in secu-
rittes and commodities and actions brought on behalf of various classes
of claiimants against many securities firms, including us. In addition, our
business activities are reviewed by various taxing authorities around the
world with regard to corporate income tax rules and regulations. We
provide for potential losses that may arise out of legal, regulatory and tax
proceedings to the extent such losses are probable and can be estimared.
Those determinations require significant judgment. For a further discus-
sion, see Note 9, Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees,” to the

Consolidated Financial Statements,

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW
The following table sets forth an overview of our results of operations in 2007:
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, PERCENT CHANGE

IN MILLIONS 2007 2006 2005 2007/2006 2006/2005
Net revenues $19,257 §17,583 $14,630 10% 20%
Income before taxes 3 6,013 $ 5905 $ 4829 2 22
Net income!! $ 4,192 $ 4,007 $ 3.260 5 23
Earnings per diluted common share $ 7.26 $ 68l $ 543 T 25%
Annualized return on average

cotnmon stockholders” equity 20.8% 23.4% 21.6%
Amnualized reeurn on average

tangible common stockholders’ equiry 25.7% 29.1% 27.8%

1 Net income in 2006 included an after-tax gain of $47 million, or $0.08 per diluted commaon share, as a cumulative effect of an accounting change associated with our adaption of SFAS

123(R), on December 1, 2005,

NET REVENUES

YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30, PERCENT CHANGE

IN MILLIONS 2007 2006 2005 200772008 2006/2005
Principal transactions $ 9,197 $ 9,802 $ 7.811 )% 25%
Investment banking 3,903 3,100 2,894 24 9
Commissions 2,471 2,050 1,728 21 19
Interest and dividends 41,693 30,284 19,043 38 59
Asset management and other 1,739 1,413 944 23 50
Gross revenues $59,003 $46,700 £32.420 26% 44%
Interest expense 39,746 29,126 17,790 36 [
Net revenues $19,257 $17.583 $14,630 10% 20%
Net interest revenues § 1,947 § 1,158 § 1,253 68% 8%
Principal transactions, conunissions

and nes interese revenues $13,615 §13,010 $10,792 5% 21%

Principal Transactions, Commissions and Net Interest Revenue In
both the Capital Markets segment and the Private Investment
Management business within the Investment Management segment, we

evaluate net revenue performance based on the aggregate of Principal

transactions, Commissions and Net interest revenue (Interest and divi-
dends revenue net of Interest expense). These revenue categorics include
realized and unrealized gains and losses, commissions associated with

client transactions and the interest and dividend revenue and interest

1
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expense associated with financing or hedging positions. Interest and
dividends revenue and Interest expense are a function of the level and mix
of total assets and liabilities (primarily financial instruments owned and
sold but not yet ‘purchased, and collateratized borrowing and lending
activities), prevailing interest rates and the rerm structure of our financings.
Caution should be used when analyzing these revenue categories indi-
vidually because they may not be indicative of the overall performance of
the Capital Markets and Investment Management business segments.
Principal wansactions, Comumissions and Net interest revenue in the
agpregate rose 3% in 2007 from 2006 and 21% in 2006 from 2005,

2007 ws. 2006  Principal transactions revenue decreased 6% in
2007 from 2006, primarily as a result of negative valuation adjustments
made on certain components of our Fixed Income inventory during the
second half of the 2007 fiscal year. Although we employ risk mitigation
strategies for certain inventory positions, correlations broke down, par-
ticularly in the latter parts of the fiscal year, resulting in a higher degree
of risk incurred. With respect to Capital Markets—Fixed Income cus-
tomer flow revenues, heightened risk aversion among investors caused
many o shift their trading activity to higher quality and more liquid
products, which are generally less profitable for the Firm. The negative
adjustments and the effects of this shift on our margin were partially
offset by record revenues within Capital Markets—Equities. The com-
parative increase in Equities’ Principal transactions revenue was a result
of higher customer activities, increase in market volatilicy and higher
revenues from prineipal and proprietary trading strategies, especially in
the international markets, Commission revenues rose 21% in 2007 from
2006.The increase in 2007 reflected growth in institutional commissions
on higher global trading volumes. Net interest revenue increased 68% in
2007 from 2006 reflecting changes in both financing rates and yield
curves between the periods. Interest and dividends revenue and Incerest
expense rose 38% and 36%, respectively, in 2007 from 2006. The com-
parative increase in Interest and dividend revenues and Interest expense
was atributable to the steepening of the yield curve and the growth of
cermin assets and liabilities on our balance sheet.

2006 vs. 2005 Principal transactions revenue improved 25% in
2006 from 2005, driven by bread based strength across fixed income
and equity products. Within Capital Markets, the notable increases in
2006 were in credit products and commercial mortgages and real
estate. The 2006 increase in net revenues from Equities Capital Markets
reflected higher client trading volumes, increases in financing and
derivative activities and higher revenues from proprietary trading strat-
egies. Principal transactions revenue in 2006 also beinefited from
increased revenues associated with certain structured products imeeting
the required market observability standard for revenue recognition.
Commission revenues rose 19% in 2006 from 2005, reflecting growth
in institutional commissions on higher global trading volunes, partially
offset by lower commissions in our lnvestinent Management business
segment, as certain clients transitioned from transaction-based com-

missions to a traditional fee-based schedule. Net interest revenue

declined 8% in 2006 from 2005 as a result of a change in the mix of
asset composition, an increase in short-term ULS. financing rates, and a
flatcened yield curve. lnterest and dividends revenue and Interest
expense rose 59% and 64%, respeciively, in 2006 from 2005, The
increase in Interest and dividend revenues and Interest expense was
attributable to higher short-term interest rates coupled with higher
levels of certain interest- and dividend-carning assets and interest-
bearing liabilites.

Investment Banking Investment banking revenues represent fees
and commissions received for underwriting public and private offerings
of fixed income and equity securities, fees and other revenues associated
with advising clients on M&A activities, as well as other corporate
financing activides.

2007 vs. 2006  Investment banking revenues rose to record levels
in 2007, increasing 24% from 2006. Record Global Finance—Debt rev-
enues increased 9% from 2006, Leveraged finance revenues were at all
tane highs, resulting from a very strong first half of the year, which was
partially offset by a decline in the second half of the year. Global
Finance—Equity net revenues increased 25% compared to 2006 led by
exceptional derivative activity as well as strong initial public offering
(“IPO™) revenue in the first half of the fiscal year. Record Advisory
Services revenues increased 45% from 2006, as our complered transaction
volume increased 124% for the same period. Included in Investment
banking revenue are client-driven derivative and other capital markets-
related tmnsactions with  Investment Banking clients, which totaled
approximately $541 million for 2007, compared to approximately $304
million for 2006.

2006 v, 2005 Investmen banking revenues rose in 2006, increas-
ing 9% from 2005. Giobal Finance—Debt 2006 net revenues increased
9% from 2005, reflecting significant growth in global originaton market
volumes, Global Finance—Equity net revenues decreased 1% compared
to 2003, despite increased global origination market volunies. Advisory
Services net revenues increased 20% from 2005, reflecting higher com-
pleted global M&A transaction volumes. Client-driven derivative and
other capital markets-related transactions with Investmient Banking cli-
ents totated approximately $304 million for 2006, compared to approxi-
mately $308 million for 2005.

Asset Management and Other  Asset management and other reve-
nues primarily result from asset imanagement activities in the Investnrent
Management business segment.

2007 vs. 2006 Asset management and other revenues rose 23% in
2007 from 2006. The growth in 2007 primarily reflected higher asset
management fees atrributable to the growth in AUM and management
and incentive fees.

2006 vs. 2005 Asser managenent and other revenues rose 50% in
2006 from 2005. The growth in 2006 primarily reflected higher asset
management fees attributable to the growth in AUM, a transition to fee-
based rather than commission-based pricing for certain clients, as well as

higher private equity managenient and incentive fees.

S
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NON-INTEREST EXPENSES

YEAR ENDED NOVEMSER 30, PERCENT CHANGE
IN MIELIONS 2007 2006 2005 2007/2006 2006/2005
Compensation and benefits $ 9.4% § B.o69 $ 7.213 1% 20%
Non-personnel expenses:
Technology and communications 1,145 974 534 18 17
Hrokerage, clearance and distribution fees 859 R2Y 548 7 15
Oceupancy 641 539 490 19 10
Professional fees 466 364 282 28 29
Business development 378 301 234 26 29
Other 261 202 200 29 1
Total non-personnel expenses § 3,750 § 3,009 § 2,588 25% 16%
Total non-interest expenses $13,244 811,678 $ 980 13% 19%
Compensation and benefits/Net revenues 49.3% 49.3% 49.3%
Non-personnel expenses/Net revenues 19.5% 17.1% 17.7%

Non-interest expenses were $13.2 billion, $11.7 billion and $9.8
billion in 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively. A substantial portion of our
non-interest expenses is compensation-related, and a significant portion
of our compensation expense represents discretionary bonuses which are
impacted by levels of business activity and the structure of our share-
based compensation programs. Remaining non-interest expense catego-
ries are largely variable, and are expected to change over time with
revenue tevels, business activity mix and employee headcount levels,

Compensation and benefits Compensation and benefits totaled
$9.5 billion, $8.7 billion and $7.2 billien in 2007, 2006, and 20035, respec-
tively. Compensation and benefits expense includes both fixed and vari-
able components. Fixed compensation consists primarily of salartes,
benefis and amortization of previous vears' deferred equity awards,
Variable compensation consists primarily of incentive compensation and
commissions. Compensation and benefits expense as a percentage of net
revenues was 49.3% for 2007, 2006 and 2005. Employees totaled approx-
imarely 28,600, 25,900 and 22,900 at November 30, 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectvely,

20007 vs. 2006 Headcount increased 10% in 2007 from 2006,
reflecting the increased levels of business activity across the Firm as
well as our continued investments in the growth of the franchise, par-
ticulatly in non—U.S. regions. In connection with the announced
restructuring of the Firm’s global residential mortgage origination
business, employee levels were reduced by approximately 1,900 in the
2007 fiscal year. Fixed compensation in 2007 was 20% greater than
2006 as result of the overall increase in employees. Fixed compensation
was approximately $4.6 billion and $3.9 billion in 2007 and 2006,
respectively. The 2007 fixed compensation amount of approximately
§4.6 billion includes approximately $1.3 billion of amortization
expense for stock awards granted in prior periods. Variable compensa-

tion was 1% greater in 2007 than 2006.

2006 vs. 2005 Headcount increased 13% in 2006 from 2005,
reflecting the increased levels of business activity across the Firm as
well as our continued investments to grow the franchise, particularly
in non-U.S. regions. Correlated to the increase in employees, fixed
compensation in 2006 was 21% greater than 2005. Fixed compensa-
tion was approximately $3.9 billion and $3.2 biltion in 2006 and 2005,
respectively. The 2006 fixed compensation amount of approximately
$3.9 billion includes approximately $1.0 billion of amortization
expense for stock awards granted in prior periods. The increased level
of revenue from 2005 to 20606 resulted in comparatively higher incen-
tive compensation expense.Variable compensation was 20% greater in
2006 than 2005,

Non-personnel expenses Nou-personnel expenses tataled $3.8
billion, $3.0 billion and $2.6 billion in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Non-personnel expenses as a percentage of net revenues were 19.5%,
17.1%, and 17.7% in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

2007 vs. 2006 Technology and comnwnications expenses rose
18% in 2007 from 2006, reflecting increased costs from the continued
expansion and developnient of our [nvestment Management platforms
and infrastructure. Brokerage, clearance and distribution fees rose 37%
in 2007 from 2006, primarily due to higher transaction volumes in
Equities Capital Markets and Investment Management products.
Occupancy expenses increased 19% in 2007 from 2006, primarily due
to increased space requirements from the increased number of employ-
ees. Professional fees and business development expenses increased
27% in 2007 on higher levels of business activity and increased costs
associated with recruiting, consulting and legal fees. In 2007, Other
non-personnel expenses included approximately 862 million associ-
ated with the restructuring of the Firm’s global residential mortgage

origination business.
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2006 vs. 2005 Technology and communications expenses rose
17% in 2006 froni 2005, reflecting increased costs from the continued
expansion and development of our Capital Markets platforms and infra-
structure. Brokerage, clearance and distribution fees rose 15% in 2006
from 2005, primarily due to higher transaction volumes in certain
Capial Markets and Investment Management products. Occupancy
expenses increased 10% in 2006 from 2005, primarily due to increased
space requirements from the increased number of employees. Professional
fees and business development expenses increased 29% in 2006 on
higher levels of business activity and increased costs associated with
recruiting, consulting and legal fees.

INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes totaled $1.8 billion. §1.9 billion and
$1.6 billion in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The provision for
income taxes resulted in effective wx rates of 30.3%, 32.9% and 32.5%
for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The decrease in the effective x
rate in 2007 compared to 2006 was primarily due to a more favorable
mix of earnings, which resulted in lower tx expense from foreign
operations as cotnpared 1o the U.S. statutory rate, The increases in the
effective tax rates in 2006 and 2005 compared with the prior years were
primarily due to an increase in the level of pretax earnings, which
minimizes the impact of certain tax benefic items, and in 2006 a net
reduction in certain benefits from foreign operations, partially offset by
a reduction in state and local taxes due to favorable audit settements in
2006 and 2005.

BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS, BUSINESS DISPOSITIONS

AND STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS

Business Acqguisitions  During the fiscal year, we completed the
business acquisitions listed below. As a result of these acquisitions,
the additions to goodwill and intangible assets were approxinarely
$860 million.

W Eagle Energy Parmers [, L.P, a Texas-based energy marketing
and services company that manages and optimizes supply, trans-
portation, transmission, load and storage portfolios on behalf of
wholesale natural gas and power clients.

m Capital Crossing Bank, a state-chartered, F2IC-insured commer-
cial bank that originates small business loans.

B A controlling interest in SkyPower Corp., a Toronto-based carly
stage wind and solar power generation development company.
SkyPower Corp. is consolidated in our results of operations.

B The final contingent payment under a 2004 deferred transaction
agreement was made for the remaining 50% of Lehman Brothers
Alternative Investment Management (“LBAIM™), which manages
fund of hedge fund portfolios and investment products for institu-
tional and high-net-worth private chients. LBAIM was previously
consolidated in Holdings’ results of operatons.

B Grange Securities Limited, a full service Australian broker-dealer

specializing in fixed income products.

B LightPoint Capital Martagentent LLC, a leveraged loan investment
manager based in Chicago, lllinois, with approximately $3.2 billion
in AUM.
W The institutional equities business, including the instieutional
research group, of Brics Securities Limited, located in India.
® H.A. Schupf, a high net worth asset manager with approximarely
$2.3 billion in AUM.
@ Congress Life Insurance Company, a life insurance company with
licenses in 43 UL.S. states.
# Dartmouth Capital, a U.K.-based investment advisory firm with
approximately $340 million in assets under advisory.
B MING Securities, an equiry securities brokerage firm in Turkey.
A portion of the consideration paid to shareholders of cerwain enu-
ties described above consisted of shares of Holdings’ common stock. For
more information, see Part 1, ltem 2, “Unregistered Sales of Equity
Securities and Use of Proceeds™ in the Quarterly Repors on Form
10-Q for the quarters ended August 31, 2007 and May 31, 2007,

Business Dispositions During the fiscal year, we completed the
business dispositions listed below.

8 Within Capital Markets we disposed of Neuberger Berman’s cor-
respondent clearing business, which decreased our goodwill and
intangible assets by approximately $26 million. The gain on sale
was not material.

® We incurred non-persounel costs of approximately $62 million,
including a goodwill write-down of approximately $27 million,
and approximately $30 million of severance expense {reported in
Compensation and benefits), in connection with the announced
restructuring of the Firm’s global residential mortgage origination
business, including the closure of BNC Mortgage LLC, our U.S.
subprime residential mortgage origination platform, the rescating
of operations in the U.S. and UK. due to market conditions and
product revisions and the closure of our Korean mortgage busi-
ness. The nen-personnel costs were approximately $22 million
after-tax and were generally associated with terminated leases.

® Leliman Brothers Bank disposed of a leasing subsidiary, Dolphin
Capital Corp,, acquired in the acquisition of Capital Crossing,
The transaction was an asset sale and amounts were transferred at
approximately book value,

Strategic Investments During the fiscal year, we made the fol-
lowing strategic investunents.

B Acquired a 20% interest in the D.E. Shaw group, a global invesi-
ment management firm,

B Purchased an inital 20% interest and a subsequent 3% interest
in both Spinnaker Asset Management Limited and Spinnaker
Financial Services. part of Spinnaker Capital, an emerging mar-
kets investment management firm.

# Purchased a minority interest in Wilton Re Holdings, a U.S. re-
insurer that focuses on the reinsurance of morulity risk on life

insurance policies.




Subsequent to the fiscal year ended November 30,2007, we acquired
certain assets of Van der Moolen Specialists, including its book of NYSE-
listed securities, staff and certain technology. We and certain other broker-
dealers entered into a joinc-venture and invested in TradeWeb Markets
LLC, an clectronic securities trading platform owned by Thomson
Financial. In addition, in January 2008, we sold our 20% interest in Marble

Bar Asset Management LLP, an investment snanagement firm,
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In January 2008, we announced the suspension of our wholesale
and correspondent mortgage lending activities ar our Aurora Loan
Setrvices subsidiary. We will continue to originate oans through
Aurora’s direct lending channel and will maintain Aurora’s servicing
business. As a result of these suspension activities, we estimate that we
will incur one-time expenses, after tax, of approximately $40 million

for severance and faciliries exit costs.

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

Our operations ar¢ organized into three business segments:
® Capital Markets;
B Investment Banking; and

B [nvestment Management.,

These business segments generate revenues from nstitutional, cor-
porate, government and high net worth individual clients across each of
the revenue categortes in the Consolidated Statement of Income, Net
revenues and expenses contain certain internal allocations, such as fund-

ing costs, that are centrally managed.

SEGMENT OPERATING RESULTS

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, PERCENT CHANGE
IN MILLIDNS 2007 2006 2005 200772006 200672005
Capital Markets
Net revenues §12,257 $12,006 $ 9,807 2% 22%
Non-interes: expense #,058 7.286 6,235 11 17
Income before taxes $ 4,199 § 4,720 $ 3,572 (11)% 2%
[nvestment Banking
Net revenues $ 3,903 £ 3,160 £ 2,894 24% 9%
Non-interest expense 2,880 2,500 2,039 15 23
Income hefore taxes § 1,023 5 o0l 5 855 35% (23)%
Investment Management
Net revenues $ 3,097 § 2,417 $ 1,929 28% 25%
Non-interest expense 2,306 i.892 1,527 22 el
Income before taxes § 791 § 525 $ 402 51% 3%
Total
Net revenues §19,257 17,583 $14.630 10% 20%
Non-interest expense 13,244 11,678 9,601 13 19
Income befote taxes $ 6,013 § 5905 § 4529 2% 23%,
The below charts illustrate the percentage contribution of each business segment to our total net revenues.
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CAPITAL MARKETS

Our Capital Markets segment is divided into two components:

Fixed Income  We make markets in and trade municipal and pub-
lic sector instruments, interest rate and credit products, mortgage-related
securities and loan products, currencies and commeodides. We also origi-
nate mortgages and we structure and enter into a variety of derivative
transactions. We also provide research covering economic, quantitative,
strategic. credit, relative value, index and portfolio analyses. Additionally,
we provide financing, advice and servicing acdvities to the hedge fund

community, known as prime brokerage services. We engage in certain
B

proprietary trading activities and in principal investing in real estate thac
are managed within this component,

Equities We make markets in and trade equides and equiry-
related products and enter into a variety of derivative transactions. We
also provide equity-related research coverage as well as execution and
clearing activities for clients. Through our capital markets prime services,
we provide prime brokerage services to the hedge fund community. We
also engage in proprietary trading activities and private equity and other
related invesunents,

The following table sets forth the operating results of our Capital

Markets business segment.

CAPITAL MARKETS RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30, PERCENT CHANGE

IN MILLIONS 2001 008 2005 2007/2006 2006/2005
Principal transactions $ 8,400 $ 9.285 $ 7.393 (10)% 26%
Commissions 1,752 1,420 1,132 23 25
Interest and dividends 41,648 30,264 18,987 38 59
Other 97 105 33 (8) 218
Total revenues 51,897 41,074 27,545 26 49
Interest expense 39,640 29,068 17,738 36 64
Net revenues 12,257 12,006 9,807 2 22
Non-interest expenses 8,058 7,286 6,235 11 17
Income before taxes $ 4,199 $ 4,720 $ 3,572 (11)% 32%

The following table sets forth net revenues for the two compeonents of our Capital Markets business segment.

CAPITAL MARKETS NET REVENUES

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, PERCENT CHANGE

IN MILLIONS 07 2006 2005 2007/2008 2006/2005

Fixed Income S 5,977 $ 8,447 $7,334 (29)% 15%

Equities 6,280 3,559 2473 76 44
$12,257 $12,006 £9,807 2% 22%

2007 vs. 2006 Net revenues totaled $12.3 billion and $12.0 bil-
lion in 2007 and 2006, respectively. Qverall growth in 2007 Capiral
Markets’ net revenues was driven by net revenues from the Equities
component of Capital Markets and a higher contribution from non-
US. regions, partially offiet by declines in net revenues for the Fixed
Income component of Capital Markets. Capital Markets net revenues
in 2007 include approximately $1.3 billion of gains on debt liabilities
which we elected to fair value under SFAS 157 and SFAS 159.

Net revenues in Capital Markets—Fixed Income of $6.U billion
for 2007, decreased 29% compared with $8.4 billien in 2006, Capiral
Markets—Fixed Income sales credit volumes were $4.8 billion,

increasing 40% compared with §3.4 billion in 2006.

The businesses within the Fixed Income component of Capital
Markets were the most affected by the market dislocattons, risk repricing
and de-levering that took place during the second half of the fiscal year.
The adverse conditions in the U.S. housing marker, changes in the credit
markets and continued correction in leveraged loan pricing and certain
asset-backed security market segments were generally responsible for the
negative variance in Capital Markets—Fixed Income revenues between
the benchmark periods. The negative valuation adjustments resulting
from the impact of adverse market conditions were partially mitigated
by the economic risk management strategies we employed as well as
valuatdon changes on certain debe liabilities and realized gains from the

sale of certain leveraged lending positions in the fourth quarter.




The table below presents certain components that generally con-
tributed 1o the decline of Capital Markets—Fixed Income revenues in
2007 from 2006, These components are presented on a gross basis, as well

as a net basis. The net impact represents the revenue impact from the
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components after adjusting for the impact of certain economic risk
management strategies. Caution should be utilized when evaluating the
amounts in the following table as they represent only certain components

of revenue associated with the general business activities described.

GAIN/ALOSS) .

YEAR EKDED NOVEMBER 30, 2007

14 BILLIQNS EROSS NET™
Residential mortgage-related positions 5(4.7) $(1.3)
Commercial mortgage-refated positions (1.2) (0.9)
Collateralized debt and lending obligation positions® (0.6) (0.2)
Municipal positions (0.2) —
High-yicld contingent acquisition loans and facilities® (1.0) (0.4)
Valuation of debt liabilities™ 0.9 0.9

$(6.8) $(1.9)

M The net impact represents the remaining ispact {rom the companents after deducting the impact of certain economic risk management strategies. The gross impact excludes any effect

of economic risk management strategies.

2 These valuation adjustments substantially relate to asset-backed coltateralized debt abligations including warehaused positions.

3 nciudes approximately $0.3 billion of realized gains from the safe of cerlain leveraged lending positions that were recognized in our fiscal fourth quarter. The net amount includes
certain transaction fees earned, in addition to the impact of certain economic risk management sirategies.

“ Represents the amouni of gains on debt liabilities allocated to Capital Markets—Fixed Income and for which we elected to fair value under SFAS 157 and SFAS 159. These gains represent
the effect of changes in our credit spread and exclude any Interest income or expense as well as any gain or loss from the embedded derivative components of these instruments. Changes
in valuations are altocated to the businesses within Capital Markets—Fixed Income in relation to the cash generated by, or funding requirements of, the underlying positions.

Capital Markets—Equities net revenues of $6.3 billion for 2007,
increased 76% compared with $3.6 billion in 2006, These results
reflected the higher revenue levels reflecting the broader customer fran-
chise developed globally. Capital Markets—Equities sales eredit volumes
were $3.7 billion, increasing 53% compared with $2.4 billion in 2006.
Global market mmading volumes rose 29% in 2007 compared to 2006.

The increase in Capital Markets—Equities net revenues reflected
increased performance during the fiscal year across all products, with the
exception of convertibles, driven by record customer activity and profit-
able principal wading and investing strategies. Global equity markets
advanced year over year. In the latter half of our 2007 fiscal year, volatil-
ity was at higher levels relative to the comparable 2006 period. The
volatility in the global equity markets led investors to employ risk miti-
gaton strategies, driving global market demand for and strong customer
actvity in cash and derivative products. 2007 revenues in convertibles
declined compared to 2006, mainly due to unprofitable proprietary trad-
ing strategies in certain sectors. Capital Markets—Equities prime ser-
vices’ net revenues increased compared 1o those in the 2006 fiscal year.
At the end of the 2007 fiscal year, the number of our prime brokerage
services clients increased 2004 to 630 from the end of the 2006 fiscal year.
Correspondingly, overall client balances were 30% higher ar the end of
the 2007 fiscal year also compared to balances at the end of the 2006
fiscal year. Capital Markets—Equities revenues in the 2007 fiscal year
include gains of approximately $700 million from private equity and
other principal investments, including our investment in GLG Partners
LP, as well as approximately $400 million in allocated gains from valua-
tion changes in certain of our debt liabilities carried at fair value pursu-
ant to SFAS 157 and SFAS 159.

Net interest revenues for the Capitl Markets segment in 2007
increased 68% compared to 2006, primarily attributable to higher short-
term ULS. financing rates and a change in the mix of asset composition.
Interest and dividends revenue rose 38% in 2007 compared to 2006, and
interest expense rose 36% in 2007 compared to the corresponding 2006
period. Non-interest expenses for 2007 increased 11%, Technology and
comimunications expenses increased due to the continued expansion and
development of our business platforms and infrastructure. Brokerage,
clearance and distribution fees rose primarily due to higher transaction
volumes across most Capital Markets products. Professional fees and
business development expenses increased due to global growth of the
business segiment. For the Capital Markets segment, Income before taxes
for 2007 decreased 11% compared with 2006 and, correspondingly, pre-
wax margins in 2007 were 34% compared to 39% in 2006. During 2007,
we announced steps to restructure our residential mortgage origination
business, which is a component of our securitized products business
within Capital Markets—Fixed Income. See “Business Acquisitions and
Dispositions—Business Dispositions” above. The costs associated with
these steps are included in the above non interest expenses.

2006 vs. 2005  Capital Markets net revenues increased 1o $12.0
Billion in 2006 from $9.8 billion in 2005, reflecting record performances
in both Fixed Income and Equities. On strong performances across most
products, Capital Markets—Fixed Income net revenues increased 15% in
2006 from 2005 and Capital Markets—Equities net revenues increased
44% over the same period. Income before taxes totaled $4.7 billion and
$3.6 billion in 2006 and 2003, respectively, up 32%. Pre-rax margin was
39% and 36% in 2006 and 2003, respectively.
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Our Capital Markets—Fixed Income net revenues grew to a
record $8.4 billion in 2006, an increase of 15% from 2005, This growth
was attributable to strong client-flow activity and profitable trading
strategies, leading o record revenues in most products. The products that
contributed most to the increase in revenues year over year included
credit, commercial mortgages and real estate and prime brokerage, par-
tially offset by strong, but lower revenues in both incerest rate products
and residential mortgages.

Capital Markets—Equities net revenues increased 44% to a record
level in 2006 on strong client-flow and robust global trading volunies.
Global equity indices were up 14% in local currency terms for 2006,
helped by strong earnings reports, lower energy prices and the end to the
interest rate tightening cycle by central banks. Substantially all equity
products in 2006 surpassed their 2005 performance, including gains in
cash products, prime brokerage, equity derivatives, convertibles and pro-
prietary and principal activites.

Net interest revenues decreased 4% in 2006 from 2005, primarily
due to higher short-term US. interest rates, a flattened yield curve and
a change in mix of asset composition. Interest and dividends revenue and

[nterest expense increased 59% and 64%, respectvely, in 2006 from 2005

as a result of higher short-term interest rates coupled with higher levels
of interest- and dividend-earning assets and interest-bearing liabiliries,
Non-interest expenses increased 1 $7.3 billion in 2006 from $6.2 billion
in 2005.The growth in Non-interest expenses reflected higher compen-
sation and benefits expense related to improved performance as well as
increased technology, occupancy and communications expenses attribut-
able to continued investments in trading platformis, integration of busi-
ness acquisitions, and higher brokerage and clearance costs and
professtonal fees from increased business actvities.

INVESTMENT BANKING

We rake an integrated approach to client coverage, organizing
bankers into industry, product and geographic groups within our
Investment Banking segment. Business services provided to corporations
and governmenis worldwide can be separated into:

Glehal Finante  We serve our clients’ capital raising needs through
underwriting, private placements, leveraged finance and other activities
associated with debt and equity products.

Advisery Services We provide business advisory services with
respect to mergers and acquisitions, divestitures, restructurings and other

corporate activities,

The following table sets forth the operating results of our Investment Banking segment.

INVESTMENT BANKING RESULTS OF OPERATIONS!

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, PERCENT CHANGE
IN MILLIONS 2007 2006 2005 2007/2006 2006/2005
Global Finance—Debt $1,551 $1,424 $1.304 Y% 9%
Global Finance—Equity 1,015 815 824 25 {n
Advisory Services 1,337 921 766 45 20
Total revenucs $3,903 $3.160 $2.894 24% %
Non-interest expenses : 2,880 2,500 2,039 15 23
Income before taxes $1,023 § 660 $ 855 35% (23)%

The following table sets forth our Investment Banking transac-
tion volumes.” These volumes do not always directly correlate to

Investment Banking revenues because they do not necessarily correspond

to the amount of securities actually underwritten and only include cer-
tain reported underwriting activity and because revenue rates vary

among transactions.

YEAR ENDED NOVEMSER 30, PERCENT CHANGE

IN MILEEONS 2007 2008 2005 2007/2006 2006/2005
Global Finance—Debt $368,422 $438.,026 $398.955 (16)% 10%
Global Finance—Equity 29,646 28,306 24,314 5 16
Advisory Services—Completed 849,265 378.448 313,667 124 21
Advisory Services—Announced 793,685 533,238 419,082 49 27

L Investment banking revenues are aet of related underwriling expenses.

? Debt and equity undenwriting volumes, as reparted by Thomson Financial, an operating unit of The Thomson Corporation, are based on full credit for single-book managers and equat credit for joint-book managers.
Debt underwriting volumes include both publicly registered and Rule 1444 issues of high prade and high yield bonds, soversign, agency and taxable municipal debt, non-convertible prefered stock and mortgage-
an¢ asset-backed securities. Equity underwriting velumes include both publicly registered and Rule 1444 issues of common stock and convertibles. Because publicly reported debt and equity underwriting volumes
do not necessarily correspand o the amount of securities actually underwritten and do not include certain private placements and other transactions, ang hecause revenue rates vary among transactions, publicty
reported debt and equity underwriting volumes may not be indicative of revenues in 2 given period. Additionally, because Advisory Services volumes are based on full credit to each of the advisors in a transaction,
and because revenue rates vary among transactions, Advisory Services volumes may not be indicative of revenues in a given period.




2007 vs. 2006
billion and $3.2 billion in 2007 and 2006, respectively, an increase of

Investment Banking net revenues totaled $3.9

24% in 2007 from 2006, reflecting record revenues for Global
Finance—Debt, Global Finance—Equity and Advisory Services and a
generally higher level of cross-border and international business activ-
ity. Non-interest expenses rose 15% in 2007 from 2006. This increase
was attribuzable to an increase in compensation and benefits expense
related to an increased number of employees and higher Non-
personnel expenses. Income before taxes increased 55% in 2007 1o
$1.0 billion from $660 million in 2006, and, correspondingly, pre-tax
margins in 2007 were 26% compared to 21% in 2006,

Global Finance—Debt origination net revenues wete $1.6 billion
in 2007, increasing 9% from 2006. These results were driven, in part,
by revenues from leveraged finance which had a record first half of
2007 but fell significantly in the latter half of 2007 as a number of
financial sponsor-related transactions were cancelled or delayed, par-
ticularly in the leveraged loan market. These conditions also caused
certain lending commitments to be executed at lower fee levels.
Publicly reported global debt origination market volumes decreased
3% in 2007 over 2006, with our origination market volumes decreas-
ing 16% over the same period. Qur debt origination fee backlog of
$14t million at November 30, 2007 decreased 43% fromt November
30, 2006. Debt origination backlog may not be indicative of the level
of future business due to the frequent use of the shelf registration pro-
cess and changes in overall market conditions. For the calendar year
2007, our market ranking for publicly reported global debt origination
was sixth with a 5.4% share. down from a rank of fourth with a 6.2%
share in calendar year 2006,

Global Finance—Equity net revenues increased 25% in 2007 two
a record $1.0 billion from 2006 revenues of 5815 million, consistent
with a 23% increase in industry-wide global equity origination market
volumes. The increase in 2007 net revenues also included strong, cus-
tomer-driven derivative-related activity, which more than doubled
from 2006 levels, On a sequential year basis, net revenues associated
with private placement transactions and accelerated stock repurchases
increased 72%. [PO net revenues increased 38% compared 1o the 2006
fiseal year and 1PO net revenues increased within all geographic seg-
ments. Qur PO market volume for 20007 increased 17% compared to
fiscal year 2006, slightly lower than the 19% market increase. Our
equity-related fee backlog (for both filed and unfiled transactions) at
November 30, 2007 was approximately $316 million, up 11% from
November 30, 2006; however, that measure may not be indicative of
the level of future business depending on changes in overall market
conditions. For the calendar year 2007, our market ranking for publicly
reported global equity origination was ninth with a 3.0% share, con-
sistent with our rank in calendar year 2006 during which we had a
3.5% market share.

Advisory Services reveinues were a record $1.3 billion in 2007, up

45% from then-record revenues in 2006, Indusury-wide completed and
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announced transaction volumes increased 32% and 27%, respectively, in
2007 from 2006, while our completed and announced volumes
increased 124% and 49%, respectively, in the same comparative period.
Our global market share for publicly reported completed and
announced transactions increased to 21% and 17%. respectively, for
calendar 2007, up 16% for both measures, in calendar year 2006, Our
M&A fee backlog at November 30, 2007 was 8374 million, up 34%
from November 33, 2006; however, that measure may not be indicative
of the level of future business depending on changes in overall markey
conditions. For the calendar year 2007, our market ranking for com-
pleted transactions was sixth with a 20.9% share, up from a rank of
seventh with a 15.8% share in calendar year 2006. Our market ranking
for announced transactions was ninth with a 17.3% share, down from
a rank of eighth wich a 15.5% share in calendar year 2006.

2006 vs, 2005
and $2.9 billion in 2006 and 2005, respectively, representing a 9%

Investment banking revenues totaled $3.2 billion

increase from the prior fiscal year. Non-interest expenses rose 23% in
2006 from 2005, arrributable 1o an increase in compensation and ben-
efits expense related to an increased number of employees and higher
revenues, as well as higher non-personnel expenses from increased
business activity, As a resule, income before taxes declined 23% in 2006
to $660 million from $855 million in 2005.

Global Finance-—Debt revenucs were a record $1.4 billion in
2006, increasing 9% over 20035 as investors took advantage of contin-
ued low interest rates, tight credit spreads and a flatrened yield curve.
Revenues also increased significantly over 2005 on relatively flat vol-
umes due to higher margins on several large wransactions. Partially
offsetting these factors was a lower level of client-driven derivative
and other capital markets—related transactions with our investment
banking clients which totaled $222 million in 2006, compared with
£318 million in 2005. Publicly reported global debt origination mar-
ket volumes increased 17% in 2006 over 2005, with our origination
market volumes increasing 8% over the same period. Our debt origi-
nation fee backlog of $245 million at November 30, 2006 increased
13% from November 30, 2005. For the calendar year 2006, our market
ranking for publicly reported global debt originations was fourth with
2 6.2% share, down from a rank of third with a 6.7% share in calendar
year 2005.

Global Finance—Equiry revenues declined 1% in 2006 o $813
million from record 2005 revenues, despite a 35% increase in industry-
wide global equity origination market volumes. Revenues in 2006
reflected strength in 11O activities, offset by lower revenues from the
Asia region, which benefited from several large transactions in 2003,
Qur [PO market volume for 2006 increased 25% from fiscal vear 2005,
compared to the overall market’s increase of 63%. Our equiry-related
fee backlog (for both filed and unfiled transactions) at November 30,
2006 was approximately $286 million. Our market share for publicly
reported global equity underwriting trimsactions decreased 1o 3.5% in

cﬂcndar 2006 from 4.8% for calendar year 2005,
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Advisory Services revenues were $921 million in 2006, up 20%
from 2008, Industry-wide completed and announced transaction vol-
wmes increased 31% and 34%, respectively, in 2006 from 2003, while
our completed and announced velumes increased 21% and 27%, respec-
tively, from the same comparative period. M&A volumes rose during the
period due to increasing equity markets, strong corporate profitability
and balance sheets, and available capital raised by financial sponsors. Our
global market share for publicly reported completed transactions
increased to 15.8% for calendar 2006, up from 13.4% in calendar year
2005. Our M&A fee backlog at November 30, 2006 was $243 million
down 1% from November 30, 2005.

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

The Investment Management business segment consists of:

Asset Management We provide customized investment manage-
ment services for high net worth clients, mutual funds and other small
and middle market institutional investors. Asset Managenmient also serves
as general partner for private equity and other alternative investment
partnerships and has minority stake investments in certain altermatve
investment managers.

Private Investment Management We provide investment, wealth
advisory and capital markets execution services to high net worth and

middle market institutional clients.

The following table sets forth the operating results of our Investment Management segment.

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT RESULTS OF OPERATIONS .
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, PERCENT CHANGE
IN MILLIONS 2007 2006 2005 2007/2006 200672005
Principal transactions $ 797 $ 517 % 418 54% 24%
Commissions 79 630 596 14 0
Interest and dividends 45 20 56 125 {64)
Asset management and other 1,642 1,308 911 26 44
Total revenues 3,203 2475 1,981 29 25
Interest expense 106 58 52 83 12
Net revenues 3,097 2,417 1,929 28 25
Non-interest expenses 2,306 1,892 1,527 22 24
Income before taxes $ 791 § 525 § 402 51% 31%
The following table sets forth our Asset Management and Private Investment Management net revenues.
|
| INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT NET REVENUES
|
YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30, PERCENT GCHANGE
‘ IN MILLIDNS 2007 2008 2005 2007/2006 2006/2005
| Asset Management 31,877 $1,432 $1.026 31% 4%
| Private Investment Management- 1,220 985 903 24 B
| 53,097 52,417 $1.929 28% 25%
The following table sets forth our AUM by asset class.
COMPOSITION OF ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
AT NOVEMBER 30, PERCENT CHANGE
IN BILLIONS 007 2006 2005 2007/2006 2006/2005
Equity § 107 $ Y95 $ 75 13% 27%
Fixed income 75 61 35 23 1
Money markets 66 48 29 38 66
Alternative investments 34 21 16 62 31
§ 282 § 225 $ 175 25% 29%
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The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in our AUM.

CHANGES IN ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, PERCENT CHANGE
IN BELLIONS 2007 2006 2805 2007/2006 2008/2005
Opening balace $ 215 & 175 $ 137 29% 28%
Net additions Y| 35 26 17 35
Net market appreciation 16 15 12 7 25
50 38 14 32
Assets Under Management § 282 $ 225 $ 175 25% 29%

|

Total increase 57

2007 ps. 2006 Investnent Management net revenues ended the
fiscal year up 28% compared to 2006, s Asser Management and Privare
[nvestment Management both achieved record results in 2007, Non-
interest expense of $2.3 billion for 2007 increased 22% compared with
2006, resulting from higher levels of discretionary compensadon result-
ing from increased net reverues and numbers of employees. Non-
personntel expenses also increased, primarily due to higher brokerage,
clearing, exchange and distribution fees. The continued expansion of this
business platform globally contributed 1o the comparative increases in
Non-interest and Non-personnel expenses. Income before taxes of $791
miillion increased 51% compared with 2006. In part, this increase was
reflective of higher pre-tax margins associated with revenue generated
front minority stake investments in aleernative asset managers. Pre-tax
margins in 2007 were 26% compared to 22% in 2006.

Asset Management net revenues of $1.9 billien in 2007 increased
by 31% from 2006, reflecting significantly higher management fees,
principally due to strong growth in AUM, and higher incentive fees.
During the fiscal year, AUM increased §57 billion or 25% ro approxi-
mately $282 billion. 72% of the increase was a result of net inflows across
all asset categories.

Private Investment Management net revenues of $1.2 billion
increased 24% in 2007 from 2006, driven both by higher equity-related
activiry, especially within the volatility and cash businesses, and higher
fixed income-related activity, especially in credit products, securitized

produces and global rates business. Fixed income-related activity in the

second half of the fiscal year slowed as clients became less active in fixed
income-related products as a resubt of higher volatility in the global
miarkets and credit concerns in certain asset classes.

2006 vs. 2005 Net revenues totaled $2.4 billion and §1.9 billion
in 2006 and 2003, respectively, representing a 25% increase, as both Asset
Management and Private Invesunent Management achieved then record
resules in 2006. Non-interest expenses totaled $1.9 billion and $1.5 bil-
lion in 2006 and 2005, respectively. The 24% increase in Non-interest
expense was driven by higher conmpensation and benefits associared with
a higher level of earnings and headcount, as well as increased Non-
persoitnel expenses from continued expansion of the business, especially
into non—U.S. regions. Income before taxes increased 31% in 2006 ©
$525 million from §402 million in 2005. Pre-tax margin was 22% and
21% in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Asset Management net revenues of $1.4 billion in 2006 increased
by 40% from 2005, driven by a 29% increase in AUM and strong reve-
nues from our growing alternative lvestment offerings, which contrib-
uted higher incentive fees in 2006 compared to 2005, AUM increased to
a record 8223 billion at November 30, 2006, up from $§175 billion at
November 30, 2005, with 70% of the increase resulting from net inflows.

Private Investment Management ner revenues of $985 million
increased 9% in 2006 from 2005, driven by higher equity-related activity,
especially within the volatility and cash businesses, Fixed income-related
activity was relatively fat in 2006 compared to 2005 a5 a result of clients’

asset reallocations into equiry products.

GEOGRAPHIC

We organize our operations into three geographic regions:
B Europe and the Middle East, inclusive of our operations in ussia
and Turkey;
B Asia-Pacific, inclusive of our operations in Australia and India; and
B the Americas.
Net revenues presented by geographic region are based upon the
location of the senior coverage banker or investment advisor in the case

of Investment Banking or Asset Management, respectively, or where the

REVENUES

position was risk managed within Capital Markets and Private
Investment Management. Certain revenues associated with U.S. products
and services that result from relationships with international clients have
been classified as international revenues using an allocation process. In
addition, expenses contain cermain internal allocations, such as regional
transter pricing, which are centrally managed. The nmethodology for
allocating the Firm's revenues and expenses te geographic regions is

dependent on the judgment of management.
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The following presents, in management’s judgment, a reasonable representation of each region’s contribution to our operating results.

GEOGRAPHIC OPERATING RESULTS

YEAR ENDED NDVEMBER 30, PERGENT CHANGE
IN MILLIONS 007 2006 2005 200772006 200672005
EUROPE AND THE MIDDLE EAST
Net revenues $ 6,296 § 4536 $ 3,601 39% 26%
Non-interest expense 4,221 3,303 2,689 28 23
[ncome before taxes 2,075 1,233 912 68 35
ASIA-PACIFIC
Net revenues 3,145 1,809 1,650 74 10
Non-interest expense 1,801 1,191 872 3 37
Income befare taxes 1,314 618 78 113 (21
AMERICAS
Us. 9,634 i1,116 9.270 {13) 20
Other Americas 182 122 109 19 2
Net revenues 9,816 11,238 9,379 (13) 20
Non-interest expense . 7,192 7,184 6,240 — 15
Income before taxes 2,624 4,054 3,139 (33) 29
TOTAL
Net revenues 19,257 17,583 14,030 10 20
Non-interest expense 13,244 11,678 9,801 13 19
Income before taxes $ 6,013 § 5905 § 4829 2% 22%
The below charts illuserate the contribution percentage of each geographic region to our total net revenues.
2007 2006 2005
Other Orther
us Other us. Americas us. Americas
o Americas 63% 1% 63% 1%
3% %
Europe
and the Europe
Middle East and the
Europe 2% Middle Easc
and the 25%
Asia-Pacific Middle East
16% 3% Asia-Pacific Asia-Pacific
10% 11%

2007 vs. 2006 Non-Americas net revenues rose 49% in 2007
from 2006 1o a record $9.4 billion, representing 49% of total net reve-
nues in 2007 ind 36% in 2006. The increase in 2007 net revenues was
due to the continued growth in Capital Markets as well as the continued
expansion of our Investment Management business in both the Europe
and the Middle East and the Asia-Pacific regions. Non-U.S. net revenues
represented 50% and 37% of total net revenues for the 2007 and 2006
fiscal years.

Net revenues in Europe and the Middle East rose 39% in 2007
from 2006, reflecting record performance in Capital Markets—Equities,
Investment Banking and Investment Management. In Capital

Markets—Equities. higher revenues were driven by improved risk and

trading strategies. as well as record customer flow activity, increased
volume and gains from principal investment activities. In Investiment
Banking, higher net revenues reflected record results in leveraged
finance revenue and advisory revenue, as well as equity origination, In
Investment Management, higher net revenues reflected a significant
increase in AUM. Income before taxes for Europe and the Middle East
increased 68%.

Net revenues in Asia-Pacific rose 74% in 2007 from 2006, reflecting
strong performance in all business segments. Capital Markets results were
driven by strong performances in execution services and volatility based
upon strong customer-demand as Asian equity markets outperformed

other regions in the fiscal year. Investment Banking results were driven




by strong IPO activity and debt-related transactions. Investment
Management results are reflective of our continued development of this
business segment in this geographic sector. Income before taxes for Asia-
Pacific increased 113%.

2006 vs. 2005 Non—Ammericas net revenues rose 21% in 2006
from 2005 to $6.3 billion, representing 36% of total net revenues both
in 2006 and 2005. The increase in 2006 net revenues was due to the
continued growth in Capital Markets as well as the continued expansion
of our Investment Management business in both Europe and Asia. Net
revenues in Europe and the Middle East rose 26% in 2006 from 2005,
reflective of higher revenues in Capital Markets, growth in Investment

Managenent and swong results in Investment Banking, In Capiral
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Markets—Fixed Income, higher revenues were driven by credit prod-
ucts, securitized products and our real estate business, In Capital
Markets—Equities, higher net revenues reflect strong resules i equiry
derivatives and equity prime brokerage services. Income before taxes for
Europe and the Middle East increased 35%. Nex revenues in Asia-Pacific
rose L0% in 2006 fom 2005, reflective of higher revenues in Capital
Markets and the growth in Investment Management, partially offset by
declining revenues in Investment Banking. Capital Markets net revenues
increased in 2006 primarily from strong performances in commercial
mortgages and real estate, equity derivatives and improved equity trading
strategies, partially offset by lower revenues from interest rate products,

Income before taxes for Asia-Pacific decreased 21%.

LIQUIDITY, FUNDING AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

© We establish and monitor compliance with guidelines for the level
and composition of our liquidity pool and asset funding, the miakeup and
size of our balance sheet and the udlization of our equity.

During the latter half of our 2007 fiscal year, the global capital
nuarkets experienced a significant contraction in available liquidity as the
adverse market environment experienced in our third quarter continued
inte our fourth quarter and deteriorated further in Noveniber 2007,
Despite infusions of liquidity by central banks into the financial system,
broad asset classes, particularly U.S. subprime residential mortgages and
structured  credit products, remained thinly traded throughowt this
period. Notwithstanding these global market conditions, we ended the
period with a very strong liquidity position. At November 30, 2007, our
liquidity pool was approximately $33 billion, up from approxinmately $31
billion at Novemnber 30, 2006 and down slightly from approximately $36
billion at the end of the third quarter of the 2007 fiscal year. Long-term
capital (long-term borrowings, excluding borrowings with remaining
contractual maturities within twelve months of the financial statement
date, and total stockholders’ equity) was at approximately $146 bil-
lion at the end of 2007 fiscal year, up from approximately $100 bil-
lion at November 30, 2006 and $142 billion at the end of the third
quarter of the 2007 fiscal year. Also during 2007, Holdings’ and LBI’s
credit rarings wete upgraded by two credit rating agencies.

LIQuIDITY

Liquidity pool  We maintain a liquidity pool available to Holdings
that covers expected cash outflows for twelve months in a stressed
liquidity environment. In assessing the required size of our liquidity pool,
we assume that assets outside the liquidity pool cannot be sold to gener-
ate cash, unsecured debt cannot be issued, and any cash and vnencum-
bered liquid collateral outside of the liquidity pool cannot be used o
support the liquidity of Holdings. Qur liguidity pool is sized to cover
expected cash outflows associated with the following irens:

® The repayment of approximately $21.5 billion of unsecured
debt, which is all of the unsecured debt matwring in the next

twelve months issued by Holdings and our unregulated enaities,

excluding approximacely $3.7 billion of structured note self-
funding trades that are measured at fitr value and managed by
business units through matched, unencumbered asset portfolios
outside of Holdings” liquidity pool. Qur regulated entities each
maintain their own liquidity pool sized to cover the repayment
of the approximately $2.3 billion in aggregate of unsecured
debt maturing in the next ewelve months issued by those regu-
lated entities.

@ The funding of commitments to extend credit made by
Holdings and certain unregulated subsidiaries based on a
probabilistic model. The funding of commitments o extend
credit made by our regulated subsidiaries (including our banks)
is covered by the liquidity pools maintained by these regu-
lated subsidiaries. For additional information, see “Contractual
Obligations and Lending-Related Commimentss”™ below and
Note 9, “Conumitments, Contingencies and Guarantees,” to the
Consolidated Financial Statements,

B The anticipated impact of adverse changes on secured funding—
either in the form of a greater difference between the market and
pledge value of assets (also known as “haircuts™) or in the form
of reduced borrowing availabilicy.

B The anticipated finding requirenients of equity repurchases as we
manage our equity base (including offeuing the dilutive effect of
our employee incentive plans). See “Equity Management” below:
In addition, the liquidity pool is sized to cover the impact of a one

notch downgrade of Holdings' long-term debe ratings, including the
additienal collateral that would be required to be posted against deriva-
tive contracts and other secured funding arrangements. See “Credit
Ratings” below.

The liguidity pool is invested in liquid instruments, including cash
equivalents, G-7 government bonds and ULS. agency securities, nvest-
ment grade asset-backed securities and other liquid securittes that we
believe have a highly reliable pledge value. We calculate our liguidity
pool on a daily basis.
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Qur estimated values of the lquidity pool and other unencuinbered (i.c., unpledged) asset portfolios available are:

AT NOVEMBER 30,
IN BILLIONS 2007 - 2006
Unregulated
Holdings liquidicy pool at pledge value $ 349 $ 314
Other unencumbered assets at market value 63.2 39.4
98.1 70.8
Regulated™
Unencumbered assets held by bank entities a1 market value® 33.2 223
Unencumbered assets held by non-bank entities at markee value 62.3 50.8
95.5 731
Tortal $193.6 $1439

M Bur regulated subsidiaries, such as our U.S. and non-U.S. broker-dealers and bank entities, maintain their own liguidity pools to cover their stand-alone expected annualized cash
funding needs in a stressed liquidity environment. Unencumbered assets in regulated entities are generally restricted fsom transier and therefore considered not avaitable to support

the liquidity needs of Holdings’ or other unregulated entities.

@ Oyr deposit-taking bank entities consist of two US. institutions and one in Germany.

Funding of assets We fund assets based on their liquidity charac-
teristics, and utilize cash capital® to provide financing for our long-term
funding needs. Qur funding strategy incorporates the following factors:

W Liquid assets (i.¢., assers for which we believe a reliable secured
funding market exists across all market environments including
government bonds, U.S. agency securities, corporate bonds, asset-
backed securities and equity securities) are primarily funded on a
secured basis.

B Secured funding “haircuts™ are funded with cash capital.

@ [lliquid assets (e.g., fixed assets, intangible assets and margin post-
ings) and less liquid inventory positions (r.g., derivatives, private
equity invesements, certain corporate oans, certain commercial
mortgages and real estate positions) are funded with cash capital.

B Certain unencumbered assets that are not part of the liquidity pool
irrespective of asser quality are also funded with cash capitl. These
assets are typically unencumbered because of operattonal and asset-
specific factors (e.g., securities moving between depots), We do not
assume a change in these factors during a stressed liquidity event.

As part of our funding strategy, we also take steps o mitigate our main
sources of contingent liquidity risk as follows:

# Commitments to extend credit — Cash capital is utilized to cover
a probabilistic estimate of expecred funding of commitments to
extend credit. For a further discussion of cur commitnents, see
“Contractual Obligations and Lending-Related Commitments™
in cthis MD&A and Note 9, “Conmitnents, Contingencies and
Guarantees,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

® Ratings downgrade — Cash capital is urilized to cover the liquidity
impact of a one-notch downgrade on Holdings. A ratings down-
grade would increase the amount of collateral to be posted against

our derivative contracts and other secured funding arrangements,

For a further discussion of credit ratings and the potential impacts

of ratings downgrades, see “Credit Ratings™ below.

@ Client financing—We provide secured financing to our clients
typically through repurchase and prime broker agreements. These
financing activities can create liquidity risk if the availability
and terms of our own secured borrowing agreements adversely
change during a stressed liquidity event and we are unable 1o
reflect these changes in our client financing agreements, We
mirigate this risk by entering into term secured borrowing agree-
ments, in which we can fund different types of collateral at pre-
determined collateralization levels, and by maintaining Hquidity
pools at our regulated broker-dealers.

Our policy is to operate with an excess of long-term funding
sources over our long-term funding requirements (“cash capital sur-
plus”). We seek to maintain a cash capital surplus at Holdings of at least
$2.0 billion. As of November 30, 2007, our cash capital surplus at
Holdings increased to §8.0 billion, up from $6.0 billion at November 30),
2006. Additionally, at November 30, 2007 and 2006, our cash capital
surplus in our regulated entities was approximately $12.6 billion and
$10.0 billion, respectively.

We hedge the majority of foreign exchange risk associated with
investments in subsidiaries in non-U.S. dollar currencies using foreign
currency-denoninated long-term debt and forwards,

Diversification of funding sources We seck to diversify our fund-
ing sources. We issue long-term debt in multiple currencies and across a
wide range of maturities to tap many investor bases, thereby reducing
our reliance on any one source.

B During 2007, we issued $86.3 billion of long-term borrow-
ings. Long-term borrowings {less current portion) increased to

$123.2 billion at November 30, 2007, up froin $81.2 billion at

! Cash capital contists of stockhelders' equity, the estimated sustainable portion of core deposit liabilities aj our bank subsidiaries, and liabilities with remaining term of one year or more.




November 30, 2006 principally to support the growth in our
assets as well as to pre-fund a portion of our 2008 maturities. The
weighted-average maturities of our long-term: borrowings were
7.1 and 6.3 years at November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
We diversify our issuances geographically to minimize refinanc-
ing risk and broaden our debt-holder base. As of November 30,
2007, 54% of our tong-term debt was 1ssued outside the United
States. In comparison, as of November 30, 2006, 49% of our long-
term debr was issued outside the United States,

In order to minimize refinancing risk, we establish limits {scated
as percentages of ouwstanding long-term borrowings) on our
long-term borrowings anticipated to mature within any quar-
terly (12.5%), half-year (17.3%) and full-year (30.0%) interval. At
November 30, 2007, those limits were $15.4 billion, $21.6 billion

matu
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and $37.0 billion, respectively, If we were to operate with debt above
these levels, we would not include the additional amount as a source
of cash capital.

We typically issue in sufficient size to create a liquid benchmark
issuance (i.¢., sufficient size to be included in the Lehman Bond
Index, 2 widely used index for fixed income asset managers).
Long-term debt is accounted for in our long-term-borrowings

rity profile at its contractual maturity date if the debt is redeemable

at our option, Long-term debt that is repayable at par at the holder’s

option is included in these timits ar its earliest redemption date.

Exter

date,

idible issuances (which matwre on an itial specified maturity

untess the debt holders elect to extend the term of the note for a

period specified in the note) are included in these limits ac their earliest

mart

rity date.

The quarterly long-term borrowings maturity schedule over the next five years at November 30, 2007 is as follows:

LONG-TERM BORROWINGS MATURITY PROFILE CHART!Y
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M tocluded in long-term debd is $5.1 billion ef certain hybrig financial instruments with contingent early redemption features linked to market prices or cther triggering events (e.g., the downgrade of a
reference obligation underlying a crecii~linked note}. In the above maturity table, these notes are shown at their contractual maturity. In determining the cash capital value of these notes, however,
we excluded the portion reasonably expected to mature within twelve months ($2.2 billion) from our cash capital sources at November 30, 2007,

B We use both committed and uncomniitted bilateral and synd:cated have maintained compliance with the naterial covenants under these

long-term bank facilities to complement our long-term debt issuance.
In particular, Holdings maintains a $2.0 billion unsecured, committed
revolving credit agreement with a syndicate of banks that expires in
February 2009, In addition, we maintain a $2.5 billion multi-currency
unsecured, comumitted revolving credit facility (“European Facility™)
with a syndicate of banks for Lehman Brothers Bankhaus AG
(“Bankhaus™) and Lehman Brothers Treasury Co. B.V. that expires in
April 2010. Qur ability to borrow under such facilides is conditioned

on complying with customary lending conditions and covenants. We

credit agreements at all times. We draw on both of these facilities from
time to time in the normat course of conducting our business. As of
November 30, 2007, there were no outstanding borrowings against
either Holdings' credit facility or the European Faciliry.

We have established a $2.4 billion conduir that issues secured
liquidity notes to pre-fund high grade loan comniitments. This
is fully backed by a triple-A rated, third-party, one-year revolving
liquidity back stop, which we have in wrn fully backed. This

conduit s consolidated in Holdings” results of operations.
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B We participate in an A-1/P-!-rated nwld-seller conduit. This
multi-seller issues secured liguidity notes to provide financing. We
use this conduit for purposes of funding a portion of our contin-
gent acquisition commitments. At November 30, 2007, we were
contingently committed to providing $1.6 billion of liquidity if the
conduit is unable to remarket the secured liquidity notes upon their
maturity, generally, one year after a failed remarketing event. This
conduit is not consolidated in Holdings' results of operations.

B We own three bank entities: Lehman Brothers Bank, a2 U.S.-based
thrift institution, Lehman Brothers Commercial Bank, a US.-
based industrial bank, and Bankhaus. These regulated bank entities
operate in a deposit-protected environment and are able to source
low-cost unsecured funds that are primarily term deposits, These
bank entities are generally insulated from a company-specific or
market liquidity event, thereby providing a reliable funding source
for their tortgage products and selected loan assets and increasing
our consolidated funding diversification. Owerall, these bank enti-
ties have raised $29.4 billion and §21.4 billion of customer deposit
liabifities as of November 30, 2007 and 2000, respectively,

B Bank facilities provide us with further diversification and flex-
ibility. For example, we draw on our committed syndicated credit
facilities described above on a regular basis (typically 25% to
50% of the time on a weighted-average basis) to provide us with
additional sources of long-term funding on an as-needed basis.
We have the ability to prepay and redraw any number of times
and to retain the proceeds for any term up to the maturity date
of the facility. As a result, we see these facilities as having the same
liquidity value as long-term borrowings with the same maturivy
dates, and we include these borrowings in our reported long-
term borrowings at the facility’s stated final maturity date to the
extent that they are outstanding as of a reporting date.

Funding action plan 'We have developed and regularly update a
Funding Action Plan, which represents a detailed action plan to manage
a stress liquidity event, including a communicacion plan for regulators,
creditors, investors and clients. The Funding Action Plan considers two
types of liquidity stress events—a Company-specific event, where there
are no issues with overall market liquidity and a broader market-wide
event, which affects not just our Company but the entire market.

in a Company-specific event, we assume we would lose access to
the unsecured funding market for a full year and have to rely on the
liquidity pool available to Holdings to cover expected cash outflows over
the next twelve months.

In a market liquidity event, in addition to the pressure of a Compairy-
specific event, we also assume that, because the event is market wide, addi-
tonal counterparties to whom we have extended liquidity facilities draw
on these facilities. To mitigate the effect of a market liquidity event, we have
developed access to additdonal liquidity sources beyond the liquidity pool
at Holdings, including unutilized funding capacity in our bank entities and

unutilized capacity in our bank facilities. See “Funding of assets” above.

We perform regular assessments of our funding requirements in
stress liquidity scenarios to best ensure we can meet all cur funding
obligations in all market environmients.

Legal entity structure Our legal entity structure can constrain
liquidity available to Holdings. Some of our legal entities, particulasly our
regulated broker-dealers and bank entities, are restricted in the amount
of funds that they can distribute or lend to Holdings. For a further dis-
cussion, see Note 15, "Regulatory Requirements,” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements,

Certain regulated subsidiaries are funded with subordinated debt
issuances and/or subordinated loans from Holdings, which are counted
as regulatory capital for those subsidiaries. Our policy is to fund subor-
dinated debt advances by Holdings to subsidiaries for use as regulatory
capital with long-term debt issued by Holdings having a maturity at leasc
one year greater than che maturity of the subordinated debt advance,

CREDIT RATINGS

During the 2007 calendar year, Holdings' and LBIs credit ratings
were upgraded by two of the rating agencies. Like other companies in the
securities industry, we rely on external sources to finance a significant por-
tion of our day-to-day operations. The cost and availability of unsecured
financing are affected by our shortterm and long-term credit ratings.
Factors that may be significant to the determination of our eredit mdngs
or otherwise affect our ability to raise short-term and long-term financing
include our profit margin, our earnings trend and volatility, our cash liquid-
ity and liquidity management, our capital structure, our risk level and risk
management, our geographic and business diversification, and our relative
positions in the markets in which we operate. Deterioration in any of these
factors or combination of these factors may lead rating agencies to down-
grade our credit ratings. This may increase the cost of, or possibly limit our
access to, certain types of unsecured financings and trigger additional col-
lateral requirements in derivative contracts and other secured funding
arcangernents, I addition, our debt ratings can affect cerrain capiral mar-
kets revenues, particularly in those businesses where longer-term counter-
party performance is critical, such as over-the-counter (*OTC”) derivative
transactions, including crediv derivatives and interese rare swaps,

The current ratings of Holdings and LBI short- and long-term

senior borrowings are as follows:

CREDIT RATINGS

HOLDINGS LBI
SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM  SHORT-FERM LONG-TERM

Standard & Poor’s

Ratings Services A-1 At A-1+ AA-
Moody’s

Investors Service P-1 Al p-1 Azl
Fitch Ratings F-1+ AA- F-1+ AA-
Dominion Bond R-1 AA R-1 AA

Rating Service Limited™  (middle) {low) (middle)

' O December 21, 2007, Dominion Bond Rating Service timited upgraded
Heldings' long-term senior borrowings rating 1o AA {low) from A (high) and
upgraded LBI's long-term senior borrowings rating to AA from AA Uow).




At November 30, 2007, counterparties had the right to require
us to post additional collateral pursuant to derivative contracts and
other secured funding arrangements of approximately $2.4 billion.
Additionally, at that date we would have been required o post
additional collateral pursuant to such arrangements of approxi-
mately $0.1 billion in the event we were to experience a down-
grade of our senior debt rating of one notch and a further §4.6
billion in the event we were 1o experience a downgrade of qur
senior debt rating of two notches.

CASH FLOWS

Cash and cash equivalents of $7.3 billion at Movember 30, 2007
increased by $1.3 billion from $6.0 billion at November 30, 2006, as net
cash provided by financing activities of $48.6 billion was offset by net
cash used in operating activities of $45.6 billion and net cash used in

investing activities of $1.7 billion.
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BALANCE SHEET

Assets The assets on our balance sheet consist primarily of
Cash and cash equivalents, Financial instruments and other inven-
tory positions owned, and collateralized agreements, Ac November
30, 2007, our total assets increased by 37% to $691.1 billion from
$503.5 billion at November 30, 2006, due to an increase in secured
financing transactions and net assets. Net assets at November 30,
2007 increased $104.0 billion from the prior year due to increases
across most inventory categories, as well as an increase in customer
secured receivables, as we continued to grow the Firm, Qur caleu-
lation of net assets excludes from total assets: (1) cash and securides
segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes; (i)
collateralized lending agreements; and (i) identiftable intangible
assets and goodwill, We believe net assets to be a more useful mea-
sure of our assets than total assets becauvse it excludes certain low-
risk, non-inventory assets. Qur calculation of net assets may not be
comparable to other, similarly titted calculations by other compa-

nies as a result of different calculation methodologies,

At November 30, 2007 and 2006 our toml and net assers were comprised of the following items:

NET ASSETS

AT ROVEMBER 30,

1K MILLIOWS 2001 2008

Total assets $ 691,063 $ 5003,545
Cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes (12,743) (6.091)
Collateralized lending agreements {301,234) (225,156)
Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill (4,127) {3.302)
Net assets § 372,959 $ 268,936

Included within net assets are real estate held for sale, certain high
yield inscruments and private equity and other principal investments.

Real estate held for sale We invest in real estate through direct
investments in equity and debt. We record real estate held for sale
at the lower of its carrying amount or fair value less cost to seli. The
assessntent of fair value less cost to sell generally requires the use of
management estimates and generally is based on property appraisals
provided by third parties and also incorporates an analysis of the
related property cash flow projections, We had real estate invest-
inents of approximarely $21.9 billion and $9.4 billion 2t November
30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Because portions of these assets
have been financed on a non-recourse basis, our net investment
position was limited to $12.8 billion and $5.2 billion at November
30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

High yield instruments We underwrite, syndicate, invest in and
make markets in high yield corporate debr securities and loans, We
define high yield instruments as securities of or loans to companies
rated BB+ or lower or equivalent ratings by recognized credit rat-
ing agencies, as well as non-rated securities or loans that, in man-
agements opinion, are non-investment grade. High yield debt
instruments generally involve greater risks than investment grade
instruments and loans due to the issuer’s creditworthiness and the
lower liquidity of the market for such instruments, generally. In
addition, these issuers generally have relatively higher levels of
indebtedness resulting in an increased sensitivity to adverse eco-
nomic conditions. We seek to reduce these risks through active
hedging strategies and through the diversification of our products

and counterparties.
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High yield instruments are carried at fair valire, with unrealized gains and losses reflected in Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement

of Incotne. Qur high vield instruments at November 30, 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

AT NOVEMBER 30,
IN MILLIONS 2007 008
Bonds and loans in established trading markets 331,437 $11,481
Bonds and loans held awaiting securitization and/or syndication 157 4,132
Bonds and loans with little or no pricing transparency 1,118 316
High yield instruments 32,732 15,429
Credit risk hedgesm (2,337 (3,111)
High vield position, net §30,395 $12.818

W Credit risk hedges represent financial instruments with offsetting risk 1o the same underlying counterparty, but exclude other eredit and market risk mitigants which are highly

corretated, such as index, basket and/or sector hedges.

The increase in high-yield positions from 2006 to 2007 is primar-
ily from funded fending commitments that have not been syndicared. At
November 30, 2007 and 2006, the larpest industry concentrations were
26% and 20%, respectively, and were in the finance and insurance indus-
try classifications. The largest geographic concentrations at November
30, 2007 and 20006 were 66% and 53%, respectively, in the Americas, We
mitigate our aggregate and single-issuer net exposure through the use of
derivatives, non-recourse financing and other financial instruments.

Private equity and other principal investments Our Private
Equity business operates in six nujor asset classes: Merchant Banking,
Reeal Estate, Venture Capital, Credit-Related Investments, Private Funds
Invesunents and Tnfrascructure, We have raised privately-placed funds in
these asset classes, for which we act as a general partner and in which we
have general and in many cases limited partner interests. In addition, we
generally co-invest in the investments made by the funds or may make
other non-fund-related direct investments. At Noveniber 30, 2007 and
2006, our private equity related investments totaled $4.2 billion and $2.1
billion, respectively. The real estate industry represented the highest con-
centrations at 41% and 30% ar November 30, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively, and the largest single investment was approximately $275 million
and £80 million, at those tespective dates.

Qur private equity investments are measured at fair value based on
our assessimett of each underlying investment, incorporating valuations
that consider expected cash flows, earnings multiples and/or compari-
sons to similar market transactions, among other factors. Valuation adjust-
ments, which usually involve the use of significant nianagement
estimates, are an integral part of pricing these instruments, reflecting
consideration of credit quality, concentration risk, sale restrictions and
other liquidity factors. For additonal information about our private
equity and other principal investment aceivities, including related com-
mivments, see Note 9, “Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees,”
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EQUITY MANAGEMENT

The management of equity is a critical aspect of our capital man-
agement, Determining the appropriate amount of equity capital base is

dependent on a number of variables, including the amount of equity

needed given our estimation of risk in our business activities, the capital
required by laws or regulations, leverage thresholds required by the con-
solidated supervised entity ("CSE™) rules and credit rating agencies’
perspectives of capital sufficiency.

We continuously evaluate deployment alternatives for our equity
with the objective of maximizing shareholder value. In periods where
we determine our levels of equity to be beyond those necessary to sup-
port our business activitics, we may return capital to sharcholders
through dividend payments or stock repurchases.

We nmintain a common stock repurchase program to manage our
equity capital. In January 2007, our Board of Directors authorized the
repurchase, subject to market conditions, of up to 100 million shares of
Holdings common stock for the management of our equity capital,
including offsetting dilution due to employee stock awards. This autho-
rization superseded the stock repurchase program authorized in 2006,
Qur stock repurchase prograny is effected through open-market pur-
chases, as well as through employee transactions where emplovees
tender shares of common stock to pay for the exercise price of stock
options and the required tax withholding obligations upon option
exercises and conversion of restricted stock units (*RSUs™) 10 freely-
tradable common stock,

Over the course of our 2007 fiscal year, we repurchased through
open-market purchases or withheld from employees for the purposes
described above approximately 43.0 million shares of our common stock
at an aggregate cost of approximately $3.2 billion, or $73.85 per share.
During 2007, we issued 5.4 million shares resulting from employee
stock option exercises and another 24.5 million shares were issued out
of treasury stock to an irrevocable grantor trust that holds shares for issu-
ance to employees in satsfaction of restricted stock units granted under
the Firm’s equity compensation plans (the "RSU Trust™).

In January 2008, our Board of Direcrors authorized the repur-
chase, subject to market conditions, of up to 100 million shares of
Holdings' common stock for the management of the Firm's equity
capital, including consideration of dilution due 1o employee stock
awards. This resoluton supersedes the stock repurchase program

authorized in 2007,




CAPITAL RATIOS

Leverage Ratios The relationship of assets to equity is one measure
of a company’s capital adequacy. Generlly, this leverage matio is computed
by dividing assets by stockholders’ equity. We believe that a more meaning-
ful, comparative ratio for companies ity the securities industry is ner lever-
age, which is the result of net assets divided by tangible equity capital.

Qur net leverage ratio is calculated as net assets divided by tangible
equiry capital. We calculate net assets by excluding from total assets: (i)
cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other
purposes; (i) collateralized lending agreements; and (iii) identifiable
intangible assets and goodwill. We believe net leverage based on net assets

to be a more useful measure of leverage, because it excludes certain
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low-risk, non-inventory assets and utilizes tangible equity capital as a
measure of our equity base. We calculate angible equity capiual by
including stockholders’ equity and junior subordinated notes and
excluding idendfiable intangible assets and goodwill. We believe tangible
equity capital to be a more meaningful measure of our equity base for
purposes of caleulating net leverage because it includes instruments we
consider to be equity-like due to their subordinated nature, long-term
maturity and interest deferral features and we do not view the amount
of equity used 1o support identifiable intangible assets and goodwill as
available to support our remaining net assets. These measures may not be
comparable to other, similarly titled calculations by other companies as a

result of different calculation methodologies.

TANGIBLE EQUITY CAPITAL AND CAPITAL RATIOS

AT NOYEMBER 30,

IN MILLIONS 2007 006
Total stockhelders” equicy $ 22,490 $ 19191
Junior subordinated notes!™@ 4,740 2,738
Identiftable incangible assets and goodwilt (4,127) (3.362)
Tangible equity capital § 23,103 $ 18,567
Total assets $691,063 $503,545
Leverage ratio 30.7x 26.2x
Net assets $372,959 5208,930
Net leverage ratio 16.1x 14.5x

M See Mote 8, “Borrowings and Deposit Liabilities,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

2 Gur definition for tangible equity capial limits the amount of junior subordinated notes and prefered stock inciuded in the calculation to 25% of tangible equity capital. The amount

excluded was approximately $237 million in 2007 and ne amount was excluded in 2006.

Included below are the changes in our tangible equity capital at November 30, 2007 and 2006:

TANGIBLE EQUITY CAPITAL

AT NOVEMBER 30,

IN MILLIONS wy 2006
Beginning tangible equity capital $18,567 $15,564
Net income 4,192 4,007
Dividends on common stock (351} {276)
Dividends on preferred stock 67) (66)
Common stock open-market repurchases (2,605) {2.678)
Common stock withheld from employees™ (573) {1,003)
Equity-based award plans®@ 2,829 2,396
Net change in junior subordinated notes ineluded in tangible equity® 2,002 712
Change in identifiable incangible assets and goodwill (765) (106)
Other, net®! (126) 17
Ending wngible equity capital $23,103 $18.567

' Represents shares of common stock withheld in satisfaction of the exercise price of stock opticns and tax withholding obligations upon option exercises and canversion of RSUs,

@

This represents the sum of (i) proceeds received from employess upon the exercise of stock options, {if) the incremental tax benefits fram the issuance of stock-based awards and (jii)

the value of employee services received — as represented by the amortization of deferred stock compensation.

™ Junior subordinated notes are deeply subcrdinated and have a dong-term maturity and interest deferral features and are utilized in calculating equity capital by leading rating agencies.

™ Gther, net for 2007 includes a $67 million net increase to Retained earnings from adoption of SFAS 157 and SFAS 159 and a $210 million decrease to Accumelated other comprehensive
income/(boss) from the adoption of SFAS 158. See “Accounting and Regulatory Developments™ below for additional information. Other, net for 2006 includes 2 $6 mitlion net cecrease to
Retained earnings from the initial adoption of under SFAS 155 and SFAS No. 156, Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets—an amendment of FASB Statement No. 140 (SFAS 156™).
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Primary Equity Double Leverage [Primary equity double leverage
ratio is the comparison of Holdings” equity investments in subsidiaries to
total equity capital {the sum of total stockholders’ equity and junior
subordinated notes). As of November 30, 2007, our equity investment in
subsidiaries was $25.1 billion and our total equity capital calculated was
$27.5 billion. We aim to maintain a primary equity double leverage ratio
of 1.0x or below. Our primary equiry double leverage ratio was 0.91x
and 0.88x as of November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. We believe

total equity capital to be a more meaningful measure of our equity than
stockholders’ equity because we consider junior subordinated notes to
be equity-like due to their subordinated nature, long-term niaturity and
interest deferral features. We believe primary equity double leverage
based on total equity capital to be a useful measure of our equity invest-
meents in subsidiaries. OQur calculation of primary equity double leverage
may not be comparable to other, similarly tided calculations by other

coinpanies as a result of different calculation methodologies.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND LENDING-RELATED COMMITMENTS

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

[ the normal course of business, we enter into various contractual
obligations that may require future cash paynients. The following table
summarizes the contractual ameunts at November 30, 2007 in total and

by remaining matarity, and at November 30, 2006. Excluded from the

table are a number of obligations recorded in the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Condition that generally are short-term in nature, including
secured financing transactions, trading liabilities, deposit liabilities at our
banking subsidiaries, commercial paper and other short-term borrow-

ings and other pavables and accrued liabilicies.

TOTAL CONTRACTUAL AMOUNT

EXPIRATION PER PERIOD AT NOVEMBER 30, NOVEMBER 30,
IN WILLIONS 2008 009 2010-2014 2012-LATER 2007 2005
Long-term borrowings 5 — $ 25,023 § 28,146 $ 69,981 $123,150 § 81,178
Operating lease obligations 281 269 493 1,502 2,605 1,714
Capital lease obligations 74 99 206 2,597 2,976 3,43
Purchase obligations 316 10 9 13 348 783

For additional information abour long-term borrowings, see Note
8, “Borrowings and Deposit Liabilides,” to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. For additional information about operating and capital lease
obligations, see Note 9,"Commiunents, Contingencies and Guarantees,”
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Purchase obligations include agreements o purchase goods or
services that are enforceable and legally binding and thac specify all
sigmiftcant terns, including fixed or minimum quantities to be pur-

chased, fixed, minimum or variable price provisions and the approximate

tming of the transaction. Purchase obligations with variable pricing
provisions are included in the table based on the minimum contractual
amounts. Certain purchase obligations contain termination or
renewal provisions. The table reflects the minimum contractual
amounts likely to be paid under these agreements assuming the con-
tracts are not terminated.

LENDING-RELATED COMMITMENTS

The following table summarizes the contractual amounts of lend-

ing-related commitments at November 30, 2007 and 2006:

TOTAL CONTRACTUAL AMOUNT

EXPIRATION PER PERIGD AT NOVEMEBER 3e, NOVEMBER 30,

IN MILLIONS 2004 2009 2010-2011 2012-2012 LATER 2007 2006
Lending commitments

High grade®? § 5579 8 L1039 % 6554 S10411 § 403 $ 23,986 8 17,945

High yield® 4,051 411 2,103 4,850 2,658 14,073 7.558
Contngent acquisition facilities

High grade 10,230 — - — — 10,230 1,918

High vield 9,749 — — — — 9,749 12,766
Mortgage conunitments 5,082 670 1,378 271 48 7,449 12,162
Secured lending transactions 122,661 455 429 468 1,846 125,859 83,071

) We view our net credit exposure for high grade commiiments, after consideration of hedges, to be $12.2 billion and $4.9 billion at November 30, 2007 and 20086, respectively.

A We view our net credit exposure for high yield commitments, after consideration of hedges, to be $12.8 billion and $5.% billion at November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectivefy.




We use various hedging and funding strategies to actively man-
age our market, credit and liquidity exposures on these conunitments.
We do not believe total commitments necessarily are indicative of
actual risk or funding requirements because the commitments may
not be drawn or fully used and such amounts are reported before
consideration of hedges.

Lending commitments Through our high grde (investment
grade) and high yield (non-investiment grade) sales, trading and under-
writing activities, we make commitments to extend credit in loan syn-
dication transactions. These commitments and any related drawdowns of
these facilities typically have fixed maturity daees and are contingent on
certain representations, warrantics and contractual conditons applicable
to the borrower, We define high yield exposures as securities of or loans
to companies rated BB+ or lower or equivalent ratings by recognized
credit rating agencies, as well as non-rated securities or loans that, in
nanagenient’s opinion, are non-investient grade,

We had commitments to high grade borrowers ar November 30,
2007 and 2006 of $24.0 billion (net credit exposure of $12.2 billion, after
consideration of hedges) and $17.9 billion (net credit exposure of §4.9
billion, after consideration of hedges), respectively. We had commitments
to high vield borrowers of $14.1 billion (net credit exposure of §12.8
billion, after consideration of hedges} and $7.6 billion (net credit expo-
sure of $5.9 billion, after consideration of hedges) at November 30, 2007
and 2006, respectively.

Contingent acquisition facilities We provide contingent commit-
ments to invesnment and non-investment grade counterparties related
to acquisition financing. We do not believe contingent acquisition
commitments are necessarily indicative of actual risk or funding
requirements as funding is dependent both upon a proposed transac-
tion being completed and the acquiror fully utilizing our commitment.
Typically, these commitments are made to a potential acquiror in a
proposed acquisition, which may or may not be completed depending
on whether the potential acquiror o whom we have provided our
commitment is successful. A contingent borrower’ ability to draw on
the commitment is typically subject to there being no material adverse
change in the borrower’s financial condition, among other factors, and
the commitments also generally contain certin flexible pricing fea-
tures to adjust for changing market conditions prior to closing. In
addition, acquirers generally utilize multiple financing sources, includ-
ing other investment and corunercial banks, as well as accessing the

general capital markers for completing transactions. Therefore, our
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contingent acquisition commitments are generally greater than the
amounts we expect we will ultimately fund. Further, our past practice,
consistent with our credit facilication framework, has been 1o syndicate
acquisition financings to investors. The ultimare timing, amount and
pricing of a syndication, however, is influenced by market conditions
that may not necessarily be consistent with those at the time the com-
mitment was entered. We provided contingent comnutments to high
grade counterparties related to acquisition financing of approximately
$10.2 billion and $1.9 billion at November 30, 2007 and 2006, respec-
tively, and to high yield counterparties related to acquisition financing
of approxinutely §9.8 billion and $12.8 billion at Nevember 30, 2007
and 2006, respectively.

Mortgage commitments Through our mortgage origination
platforims we make commitments to extend mortgage loans. At
November 30, 2007 and 2606, we had outstanding morigage commnait-
ments of approximately $7.4 billion and $12.2 billion, respectively.
These commitments included $3.0 billion and $7.0 bitlion of residen-
tial mortgages in 2007 and 2006 and $4.4 billion and $5.2 billion of
commercial mortgages at 2007 and 20006. Typically, residential mort-
gage loan commitments require us to originate mortgage loans at the
option of a borrower generally within 90 days ac fixed interest rates.
Consistent with past practice, our intention is to sell residential mort-
gage loans, once originated, primarily through securitizations. The
ability to sell or securitize mortgage loans, however, is dependent on
murket conditions.

Secured lending transactions In connection with our financing
activities, we had outstanding commitments under certain collateralized
lending arrangements of approxintately $9.8 billion and $7.5 billion at
Navember 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. These commitments require
borrowers to provide acceptable collateral, as defined in the agreements,
when amounts are drawn under the lending facilittes. Advances made
under these lending arrangements typically are at variable interest rates
and generally provide for over-collateralization. In addition, at November
30, 2007, we had commitments to enter into forward starting secured
resale and repurchase agreements, primarily secured by government and
government agency collateral, of $7(0.8 billion and $45.3 billion, respec-
dvely, compared w0 $44.4 billion and $31.2 billion, respectively, at
November 30, 2006.

For additional information about lending-related commiments,
see Note 9, “Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees,” to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

In the normal course of business we engage in a variety of off-
balance-sheet arrangements, including certain derivative contracts meet-
ing the FIN No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclostire Requirements for

Guarances, Inchudivg Indirect Guasantees of Indebtedness of Others (“FIN

457}, definition of a guarantee that may reguire future payments, Other
than lending-related commitments already discussed above in “Lending-
Related Commtitments,” the following table summarizes our off-bal-

ance-sheet arrangements at November 30, 2007 and 2006 as follows;
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TOTAL CONTRACTUAL AMOUNT

EXPIRATION PER PER!OD AT NOVEMBER 30, KOVEMBER 30,
IN MILLIONS 2008 2009 2010-20%1 2012-2082 LATER 2007 2008
[Derivative contracts™? $ 87,394  § 59598  §152,317 $210,496  $228,132 $737,937  $534,585
Municipal;sccurities-rclntcd commitments 2,362 733 B6 60 3,652 6,902 i,599
Other commitments with variable interest entities 106 3,100 170 963 4,772 9,111 4902
Standby letters of credit 1,685 5 — — — 1,690 2,380
Private equity and other principal mvestments 820 G675 915 173 — 2,583 1,088

11} We believe the fair value of these decivative contracts is a more relevant measure of the obligatiens because we believe the notional amaunt overstates the expected payout. Al November
30, 2007 and 2006, the fair vatue of these derivative contracts approximated $36.8 billion and $9.3 billion, respestivety.

[n accordance with FIN 45, the table above includes only certain
derivative contracts meeting the FIN 45 definition of a guarantee. For
additional information on these guarantees and other off-balance-sheet
arrangements, see Note 9 “Commitments, Contingencies and
Guarantees,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

DERIVATIVES

Neither derivatives’ noticnal amounts nor underlying instrument
values are reflected as assets or liabilides in our Consolidated Statement
of Financial Condition. Rather, the market, or fair values, related 10
derivative transactions are reported in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Condition as assets or liabilities in Derivatives and other con-
tractual agreements, as applicable. Derivatives are presented on a net-by-
counterparty basis when a legal right of offset exists, on a net-by-cross
product basis when applicable provisions are stated in a master netting
agreement; and/or on a net of cash collateral received or paid on a coun-
terparty basis, provided a legal right of offset exists.

We enter into derivative transactions both in a wrading capacity and
as an end-user. Acting in a trading capacity, we enter into derivative
transactions to satisfy the needs of our clients and to manage our own
exposure to market and credit risks resulting from our trading activities
(collectively,“Trading-Related Derivatives™).

As an end-user, we primarily use derivatives to hedge our exposure
to market risk (including foreign currency exchange and interest rate
risks) and credit risks (collectively, “End-User Derivatives”™). When End-
User Derivatives are interest rate swaps they are measured at fair value
through earnings and the carrying value of the related hedged item is
adjusted through earnings for the effect of changes in the fair value of
the risk being hedged. The hedge ineffectiveness in these relationships is
recorded in Interest expense in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
When End-User Derivatives are used in hedges of net investments in
non-U.S, dollar functional currency subsidiaries, the gains or lesses are
reported within Accumulated other comprehensive income/ (loss), net of
tax, in Stockholders’ equity.

We conduct our derivative activities through a number of wholly-
owned subsidiaries. Our fixed income derivative products business is
principally conducted through our subsidiary Lehman Brothers Special
Financing Inc., and separately capitalized “AAA™ mted subsidiaries,

Lehman Brothers Financial Products Inc. and Lehman Brothers Derivative

Products Inc. Qur equity derivative products business is conducted
throungh Lehman Brothers Finance S.A. and Lehman Brothers OTC
Derivatives Inc. Qur commaodity and energy derivatives product business
is conducted through Lehman Brothers Conunodity Services Inc. In addi-
tion, as a global investment bank, we also are a market maker in a number
of foreign currencies. Counterparties to our derivative produce transac-
tions primarily are U.S. and foreign banks, securides firms, corporations,
governments and their agencies, finance companies, insurance companies,
investment companies and pension funds. We manage the risks associated
with derivatives on an aggregate basis, atong with the risks associated with
our non-derivative trading and market-making activities in cash instru-
ments, as part of our firm wide risk management policies. We use industry
standard derivative contracts whenever appropriate,

For additional information about our accounting policies and our
Trading-Related Derivative activities, see Note 1, “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies,” and Note 3, "Financial Inscruments and
Other Inventory Positions,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES

We enter into various transactions with special purpose entities
(“SPEs”). SPEs may be corporations, trusts or partnerships that are
established for a limited purpose. There are two types of SPEs—
QQSPEs and VIEs.

A QSPE generally can be described as an entity whose permitted
activities are linited to passively holding financial assets and distributing
cash flows to investors based on pre-set terms, Qur primary involvement
with QSPEs relates to securitization transactions in which transferred
assets, including mortgages, loans, receivables and other financial assets,
are sold to an SPE that qualifies as a QSPE under SFAS 140. In accor-
dance with SFAS 140 and FIN-46(R}, we do not consolidate QSPEs.
We recognize at fair value the interests we hold in the QSPEs. We deree-
ognize fnancial assets transferred to QSPEs, provided we have surren-
dered control over the assers.

Certain SPEs do not meet the QSPE criteria because their permit-
ted activities are not limited sufficiently or the assets are non-qualifying
financial instruments (r.g., real estate). These SPEs are referred to asVIEs,
and we typically use them to create securities with a unique risk profite
desired by investors to intermediate financial risk or o invest in real

estate. Examples of our involvement with VIEs include collateralized




debt obligations, synthetic credit transactions, real estate investments
through VIEs, and other structured financing transactions. Under FIN
46(1), we consolidate a VIE if we are the primary beneficiary of the
entity. The primary beneficiary is the party that either (i) absorbs a
majority of the VIEs expected losses; (ii) receives a majority of the VIEs
expected residual returns; or (iii) both.

For a further discussion of our ¢enselidation policies, see “Crinical
Accounting Policies and Estimates—Consolidation Accounting Policies™
in this MD&A. For a further discussion of our securitization activities
and our involvement with VIEs, see Note 6,"Securitizations and Special
Purpose Entities,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

OTHER OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE

SIVs A strucrured investment vehicle (“SIV™) is an entity that bor-
rows money in the form of conunercial paper, mediunt-term notes or
subordinated capital notes, and uses the proceeds to purchase assets, includ-
ing asset-backed or mortgage-backed securities. We do not own, manage
or sponsor any SIVs, Our SIV-related exposure is limired to that acquired
through proptietary invesaments or rading activity, specifically:

B At November 30, 2007, we had approximarely $75 million of bal-
ance sheet exposure representing the aggregate of a fully drawn
liquidity loan to a S1V, and medium-term notes and commercial
paper issued by 5IVs bought in the primary or secondary markets,

B We have entered into derivative transactions to which SIVs are coun-
terparties. The total notional amount of these derivative transactions
was approximately $4.1 billion at November 30, 2007. We believe the
fair value of these derivative transactions is 2 more relevant measure
of the obligations because we believe the notional amount overstates
the expected payout. At November 30, 2007, the fair value of these
derivative contracts approximated $50 million. For a further discussion
of derivative transactions, see Note 9, Conunitments, Contingencies
and Guarantees—Other Commitments and Guarantees” to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

@ Under resell or repurchase agreements, we have balance sheet
exposure to commercial paper issued by SIVs. This exposure
was approximately $14 million at November 30, 2007, For
a further discussion of resell and repurchase agreements, see
Note 3, “Securities Received and Pledged as Collateral)” to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

B We manage certain private equity and other alternative invest-
ment funds which are not consolidated into our resulss of
aperations. At November 30, 2007, a small percentage of the assets
within those funds have SIV-related exposure.

Conduits Conduits are entities established to convey financing.
They are thinly capitalized SPE structures established on behalf of a
sponsor or sponsors that purchase assets from muhiple parties, funding
those purchases by issuing commercial paper. Assets held in a conduit
serve as collateral for the commercial paper issuced by the conduit. We
are a sponsor, guarantor, and/or liquidity and credit facility provider o

cettain conduits. Specifically:
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B We make certain liguidity commitments and guarantees to com-
mercil paper conduits in support of certain clients’ secured
financing transactions. These commitments and guarantees obli-
gate us to provide liquidity to these conduits in the event the
conduits cannot obtain funding in the market; however, our obli-
gation is limited to the total amount required to fund our clients’
assets in the conduit. At November 30}, 2007, the amount of these
commitments was approximately $1.4 billion. We believe our
actual risk to be limited because these liquidity commitments are
supported by high quality collateral. For a further discussion of
derivative transactions, see Note 9, Commitments, Contingencies
and Guarantees—Other Comminments and Guarantees,” to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

& We provide guarantees to investors in certain VIEs. These guaran-
tees may include a guaranteed return of the investors inital invest-
ment or of the investors’ initial investment plus an agreed upon
return depending on the terms. At November 30, 2007, these
comumitments were approximately $6.1 billion. We believe our
actual risk to be limited because our obligations are collateralized
by the VIEs' assets and contain significant constraints under which
downside protection will be available (... the VIE is required to
liquidate assets in the event certain foss levels are triggered). For
a further discussion, see Note 9, *Commitments, Contingencies
and Guarantees—QOther Commitments and Guarantees,” 1o the
Consolidated Financial Statements,

B We have established a $2.4 billion conduir that issues secured
liquidity notes to pre-fund high grade loan commitments. This
conduit is consolidated in Holdings' results of operations. This
is fully backed by a triple-A rated, third-party, one-year revolv-
ing liquidity back stop, which we have in turn fully backed. This
conduit is consolidated in Holdings' results of operations.

B We participate in an A-1/P-1-rated multi-seller conduit. This
multi-seller issues secured liquidity notes to provide financing,
Our intention is to utilize this conduit for purposes of fund-
ing a portion of our contingent acquisition commitments. At
November 30,2007, we were contingently comntitted to provide
$1.6 billion of liquidiry if the conduit is unable to remarket the
secured liquidity notes upon their maturity, generally, one year
after a failed remarketing event. This conduit is not consolidated
in Holdings™ results of operations, For a further discussion of
derivative transactions, see Note 9, Commitments, Contingencies
and Guarantees—Orther Commitments and Guarantees,” to the
Consolidated Finmancial Statements.

B As a dealer and agent in the commercial paper market, we hold
a minima} amount in inventory from vartous conduit programs,
including the multi-seller conduit discussed above. At November
30, 2007, the amount of conmmercial paper in our inventory from
conduit programs in which we participate, as dealer and/or agent,

was approxinately $850 million,
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Qur goal is to realize returns from our business commensurate with
the risks assumed. Qur business activities have inherent risks that we
monitor, evaluate and manage through a comprehensive risk manage-
ment struceure. These risks include market, eredit, liquidity, operational
and reputational exposures, among others.

The bases of our risk control processes are:

B We establish policies to document our risk principles, our risk
capacity and tolerance levels.

B We monitor and enforce adherence to our risk policies.

B We measure quantifiable risks using methodologies and models
based on tested assumptions.

B We identify emerging risks through menitoring our portfolios,
new business development, unusual or complex transactions and
external events and market influences.

B We report risks to stakeholders.

RISK MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

While risk cannot be completely eliminated, we have designed our
internal control environment to put appropriate risk mitigants in place. Our
control processes separate the duties of risk management from revenue gen-
eration and effece management oversight of the risk management function.

Our ovenll risk limits and risk management policies, including
establishinent of risk tolerance levels, are determined by the Risk
Commijttee. The Risk Commtittee, which includes managements
Executive Committee, the Global Head of Risk Management and cer-
taiit other members of senior management, reviews our risk exposures.
position concentrations and risk-taking activities en a weekly basis, or
more frequendly as needed. Our Risk Committee allocates the usage of
capital to each of our businesses and establishes erading and credit limits
for counterparties with a goal to maintain diversification of our busi-
nesses, counterparties and geographic presence.

The Global Risk Management Division (the “Division™) is inde-
pendent of revenue-generation but maintains a presence in our regional
trading centers as well as in key sales offices. The Division’s role is to assist
in exphining our risks and making them clear to management and oth-
ers. The organization of the Division reflects our integrated approach to
risk management, bringing together the skill sets of credir, market, quan-
titative, sovereign and operational risk management groups.

MARKET RISK

Market risk is the potential change to the market value of our trad-
ing and investing positions. We assume market risk in our market-making,
specialist, proprietary tracing, investing and underwriting activities.

Market risk can result from changes in market variables, including:

® Changes in the level, slope or shape of yield curves (interest rates},
widening or tightening of general spread levels (credit or credit-
related spreads) and volatility of interest rates.,

& Directional movements in prices and volatilities of individual

equities, equity baskets and equiry indices.

@ Movement of domestic and foreign currency rates.

B Price movements of commodities such as electricity, natural gas,
and oil.

@ Changes in asset valuations.

Responsibility for defining and monitoring market risk tolerance
levels is that of our Market Risk Management Department {the “MRM
Deparoment™). Based upon the MRM Department’s established thresh-
olds, management applies business judgment to mitigate these risks,
managing our risk expasures by diversifying portfolios, limiting position
sizes and establishing economic hedges. Both the MRM Department
and managemenc also rely upon the Quantitative Risk Management
Departmient (the “QRM Departiment”) to ensure that both quantifiable
and unquantifiable risk is identified. assessed and managed.

Managemen: and the MRM and QRM Departments use qualita-
tive and quantitative risk measures and analyses such as sensitivity to
changes in interest rates, prices, and implied volatiliries. Stress testing,
which measures the impact on the value of existing portfolios of specific
changes in market factors for certain products, is performed with regu-
larity. Scenario analyses, which estimate sensitivity to a set of predefined
market and/or external evenss, are also conducted periodically. A statisd-
cal measure of the potential loss in the fair value of a portfolio due w0
adverse movements in underlying risk factors known as value-at-risk
(*“Vall™) is also used to monitor and marage market risk.

VaR We estimate VaR using a model that simulates the impact
muarket risk factors would have on our portfolio. Our calculaton of VaR_is
an approximation of earning and loss distributions our portfolio would
realize if current market risks were observed in historical markets. Cur
method uses four years of historical data, weighted to give greater impact
to more recent time periods in simulating potential changes in marker risk
factors, and estimates the amount that our current portfolio could lose
with a specified degree of confidence, over a given time interval.

For the table below, a one-day time interval and a 95% confidence
level were used. This means that there is a 1-in-20 chance that daily
trading net revenue losses on a particular day would exceed the
reported VaR..

In a historical simuladon VaR, portfolio positions have offsetting
risk characteristics, referred to as diversification benefit. We measure the
diversification benefit within our portfolio by historically sinwlating
how the positions in our current portfolio would have behaved in rela-
tion to each other as opposed to using a static estimate of a diversifica-
tion benefit, which remains relatively constant from period to period.
From time to time there will be changes in our historical simulation VaR
due to changes in the diversificacion benefit across our portfolio of
financial instruments.

VaR_ measures have inherent limitations including: historical market
conditions and historical changes in marker risk factors may not be

accurate predictors of future market conditions or furure market risk




factors; Vall measurements are based on currene positions, while furure
risk depends on future positions: and VaR based on a one-day measure-
ment period does not fully caprure the market risk of positions that
cannot be liquidated or hedged within one day. VaR is not intended o
capture wurst case scenario losses and we could incur losses greater than

the VaR amounts reporeed.
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There is no uniform industry methodology for estimating VaR.
Different assumptions concerning the mumber of risk factors, the dura-
tion of the time series and daily changes in these risk factors, as well as
different methodologies could produce materially different results and
therefore caution should be used when comparing Valk measures ameong

compatable institutions.

VaR — HISTORICAL SIMULATION

AYERAGE YaR HIGH/LOW VAR FOR YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30,

FOR YEAR ENDED 2007 2006
IN MILLIONS NOV 30, 2007 MOV 30, 2006 HIGH LOw HIEH Low
Interest rate risk 3 64 | $123 $ 33 $ 064 $23
Equiry price risk 43 19 79 21 k]| 11
Foreign exchange risk 9 5 16 3 7 2
Comtnodity risk 7 4 16 4 11 1
Diversification benefit (32) {21)

591 $ 42 $155 $ 48 § M $§ 29

AT
IN MILLIONS NOV 30, 2007 AUE 31, 2007 MAY 31, 2007 FEB 28, 2007 NOV 30, 2006
Interest rute risk $ % 579 $ 51 § 58 8 48
Equity price risk 50 46 54 26 20
Foretgn exchange risk 11 7 6 7 5
Commodity risk 13 8§ 7 5 6
Diversification benefit (46} (40 30 (21} 25
$ 124 S100 § 87 §75 $ 54

AVERAGE YzR THREE MONTHS ENDED

IN MILLIONS NOv 30, 2007 AUG 31, 2007 MAY 31, 2007 FEB 28, 2007 NOY 30, 2006
Interest rate risk $ 8% $ 68 $ 54 $ 41 $ -4
Equity price risk 51 45 43 34 20
Foreign exchange risk 10 8 7 11 ]
Commodity risk 1 8 6 5 5
Diversification benefit (37N (33) (32) (28) (23)

$124 5 9 § 78 $ 63 § 48

The increase in both the period end and quarterly average historical
simulation Vall was primarily due to increased market volatilities which
increased the overall risk across muldple business segments. Coincident
with the increased marker voladilities across many asset classes was a reduc-
tion in diversification between the individual components of market risk.

As part of our risk management control processes, we monitor daily
trading net revenues compared with reported historical simulation Valk as
of the end of the prior business day. In the 2007 fiscal year, there were
four days or 1.6% of days in the period, all occurring in the second half
of the awelve montk period, when our daily net trading loss exceeded

our historical simulationVaR as measured at the close of the previous busi-

ness day. This compares with an expectation that actual losses would exceed
daily net trading losses on 5% of occasions using a 93% confidence level.
Real estate investments are not financial instruments and therefore
not contemplated within the VaR calculation. We use stress testing to
evaluate risks associated with our real estate portfolios. As of Naovember 30,
2007, we had approximately $21.9 billion of real estace fuvestienes; how-
ever, our et investment at risk was limited to $12.8 billion as a portion of
these assets have been financed on a non-recourse basis, As of November
30, 2007, we estimate that a hypothetical 10%: decline in the underlying
property values associated with the non-syndicated investments would

have resulted in a net revenue loss of approximately $980 million.
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CREDIT RISK

Credit risk represents the loss incurred as a result of failure by a client,
counterparty or issuer to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk is
inherent in traditiona] banking products — loans, commitiments to lend and
contingent liabilities — and in “traded” products — derivative contracts such
as forwards, swaps and options, repurchase agreements (repos and reverse
repos), debt securities and securities borrowing and lending transactions.

Management and in particular our Credit Risk Management
Department (the “CRM Deparument™) define and monitor credit
risk and exposure. The CRM Department approves counterparties,
assigns internal risk ratings, and establishes credit limits, among other
risk mitigation procedures. The CRM Departiment monitors and
reviews counterparty risk ratings, current credit exposures and
potential credit exposures across products and recommends valuation
adjustments, when appropriate. Given market events or counterpar-
ties’ changes in financial conditions, additional review and adjustment
procedures may be undertaken. We also seek to reduce our current
and potential credit exposures by entering into agreements that: off
set receivables fron and payables to a counterparty; vbtain upfront or
contingent collateral from counterparties; provide a third-party guar-
antee for a counterparty’s obligations; and transfer our credit risk to
third parties using structures or techniques such as credit derivatives.
Working with the MRM Department, the CRM Departmient also

participates in transaction approval, where the risks of the transaction

on a stand-alone basis as well as our aggregate risk exposure to the
obligor are considered.

Credit Risk on Derivatives Derivatives are exchange traded or
privately negotiated contracts thar derive their value from an underlying
asset. Derivatives are useful for risk management because the fair values
or cash flows of derivatives can be used to offset the changes n fair
values or cash flows of other financial instruments, In addition to risk
managerent, we enter into derivative transactions for purposes of client
transactions or establishing trading positions. The presentation of deriva-
tives in our Consolidated Statemnent of Financial Position is net of pay-
ments and receipts and, in instances where management determines a
legal right of offset exists as a result of a netting agreement, net-by-
counterparty. Risk for an OTC derivative includes credit risk associated
with the counterparty in the negotiated contract and continues for the
duration of that contract.

The fair value of our OTC derivative assets at November 30, 2007
and 2006, was $41.3 billion and $1%.5 billion, respectively: however, we
view our.net credit exposure to have been $34.6 billion and $15.6 bil-
lion at November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, representing the fair
value of OTC derivative contracts in a net receivable position after con-
sideration of collateral.

The following tables set forth the fair vatue of OTC derivative
assets and labilities by contract type and related net credit exposure, as
of November 30, 2007 and November 30, 2006, respectively.

FAIR VALUE OF OTC DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS BY MATURITY

NOVEMBER 30, 2007

CROSS
MATURITY,
CROSS
PRODUCT
LESS GREATER AND CASH NET
THAN 1705 51010 THAN 10 COLLATERAL 1 GREDIT
IN MILLIONS 1 YEAR YEARS YEARS YEARS NETTING'™ DERIVATIVES EXPOSURE
ASSETS
Interest rate, currency and credit default swaps and options § 4,814 §22,407  $13,915  §15,901 §(35,009) $22,028 521,718
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options 2,940 432 390 166 (1,449) 2,479 1,954
Other fixed income securities contracts®™ 8,015 866 89 15 (335) 8,450 6,890
Equity contracts 4,615 2,409 629 2,470 {1,826) 8,357 4,043
$ 20,384 $ 26,174 § 15,023 $ 18,552 $(38,81 S 41314 $ 34,605
LIABILITIES
Interest rate, currency and credit default swaps and options  § 4,499 $ 12,355 $ 11,483 $ 11,873 $(29,295) § 10,915
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options 3,578 540 530 126 (1,886) 2,888
Other fixed income securities contracts™ 5,474 608 322 2 (382) 6,024
Equity contracts 5,007 5,584 795 2,928 (5,035} 9,279
$ 18,558 $ 19,087 $ 13,130 $ 14,929 $(36,598) § 29,106

) Cross-maturity netting represents the netting of receivable balances with payable batances for the same counterparty acrass maturity and product categaries. Receivable and payable
balarces with the same counterpasty in the same maturity categary are netted within the maturity category when appropriate. Cash collateral eceived or paid is retted on a counterparty
basis, peovided legal right of ofiset exists. Assets and liabilities at November 30, 2007 were netted down for cash collateral of approxicately $19.7 billion and $17.5 billion, respectively.

@ \nctudes commodity derivative assets of $1.5 billion.

B Jncludes commodity derivative liabilities of $1.5 billion.
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NOYEMBER 30, 2006

CROSS
MATURITY,
CROSS
PRODUCT
LESS GREATER AND CASH RET
THAN 1705 571010 THAN 10 COLLATERAL [1]]H CREDIT
IN MILLIONS 1 YEAR YEARS YEARS YEARS NETTING'™  DERIVATIVES EXPOSURE
ASSETS
Interest rate, currency and credic defaule swaps and options  § 1,314 $ 7332 $10,121 $ g7 $(19,125) S5 8,634 $ 5848
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options 2,560 472 62 43 {1,345) 1,792 1,044
Orther fixed mcome securities eontracts™ 4,305 3 — — — 4,308 3,856
Equity contracts 3142 iy 2] | 870 362 (2.376) 4,739 1,854
§11,521 §10.548 811,053 § U197 §(22.836) 519473 § 15,607
LIABILITIES
Interest rate, currency and credic default swaps and options  § 2,262 § 5481 § 502 8 6,650 §(137200 8 3,091
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options 3,204 883 240 33 (2,215) 2,145
Onther fixed income sceurities contracts(3) 2,596 8 — — — 2,604
Equity contracts 3,375 3736 1,377 260) (4,004) 4,744

$ 11,437 $ 10,108 § 6,620 § 0940 S(19.93Y)  $15184

W Cross-matyrity nelting represents the netting of receivable balances with payable balances for the same counterparty across maturity and product categeries. Receivable and payable
balances with the same counterparty in the same maturity category are netted within the maturity category when appropriate. Cash coflateral received or paid is netted on a counterparty
basis, provided legal right of offset exists. Assets and liabilities at November 30, 2006 were retted down for cash collateral of appeoximatety $11.1 billion and $8.2 billion, respectively.

A Inchudes commodity derivative assets of $268 million,

@ Inctudes commodity desivative liabilities of $277 million,

Presented below is an analysis of net credit exposure at November 30, 2007 and 2006 for OTC contracts based on actual ratings made by

externyl rating agencies or by equivalent ratings established and used by our CRM Deparunent.

NET CREDIT EXPO.SURE
TOTAL
COUNTERPARTY SLP/MOODY'S LESS THAN 1705 37010 GREATER THAN NOVEMBER 30,  MOVEMBER 30,
RISK RATING EQUIVALENT 1 YEAR YEARS YEARS 10 YEARS 2007 2005
1AAA AAA/Aza % 5% 0% 8% 24% 14%
iAA AA/Aa 14 5 3 4 26 a9
iA A/A 10 5 6 16 37 3l
iBBB BBB/Baa 3 1 i 2 7 11
iBR BB/Ba 2 1 — — 3 F
i3 or lower 13/B1 or lower 1 H l — 3 1
35% 18% 17% 30% 100% 100%
REVENUE VOLATILITY volatility over time to be a comprehensive evaluator of our overall risk

The overall effectiveness of our risk management practices can be management practices because it incorporates the results of virtually all
evaluated on a broader perspective when analyzing the distribution of  of our trading activities and types of risk.

daily net trading revenues over time. We constder net trading revenue
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The following rable shows a measure of daily trading net rev-
enue volatility, utilizing actual daily trading nee revenues over the
previous rolling 250 trading days at a 95% confidence level. This

measure represents the foss relative to the median actual daily trading

net revenues over the previous rolling 250 trading days, measured at
a 93% confidence level. This means there is a [-in-20 chance thae actual
daily trading net revenues would be expected to decline by an amount in

excess of the reported revenue volanlity measure.

AVERAGE REVENUE VOLATILITY FOR

HIGH/LOW REVENUE VOLATILITY FOR
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30,

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2007 2006
IN MILLIONS 2007 2006 HIEH oW HIGH LOW
Interest rare risk $38 $35 $ 75 § 27 $ 28 $23
Eguity price risk 29 19 45 23 24 14
Foreign exchange risk 5 3 7 5 5 2
Commodiry risk 3 ! 5 2 4 2
. Diversiftcation benefit 27) (13
$ 48 $35 595 $33 $38 $3
AT

IR MILLIONS NOV 30,2007  AUG 31,2007  MAY 31,2007  FEB 28,2007  NOV 30, 2006
Interest rate risk $75 S 54 $ 31 §29 §27
Equity price risk 44 34 25 25 24
Forcign exchange risk 6 6 5 3 5
Commodity risk 4 4 3 2 2
Diversification benefit (34) $(35) (28) (26) (20
595 563 $ 36 § 35 §37

AVERAGE REVENUE VOLATILITY THREE MONTHS ENDED

1N MILLIONS NOY 30,2007  AUG 35,2007  MAY 31,2007  FEB 28, 2007  NOV 30, 2006
Interest rate risk 558 $35 §31 528 $27
Equity price risk 41 28 25 24 23
Foreign exchange risk 6 5 5 5 5
Commodiry risk 4 4 3 2 2
Diversification benefic (34) (28) 27) (24) 2N

§75 S 44 $37 535 $ 36

v

Average trading net revenue volatility measured in this manner
was $48 million for the year ended November 30, 2007, a 37% increase
from the comparable measure for the year ended November 30, 2066
The increase of this measurement in fiseal year 2007 was primarily

driven by increased volatilities in overall markets.

The following chart sets forth the frequency distribution for
daily trading net revenues for our Capital Markets and Investment
Management business segments (including trading activity in the
fixed income and equity markets undertaken on behalf of client
investors and excluding any trading activity undertaken on behalf of
those investors in private equity offerings) for the years ended
November 30, 2007 and 2006:
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For the year ended November 30, 2007, the largest loss in daily
trading net revenues on any single day was $137 million. For the year
ended November 30, 2006, the largest loss in daily trading net reve-
nues on any single day was $39 million.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liguidicy risk is the potential thar we are unable to:

W Meet our payment obligations when due;

B Borrow funds in the market on an on-going basis and at an
acceprable price to fund actual or proposed commitments; or

B Liguidate assets in a timely manner at a reasonable price.
Management’s Finance Committee is responsible for developing,

implementing and entorcing our liquidicy, funding and capital policies.
These policies include reconmmendations for capital and balance sheet
size as well as the allocation of capital to the business units.
Management’s Finance Committee oversees compliance with policies
and limits with the goal of ensuring we are not exposed to undue
liquidity. funding or capital risk.

Our liquidity strategy secks to ensure that we naintain sufficient
liquidity to meet all of our funding obligations in all market envirou-
ments. That strategy is centered on five principles:

B Mainining a quidity pool that is of sufficient size to cover expected
cash outflows for one year in a stressed liquidity environment.

B Relying on secured funding only to the extent that we believe it
would be available in all market environments.

8 Diversifying our funding sources to minimize reliance on any
given provider,

W Assessing our liquidity at the legal entity level. For example,
because our legal entiry structure can constrain liquidity available
to Holdings, our liquidity pool excludes liquidity that is restricted
from availability to Holdings.

B Mainnining a comprehensive funding action plan to manage a
stress liquidity event, including a communication plan for regula-
tors, creditars, investors and clicnts.

For further discussion of our liguidity positions, see “Liquidity,
Funding and Capital Resources” in this MD&A.

OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or
failed internal processes, people and systems, or from external canses,
whether deliberate, accidental or natural. Operational risk may arise from
mistakes, intentonal or otherwise, in the execution, confirmation or
settlement of transactions or from transactions not being propery
recorded, evaluated or accounted. Qur businesses are highly dependent
on our ability to daily process a harge number of transactions across
numerous and diverse markets in many currencics, and these transactions
have become increasingly complex. Consequently, we rely heavily on

our financial, accounting and other data processing systems. In recent
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years, we have substantially upgraded and expanded the capabilities of
our data processing systems and other operating technology, and we
expect that we will need to continue to upgrade and expand in the
future 10 avoid disruption of, or constraints on, our operations.

The Operational Risk Management Department is responsible for
implementing and maintaining our overall global operational risk man-
agement framework, which seeks to minimize these risks through assess-
ing, reporting, monitoring and mitigating operational tisks.

We have a company-wide business continuity pla {the "BCP”). The
BCP objective is to ensure that we can continue critical operanons with
limited processing interruption in the event of a business disruption. The
business continuity group manages our internal incident response process
and develops and maintains continutty plans for critical business functions
and infrastructure. This includes determining how vital business activities
will be performed until normal processing capabilities can be restored. The
business continuity group is also responsible tor facilitting disaster recov-
ery and businuss continuity tmaining and preparedness for our employees.

REPUTATIONAL AND OTHER RISK

We recogmize that maintaining our reputation among clients, inves-
tors, regulators and the general public is critical. Maintining our reputa-
ton depends on a large .number of factors, including the selection of our
clients and the conduct of our business activites. We seek to nuaintain
our reputation by screening potential clients and by conducting our
business activities in accordance with high ethical standards.

Potential clients are screened through a multi-step process thar
begins with the individual business wnits and product groups, In screen-
ing clients, these groups undertake a comprehensive review of the client
and its background and the potential transaction to determine, among
other things, whether they pose any risks to our reputation. Potential
transactions are screened by independent commiittees in the Firm, which
are composed of senior members from various corporate divisions of the
Company including members of the Division, These conmmittees review
the nature of the client and its business, the due diligence conducted by
the business units and product groups and the proposed terms of the
transaction to determine overall acceptability of the proposed transac-
tion. Inn so doing, the commirtees evaluate the appropriateness of the
transaction, including a consideration of ethical and social responsibility
issues and the potential effecr of the transaction on our reputation.

We ate exposed o other risks having an ability to adversely impact
our business. Such risks include legal, geopolitical, tax and regulatory risks
that niay come to bear due to changes in local laws, regulations, accounting
standards or tax statutes. To assist in the mitigation of such risks, we moni-
tor and review regulatory, stacutory or legal proposals that could impact
our businesses, See “Cermin Facton Affecting Results of Operations™

above and “Risk Factors™ in Part 1, Item 1A in the Form 10-K.

. 69
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2-FOR-1 STOCK SPLIT

On April 5, 2006, the stockholders of Holdings approved an increase
in the Companys authorized shares of conunon stock to 1.2 billion from
600 million, and the Board of Directors approved a 2-for-1 common

stock split, in the form of a stock dividend, for holders of record as of April

18, 2006, which was paid on April 28, 2006. On April 5. 2006, the
Conpany’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation was amended to effect

the increase in authorized conimeon shares.

ACCOUNTING AND REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS

The following sunumarizes accounting standards that have been
issued during the periods covered by the Consolidated Finaneial
Statements and the effect of adoption on our results of operations, if any,
actual or estimated.

SFAS 123(R) [n 1December 2004, the FASD issued SFAS 123(R),
which establishes standards of accounting for transactions in which an
entity exchanges its equity instrumenss for goods and services and focuses
primarily on accounting for transaction in which an entity obtains
employer services in share-based payment transactions. Two key differ-
ences berween SFAS No. 123, Accourtting for Stock-Based Compensation, and
SFAS 123{R) relate to the atribution of compensation costs to reporting
periods and accounting for award forfeitures. SFAS 123(1%) generally
requires the immediate expensing of equity-based awards granted to
retirement-¢ligible employees or awards granted subject to substantive
non-compete agreements be expensed over the non-compete period.
SFAS 123{R) also requires expected forfeitures to be included in deter-
mining stock-based emplovee compensation expense. We adopted SFAS
123(R) as of the beginning of our 2006 fiscal year and recogmized an after-
tax gain of approximately $47 million as the cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principle atributable to the requirement to estimate forfei-
tures at the date of grant instead of recognizing them as incurred. For
additional information, see Note 12, “Share-Based Employee Incentive
Plans,” to the Consolidated Financial Starements.

SFAS 155  In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 153, which
permits an entity to nieasure at fair value any hybrid financial instrument
that contains an embedded derivative chat otherwise would require
bifurcation. As permitted, we early adopted SFAS 155 in the first quarter
of 2006. The effect of adoption resulted in a $24 million after-tax ($43
million pre-tax) decrease to opening retained earnings as of the begin-
ning of our 2006 fiscal year, representing the difference between the fair
value of these hybrid financial instruments and the prior carrying value
as of November 30, 2(X15.

SFAS 156  In March 2006, the FASE issued SFAS 156, which per-
mits entities 1o elect o measure servicing assets and servicing liabilities ar
fair value and report changes in fait value in earnings. As a resule of adopt-
ing SFAS 156, we recognized an §18 miflion after-tax (833 million pre-
tax) increase to opening retained earnings in our 2006 fiscal year.

SFAS 157  In September 2006, the FASD issued SFAS [57. SFAS

157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for nreasuring fair value,

outlines a fair value hicrarchy based on inputs used to measure fair value
and enhances disclosure requitenients for fair value measurements. SFAS
157 does not change existing guidance as to whether or not an instru-
ment is carried at fair value.

SFAS 157 also (i} nullifies the guidance in EITF No. 02-3, Aaounting
for Derivative Comrracts Held for “frading Purposes and Contracts Involved in
Energy Tiading and Risk Management Aetiviies ("EITF 02-37) that pre-
cluded the recognition of a trading profit at the inceprion of a derivative
contract, unless the fair value of such derivative was obtained from a
quoted marker price or other valuation technique incorpornating obsetv-
able inputs; (ii) clarifies that an issuer’s credit standing should be considered
when measuring liabilicies at fair value; (iii) precludes the use of a liquidicy
or block discount when measuring instrutnents traded in an active market
at fair value; and (iv) requires costs related to acquiring financial instru-
ments carried at fair value to be included in earnings as incurred.

We elected to early adopt SFAS 157 at the beginning of 2007 fiscal
year and we recorded the difference beeween the carrying amounts and
fair values of (i) stand-alone derivatives and/or certain hybrid financial
instruments measured using the guidance in EITF 02-3 on recognition
of a trading profit at the incepdon of a derivative, and (i) financial
instruments that are traded in active markets that were measured ac fair
value using bleck discounts, as a cumulative-effect adjustment to open-

ing retained earnings. As a result of adopting SFAS 157, we recognized a

$45 million after-tax ($78 million pre-tax} increase to opening retained |

earnings. For additional information regarding our adoption of SFAS
157.see Note 4, FairValue of Financial Instruments,” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

SFAS 158 In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158,
Esnployers’ Accounting for Defined Benefu Pension and Other Retirement
Plans {“SFAS 1587), which requires an employer to recognize cthe over-
or under-funded starus of its defined benefit postretirement plans as an
asset or liability in its Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition,
measured as the difference benween the fair value of the plan assets and
the benefit obligation. For pension ptans the benefit obligation is the
projected benefit obligation while for other postreirement plans the
benefit obligation is the accumulated postretirement obligation. Upon
adoption, SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize previously unrec-
ognized acruarial gains and losses and prior service costs within

Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) (net of tax). a compo-




nent of Stockholders’ equity. In accordance with the guidance in SFAS
No.158, we adopted this provision of the standard for the year ended
November 30, 2007. The adopton of SFAS No.158 reduced
Accunwlated other comprehensive income/ (loss), by $210 million after-
tax ($344 million pre-tax) at November 30, 2007.

SFAS 159 In February 2007, the FASD issued SFAS 159 which
permits certain financial assets and financial liabilites to be measured ac
fair value, using an instrument-by-instrument election. The initial effect
of adopting SFAS 159 must be accounted for as a cunulative-effect
adjustment to opening retained earnings for the fiscal year in which we
apply SFAS 139. Retrospective application of SFAS 159 to fiscal years
preceding the effective date is not permitted.

We elected to carly adopt SFAS 159 beginning in our 2007 fiscal year
and to measure at fair value .substantially all hybrid financial instruments
not previously accounted for at fair value under SFAS No. 155, as well as
certain deposit habitities at our U.S. banking subsidiaries. We elected to
adopt SFAS 159 for these instruments to reduce the complexity of
accounting for these instruments under SFAS No. 133, Acounting for
Derivative Instmumetits and Hedging Activities. As a result of adopting SFAS
159, we recognized a $22 miltion after-tax increase ($35 million pre-tax)
to opening retained earnings as of December 1, 2006, representing the
efiect of changing the measurement basis of these financial instruments
from an adjusted amortized cost basis at November 30, 2006 to fair value.

SFAS 141(R) In December 2007, che FASB issued SFAS No.
141(RR), Business Combinations ("SFAS 141(10)"). SFAS 141{R} expands
the definition of wransactions and events that qualify as business combi-
nations; requires that the acquired assets and liabilities, including contin-
gencies, be recorded at the fair value determined on the acquisition date
and changes thereafter reflected in revenue, not goodwill; changes the
recognition timing for restructuring costs; and requires acquisition costs
to be expensed as incurred. Adoption of SFAS 141{R) is required for
combinations after December 15, 2008. Early adoption and retroactive
application of SFAS 141(R) to fiscal years preceding the effecrive date
are not permined. We are evaluating the impact of adoption on our
Comnsolidated Financial Statements.

SFAS 160 In Pecember 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160,
Noncomtrolling Interest in Consolidated Financial Statements (“SFAS 1607).
SFAS 160 re-characrerizes minority interests in consolidated subsidiar-
ies as non-controlling interests and requires the classification of minor-
ity terests a5 a component of equity, Under SFAS 160, 2 change in
control will be measured at fair value, with any gain or loss recognized
in earnings. The effective date for SFAS 160 is for annual periods begin-
ning on or after December 13, 2008. Early adoption and retroactive
application of SFAS 160 to fiscal years preceding the effective date are
not permitced. We are evaluating the impact of adoption on our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

FIN 48 In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Icome Taxes ("FIN 487}, which sets out a framework for

management to use to deterimine the appropriate level of tax reserves to
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maintain for uncertzin tax positions. This interpretation of SFAS No,
109, Accounting for ucome Taxes, uses a cwo-step approach wherein a tax
benefit is recoymized if a posidon is more likely than not to be sustained,
and the amount of benefit is then measured on a probabilistic approach,
as defined in FIN 48. FIN 48 also sets out disclosure requirements to
enhance transparency of an entity’s tax reserves. We must adopt FIN 48

as of the beginning of our 2008 fiscal year. We estimare that che effect of

adopting FIN 48 at the beginning of the first quarter of 2008 to be a

decrease to opening retained earnings of approximately $190 million.

SOP 87-1 In June 2007, the AICPA issued Statement of Position
{SOP™) No. 07-1, Claification of the Scope of the Audit and Accownting
Guide Investwent Companies and Accounting by Parent Conmpanies and Equity
Meshod Investors for fupestments in Investment Companies (*SOP 07-17).
SOP 07-1 addresses when the accounting principles of the AICPA Audic
and Accounting Guide I[nvestment Companties must be applied by an
entity and whether those accounting principles must be retained by a par-
ent company in consolidation or by an investor in the application of the
equity method of accounting, SOP 07-1 is effective for our fiscal year
beginning December 1, 2008, We are evaluating the effect of adepting
SOP 07-1 on cur Consolidated Financial Stacements,

EITF Issue No. 04-5  In Junc 2005, the FASB ratified the consensus
reached in EITF (4-5 which requires general partners {or nanaging
members in the case of limited liability companies) to consolidate their
partnerships or to provide limited partners with either (i} rights to
remove the general parmer without cause or to liquidate the partnership;
or (ii) substantive participation rights. As the general partner of numerous
private equity and asset management partnerships, we adopted EITF
04-5 effective June 30, 2005 for partnerships formed or modified after
June 29, 2005. For partnerships formed on or before June 29, 2005 that
had not been modified, we adopted EITF 04-5 as of the beginning of
our 2007 fiscal year. The adoption of EITF 04-5 did not have a material
effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements,

FSP FIN 46(R)-B In April 2006, the FASB isued FASB Staff
Position ("FSP™) FIN 46{R)-6, Determining the Vanability to Be Considered
it Applying FASB Interpretation No. 46(R) (“FSP FIN 46(R)-6"). This FSP
addresses how a reporting enterprise should determine the variability to
be considered in applying FIN 46(R) by requiring an analysis of the pur-
pose for which an entity was created and the variability thar the entity was
designed to create. We adopted FSP FIN 46(R)-6 on Seprember 1, 2006
and applied it prospectively 1 all entities in which we first became
involved after cthat date. Adoption of FSP FIN 46(R}-6 did not have a
material effect on our Consolidated Financial Statentents.

FSP FIN 39-1 In April 2007, the FASB directed the FASB Staff
to issue FSP Na. FIN 39-1, Amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 39
("FSP FIN 39-1"). FSP FIN 39-1 modifies FIN No. 39, Offsetting of
Amorinits Related 1o Certain Contracts, and permits companies to offset
cash collateral receivables or payables with net derivative positions
under certain circumstances, FSP FIN 39-1 is effective for fiscal years

beginning after November 15, 2007, with early adoption permitted.
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FSP FIN 39-1 does not affect our Consolidated Financial Statements
because it clarified the acceprability of existing market practice,
which we use, of netting cash collateral against net derivative assets
and liabiliries.

FSP FIN 48-1 1n May 2007, the FASB directed the FASB Staff to
issue FSP No. FIN 48-1, Definition of “Setdement” in FASB Interpretation
No. 48 ("FSP FIN 48-1"). Under FSP FIN 48-1,a previously unrec-
ognized tax benefit may be subsequently recognized if the tax position
is effectively settled and other specified criteria are met. We are evaluat-
ing the effect of adopting FSP FIN 48-1 on our Consolidated Financiat
Statements as part of our evaluation of the effect of adopting FIN 48,

FSP FIN 46(R}-7 In May 2007, the FASB directed the FASB Swff
to issue FSP No. FIN 46{R}-7, Application of FASE Iterpreration No,
46(R} ta hwesoment Companies {FSP FIN 46(R)-77). FS¥ FIN 46(R)-7
makes permanent the temporary deferral of the application of the provi-
sions of FIN 46(R) to unregistered investment companies, and extends
the scope exception from applying FIN 46(R) o include registered
imvestment companies. FSP FIN 46(R)-7 is effective upon adeption of
SOP 07-1. We are evaluating the effect of adopting FSP FIN 46(R)-7
on our Consolidated Financial Statements,

SAB 108 In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (*SEC™} issued Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB™) No.
108, Censidering the Effecrs of Prior Year Misstarements when Quantifying
Misstatenents in Crrrent Year Finaneial Starentenns ("SAB 1087). SAB 108
specifies how the carryover or reversal of prior-year unrecorded financial
statemwent nisstatements should be considered n quantfying a current-
year misstaternent. SAB 108 requires an approach that considers the

amount by which the current-year statement of income is misstated

(“rollover approach™) and an approach that considers the cumulative
amount by which the current-year statement of financial condition is
misstated (“iron-curtain approach™). Prior w the isuance of SAB 108,
either the rollover or iron-curtain approach was acceptable for assessing
the materiality of financial statement misstatements. SAB 108 became
effecave for our fiscal year ended November 30, 2006. Upon adoption,
SAB 108 allowed a cumulative-effect adjustment 1o opening retained
earnitigs at PDecember 1, 2005 for prior-year misstatements that were not
material under a prior approach but that were material under the SAB
108 approach. Adoption of SAB 108 did not affect our Consolidated
Financial Seatements.

SAB 109 In November 2007, the SEC isued SAB No. 109,
Writtenr Loan Commitments Recorded at Fair Value Through Earnings
("SAB 1097). SAB 109 supersedes SAB No. 105, Loan Commitments
Accounted for as Derivative Iustnunents (*SAB 1057, and expresses the
view consistent with the guidance in SFAS 156 and SFAS 159, that the
expected net future cash flows related 1o the associated servicing of che
loan should be included in the measurement of all written Joan commit-
mients that are accounted for at fair value through earnings. SAB 103 also
expressed the view that internally-developed intangible assets (such as
custonier relationship intangible assets) should not be recorded as part of
the fair value of a derivative loan comumitment. SAB 109 retains dhat view
and broadens its application to all written loan commitments that are
accounted for at fair value through carnings. Adoption of SAB 109 did
not have a material affect on our Comsolidated Financial Statements.

Effect of Adoplion The twble presented below summarizes the
impact of adopten from the accounting developments summarized

above on our resulis of operations, if any, actual or estimated:

ACCUMULATED OTHER

IN MILLIONS DATE OF ADDPTION COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/{LOSS) RETAINED EARNINGS  NET INCOME
YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30, 2006
SFAS 123(R}) Pecember 1, 2005 5 47
SFAS 155 December 1, 2005 § (24
SFAS 156 December 1. 2005 18
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2007
SFAS 157 December 1, 2006 45
SFAS 158 November 30, 2007 $(210)
SFAS 159 December 1, 2006 22
ESTIMATED IMPACT TO YEAR ENOED NOVEMSER 30, 2008
FiN 48 December 1, 2007 (190)

The ASF Framewark On Dcecember 6, 2007, the American
Securitization Forum (“ASF"), working with various constituency
groups as well as representatives of U.S. federal government agencies,
issued the Streamlined Foreclosure and  Loss Avoidance Framawork for
Securitized  Subprime Adfustable Rate Mortgage  Loans  (the “ASF

Framework™). The ASF Framework provides guidance for servicers to

streamline borrower evaluation procedures and to facilitate the use of
foreclosure and Joss prevention efforts in an atrempt to reduce the mun-
ber of U.S. subprime residential mortgage borrowers who might default
in the coming year because the borrowers cannot afford to pay the
increased foan interest rate after their ULS, subprime residential moregage

variable loan rate resets. The ASF Framework requires a borrower and its




U.S. subprime residential mortgage variable loan to meet specific condi-
dons te qualify for a modification under which the qualifying borrower’s
loan’s interest rate would be kept at the existing rate, generally for five
years following an upcoming reset period. The ASE Framework is
focused on US. subprime first-lien adjustable-rate residential mortgages
that have an inidal fixed interest rate period of 36 months or less, are
included in securitized pools, were originated between January 1, 2005
and July 31, 2007, and have an initial interest rate reset date between
January 1, 2008 and July 31, 2010 (defined as “Segment 2 Subprime
ARM Loans”™ within the ASF Framework).

On January 8, 2008, the SECs Office of Chief Accountant (the
“OCA") issued a letter (the "OCA Letter”} addressing accounting issues
that may be raised by the ASF Framework. Specifically. the OCA Letter
expressed the view that ifa Segment 2 Subprinte ARM Loan is modified
pursuant to the ASF Framework and that loan could legaily be maodified,
the OCA will not object to continued starus of the wansferee as a QSPE
under SFAS 140, Concurrent with the issuance of the OCA Letter., the
OCA requested the FASD to immediately address the issues that have
arisen in the application of the QSPE guidance in SFAS 140. Any louan
modifications we niake in accordance with the ASF Framework will not
have a material affect on our accounting for U.S, subprime residential

"mortgage Joans not securitizations or retained interests in securitizatons
of U.S. subprime residenttal mortgage loans.

Basel Il As of December 1, 2005, Holdings became regulated by
the SEC as a CSE.This supervision imposes group-wide supervision and
examination by the SEC, minimum capital requirements on a consoli-
dated basis and reporting (including reporting of capital adequacy mea-
surement consistent with the standards adopted by the Basel Committee

on Banking Supervision) and notification requirenients,
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The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision published an updated
framework to caleulate risk-based capital requirementss n June 2004
(*Basel 117}, In September 2006, U.S. federal bank regutators announced
their intent to implement Basel 11 in the U.S. On December 16, 2007,
the U.S. federal bank regulators published final rubes implementing the
Basel Il framework for the calculation of minimum capital requirenients.
Within the minimum capital requirements, or “first pillar” of Basel [1, the
federal rules deal only with the capital risk or banking book compoenent.
U.S. federal bank regulators have indicated that final rules to update
market risk or rading book rules will be issued in the near future.

Basel 11 is meant to be applied on a consolidated basis for banking
institutions or bank holding companies that have consolidated total assets
of $250 billion or more and/or consolidated total on-balance-sheer
foreign exposure of $10 billion or more. Basel 11 provides two broad
methods for calculating minimum capital requirements related to credit
risk (i) a standardized approach that relies heavily upen external credit
assessments by major independent credit mating agencies; and (i} an
internal ratings-based approach that permits the use of internal rating
assessnients in determining required capital,

The tnte frame in which Basel [l requirements would become
effective for US. hanking instirutions or bank holding companies is
contemplated to be (i) ane or mere years of parallel caleulation, in which
an entity would remain subject to exising risk-based capital rules but
also calculate its risk-based capital requiremients under the new Basel 11
framnework; and (i) two or three tansition years, during which an entiry
would be subject to the new framework and an entity’s minimum risk-
based capital would be subject to a floor.

The Basel I framework is anticipated to impact our mininum
capital requirements and reporting (including reporting of capital ade-

quacy measurements) as a CSE.

EFFECTS OF INFLATION

Because our assets are, to a large extent, liquid in nature, they are
not significanty affected by inflation. However, the rate of inflation
affects such expenses as employee compensation, office space leasing

costs and communications charges, which may not be readily recoverable

in the prices of services we offer. To the extent inflation results i rising
interest rates and has other adverse effects on the securitdes markets, it
may adversely affect our consolidated financial condition and results of

operations in certain businesses,
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MANAGEMENT'S ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) is responsible for establishing and nuain-
raining adequate internal control over financtal reporting. The Company's internal control system is designed to pro-
vide reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and Board of Directors regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of published financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. All internal control systems, no matzer how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement prepara-
tion and presentation.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
as of November 30, 2007, [n making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the Commiitee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment
we believe that, as of November 3(}, 2007, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based

on those criteria.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Ta Tha Board of Directors and Stockholders of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.

We have audited Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc’s {the *Company™) internal control over financial reporting as of
November 30, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The Company’s management is respon-
sible for maintining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessiment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Assessmemt of Internal Control over Financial
Reporting. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ internal control over financial reporting based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtin reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
cobtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists,
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and perform-
ing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances, We believe that our andit provides a reason-
able basis for our opinion.

A company’ internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transac-
tions and dispositions of the assets of the company: (2} provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with genenally accepted a2ccounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of managenient and directors of
the company: and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company% assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inad-
equate because of changes in conditions, or thar the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

[n our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as
of November 30, 2007, based en the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated statement of financial condition of the Company as of November 30, 2007 and 2006, and the
related consolidared statements of income, changes in stockholders” equity, and cash Aows for each of the three years in
the period ended November 30, 2667 of the Company and our report dated January 28, 2008 expressed an unqualified

opinion thereon.

é/wvtf LLP

New York, New York
January 28, 2008
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REPGRT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To The Board of Directors and Stackholders of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated stateinenc of financial condition of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc,
(the “Company™) as of November 30, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the peried ended November 30, 2007. Our audits also
included the fAnancial statement schedule listed in the Index at Irem 15(a), These ﬁnimcia] statements and schedule are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audirs,

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversighe Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis. evidence support-
ing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit alse includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all marterial respects, the consolidated
financial position of Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. at November 30, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended November 30,2007, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered
in relation o the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presenes fairly in all material respects the information set
forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United
States), the effectiventess of Lehman Brothers Holdings Ines internal control over financial reporting as of November 30, 2007,
based on criteria established in Internal Conerol-Integrated Framework issued by the Commirtee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission and our report dated January 28, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinton thereon.

St ¥ MLLP

New York, New York
January 28, 2008
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT GF INCOME

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30,

IN MILLIGNS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA “2007 2006 2005
REVENUES
Principal transactions $ 9,197 $ 9,802 § 7811
Investment banking 3,903 3,160 2,894
Conuissions 2,471 2,050 1,728
Interest and dividends 41,693 30,284 19,043
Asset management and other 1,739 1.413 944
Total revenues 59,003 ’ 46,709 32,420
Interest expense 39,746 29,126 17,790
Net revenues 19,257 17,583 14,630
NON-INTEREST EXPENSES
Compensation and benefits 9,494 8,669 7.213
Technology and communications 1,145 974 834
Brokerage, clearance and distribution fees 859 629 548
Occupancy 641 539 450
Professional fees 466 Jod 282
Business development 378 m 234
Other 261 202 200
Total non-personnel expenses 3,750 3.009 2,588
Total non-interest expenses 13,244 11,678 9,801
Income before taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change 6,013 5,905 4,829
Provision for income axes 1,821 1945 1,569
Inconte before cumulative effect of accounting change 4,192 3960 3.260
Cumulative effect of accounting change — 47 —
Net income $ 4,192 § 4007 § 3,260
Net income applicable to comnton stock $ 4,125 $ 394 $ 3,191

Earnings per basic common share:

Before cumulative effect of accounting change 5 7.63 $ 717 $ 574
Cunulative effect of accounting change - 0.09 —
Earmings per basic common share § 7.63 $ 726 $§ 574

Earnings per diluted common share:

Before cumulative effect of accounting change $ .26 $ 673 $ 543
Cumuladive effect of accounting change — 0.08 —
Earnings per dituted convmon share $ 7.26 § 681 $ 543
Dividends paid per common share $ 0.60 $ 048 § 040

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

NOVEMBER 30,

IN MILLIONS w0 2006
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7,286 $ 5987
Cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes 12,743 6,09
Financial instruments and other inventory positiens owned

(includes $63,499 in 2007 and $42,600 in 2006 pledged as collateral) 313,129 226,596
Collateralized agreements:

Securities purchased under agreements 1o resell 162,635 117,490

Securities borrowed 138,599 107,666
Receivables:

Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations 11,005 7.449

Customers 29,622 18,470

Others 2,650 2,052
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements

(net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $2,438 in 2007 and $1,925 in 2006) 3,861 3,269
Other assets 5,406 5,113
Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill

{net of accumulated amortization of $34( in 2007 and $293 in 2006) 4,127 3,362
Total assets $691,063 $303.545

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

‘ {continued)
| NOVEMBER 30,
; IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA 2007 2006
‘ LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings
| {including $9.035 in 2007 and $6,064 in 2006 at fair value) § 28,066 $ 20,638
Financial instruments and ather inventary positions sold but not yet purchased 149,617 123,960
Collateralized financings:
Securities sold under agreentents to repurchase 181,732 133,547
Securities loaned 53,307 23,982
Other secured borrowings
(including $9,149 in 2007 and $0 in 2006 at fair value) 22,992 19.028
Payables:
Brokers, deaters and clearing organizations 3,101 2,217
Customers 61,206 41,695
Accrued liabilities and other payables 16,039 14,697
Deposit liabilities at banks
(including $15,986 in 2007 and $14,708 in 20006 at fair value) 29,363 21,412
Long-terms borrowings
(ircluding $27.204 in 2007 and $11.025 in 2006 at fair value) 123,150 $1,178
Total liabilities 668,573 484,354
Comymittnents and contingencies
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock 1,095 1,095
Common stack, $0.10 par value:
Shares authorized: 1,200,000,000 in 2007 and 2006;
Shares issued: 612,882,506 in 2007 and 609,832,302 in 2006;
Shares outstanding: 531,887,419 in 2007 and 533,368,195 in 2006 61 61
Additional paid-in capital® 9,733 8,727
Accumulated other comprehensive toss, net of tax (310} (15)
Retained earnings 19,698 15,857
. Other stockholders’ equiry, net (2,263) (1.712)
| Common stock in treasury, at cost”
80,993,087 shares in 2007 and 76,464,107 shares in 2006) (5,524) (4.822
Total common stockholders’ equity 21,395 18.096
Total stockholders’ equity 22,490 19191
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity §691,063 $503,545

I Balances and share amounts at November 30, 2006 reflect the April 28, 2006 2-for-1 common stock split, effected in the form of a 100% stock dividerd.

See Notes to Consolidated Financiat Statements.,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30,
IN MILLIGNS 2007 2006 2005
PREFERRED STOCK
5,94% Cumulative, Series C:

Beginning and ending balance $ 250 § 250 § 230
5.67% Cumulative, Series D:

Beginning and ending balance 200 200 200
7.115% Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative, Sertes E:

Beginning balance —_ _— 250

Redemptions — —_ {250)

Ending balance — — —
6.50% Cumulative, Series F:

Beginning and ending balance 345 345 345
Floating Rate (3% Minimum) Cumulative, Series G:

Beginning and ending balance 300 300 300
Total preferred stock, ending balance 1,095 1.095 1,095
COMMON STOCK, PAR VALUE $0.10 PER SHARE

. Beginning and ending balince 61 61 61
ADDITLONAL PRID-IN CAPITAL
Beginning balance 8,727 6,283 5,834
Reeclass from Comimon Stock Issuable and Deferred
Stock Compensation under SFAS No. 123(R) — 2275 —

RSUs exchanged for Common Stock (580) (647) 184

Emplovee stock-based awards (832) (881) {760)

Tax benefit from the issuance of stock-based awards 434 8360 1.003

Amortization of WSUs, net 1,898 K04 —

Other, net 86 57 20

Ending balance 9,733 R727 6,283
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS), NET OF TAX

Beginning balance (15) (16) (19)

Teanshation adjustment, net® (85) 1 3

Adoption of SFAS No. 158% (210) — —

Ending balance s (310) $ (15 s (16)

W Net of income tax benefit/{expense) of $2 in 2007, ($2) in 2006 and ($1) in 2005.

@ Net of income tax benefit of $134.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

{contirried)

Consolidated Financial Statements

YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30,

(N MILLIGNS 2007 2006 2005
RETAINED EARNINGS
Beginning balance $15,857 $12,198 $ 9,240
Cumulative effect of accounting changes" 67 (6) —
Net incotne 4,192 4,007 3,260
Dividends declared:
5.94% Cumuladive, Series C Preferred Stock {15) (15) {(15)
5.67% Cumulative, Series [ Preferred Stock (1) (1 (11)
7.115% Fixed/Adjustable Rate Cumulative, Series E Preferred Stock — - )
6.50% Cumulative, Series F Preferred Stock 22) (22) (22)
Floating Rate (3% Minimum) Cumulative, Series G Preferred Stock (19) (18) (12)
Common Stock (351) (276) (233)
Ending balance 19,698 15,857 12,198
COMMDN STOCK ISSUABLE
Beginning balance — 4,548 3,874
Reclass 1o Additional paid-in capital under SFAS 123(R) — (4.548) —
RSUs exchanged for common stock — — (832)
Peferred stock awards granced —_ — 1.574
Qther, net —_ — (68)
Eunding balance — — 4,548
COMMON STOCK HELD IN RSU TRUST
Beginning balance (1,712) (1,510) {1.353)
Emplovee stock-based awards (1,039) {755) (676)
RSUs exchanged for commeon stock 534 587 549
Other, net (46) (34) (30)
Ending balance (2,263) (1,712) (1,510
DEFERRED STOCX COMPENSATION
Beginning balance —_ 2,273) (1.780)
Reclass to additional paid-in capital under SFAS 123(R) -— 2273 —
Deferred stock awards granted —_ — (1,574)
Amortization of RSUs, net —_ — 988
Other, net — — 93
Ending balance — — 2,273)
COMMON STOCK IN TREASURY, AT COST
Beginning balance {4,822) (3,592) {2,282)
Repurchases of common stock (2,605) (2,678) (2.994)
Shares reacquired from employee transactions {573) (1,003} (1,163}
RSUs exchanged for common stock 46 i) 99
Employee stock-based awards 2,43¢ 2,391 2,748
Ending balance {5,524) {4,822} (3.592)
Total stockholders” equity $22,490 $19,191 $16,794

" The aggregate adoption impact of SFAS No. 157 and SFAS Ko, §59 are reflected for the year ended November 30, 2007. The aggregate adoption impact of SFAS

Nc. 155 and SFAS No. 156 are reflected for the year ended November 30, 2006.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30,

IN MILLIONS 2007 2006 2005

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income § 4,192 § 4,007 § 3,260

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 577 514 426
Non-cash compensation 1,791 1.706 1,055
Cumulative effect of accounting change — [CH] —
Deferred tax provision/(benefit) 418 (60} (502)
Tax benefit from the issuance of stock-based awards —_— — 1,005
Orther adjustments (114) 3 173
Net change in:
Cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory and other purposes (6,652) (347) {1.659)
Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned (78,903) (46,102) (36,652)
Reesale agreements. net of repurchase agreements 3,039 6,111 (473)
Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned (1,608) (18.383) {5.163)
Other secured borrowings 3,964 (4.088) 11,495
Receivables from brokers. dealers and clearing organizations {3,556) 5 (+.054)
Receivables from customers {11,152) (3.583) 354
Financial instruments and other inventoery positions sold but not yet purchased 23,415 15.224 14,136
Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations 884 347 165
Payables to customers 19,511 9,552 4,669
Accrued liabilities and other payables 3oz 2,032 (801)
Other receivables and assets and minority interests (1,703) (1,267 345
Net rash used in operating activities (45,595) {36.3760) {12,205)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, equipment and leaschold improvements, net (966) (586) (+09)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (963) (206) (38)
Proceeds from sale of business 233 — —
Net cash used in investing activities (1,698) (792) (+47)
GASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Derivative contraces with a financing element 242 159 140
Tax benefit from che issuance of stock-based awards 434 836 —
Issuance of short-term borrowings, net 3,381 4819 84
Deposit liabilities at banks 7,068 6,345 +717
Issuance of long-term borrowings B6,302 48.115 23,708
Principal payment of long-term borrowings, including the current portion of long tem: borrowings (46,255} (19.636) (14233
Issuance of common stock 84 19 230
Issuance of treasury stock 59 518 t.015
Purchase of treasury stock (2,605) (2.678) (2.994)
ILetirement of preferred stock —_ — (250
Dividends paid (418) (342) (302)
Net cash provided by financing activities 48,592 38,255 12012
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1,299 1.087 {540)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 5,987 4,900 5,440
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 5 7,286 % 5987 $ 4900

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION (IN MILLIDNS):

Interést paid totaled $39,434, $28,684 and 317.893 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, rspectively.

Income taxes paid totaled $1,476, §1,037 and $78Y9 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively,

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 SUMMARY QF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

DESCRIPTION QF BUSINESS
Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. ("Holdings™) and subsidiaries {col-

LINTs

lectively, the “Company;” the “Firm,

LLEYS LLNTS

Lehman Brothers,” “we." “us” or
“our”) serves the financial needs of corporations, governments and
municipalities, institutional clients and high net worth individuals world-
wide with business activities organized in three segments, Capital
Markets, Investiment Banking and Invesument Management. Founded in
1850, Lehman Brothers maintains market presence in equity and fixed
income sales, trading and rescarch, invesunent banking, asset manage-
ment, private invesanent managenent and private equity. The Firm is
headquartered in New York, with regional headquarters in London and
Tokyo, and operates in a netwotk of offices in North America, Europe,
the Middle East, Latin America and the Asia-Pacific region. We are a
member of all principal securities and commodities exchanges in the
US., and we haold memberships or associate memberships on several
principal international securities and commodities exchanges, including
the London, Tokyo, Hong Kong, Frankfurt, Paris, Milan and Australian
stock exchanges.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Consolidated Financial Staternents are prepared in confor-
mity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and include
the accounts of Holdings, our subsidiaries, and all other entities in
which we have a controlling financial interest or are considered o be
the primary beneficiary. All material inter-company accounts and
mransactions have been eliminated upon consolidation. Certain prior-
period amounts reflect reclassifications to conform to the current
years presentation.

On April 5, 2006, the stockholders of Holdings approved an
increase of its authorized shares of common stock to 1.2 billion from
600 million, and the Board of Directors approved a 2-for-1 common
stock split, in the form of a stock dividend, that was effected on April 28,
2006. All share and per share amounts have been retrospectively adjusted
for the increase in authorized shares and the stock split. For addirionat
information about the stock split, see Note 11, Earnings per Commen
Share” and Note 12, “Share-Based Eimnployee Incentive Plans,” to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

USE OF ESTIMATES

In preparing our Consolidated Financial Stazements and accompa-

nying notes, management makes various estimates that affect reported

amounts and disclosures. Broadly, those estimares are used in:
® measuring fair value of certain financial instruments;
8 accounting for identifiable intangible assets and goodwill;
B establishing provisions for potential losses that may arise from
litigation, regulatory proceedings and tax examinations;
8 assessing our ability to realize deferred taxes; and
B valuing equity-based compensation awards.

Estimates are based on available information and judgment.
Therefore, actual results could differ from our estimates and that differ-
ence could have a material effect on our Consolidated Financial
Statements and notes thereto,

CONSOLIDATION POLICIES

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of
Holdings and the entities in which the Company has a controlling finan-
cial interest. We determine whether we have a controlling financial inter-
est in an entity by first determining whether the entity 15 a voting
interest entity (sometimes referred to as a non-VIE), a variable interest
entity (“VIE™) or a qualified special purpose entity (“QSPE”).

Yoting Interest Entity  Voting interest entities are entities that have
(i) total equity investment at risk suflicient to fund expected future
operations independently; and (i) equity holders who have the obliga-
tion to absorb losses or receive residual returns and the right to make
decisions about the entity’s activities. In accordance with Accounting
Research Bulletin (“ARB™) No. 51, Consofidated Firumdal Statements, and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS") No. 94,
Consolidation of All Majority-Ounted Subsidiaries, voting interest entities are
consolidated when the Conipany has a controlling financial interest,
typically more than 50 percent of an entity’s voting interests.

Variable Interest Entity VIEs are endties that lack one or more
voting interest entity characteristics. The Company consolidates ViEs in
which it is the primary beneficiary. In accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) Interpretation (“FIN") No. 46-R,
Cousolidation of Variable Interest Entitics (revised Decomber 2003)—an interpre-
tation of ARB No. 51 (“FIN 46{IR}"), we are the primary beneficiary if we
have a variable interest, or a combination of variable interests, that will
either (i) absorb a majority of the VIEs expected losses; (ii) receive a
majority of the VIEs expected residual returns; or (iii) both. To determine
if we are the priniary beneficiary of aVIE, we review, among other factors,
the VIE's design, capital structure, contractual terms, which interests creare

or absorb variability and relaed party relationships, if any. Additionally, we




may calculate our share of the VIE'S expected losses and expected residual
returns based upon the VIES contractual arrangements and/or our posi-
tion in the VIE’ capital structure. This type of analysis is typically per-
formed using expected cash flows allocated to the expected losses and
expected residual rerurns under various probability-weighted scenarios,

Qualified Special Purpose Entity QSIPEs are passive entities with
limited permitted activities. SFAS No. 140, Accouniing for Transfers and
Serviting of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilitics—a replacement
of FASB Statement No. 125 (“SFAS 140"}, establishes the eriteria an
entity must satisfy to be a QSPE, including rypes of assets held, limits on
asset sales, use of derivatives and financial guarantees, and discretion
exercised in servicing activities. In accordance with SFAS 140 and FIN
46(R), we do not consolidate QSPEs.

For a further discussion of our itvolvement with VI1Es, QSPEs and
other entities see Note 6,"Securitizations and Special Purpose Entities,”
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Equity-Method Investments  Entities in which we do not have a
controlling financial interest (and therefore do not consolidate) bue in
which we exert significant influence {generally defined as owning a vot-
ing interest of 20 percent to 50 percent, or a partnership interest greater
than 3 percent) are accounted for either under Accounting Principles
Board {“APB”) Opinion No. 18, The Equity Method of Accounting for
Investments in Conmmon Stock or SFAS No. (5%, The Fair Value Option for
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (“*SFAS 159", For further discus-
sion of our adoption of SFAS 139, see “Accounting and Regulatory
Developments—SFAS 1597 below.

Other When we do not consolidate an entity or apply the equity
method of accounting, we present our investmient in the entity at fair
value, We have formed various non-consolidated private equity or other
alternative investment funds with third-party investors that are typically
organized as limited parmerships, We typically act as general parter for
these funds, and when third-party investors have (i} rights to ecither

. remove the general partner without cause or to liguidate the partmership;
or {ii) substantive participation rights, we do not consolidate these part-
nerships i accordance with Emerging [ssue Task Force (“EITF™) No.
04-5, Determining Whether a General Partner, or the General Partners as o
Gronp, Centrols a Limited Partuership or Sinnlar Entity When the Limited
Partrers Have Certain Rights (“EITF 04-57),

A determination of whether we have a controlling financial interest
in an entity and therefore our assessment of consolidation of that entity
is initially made at the time we become involved with the entity. Certain
events may occur which cause us to re-assess our initial determination
of whether an entity is aVIE or non-VIE or whether we are the primary
beneficiary if the entity is 2 VIE and therefore our assessment of con-
solidation of that entity. Thase events generally are:

B The entity’s governance structure is changed such that either

(1} the characteristics or adequacy of equity ac risk are changed,

or (i) expected returns or losses are reallocated among the

participating parties within the entity.
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8 The equity investiment {or some part thereof] is returned to che
equity investors ard other interests become exposed to expected
returns or losses.

B Additional activities are undertaken or assets acquired by the
entity that were beyond those anticipated previously.

# Participants in the entity acquire or sell interests in the entiry.

B The entity receives additional equity at risk or curtails its activi-
ties in a way that changes the expected returns or losses.
CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries having non—U.S. dollar functional

currencies are translated at exchange rates at the applicable Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition date. Revenues and expenses are trans-
lated at average exchange rates during the period. The gains or losses
resulting from translating non-U.S. dollar functional currency into US.
dollars, net of hedging gains or losses, are included in Accumulated other
comprehensive income/(loss}, net of tax, a component of Stockholders’
equity. Gains or losses resulting from non-U.S. dollar currency transac-
tions are included in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

REVENUE RECOGNITION POLICIES

Principal transactions IR ealized and unrealized gains or losses from
Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned and Financial
instruments and other inventory posidons sold but not yet purchased, as
well as the gains or losses from certain short- and long-term borrowing
obligations, principally certain hybrid financial instruments, and certain
deposit liabilites at banks thac we measure at fair value are reflected in
Principal transactions in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Investment hanking  Undenwriting revenues, net of related under-
writing expenses, and revenues for merger and acquisition advisery and
other investment banking-related services are recognized when services
for the transactions are completed. In instances where our Investment
Banking segiment provides structuring services and/or advice in a capital
markets-related  transaction, we record a portion of the transaction-
related revenue as Tnvestment Banking fee revenues,

Commissions Conumissions primarily include fees from execut-
ing and clearing client cransactions on equities, options and futures
markets worldwide. These fees are recognized on a trade-date basts.

Interest and dividends revenue and interest expense We recog-
nize contractual interest on Financial instruments and other inventory
positions owned and Financial instruments and other inventory positions
sold but not yet purchased, excluding derivatives, on an accrual basis as
a component of Interest and dividends revenue and Interest expense,
respectively, We account for our secured financing activities and certain
short- and long-term borrowings on an accrual basis with related inter-
est recorded as interest revenue or interest expense, as applicable.
Contractual interest expense on all deposit liabilities and certain hybrid
financial instruments are recorded as a component of Interest expense.

Asset management and other

recorded as earned. In certain circumstances, we receive asset manage-

[nvestment advisory fees are

ment incentive fees when the return on assets under managentrent
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exceeds specified benchmarks. [ncentive fees are generally based on
investment performance over a twelve-month period and are not subject
to adjustment after the measurement period ends. Accordingly, we rec-
ognize incentive fees when the measurement period ends.

We also receive private equity incentive fees when the returns on
certain private equity or other alternative investment funds® invest-
ments exceed specified thresholds. Private equity incentive fees typi-
cally are based on investment results over a period greater than one
year, and future investment underperformance could require amounts
previously distributed to us to be returned to the funds. Accordingly,
we recognize these incentive fees when all material contingencies have
been substantially resolved.

INCOME TAXES

We account for inconme taxes in accordance with SFAS No, 109,
Acconnting for Incoine Taxes. We recognize the current and deferred tax
consequences of all transactions that have been recognized in the finan-
cial statements using the provisions of the enacted tax laws. Deferred tax
assets are recognized for temporary differences that will result in deduct-
ible amounts in future years and for eax loss carry-forwards. We record a
valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to an antount that imore
likely than not will be realized. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for
remporary differences that will result in taxable income in future years.
Contingent liabilities related to income taxes are recorded when prob-
able and reasonably estimable in accordance with SFAS No. 3, Acconrriing
Sfer Contingeneres.

For a discussion of the impact of FIN 48, Acounting for Uncertainty
in fncome Taxes—an fnrerpretation of FASB Statement No, 109 (“FIN 48™),
see “Accounting and Regulatory Developments—FIN 487 below.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

On December 1, 2003, we adopted the fair value recognition pro-
visions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatton ("SFAS
1237), using the prospective adoption method. Under this method of
adoption, compensation expense was recognized over the related service
periods based on the fair value of stock options and restricted stock units
("RSUs™ granted for fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005. Under SFAS 123, stock
options granted in periods prior to fiscal 2004 comtinued to be
accounted for under the intrinsic value method prescribed by APB No.
23, Accowntinig for Stack Issued 1o Enployees. Accordingly, under SFAS 123
no compensadon expense was recognized for stock option awards
granted prior to fiscal 2004 because the exercise price equaled or
exceeded the market value of our common stock on the grane date,

On December 1, 2005, we adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004),
Share-Based Payment ("SFAS 123(R)"™) using the modified-prospective
transition method. Under this transiion method, compensation cost
recognized during fiscal 2006 includes: (i) compensation cost for all
share-based awards granted prior 1o, but not yet vested as of, December
1, 2005, (including pre-fiscal-2004 options} based on the grant-date fair
value and related service period estimates in accordance with the origi-

nal provisions of SFAS 123; and (if) compensation cost for ali share-based

awards granted subsequent to December 1, 2005, based on the grant-
date fair value and related service periods estimated in accordance with
the provisions of SFAS 123(R). Under the provisions of the modified-
prospective transition method, results for fiscal 2003 were not restated.

SEAS 123{R) clarifies and expands the guidance in SFAS 123 in
several areas, including how to measure fair value and how to attribute
compensation cost to reporting periods. Changes to the SFAS 123 fair
value measuremenc and service period provisions prescribed by SFAS
123{R)} inciude requirements to: (i} estimate forfeitures of share-based
awards at the date of grant, rather than recognizing forfeitures as
incurred as was permitted by SFAS 123: (ii) expense share-based awards
granted to retirement-eligible employees and those employees with
non-substantive non-compete agreements immediately. while our
accounting practice under SFAS 123 was to recognize such costs over
the stated service periods; (iii) atiribute compensation costs of share-
based awards to the future vesting periods, while our accounting practice
under SFAS 123 included a pardial attribution of compensation costs of
share-based awards to services performed during the year of grant: and
{iv) recognize compensation costs of all share-based awards (including
antortizing pre-fiscal-2004 options) based on the grant-date fair value,
sather than our accounting methodology under SFAS 123 which rec-
ognized pre-fiscal-2004 option awards based on their intrinsic value,

Prior to adopting SFAS 123(1) we presented the cash flows related
to income tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized
on stock issued under RSUs and stock options exercised during the
period {“‘excess tax benefits”) as operating cash flows in the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows. SFAS 123(R) requires excess tax benefits to be
classified as financing cash flows. In addition, as a result of adopting SFAS
123(R), certain balance sheet amounts associated with share-based com-
pensation costs have been reclassified within the equity section of the
balance sheet. This change in presentation had no effect on our total
equity. Effective December 1, 2005, Dreferred stock compensation (rep-
resenting unearned costs of RSU awards) and Common stock issuable
are presented on a net basis as a component of Additional paid-in capital.
See "Accounting and Regulatory Developmens—SFAS 123(R)" below
for a further discussion of SFAS 123(R) and the cunulative effect of this
accounting change recognized in fiscal 2006.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

We compure earnings per share (“EPS”) in accordance with SFAS
No. 128, Earnings per Share. Basic EPS is computed by dividing net
income applicable to common stock by the weighted-average number
of comnion shares outstanding, which includes RSUs for which service
has been provided. Diluted EPS includes the components of basic EPS
and also includes the dilutve effects of RSUs for which service has not
yet been provided and employee stock options.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INVENTORY POSITIONS

Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned,
excluding real estate held for sale, and Financial instruments and other

inventory positions sold but not yet purchased are carried at fair value.




Real estate held for sale is accounted for ac the lower of its carrying
amount or fair value less cost to sell. For further discussion of our finan-
cial Instruments and other inventory positions, see Note 3, “Financial
Instruments and Other Taventory Positions,” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Firm-owned securities pledged to counterparties who have the
right, by contract or custom, to sell or repledge the securities are classi-
fied as Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned and
are disclosed as pledged as collateral. For further discussion of our securi-
ties received and pledged as collaterl, see Note 5,"Securities Received
and Pledged as Collateral,” to the Consolidated Financiat Statements.

We adopted SFAS No. 157, Fair Malue Measurements (“SFAS 1577)
effective December 1,2006. SFAS 157 defines fair value as che price that
would be received to sell an asser or paid to transfer a ability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. When observable prices are not available, we either use implied
pricing from similar instruments or valuation nwodels based on net pres-
ent value of estimated future cash flows, adjusted as appropriate for
liquidity, credit. market and/or other risk factors.

Prior o December 1, 2006, we followed the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("AICPA™}Y Audit and Accounting Guide,
Brokers and Deaiers it Securities, when determining fair value for financial
instruments, which permitted the recognition of a discount to the
quoted price when determining the fair value for a substantial block of
a particular security, when the quoted price was not considered to be
readily realizable (i.e., a block discount).

For further discussion of our adoption of SFAS 157, see
“Accounting and Regulatory Developments—SFAS 157" below.

Derivative financial instruments Derivatives are financial instru-
ments whose value is based on an underlying asset (e.g., Treasury bond),
index (e.g., S&P 500) or reference rate {e.g., LIBORY}, and include futures,
forwards, swaps, option contracts, or other financial instruments with
similar characteristics. A derivative contract generally represents a future
commitment to exchange interest payment streams or currerncies based
on the contract or notional amount or to purchase or sell other financial
instruments or physical assets at specified terms on a specified date.
Over-the-counter {*OTC") derivative products are privately-negotiated
contractual agreemene that can be tailored to meet individual client
needs and include forwards, swaps and certain options including caps,
collars and floors. Exchange-traded derivative products are standardized
contracts transacted through regulated exchanges and include futures
and certain option contracis listed on an exchange.

Derivatives are recorded at fair value and included in either
Financtal instruments and other inventory positions owned or
Financial instruments and other inventory positions sold but not yet
purchased in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition.
Derivatives are presented net-by-counterparty when a legal right of
offset exists; net across different products or positions when applicable

provisions are stated in a master netting agreement; and/or net of cash
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collateral received or paid on a counterparty basis, provided legal right
of offset exists.

We enter into derivative transactions both in a wrading capacity and
as an end-user. Acting in a rrading capacity, we enter into derivative trans-
actions to satisfy the needs of our clients and to manage our own exposure
to market and credit risks resulting from our trading activities (collectively,
“Trading-Related Derivatives”). For Trading-Related Derivatives, mar-
gins on futures contracts are included in receivables and payables from/to
brokers, dealers and clearing organizations, as applicable.

As an end-user, we primarily use derivatives to hedge our exposure
to market risk (including foreign currency exchange and interest rate
risks) and credit risks (collectively, " End-User Derivatives”). When End-
User [Derivatives are interest rate swaps they are measured at fair value
through earnings and the carrying value of the related hedged item is
adjusted through earnings for the effect of changes in the risk being
hedged. The hedge ineffectiveness in these relationships is recorded in
Interest expense in the Consolidated Statement of [ncome. When End-
User Derivatives are used in hedges of net investiments in non-U.S. dol-
lar functional currency subsidiaries, the gins or losses are reported
within Accummlated other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax, in
Stockholders’ equity.

Prior to December 1, 2000, we followed EITF Issue Neo. 02-3,
Issues tnwvolped in Agconmting for Derivative Contracts Held for Trading
Purposes and Contracts Involved i Encrgy Trading and Risk Management
Adtivities ("EITF 02-3"). Under EITF 023, recognition of a trading
profit at inception of a derivative transaction was prohibited unless the
fair value of that derivative was obtained from a quoted market price
supported by comparison to other observable inputs or based on a
valuation technique incorporating observable inputs. Subsequent to
the inception date (“Day 17), we recognized trading profits deferred at
Day 1 in the period in which the valuation of the instrument becanme
observable. The adoption of SFAS 157 nullified the guidance in EITF
02-3 that precluded the recognition of a trading profit at the inception
of a derivative contract, uiless the fair value of such derivative was
obuined frony a quoted market price or other valuation technique
incorporating observable inputs. For further discussion of our adoption
of SFAS 157, see “Accounting and Regulatory Developments—SFAS
157" below,

Securitization activities In accordance with SFAS 140, we recog-
nize transfers of financial assets as sales, if control has been surrendered.
We determine control has been surrendered when the following three
criteria have been met:

B The transferred assets have been isolated from the transferor - put
presumptively bevond the reach of the wansferor and its creditors,
even in bankruptey or other receivership (i.e., a true sale opinion
has been obtained);

m Each transferee (or, if the transferee is a QSPE, each holder of its
beneficial interests) has the right to pledge or exchange the assets

{or beneficial interests) it received, and no conditen both con-
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strains the transferee (or holder) from taking advantage of its right
to pledge or exchange and provides more than a trivial benefit to
the transferor; and

B The transferor does not maintain effective control over the trans-
ferred assets through either (1) an agreement that both entitles
and obligates the transferor to repurchase or redeem them before
their maturity or (ii) the ability to unilaterally cause the holder to
return specific assets.

COLLATERALIZED LENDING AGREEMENTS AND FINANCINGS
Treated as collateralized agreements and fimancings for financial
reporting purposes are the following:

B Repurchase and  resale agreements Securities purchased under
agreements to resell and securities sold under agreements to
repurchase are collateralized primarily by government and
government agency securities and are carried net by counter-
party, when permitted, at the amounts at which the securities
subsequently will be resold or repurchased plus accrued interest.
We take possession of securities purchased under agreements to
resell. The fair value of the underlying positions is compared daily
with the related receivable or payable balances, including accrued
interest. We require counterparties to deposit additional collateral
or return collateral pledged, as necessary, to ensure the fair value
of the underlying collateral remains sufficient.

B Securities borrowed and securities Joaned  Securities borrowed and
securities loaned are carried at the amount of cash collateral
advanced or received plus accrued interest, We value the securi-
ties borrowed and loaned daily and obtain additienal cash as nec-
essary to ensure these transactions are adequately collateralized.
When we act as the lender of securities In a securities-lending
agreement and we receive securities that can be pledged or sold
as collateral, we recognize an asset, representing the securities
received and a liability, representing the obligation to return
those securities.

B Ourer secured borrowings  Other secured borrowings principally
reflect transfers accounted for as financings racher than sales under
SFAS 140. Additionally, Other secured borrowings includes non-
recourse financings of entities that we have consolidated because
we are the primary beneficiaries of such entities.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at
historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation is recognized using the straight-line method over the esti-
mated useful lives of the assets. Buildings are depreciated up to a maxi-
mum of 40 years, Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser
of their useful lives or the terms of the underlying leases, which range up
to 30 years. Equipnient, furniture and fixtures are depreciated over peri-
ods of up to 10 years. Internal-use software that qualifies for capitaliza-
tion under AICPA Statement of Position: 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, is capitalized and

subsequently amortized over the estimated useful life of the sofrware,
generally three vears, with a maximum of seven years. We review long-
lived assets for impairment pericdically and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrving amounts of the assets may be
impaired. If the expected future undiscounted cash flows are less than the
carrying amount of the asset, an impainment loss is recognized to the
extent the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value.

IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

[dentifiable intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over
their expected useful lives, which range up to 15 years. Identifiable intan-
gible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill are not amortized. Instead,
these assets are evaluated ar least annually for impairnrent. Goodwill is
reduced upon the recognition of certain acquired net operating loss car-
ryforward benefits.

CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash equivalents include highly liquid investments not held for
resale with marurities of three monhs or less when we acquire them.

ACCOUNTING AND REGULATORY DEVELOPMENTS

The following summarizes accounting standards that have been
issued during the periods covered by the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the effect of adopdon on our resulis of operations, if any,
actual or estimated.

SFAS 123(R) In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123(R)
which established standards of accounting for transactions in which an
entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods and services and
focuses primarily on accounting for wansactions in which an entity
obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions, Two key
differences between SFAS 123 and SFAS 123(R) relate to attribution of
compensation costs to reporting periods and accounting for award for-
feitures. SFAS 123(R) generally requires the immediate expensing of
equity-based awards granted 1o retirement-eligible employees or awards
granted subject to substantive non-compete agreements to be expensed
over the nont-compete period. SFAS 123(R} also requires expected for-
feitures to be included in determining stock-based employee compensa-
tion expense, We adopted SFAS 123(R) as of the beginning of our 2006
fiscal year and recognized an after-tax gain of approximately $47 million
as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle actributable
to the requirement to estimate forfeitures at the date of grant instead of
recognizing them as incurred. For additional information, see “Share-
Based Compensation™ above and Note 12, “Share-Based Employee
Incentive Plans,” to the Consolidared Financial Statements.

SFAS 155 In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155,
Atcounting for Certain Hybrid Finandal Instniments—an amendment of FASB
Statements No. 133 and 140 (*SFAS 1557), which permits an entity to
measure at fair value any hybrid financial instrument that contains an
embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation. As per-
mitted, we early adopted SFAS 155 in the first quarter of 2006. The
effect of adoption resulted in a $24 million after-tax ($43 million pre-

tax) decrease to opening retained earnings as of the beginning of our




2006 fiscal year, representing the difference between the fair value of
these hybrid financial inscruments and the prior carrying value as of
November 30, 2005.

SFAS 156 In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 136,
Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets—an amendment of FASH
Staterent No, 140 (“SFAS 1567), which permits entities to elect to mea-
sure servicing assets and servicing labilities ac fir value and report
changes in fair value in earnings, As a result of adopting SFAS 156, we
recognized an $18 million after-tax (§33 million pre-tax} increase to
opening retained earnings in our 2006 fiscal year.

SFAS 157  [n September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157. SFAS
157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value,
outlines a fair value hierarchy based on inputs used to measure fair value
and enhances disclosure requiremens for fair value measurements. SFAS
157 does not change existing guidance as to whether or not an instru-
ment is carried at fair value.

SFAS 157 also (i) nullifies the guidance in EITF 02-3 that precluded
the recognition of a trading profit at the inception of a derivative contract,
unless the fair value of such derivative was obtained from a quoted market
price or other valuation technique incorporating observable inpurs; (ii)
clarifies that an issuer’s credic standing should be considered when mea-
suring liabilities at fair value; (i) precludes the use of a liquidity or block
discount when measuring instruments traded in an active market at fair
value; and (iv) requires costs related w0 acquiring financial instruments
carried at fair value to be included in earnings as incurred.

We elected to early adopt SFAS 57 at the beginning of our 2007
fiscal year and we recorded the difference berween the carrying amounts
and fair values of (i) stand-alone derivatives and/or certain hybrid finan-
cial inscruments measured using the guidance in EITF 02-3 on recogni-
tion of a trading profit at the inception of a derivative, and (i) financial
instrumnents that are traded in active markets that were measured at fair
value using block discounts, as a cumulative-effect adjustment to open-
ing retained earnings. As a result of adopting SFAS 157, we recognized a
$45 million after-tax {$78 million pre-tax) increase to opening retained
earnings. For additional informadoen regarding our adoption of SFAS
157, see Note 4,“FairValue of Financial Instruments,” to the Consolidated
Financial Stacemnents.

SFAS 158 In September 2006, the FASD issued SFAS No. 138,
Employers” Accornting for Defined Bencfit Pension and Other Retirement Plans
(“SFAS 1387), which requires an employer to recognize the over- or
under-funded status of its defined benefit postretirement plans as an asset
or liability in its Censolidated Statement of Financial Condition, mea-
sured as the difference between the fair value of the plan assets and the
benefit obligation. For pension plans, the benefit obligation is the pro-
jected benefit obligation; while for other postretirement plans the ben-
efit obligation is the accumulated postretirement obligation. Upon
adopton, SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize previously unrecog-
nized acruarial gains and losses and prior service costs within Accumulated

other comprehensive income/(loss) {net of mx}, a component of
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Stockholders” equity. in accordance with the guidance in SFAS No. 158,
we adopted this provision of the standard for the year ended November
30, 2007. The adoption of SFAS No. 158 reduced Accumulated
other comprehensive income/ (loss), by $210 million after-tax ($344
million pre-tax) at November 30, 2007,

SFAS 159 10 February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 159 which
permits certain financial assets and financial liabilities to be measured at
fair value, using an instrument-by-instrument election. The iniral effect
of adopting SFAS 159 must be accounted for as a cumulanve-effece
adjustment to opening retained earnings for the fiscal year in which we
apply SFAS 159. Retrospective application of SFAS 159 to fiscal years
preceding the effective date is not permitted.

We elected to early adopt SFAS 159 beginning in our 2007 fiscal
year and to measure at fair value substantially all hybrid financial instru-
ments not previously accounted for at fair value under SFAS No. 155, as
well as certain deposit labilities at our ULS, banking subsidiaries. We
elected to adopt SFAS 159 for these instruments to reduce the complex-
ity of accounting for these instruments under SFAS No. 133, Aaonnting
Jor Derivarive Instruments and Hedging Adtivitics. As a result of adopting
SFAS 159, we recognized a $22 million after-tax increase ($35 million
pre-tax) to opening retained earnings as of December 1, 2006, represent-
ing the effect of changing the measurement basis of these financial
instruments from an adjusted amorcized cost basis at November 30, 2006
to fair value.

SFAS 141(R) In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No.
141(R), Business Combinations {“SFAS 141(11)""). SFAS 141(R) expands
the definition of transactions and events that qualify as business combi-
nations; requires that the acquired assets and liabilities, including condn-
gencies, be recorded at the fair value determined on the acquisidon date
and changes thereafter reflected in revenue, not goodwill; changes the
recognition timing for restructuring costs; and requires acquisition costs
to be expensed as incurred. Adoption of SFAS 141{R} is required for
combinations after December 15, 2008. Early adoption and retroactive
application of SFAS 141(R) to fiscal years preceding the effective dace
are not permitted. We are evaluating the impact of adoption on our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

SFAS 160 [n December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160,
Noucontrolling Interest in Consolidated Finanetal Statements ("SFAS 1607).
SFAS 160 re-characterizes minority interests in consolidated subsidiar-
ies as non-conurolling interests and requires the classification of minor-
ity interests as a component of equity. Under SFAS 160, a change in
control will be measured at fair value, with any gain or loss recognized
in earnings. The effective date for SFAS 16{ is for annual periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2008, Early adoption and retroac-
tive application of SFAS 160 to fiscal vears preceding the effective date
are not permitted. We are evaluating the impact of adoption on our
Consolidated Financial Statemnents.

FIN 48 In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, which sets out a

framework for management to use to determine the appropriate level of
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tx reserves to maintain for wncertain tax positions, This interpretation
of SFAS 109 uses a two-step approach wherein a tax benefit is recog-
nized if a position is more likely than not to be sustained, and the
amount of benefit is then measured on a probabilistic approach, as
defined in FIN 48, FIN 48 also sets out disclosure requirements to
enbance transparency of an entity’s tax reserves. We must adopt FIN 48
as of the beginning of our 2008 fiscal year, We estiniate that the effect of
adopting FIN 48 ac the beginning of the first quarcer of 2008 to be a
decrease to opening retained earnings of approximately $190 million.

SOP 07-1 In June 2007, the AICPA issued Statement of Position
("SOP™)y No. 07-1, Clarification of the Scope of the Audit and Accounting
Guide Investiment Companies and Accounting by Parent Companies and Equity
Method Investors for Investments in fvestinent Companics (“SOP 07-17),
SOP (7-1 addresses when the accounting principles of the ALCPA Audit
and Accounting Guide [nvestment Companies must be applied by an
entity and whether those accounting principles must be retained by a
parent compariy in consolidation or by an investor in the application of
the equity method of accounting, SOP 07-1 is effective for our fiscal
year beginning December 1, 2008. We are evaluating the effect of adopt-
ing SOP 07-1 on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

EITF Issue No. 04-5  In June 2005, the FASD ratified the consensus
reached in EITF 04-5 which requires general partners (or managing
mentbers i the case of limited liability companies) to consolidate their
parmerships or to provide limited partners with either (i) rights to
remove the general parmer without cause or to liquidate the partnership;
or {ii) substantive participation rights.As the general partner of nuimerous
private equity and asser management partierships, we adopted EITF
04-5 effective June 30, 2005 for partnerships formed or modifted after
June 29, 2005. For partnerships formed on or before June 29, 2005 thar
had not been modified, we adopted EITF 04-5 as of the beginning of
our 2007 fiscal year. The adoption of EITF 04-5 did not have a material
effece on our Consolidated Financial Staternents,

FSP FIN 46{R)-E In April 2006, the FASB issued FASB Stff
Position {"FSP™) FIN 46(R)-6, Determining the Variability 10 Be Considered
in Applying FASB Interpretation No. 46(R) ("FSP FIN 46(R)-6"). This FSP!
addresses how a reporting erkerprise should determine che variability e
be considered in applying FIN 46(R) by requiring an analysis of the
purpose for which an entity was created and the variability that the entity
was designed to create. We adopted FSP FIN 46(R)-6 on September 1,
2006 and applied it prospectively to all entities in which we first became
involved after that date. Adoption of FSP FIN 46(R)-6 did not have a
material effect on our Conselidated Financial Statemenss.

FSP FIN 39-1 1n April 2007, the FASB directed the FASB Staff to
issue FSP No. FIN 39-1, Amendment of FASB Interpretarion No. 39 (“FSP
FIN 39-17). FSP FIN 39-1 modifies FIN No. 39, Gffsetting of Amounts
Related to Certain Coniracts, and permits companies to offser cash collat-
eral receivables or payables with net derivative positions under certain
circumstances. FSP FIN 39-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
November 15,2007, with early adoption permitted. FSI* FIN 39-1 does

net affect our Consolidated Financial Stateiments because it clarified the
acceptability of existing market practice, which we use, of netting cash
collateral against net derivative assets and liabilities.

FSP FIN 48-1 In May 2007, the FASE directed the FASB Staff to
issue FSP No. FIN 48-1, Definition of “Setdlement” in FASB Interpretation
No. 48 (“FSP FIN 48-17). Under FSP FIN 48-1, a previously unrecog-
nized tax benefit mav be subsequently recognized if the tax position is
effectively settled and other specified criteria are met. We are evaluating
the effect of adopting FSP FIN 48-1 on our Consolidated Financial
Statements as part of our evaluation of the effect of adopring FIN 48.

FSP FIN 46{(R)-T [n May 2007, the FASB directed the FASB Staff
to issue FSP No. FIN 46(R)-7, Application of FASB Interpretation No.
46(R) 1o Investment Companics ("FSP FIN 46(R)-7"). FSP FIN 46(R0)-7
makes permanent the temporary deferral of the application of the provi-
sions of FIN 46(R) to unregistered investment companies, and extends
the scope exception from applying FIN 46(R) to include registered
investment companies. FSP FIN 46(R)-7 is effective upon adoption of
SO 07-1. We are evaluating the effect of adopting FSP FIN 46(R)-7
on our Consolidared Financial Statements.

SAB 108 In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC™} issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB™) No.
108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying
Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (“SAD 1087). SAB 108
specifies how the carryover or reversal of prior-year unrecorded financial
statement misstatemnents should be considered in quantifying a current-
year niisstatement. SAB 108 requires an approach that considers the
antount by which the current-year statement of income is misstated
(“rollover approach”) and an approach thar considers the cumulative
amount by which the current-year statement of financial condition is
misstated (“iron-curtain approach”}. Prior to the issuance of SAB F08,
ecither the rollover or iron-curtain approach was acceptable for assessing
the materiality of financial statement misstatements. SAB 108 became
effective for our fiscal year ended November 30, 2006, Upon adoption,
SADB 108 allowed a cumulative-effect adjustment to opening retained
earnings at December 1, 2005 for prior-year misstatements that were not
material under a prior approach but that were material under the SAB
108 approach. Adoptdon of SAB [08 did not affect our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

SAB 109 In November 2007, the SEC issued SAB No. 104,
Writienr Loan Comminnents Recorded ar Fair Vatue Through Earnings (“SADB
1097). SAB 109 supersedes SAI3 No. 105, Loan Comminnents Accounted for
as Derivative Instruments {*SAB 1057), and expresses the view, consistent
with the guidance in SFAS 156 and SFAS 159, that the expected net
future cash flows related to the associated servicing of the loan should be
included in the measurement of all written loan commitments that are
accounted for at fair value through carnings. SAB 105 also expressed the
view that internally-developed intangible assets (such as customer rela-
tionship intangible assets) should not be recorded as part of the fair value

ofa derivative loan commitment, SAB 109 retains that view and broadens




its application to all written loan commitments that are accounted for at
fair value through earnings. Adopdon of SAB 109 did not have a material

affect on our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Effect of Adoption The table presented below summarizes the
impact of adoption from the accounting developiments summarized

above on our results of operations, if any, actual or estimated:

AGCUMULATED OTHER
IH MILLIONS DATE OF ADDPTION COMPREKENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) RETAINED EARNINGS HET INCOME
YEAR ENDED HOVEMBER 30, 2006
SFAS 123(R) December 1, 2005 $ 47
SFAS 155 December 1, 2005 § 24
SFAS 156 December 1, 2005 18
YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2007
SFAS 157 December 1, 2006 45
SFAS 158 November 30, 2007 $(210)
SFAS 139 ecember 1, 2000 22
ESTIMATED IMPACT TO YEAR ENOED NOVEMBER 30, 2008
FIN 48 Drecember 1, 2007 (190)

The ASF Framework On December 6. 2007, the American
Securitization Forum (“ASF”), working with various constituency
groups as well as representatives of U.S, federal government agencies,
issued the Streamlined Foreclosure and Loss Avoidance Framework for
Securitized  Subprime Adjustable Rate Mortgage Leans {the “ASF
Framework”™). The ASF Framework provides guidance for servicers
to streamline borrower evaluation procedures and to facilitate the
use of foreclosure and loss prevention efforts in an attempt to reduce
the number of U.S. subprime residential mortgage borrowers who
might default in the coming year because the borrowers cannot
afford to pay the increased loan interest rate after their U.S. sub-
prime residential mortgage wvariable loan rate resets. The ASF
Frammework requires a borrower and its U.S. subprimne residential
mortgage variable loan to meet specific conditions to qualify for a
modification under which the qualifying borrower’s loan’s interest
rate would be kept at the existing rate, generally for five years fol-
lowing an upcoming reset period. The ASF Framework is focused
on U.S. subprime first-lien adjustable-rate residential mortgages that
have an initial fixed interest rate peried of 36 months or less, are
included in securitized pools, were originared berween January 1,
2005 and July 31, 2007, and have an initial interest rate reset date
between January 1, 2008 and July 31, 2010 {defined as “Segment 2
Subprime ARM Loans™ within the ASF Framework).

On January 8, 2008, the SEC% Office of Chief Accountant (the
“QCA”) issued a letter (the “OCA Letter”) addressing accounting issues
that may be raised by the ASF Framework. Specifically, the OCA Letter
expressed the view that if a Segment 2 Subprime ARM Loan is nodified
pursuant to the ASF Framework and that loan could legally be modified,
the OCA will not object to continued status of the transteree as a QSPE

under SFAS 140. Concurrent with the issuance of the OCA Letter, the

OCA requested the FASD to immediately address the issues thar have
arisen in the application of the QSPE guidance in SFAS 140. Any loan
modifications we make in accordance with the ASF Framework will not
have a material affect on our accounting for U.S. subprime residential
mortgage loans nor securitizations or retained interests in securitizations
of ULS. subprime residential mortgage loans,

Basel 1l
the SEC as a consolidated supervised entity (“CSE™), This supervision

As of December 1, 2005, Holdings became regulated by

imposes group-wide supervision and examination by the SEC, mini-
mum capital requirements on a consolidated basis and reporting (includ-
ing reporting of capital adequacy measurement consistent with the
standards adopted by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision) and
notification requirenients.

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision published an
updated framework to calculate risk-based capital requirements in June
2004 (“Basel 117). In September 2006, U.S. federal bank regulators
announced their intent to implement Basel [ in the US. On
December 10, 2007, the U.S, federal bank regulators published final
rules implementing the Basel 11 framework for the caleulaton of
minimum capital requirements. Within the minimum capital require-
ments, or “first pillar” of Basel 11, the federal rules deal only with the
capital risk or banking book component. U.S. federal bank regulators
have indicated that final rules to update market risk or trading book
rules will be issued in the near future.

Basel IT is meant to be applied on a consolidated basis for banking
institutions or bank halding companies that have consolidated total assets
of $250 billion or more and/or consolidated total on-balance-sheet
foreign exposure of $10 billion or more, Basel I provides two broad
methods for calculating minimumn capital requirements related to credit

risk (i) a standardized approach that relies heavily upon external credit
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assessments by major independent credit rating agencies; and (i) an
internal ratings-based approach that permits the use of internal rating
assessments in determining required capital.

The time frame in which Basel I requirements would become
effective for U.S. banking institutions or bank holding companies is
contemplated to be (i} one or mere years of parallel calculation, in which

an entdty would remain subject to existing risk-based capital rules but

also calculate its risk-based capital requirements under the new Basel 11
framework; and (i) two or three transition years, during which an entity
would be subject to the new framework and an entity’s minimum risk-
based capital would be subject to a floor.

The Basel Il framtework is anticipated to impact our minimum
capital requirements and reporting {including reporting of capital ade-

quacy measurements) as a CSE.

NOTE 2 BUSINESS SEGMENTS

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We organize our business operations into three business segments:
Capital Markets, Invesiment Banking and Investment Management.

Our business segnient information for the periods ended in 2007,
2006 and 2005 is prepared using the following methodologies and gen-
erally represents the information that is relied upon by management in
its decision-making processes:

B Revenues and expenses directly associated with each business
segment are included in determining income before taxes.

B Revenues and expenses not directly associated with specific busi-
1EsS SeZMEns are allocated based on the most relevant measures
applicable, including each segment’s revenues, headcount and
other factors.

® Net revenues include allocations of interest revenue, interest
expense and revaluation of certain long-term and short-term
debt measured at fair value to securities and other positions in
relation to the cash generated by, or funding requirements of, the
underlying positions,

8 Business segment assets include an allocation of indirect corpo-
rate assets that have been fully allocated to our segments, generally
based on each segment’s respective headcount figures.

Capital Markets Our Capital Markets segment is divided into
two components:

Fixed Income  We make markets in and trade municipal and public
sector instruments, interest rate and credit products, mortgage-related
securities and loan products, currencies and commodities, We also origi-
nate mortgages and we structure and enter into a variety of derivative
transactions. We also provide research covering economic, quantitative,
strategic, credit, relative value, index and portfolio analyses, Additionally,
we provide financing, advice and servicing activities to the hedge fund

community, known as prinie brokerage services. We engage in certain

AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

proprietary trading activities and in principal investing in real estate that
are managed within this component.

Eguities We make markets in and trade equities and equity-related
products and enter into a variety of derivative transactions. We also pro-
vide equity-related research coverage as well as execution and clearing
activities for cliemts. Through our capital markets prime services, we
provide prime brokerage services to the hedge fund community. We also
engage in certain proprietary trading activides and private equity and
other related investments.

Investment Banking We take an integrated approach to client
coverage, organizing bankers into industry, product and geographic
groups within our Investment Banking segment. Business activities
provided to corporations and governments wotldwide can be sepa-
rated into;

Giobal Finance  We serve our clients’ capital raising needs through
underwriting, private placements, leveraged finance and other activities
associated with debt and equity products.

Advisory Serviees We provide business advisory services with
respect to mergers and acquisitions, divestitures, restructurings, and other
corporate activities,

Investment Management The Investment Management business
segment consists of;

Asset Management We provide customized investment manage-
ment services for high net worth clients, mutual funds and other small
and middle market institutional investors. Asset Management also serves
as general partner for private equity and other alternative investment
partnerships and has minority stake investrnents in cerwain alternative
investment managers.

Private Investment Management We provide investment, wealth
advisory and capital markets execution services to high net worth and

nuddle market institutional clients.
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS

CAPITAL INVESTMENT INVESTMENT

IN MILLIONS MARKETS BANKING MANAGEMENT TOTAL
KT AND FOR THE YEAR EXDED NOVEMBER 30, 2007
Gross revenues $51,897 $ 3,903 $ 3,203 $59,003
[nrerest expense 39,640 — 106 39,746
Net revenues 12,257 3,903 3,097 19,257
Depreciation and amortizatien expense 432 48 97 577
Other expenses 7,626 2,832 2,209 12,667
Income before taxes 5 4,199 $ 1,023 $ M9 $ 6,013
Segment assets (in billions) $ 680.5 $ 14 $ %2 $ 691.1
AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30, 2006
Gross revenues $41.074 $ 3,160 $ 2475 %46,709
Interest expense 29,008 — 58 29,126
Net revenues 12,006 3,160 2,417 17,583
Depreciation and amortization expense 77 42 95 514
Other expenses 6,909 2,458 1,797 11,164
Income before taxes $ 4,720 $ 660 £ 525 $ 5,905

$ 4935 $ 13 § 87 $ 503.5
AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30, 2005
Gross revenues $27.545 $ 2,894 $ 1,981 $32,420
Interest expense 17,738 — 52 17,790
Net revenues 9,807 2,894 1,929 $14,630
Depreciation and amortization expense 308 36 82 426
Orther expenses 5,927 2,003 1,445 9,375
Income before taxes & 3572 § 855 $ 402 $ 4,829
Segment assets {in billions) § 4019 $ 1.2 $§ 7.0 $ 410.1

Segment assets (in billions)
NET REVENUES BY GEOGRAPHIC REGICN
We organize our operations into three geographic regions:
® Europe and the Middle East, inclusive of our operations in Russia
and Turkey;
B Asia-Pacific, inclusive of our operations in Australia and India;
and
W the Americas.

Net revenues presented by geographic region are based upon the

location of the senior coverage banker or invesunent advisor in the case

of Investment Banking or Asset Management, respectively, or where

the position was risk managed within Capital Markets and Private

" [nvestment Management. Certain revenues associated with U.S, products

and services that result from relationships with international clients have
been classified as international revenues using an allocation precess, In
addition, expenses comntain certain internal allocations, such as regional
transfer pricing, which are centrally managed. The methodology for

allocating the Firm’s revenues and expenses to geographic regions is

dependent on the judginent of management.
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The following presents, in management’s judgment, a reasonable representation of each region’s contribution to our operating results.

GEOGRAPHIC OPERATING RESULTS

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30,

IN MILLIONS 2007 2008 2005
EWROPE AND THE MIDDLE EAST
Net revenues 5 6,296 3 15306 $ 3601
Non-tnterest expense 4,221 3,303 2,689
incoine before taxes 2,075 1,233 912
ASIA-PACIFIC
Net revenues 3,145 1.809 1,650
Non-interest expense 1,831 1.191 872
income before taxes 1,314 618 778
AMERICAS
Us. 9,634 11,116 9,270
Orther Americas 182 122 109
Net revenues 9,816 11,238 9,379
Nen-interest expense 7,192 7,184 6,240
Income before taxes 2,624 4.054 3,139
TOTAL
Net revenues 19,257 [7.583 14,630
Non-interest expense 13,244 11,678 9,801
Income before raxes $ 6,013 % 5,905 $ 4,829

NOTE 3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OTHER INVENTORY POSITIONS

Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned and Financial instruments and other inventory positions sold but not yet purchased

were comptised of the following:

OWNED SOLD BUT ROT YET PURCHASED

IN MiLLIONS NOV 30, 2007 NOY 30, 2006 KOY 30, 2007 NOV 30, 2008
Mortgage and asset-backed securities $ 89,106 $ 57.726 $ 32 $ 80
Government and agencies 40,892 47,293 71,813 70,453
Corporate debt and other 54,098 43,764 6,759 8.836
Corporate equities 58,521 43,087 39,080 28,464
Real estate held for sale 21,917 9,408 — —
Commercial paper and other money market instruments 4,000 2,622 12 110
Derivatives and other contractual agreements 44,595 22,096 31,621 18,017

$313,129 $226,5%6 $149,617 $125,960

Mortgage and asset-backed securities Mortgage and asset-

backed securities include residential and comumercial whole loans and

interests in residential and commercial mortgage-backed securitizations.

Also included within Mortgage and asset-backed securides are securities
whose cash flows are based on pools of assets in bankruptey-remote
entities, or collateralized by cash flows from a specified pool of underly-
ing assets. The pools of assets may include, but are not limited to mort-

gages, receivables and loans.

It is our intent to sell through securitization or syndication activi-
ties, residential and commercial mortgage whole loans we originate, as
well as those we acquire in the secondary market. We originated approx-
imately $47 billion and §60 billion of residential mortgage loans in 2007
and 2006, respectively, and approximately $60 billion and $34 billion of
comumercial mortgage loans in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Balances reported for Mortgage and asset-backed securities

include approximately $12.8 billion and $5.5 billion in 2007 and 20446,




respectively, of loans transferred to securitization vehicles where such
transfers were accounted for as secured financings rather than sales
under SFAS 140, The securitization vehicles issued securities that were
distributed to investors. We do not consider ourselves to have cco-
nomic exposure to the underlying assets in those securitization vehi-

cles. For further discussion of our securitization activities, see Note 6,
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“Securitizations and Special Purpose Entities,” to the Consolidated
Financial Statenents.

I 2007 and 2006, our inventory of Mortgage and asset-backed
securities, excluding those that were accounted for as financings
rather than sales under SFAS 140, generally included the following

types of assets;

IN MILLIONS

NOYEMBER 30, 2007 NOYEMBER 30, 2006

RESIDENTIAL AND ASSET BACKED:

Whole loans §$19,587 $18,749
Securides! 16,488 7,923
Servicing 1,183 829
Other 86 6
537,344 §27.517

COMMERCIAL:
Whole loans 526,200 $22,426
Securices™ 12,180 1,948
Other 558 351
$38,938 $24,725
Tota! §76,282 52,242

O Includes approximately $7.1 billion of investment grade retained interests in securitizations and approximately $1.5 billior of non-invesiment grade retained interests in securitizaticns
at Movember 30, 2007. Incledes approximately $5.3 billion of investment grade retained interests in securitizations and approximately $2.0 billion of non-investment grade retained

interests in securitizations at November 30, 2006,

@ incledes approximately $2.4 billion of investment grade retained interests in securilizations and approximatety $0.03 diltion of non-investment grade retained interests in securitizations
at November 30, 2007. Includes approximately $0.6 billion of investment grade retained interesls in securitizations at November 30, 2006.

In 2007 and 2006, our portfolio of U.S. subprime residential mortgages, a component of our Mortgage and asset-backed securities

inventory, were:!

IN MILLIONS

NOVEMBER 30, 2007 NOVEMBER 30, 2008

U.S. residential subprime mortgages

Whale loans™ $3,226 $4.978
Retained interests in securitizations 1,995 1.817
Other 55 54
Total $5,276 $6,849

U Excludes loans which were accounted for as financings rather than sales under SFAS 140 which were approximately $2.9 billion and $3.0 billion at November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Government and agencies Included within these balances are
instruments issued by a national government or agency thereof, denom-
inated in the country’s own currency or in a foreign currency (e.g.,
sovereign) as well as municipals.

Corparate debt and other Longer-term debt instruments, gener-
ally with a maturity date falling at least a year after their issue date, not
issued by governments and may or may not be traded on major

exchanges, are included within this component.

Non-derivative, physical commaodities are reported as a component
of this line item and were approximately $308 million in 2007, In 2006,
we did not have any non-derivative, physical commodites.

Corporate equities  Balances generally reflect held positions in any
instrument that has an equity ownership component, such as equity-
related positions, public ownership equity securities that are listed on
public exchanges, private equity-related positions and non-public own-

ership equity securities that are not listed on a public exchange.

L

We generally define U.S. subprime residential mortgage loans as those associated with borrowers having a credit score in the range of 620 or lower using the Fair Isaac Corporation’s statistical

moded, o having oiher negative factors within their credit profites. Prior fo its closure in our third quarter, we originated subprime residential mortgage loans through BNC Mortgage LLC (“BNC™), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of our U.S. regufated thrift Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB. BNC served borrowers with subprime quadifying credit profiles but also served borrowers with stronger credit history
as a result of broker relationships or product offerings and such loans arg also included in our subprime business activity. For residential mortgage lcans purchased from other mortgage originators,
we use a similar subprime definition as for our originaticn activity. Additionally, secand lien loans are included in our subprime business activity.
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Real estate held for sale  R.eal estate held for sale of $21.9 billion
and $9.4 billion at Nevember 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, refleces
our investments in parcels of land and related physical property. We invest
in entites whose underlying assets are Real estate held for sale. We con-
solidate those entities in which we are the primary beneficiary in accor-
dance with FIN 46(R). We do not consider ourselves to have economic
exposure to the total underlying assets in those entities. Qur net invest-
ment positions related to Real estate held for sale, excluding the amounts
that have been consolidated but for which we do not consider ourselves
to have economic exposure, was §12.8 billion and $5.9 billion at
November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Commercial paper and other money market instruments
Commercial paper and other money market instruments include short-
term obligations, generally issued by financial institutions or corpora-
tions, with maturities within a calendar year of the financial statement
date. These instruments may include promissory notes, drafts, checks and

certificates of deposic.

Derivatives and other contractual agreements These balances
generally represent future commitments to exchange interest payment
streams or currencies based on contract or notional amounts or to pur-
chase or sell other financial instruments or physical assets ar specified
terms on a specifted date. Both over-the-counter and exchange-traded
derivatives are reflected.

The following table presents the fair value of Derivatives and
other contractual agreements at November 30, 2007 and 2006. Assets
included in the table represent unrealized gains, net of unrealized
losses, for situations in which we have a master netting agreement.
Similarly, liabalities represent net amowits owed to counterparties. The
fair value of derivative contracts represertts our net receivable/payable
for derivative financial instruments before consideration of securities
collateral. Asset and liabilities are presented below net of cash collaterat
of approximately $19.7 billion and $17.5 billion, respectively, at
November 30, 2007 and $11.1 billion and $8.2 billion, respectively, at
November 30, 2006.

FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVES AND OTHER CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS

ROVEMBER 38, 2007 KOVEMBER 30, 2006

[N MILLIONS ASSETS LMBILITIES ASSETS LIABILITIES
Over-the-Counter: 'V
Interest rate, currency and credit default swaps and options §22,028 $10,915 $ 5,034 § 5,691
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options 2,479 2,888 1,792 2,145
Other fixed income securities

contracts (including TBAs and Fon'mrds) 8,450 6,024 4,308 2,604
Equity contracts {including equiry swaps,

warrants and options) 8,357 4,279 4,739 4,744
Exchange Traded:
Equity contracts (including equity swaps,

warrants and options) 3,281 2,515 3,223 2,833

§$44,595 $31,621 $22.696 $18,017

" Our net credit exposure for OTC contracts is $34.6 billion and $15.6 billion at November 3@, 2007 and 2006, respectively, representing the fair value of OTC cortracts in a net receivable

position, atter consideraticn of collateral.

At November 30, 2007, our Derivatives and other contractual
agreements inclede approximately $1.5 billion of both commodity
derivative assets and liabilities. At November 30, 2006, our commodicy
derivative assets and liabilities were $268 million and liabilities of $277
million, respectively.

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

A substantial portion of our securities transactions are collateral-
ized and are executed with, and on behalf of, financial institutions,
which includes other brokers and dealers, commercial banks and insti-
tutional clients. Qur exposure to credit risk associated with the non-
performance of these clients and counterparties in fulfilling cheir
contractual obligations with respect to various types of transactions

can be directly affected by volatile or illiquid trading markets, which

may impair the ability of clients and counterparties to satisfy their
obligations to us.

Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned include
U.S. government and agency securities, and securities issued by non-U.S.
governments, which in the aggregate represented 6% and 9% of total
assets at November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. [n addition, collateral
held for resale agreements represented approximately 24% and 23% of
total assets at November 30, 2007 and 2000, respectively, and primarily
consisted of securities issued by the U.S. government, federal agencies or
non-U.S, governments. Qur most significant industry concentration is
financial institutions, which includes other brokers and dealers, com-
mercial banks and institutional clients. This concentration arises in the

normal course of business.
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NOTE 4 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned,
excluding Real estate held for sale, and Financial instrunents and other
inventory positicns sold but not vet purchased, are presented at fair value.
In addition, certain long and short-term borrowing obligations, princi-
pally certain hybrid financial instruments, and certain deposit liabilities
at banks, are presented at fair value.

Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset could be
exchanged in a current transaceion between knowledgeable, willing par-
ties. A liability’s fair value is defined as the amount that would be paid to
transter the liability to a new obligor, not the amount that would be paid
to sertle the liability with the creditor. Where available, fair value is based
on observable market prices or parameters or derived from such prices
or parameters. Where observable prices or inputs are not avatlable, valu-
ation models are applied. These valuation techniques involve some level
of management estimation and judgment, the degree of which is depen-
dent on the price transparency for the instruments or market and the
instruments’ complexity.

Beginning December 1, 2006, assets and habilities recorded at fair
value in the Consolidated Statement of Financiat Condition are catego-
rized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used
to measure their fair value. Hierarchical levels — defined by SFAS 157
and directly related to the amount of subjectivity associated with the
inputs to fair valuation of these assets and Habilities — are as follows:

Level I Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markers for

identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date,

The rypes of assets and Liabilities carried at Level | fair value gener-
ally are G-7 government and agency securities, equities listed in
active markets, investments in publicly traded mutual funds with
quoted market prices and listed derivatives.
Level 1T Inputs {other than quoted prices included in Level 1) are
either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability
through correlation with market data at the measurement date and
for the duration of the instrument’s anticipated life.
Fair valued assets and HNabilities that are generally included in this
category are non-G-7 government securities, municipal bonds, cer-
tain hybrid financial instruments, certain morrgage and asset backed
securities, certain corporate debt, certain commitments and guaran-
tees, cettain private equity invesiments and certain derivadves.
Levelt HT Inpus reflect management’s best estimate of what market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measure-
ment date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the vatua-
tion technique and the risk inherent in the mputs to the model,
Generally, assets and liabilities carried at fair value and included in
this caregory are certain tmortgage and asset-backed securities, cer-
win corporate debt, certain private equity imvestments, certain
commitments and guarancees and cereain derivatives.
FAIR VALUE ON A RECURRING BASIS
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are
categorized in the tables below based upon the lowest level of significant

input to the valuations.

ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE AS OF NOVEMBER 3D, 2007

N MILLIONS LEVELL LEYEL I LEYEL tlL TOTAL
Morrgage and asser-backed securities'™ $ 240 $ 63,672 $ 25,194 $ 89,106
Government and agencies 25,393 15,499 —_— 40,892
Corporate debt and other 324 50,692 3,082 54,098
Corporate equitics 39,336 11,054 8,131 58,521
Commercial paper and other money market inscruments 4,000 — —_ 4,000
Derivative assets® 3,281 35,742 5,572 44,595

$ 72,574 $176,659 S 41,979 $291,212

™ Ancludes loans transferred to securitization vehicles where such transters were atcounted for as secured financings rather than sales under SFAS 140, The securitization vehicles issued
securities that were disiributed to investors. We do not consider ourselves to have economic exposu¥e te the underlying assels in those securitization vehicles. The leans are reflected
as an asset within Mortgages and assei-backed positions and the proceeds received from the transfer are reflected as a liability within Othes secured borrowings. These loans are

classified as Level 1l assets.

W Derivative assets are presented on a net basis by level. Inter- and intra-level cash collateral, cross-product and counterparty netting at November 30, 2007 was approximately $38.8 billion.
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LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE AS OF NGVEMBER 30, 2007

IN MILLIONS LEVEL | LEVEL LY LEVEL It T01AL
Mortgage and asset-backed positions $ _ § 33 5 —_ L X 7]
Government and agencies 67,484 4,329 _ 71,813
Corporate debt and other 22 6,737 — 6,759
Corporate equities 39,080 — — 39,080
Commercial paper and other money market instruments 12 — — 12
Derivative liabilities " 2,515 26,011 3,095 31,621

5109,113 §37,409 S 3,095 5149,617

I Degivative liabilities are presented on a net basis by level, Inter- and intra-tevel cash collateral, cross-product and counterparty netting ai November 30, 2007 was approximately $36.6 billion,

LEVEL Il GA'NS AND LOSSES

Net revenues (both realized and unrealized) for Level Il financial
instruments are a component of Principal transactions in the Consolidated
Statement of Incormne. Net realized gains associated with Level 11 finan-
cial instruments were approximately $1.3 billion for the fiscal year ended
November 30, 2007. The net unrealized loss on Level [ non-derivative
financial instruments was approximately $2.5 billion for the fiscal year
ended November 30, 2007, primarily consisting of unrealized losses from
mortgage and asser-backed positions. The net unrealized gain on Level
111 derivative financial instruments was approximately $1.6 billion for the
fiscal year ended November 30, 2007, primarily consisting of unrealized

gains from equity and interest rate-related derivative positions. Level 111

financial instruments may be economically hedged with financal instru-
ments not classified as Level 111: therefore, gains or losses associated with
Level 111 financial instruments are offset by gains or losses associated with
financial instruments classified in other levels of the fair value hierarchy.

The table presented below summarizes the change in balance sheet
carrying values associated with Level 111 financial instruments during the
fiscal year ended November 30, 2007. Caution should be utifized when
evaluating reported net revenues for Level [11 Financial instruments. The
values presented exclude economic hedging activities that may be trans-
acted in instruments categorized within other fair value hierarchy levels.
Actual net revenues associated with Level [T financial instruments inclu-

sive of hedging activities could differ materially.

MORTEAGE AND ASSET- CORPORATE CORPORATE
IN MILLIONS BACKED POSITIONS  DEBT AND OTHER EQUITIES  NET DERIVATIVES TOTAL
Balance ar December 1, 2006 $ 8,575 § 1,924 '$ 2,427 $ 686 $13,612
Net Paymenss, Purchases and Sales 6,914 472 4,567 376 12,329
Net Transfers In/(Out) 11,373 567 687 (90) 12,537
Gains/ (Losses)
Realized 995 110 309 (78) 1,336
Unrealized {2,663) 9 141 1,583 (930}
Balance at November 30, 2007 $25,194 § 3,082 5 8,131 § 2,477 538,884

W Realized o5 unveatized gains/{losses) from changes in values of Level il Financial instruments represent gains/lesses) from changes in values of those Financial instruments only for

{he period{s) in which the instruments were classified as Level IIk.

The table presented below summarizes the change in balance sheet
carrying value associated with Level I financial instruments during each
quarterly period in the 2007 fiscal year. Caution should be utilized when

evaluating reported net revenues for Level 111 financial instruments, The

values presented exclude economic hedging activities that niay be trans-
acted in instruments categorized within other fair value hierarchy levels.
Actual et revenues associated with Level 111 financial instruments inclu-

sive of hedging activities could differ marerially.
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MORTEAGE AND ASSET- CORPORATE CORPBRATE
IN MILLIONS BACKED POSITIONS ~ DEBT AND DTHER EQINTIES  NET DERIVATIVES TOTAL
Balance at December 1, 2006 £ 8575 $ 1,924 § 2,427 $ 686 $13.612
Net Payments, Purchases and Sales 2,349 428 210 283 3,270
Net Transfers In/{Out) 137 —_ — —_ 137
Gains/ (Lossesy!
Realized 176 19 21 7 223
Unrealized {80) 13 13 158 104
Balance at February 28, 2007 11,157 2,384 2,671 1,134 17,346
Net Payments, Purchases and Sales 1,677 50 972 {3} 2,693
Net Transfers In/(Cut) {101) 95 352 39 385
Gains/(Losses) ()
Realized 274 3 5 48 358
Unrealized (131) (11) 135 65 58
Batance at May 31, 2007 12,876 2,549 4,135 1,280 20,840
Net Payments, Purchases and Sales 1,674 (299) 446 (39) 1,762
Net Transters In/{Our) 9,856 (144 232 £160) 9,784
Cains/{Losses)
Realized 210 7 37 {4} 250
Unrealized (825) 19 62 543 (201)
Balance at August 31, 2007 23,791 2,132 4,912 1,600 32,435
Net Payments, Purchases and Sales 1,213 292 2,939 157 4,601
Net Transfers In/(Cur) 1,480 615 143 31 2,229
Gains/(Losses)t)
Realized 255 47 227 (166) 363
Unrealized (1,545) (4} (50) 855 {744)
Balance at November 30, 2007 $25,194 $ 3,082 § 8,131 $ 2,477 $38,884

¥ Realized or unreafized gains/(losses) from changes in values of Level Il Financial instruments represent gains/{losses) {rom changes in values of those Financiat instruments only for

the period(s) in which the instruments were classified as Level JII.

FAIR VALUE OPTION

SFAS 159 permits certain financiat assets and liabilities to be measured
at fair value, using an instrument-by-instrument election. Changes in the fair
value of the financial assets and liabilities for which the fair value option was
made are reflected in Principal transactions in our Consolidated Statement
of Income. As indicated above in the fair value hierarchy tables and further
discussed i Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Polictes,
Accounting and Regulatory Developmens—SFAS 159" we elected to
account for the following financial assets and habilities at fair value:

Certain hyhrid financial instruments These instcuments are pri-
marily structured notes that are risk managed on a fair value basis and
within our Capital Market activities and for which hedge accounting
under SFAS No. 133, Acounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Adivities, had been complex to mainwin. Changes in the fair value of
these liabilities, excluding any Interest income or Interest expense, are
reflected in Principal transactions in our Consolidated Statement of
Income. We calenlate the impact of our own credit spread on hybrid
financial instruments carried at fair value by discounting futare cash
flows at a rate which incorporates observerable changes in our credit
spread. The estimated changes inn the fair value of these liabilities were

gains of approximately $1.3 billion, atributable to the widening of our

credit spreads during fiscal year 2007. As of November 30, 2007, the
aggregate principal amount of hybrid financial instruments classified as
short-term borrowings and measured ac fair value exceeded the fair
value by approximately $152 million. Additionally and as of November
30, 2007, the aggregate principal amount of hybrid financial instruments
classified as long-term borrowings and measured at fair value exceeded
the fair value by approximately $2.1 billion.

Other secured borrowings Certain liabilities recorded as Other
secured borrowings include the proceeds received from transferring
loans to securitization vehicles where such transfers were accounted for
as secured financings rather than sales under SFAS 140. The transferred
loans are reflected as an asset within Mortgages and asset-backed posi-
tions and also accounted for at fair value and categorized as Level Il in
the fair value hierarchy. We do not consider ourselves to have economic
exposure to the underlying assets i these securitization vehicles. The
change in fair value attributable to the observable impact from instru-
ment-specific eredit risk was not material 1o our results of operations.

Deposit liabilities at banks We clected to account for certain
deposits at our U.S. banking subsidiaries at fair value. The change in fair
value attributable to the observable impact from inscrument-specific

credit risk was not material to our results of operations. As of
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November 30, 2007, the difference between the fair value and the
aggregate principal amount of deposit liabilities at banks carried at fair

value was not material,

Liabilities for which the fair value option was elected are catego-
rized in the table below based upon the lowest level of significant input

to the valuations,

AT FAIR VALUE AS OF NOYEMBER 30, 2007

IN MILLIONS LEVELI LEVEL 1l LEVEL Il TOTAL
Certain hybrid financial instruments:
Short-term borrowings — % 9,035 — % 9,035
Long-term borrowings — $27,204 — 527,204
Other secured borrowings — $ 9,149 — S 5,149
Deposit Labilities at banks —_ $15,986 —_ $15,986

FAIR VALUE ON A NONRECURRING BASIS

The Company uses fair value measurements on a nonrecurring
basis in its assesstnent of assets classified as Goodwill and other inventory
positions classified as Real estate held for sale. These assets and inventory
positions are recorded at fair value initially and assessed for impairment
periodically thereafter. {During the fiscal year ended Novemnber 30, 2007,
the carrying amownt of Goodwill assets were compared to their fair
value, No change in carrying amount resulted in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 142, Geodwill and Other Invangible Asscts,
Additionally and on a nonrecurring basis during the fiscal year ended
November 30, 2007, the carrying amount of Real estate held for sale
positions were compared to their fair value less cost o sell, No change
in carrying amount resulted in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate, SFAS No. 144, Acounring for
hupairmient or Disposal of Long Lived Assers, and other relevant accounting
guidance. The lowest level of inputs for fair value measurenents for
Goodwill and Real estate held for sale are Level 111

For additional information regarding Goodwill, see Note 7,
“Identifiable [ntingible Assets and Goodwill” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. For additional information regarding our inven-
tory of Real estate held for sale, see Note 3, Financial Instruments and
Other inventory Positions.” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

VALUATION TECHNIQUES

In accordance with SFAS 157, valuation techniques used for assets
and habilities accounted for at fair value are generally categorized into
three types:

Market Approach Marker approach valuation techniques use
prices and other relevant information from market transactions involving
identical or comparable assets or liabilities, Valuation techniques consis-
tent with the market approach include comparables and matrix pricing.
Comparables use market multiples, which mighe lie in ranges with a
different multiple for each comparable. The selection of where within

the range the appropriate multple falls requires judgment, considering

both quantitative and qualitative factors specific to the measurement.
Matrix pricing is a mathematical technique used principally to value
certain securities without relying exclusively on queted prices for the
specific securities but comparing the securities to benchmark or compa-
rable securities.

Ingome Approach  Income approach valuation techniques convert
future amounts, such as cash flows or earnings, to a single present
amount, or a discounted amount. These techniques rely on current mar-
ket expectations of future amounts. Examples of income approach valu-
ation techniques include present value techniques; option-pricing
models, binomial or lattice models that incorporate present value tech-
niques; and the multi-period excess earnings method.

Cost Approach Cost approach valuation techniques are based
upon the amount that, at present, would be required to replace the
service capacity of an asset, or the current replacement cost. That is,
from the perspective of a market participant {seller), the price chat
would be received for the asset is determined based on the cost to a
market participant (buyer) to acquire or construct a substitute asset of
comparable utility.

The three approaches described within SFAS 157 are consistent
with generally accepted valuation methodologies. While all three
approaches are not applicable to all assets or liabilities accounted for at
fair value, where appropriate and possible, one or more valuation tech-
niques ntay be used. The selection of the valuation method(s) to .app[y
considers the definition of an exit price and the nature of the asset or
fiability being valued and significant expertise and judgment is required.
For assets and liabilitics accounted for ar fair value, excluding Goodwill
and Real estate held for sale, valuation techniques are generally a com-
bination of the market and income approaches. Goodwill and Real
estate held for sale valuation techniques generally combine income and
cost approaches. For the fiscal year ended November 30, 2007, the
application of valuation techniques applied to similar assets and liabili-

ties has been consistent.
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NOTE 5 SECURITIES RECEIVED AND PLEDGED AS COLLATERAL

We enter into secured borrowing and lending transactions to
finance inventory positions, obtain securities for settlement and meet
clients’ needs. We receive collateral in connection with resale agreements,
securities borrowed transactions, borrow/pledge transactions, client mar-
gin loans and derivative transactions. We generally are permitted to sell
or repledge these securities held as collateral and uwse them to secure
repurchase agreements, enter into securities lending transactions or
deliver to counterparties to cover short positions.

At November 3(), 2007 and 2006, the fair value of securities received
as collateral that we were permitted to sell or repledge was approximacely

$798 billion and $621 billion, respectively. The fair value of securities

received as collateral that we sold or repledged was approximately $725
billion and $568 billion at November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

We also pledge our own assets, primarily to collateralize certain
financing arrangements. These pledged securities, where the counter-
pacty has the right by contract or custom to sell or repledge the financial
instriments, were approximately $63 billion and $43 billion at November
30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The carrying value of Financial instru-
ments and other inventory positions owned that have been pledged or
othenvise encumbered to counterparties where those counterparties do
not have the right to sell or repledge, was approximartely $87 billion and
$75 billion at November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

NOTE 6 SECURITIZATIONS AND

Generally, residential and commercial mortgages, home equity
loans, municipal and corporate bonds, and lease and trade receivables
are financial assets that we securitize through SPEs. We may continue
to hold an interest in the financial assets securitized in the form of the
securities created in the transaction, including residual interests
(“interests in securitizations”} established to facilitate the securitiza-
tion transaction. Interests in securitizations are presented within

Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned (primarily

SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITIES

in mortgages and asset-backed securities and government and agen-
ciesy in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition. For
additional information regarding the accounting for securitization
transactions, sec Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies—Consolidation Accounting Policies,” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

For the periods ended November 30, 2007 and 2006, we securi-

tized the following financial assets:

YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 320,

IN MILLIGNS nn 2008
Reesidential mortgages $100,053 $145.860
Commercial inorgages 19,899 18,961
Municipal and other asset-backed financial instruments 5,532 3,624
Total $125,484 $168,445

At November 30, 2007 and 2006, we had approximately $1.6
billion and $2.0 billion, respectively, of non-investment grade interests
from out securitization activities.

The table below presents: the fair value of our interests in securi-
tizations at November 30, 2007 and 2006; model assumptions of mar-
ket factors, sensitivity of valuation models to adverse changes in the
assumptions, as well as cash flows received on such interests in the
securitizations. The sensitivity analyses presented below are hypotheti-
cal and should be vsed with caution since the stresses are performed

without considering the effect of hedges, which serve to reduce our

actual risk, We mitigate the risks associated with the below interests in
securitizations through varicus risk managemenc dynamic hedging
strategies. These results are calculated by stressing a particular economic
assumption independent of changes in any other assumprion (as
required by U.S. GAAP). In reality, changes in one factor often result
in changes in another factor which may counteract or niagnify the
effect of the changes outlined in the tble below. Changes in the fair
value based on a 10% or 20% variation in an assumption should not be
extrapolated because the relationship of the change in the assumption

to the change in fair value may not be linear.

101



102 Lenman BrotHERS 2007 ANnual REPORT
Netes to Counsoliduted Finangial Staterents

SECURITIZATION ACTIVITY

NOVEMBER 30, 2007 NOVEMBER 30, 2006
RESIDENTIAL MORTEAGES ) RESIDENTIAL MBRTEAGES
KON- NOH-
[NVESTMENT IKVESTMENT INVESTMENT INVESTMENT

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS ERADE™ GRADE OTHER™ GRADE™ GRADE OTHER'?
[nterests in securitizations (in biltions) 741 51.6 $2.6 $33 $2.0 $0.6
Weighted-average life (years) $ 4 6 S 6 5
Average constant prepayment rate 12.4% 17.0% - 27.2% 29.1% —

Effect of 10% adverse change § 55 $ 8 $ — &2 § 61 § —

Effect of 209 adverse change s111 $10 § — $ 35 8110 $—
Weighted-average credit loss assumption 0.5% 2.4% 0.7% 0.6% 1.3% —

Effect of 10% adverse change $107 $104 $ 6 $ 70 $109 $§ —

Effecr of 20% adverse change 8197 8201 $12 $131 $196 $ —
Weighted-average discount rate 7.7% 19.4% 7.3% 7.2% 18.4% 5.8%

Effect of 10% adverse change $245 $53 $ 84 $124 $76 $ 13

Effect of 208 adverse change 5489 $102 $166 $232 $147 $22

" The amount of investment-grade interests in securitizations retated to agency collateralized mortgage obligations was approximately $2.5 billion and $1.9 billion at Movember 30, 2007
and 2006, respectively.

@ At November 30, 2007, cther interests in securitizations included approximately $2.4 billion of investment grade commercial mortgages, approximately $26 milfion of non-investment

prade commercial mortgages and the remainder relates to municipal products. At November 30, 2006, other interests in securitizations included approximately $0.8 bilion of investment
grade comeercial martgages.

CASH FLOWS RECEIVED ON INTERESTS IN SECURITIZATIONS

NOYEMBER 30, 2007 NOVEMBER 30, 2006
RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGES RESIDENTIAL MORTGAGES
NON- NON-
. INVESTMENT  INVESTMENT INYESTMENT INVESTMENT
IN MILLIONS ERADE ERAJE OTHER GRADE GRADE OTHER
$898 $633 §130 $664 £216 § 59

Mortgage servicing righls Mortgage servicing righs (*MSRs™)  Condition. Effective with the adoption of SFAS 156 as of the beginning
represent the right to future cash flows based upon contractual servicing  of our 2006 fiscal year, MSRs are carried at fair value, with changes in fair
fees for mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities. Qur MSRs  value reported in earnings in the period in which the change occurs. At
generally arise from the securitization of residential mortgage loans that  November 30,2007 and 2006, the Company had MSRs of approximately
we originate. MSRSs are presented within Financial instrumments and other  $1.2 billion and $829 million, respectively. Qur MSRs activities for the

inventory positions owned on the Consolidared Statement of Financial  year ended November 30, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

YEAR ENDED NOYEMBER 30,

IN MILLIDRS 2007 2006

Balance, beginning of period S 829 § 5061

Addinons, net : 368 507
Changes in fair value:

Paydowns/servicing fees (209) (192)

Reesulting from changes in valuation assumptions 195 (80)

Change due to SFAS 156 adoption — 33

Balance, end of period $1,183 $ 829




The determination of MSRs fair value is based upon a discounted
cash flow valuation model. Cash flow and prepayment assumptions used
in our discounted cash flow model are: based on empirical data drawn
from the historical performance of our MSRKs; consistent with assump-
tions used by muarket participants valuing similar MSRs; and from data
obunined on the performance of similar MSRs. These variables can, and

generally will, vary from quarter to quarter as market conditions and
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projected interest rates change. For that reason, risk related to MSRs
directly correlates to changes in prepayment speeds and discount rates.
We mitigate this risk by entering into hedging transactions.

The following table shows the nain assumptions used to determine
the fair value of our MSRs at November 30, 2007 and 20006, the sensitiv-
ity of our MSRS” fair value measurements to changes in these assump-

tions, and cash fows received on contractual servicing:

AT HOYEMBER 30,
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2007 2008
Weighted-average prepayment speed (CPR) 24.5% 311%
Effect of 10% adverse change $102 $ 84
Effect of 20% adverse change $190 $154
Discount rate 6.5% 8.0%
Effect of 10% adverse change $ 20 $ 17
Effect of 20% adverse change $ 39 §$26
Cash flows received on contractual servicing 5276 $255

The above sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should be used
with caution since the stresses are performed without considering the
effect of hedges, which serve to reduce our actual risk. These results are
calculated by stressing a particular economic assumption independent of
changes in any other assumption (as required by U.S. GAAP). In reality,
changes in one factor often result in changes in another factor which may
counteract or magnify the effect of the changes outined in the above
table. Changes in the fair value based on a 10% or 20% variation in an
assiinprion should not be exmpolated because the relationship of the
change in the assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear.

Non-0SPE activities We have transactional activity with SPEs that
do not meet the QSPE criteria because their permitted activites are not
{imited sufficiently or the assets are non-qualifying financial instruments
{e.g., real estate). These SPEs issue credit-linked notes, invest in real estate
or are established for other structured financing transactions designed to
neet clients’ investing or financing needs.

A collateralized debr obligation ("CIXO™) mansaction involves the
purchase by an SPE of a diversified portfolio of securities and/or loans
that are then managed by an independent asset manager. Interests in the
SPE (debt and equiry) are sold to third party investors. Our primary role
in a CDO is to act as structuring and placement agent, warehouse pro-
vider, underwriter and market maker in the related CDO securides. In
a typical CDO, at the direction of a third party asset manager, we will
remporarily warehouse securities or loans on our balance sheet pending
the sale to the SPE once the permanent financing is completed. At
November 30, 2007 and 2006, we owned approximately $581.2 million
and $53.1 million of equity securities in CIDOs, respectively. Because our
investments do not represent a majoriry of the CIDOs’ equiry, we are not
exposed to the majority of the CDOs’ expected losses. Accordingly, we
are not the primary beneficiary of the CDOs and therefore we do not
consolidate them. ’

As a deater in credit default swaps, we make a market in buying and

selling credit protection on single issuers as well as on portfolios of credit

exposures, We mitigate our credit risk, in part, by purchasing defaclt pro-
tection through credit default swaps with SPEs. We pay a premium o the
SPEs for assuming credit risk under the credit default swap. In these
transactons, SPEs issue credit-linked notes to investors and use the pro-
ceeds to invest in high quality collateral. Our maximum potentdal loss
associated with our involvement with such credit-linked note transactions
is measured by the fair value of our credit defaule swaps with such SPEs.
At November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, the fair values of these
credit default swaps were 83.9 billion and $155 million. The underlying
investment grade collateral held by SPEs where we are che first-lien
holder was $15.7 billion and $10.8 hillion at November 30, 2007 and
2006, respectively.

Beczuse the investors assume default risk associated with both the
reference portfolio and the SPEs’ assets, our expected loss caleulations
generally demonsirate the investors in the SPEs bear a majority of the
entity’s expected losses. Accordingly, we genenlly are not the primary
beneficiary and therefore do not consolidate these SPEs. In instances
where we are the primary beneficiary of the SPEs, we consolidate the
SPEs. At November 30, 2007 and 2006, we consolidated approxisately
$180 million and $718 million of these SPEs, respectively. The assets
associated with these consolidated SPEs are presented as a component of
Financial instruments and other inventory positions owned, and the
liabiliries are presented as a component of Other secured borrowings.

We also invest in reai estate directly through consolidated subsidiaries
and through VIEs. We consolidate our investntenits in real estate VIEs when
we are the primary beneficiary. We record the assets of these consulidated
real estate VIEs as a component of Financial instruments and other inven-
tory positions owned, and the Labilities are presented as a component of
Other secured borrowings. At November 30, 2007 and 2006, we consoli-
dated approximately $9.8 billion and $3.4 billicn, respectively, of real
estate-related investments. After giving effect o non-recourse financing,
our net investment position in these consolidated real estate VIEs was $6.0

billion and $2.2 billion at November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectvely.
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The following table summurizes our non-QSPE activities at November 30, 2007 and 20046:

AT NOVEMBER 30,
IN MILLIONS 2007 2006
Credit defanlt swaps ‘with SPEs $ 3,859 § 153
Value of underlying investment-grade collateral 15,744 13,754
Value of assets consolidated 180 718
Consolidared real estate VIEs 9,786 3,380
Net investment 6,012 2,180

In addition to the above, we enter into other transactions with
SPEs designed to meet clients’ investment and/or funding needs. For

further discussion of our SPE-related and other commiuments, see

Note 9, "Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees,” to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

NOTE 7 IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

For che years ended November 30, 2007, 2006 and 2003, aggregate
amortization expense for intangible assets, primarily customer lists, was

approximately $47 nullion, $50 million, and $49 million, respectively.

Estimated amortization expense for each of the years ending Noventber
30, 2008 through 2012 are as follows:

IN THOUSANDS

2008 2008 010 011 2012

Estimated amortization expense

$52,636

$41,283 $39,760 $38,369 $37.531

IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOYEMBER 30, 2007 ROVEMBER 39, 2006

GROSS GROSS
CARRYING AGCUMULATED CARRYING ACCUMUEATED
IN MILLIONS AHOUNT AMORTIZATION AMOUNT AMORTIZATION
Amortizable intangible assets:
Customer lists $380 $143 $504 £110
Other 58 65 42, 51
5678 §208 $386 £161
Intangible assers not subject to amortization:
Murual fund custoaner-related intangibles 5395 $395
Trade name 125 125
$520 $520
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended November 30, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:
GGODWILL
CAPITAL INVESTHENT
IN MILLIONS MARKETS MANAGEMENT TOTAL
Balance {net) ac November 30, 2005 $ 187 $2,083 $2,270
Goodwill acquired 116 - 116
Purchase price valuation adjustment 25 6 3t
Balance (net) at November 30, 2006 328 2,089 2417
Goodwill acquired 593 168 761
Goadwill disposed {53) — (53)
Purchase price valuation adjustment 12 — 12
Balance (net) at November 30, 2007 § B80 $2,257 $3,137
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NOTE 8 BORROWINGS AND DEPOSIT LIABILITIES

Borrowings and deposit liabilities at banks at November 30, 2007 and 2006 consisted of the following:

AT NOVEMBER 30,

IN RILLIONS 2007 2008

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

Unsecured
Current portion of long-term borrowings § 16,801 $12.878
Commercial paper 3,101 1,653
Other™ 7,645 5,880
Secured 519 227
Total § 28,066 $20,638
Amount carried at fair value® $ 9,035 8 6,064
Weighted-average contractual interest race 4.54% 5.39%

DEPQSIT LIABILITIES AT BANKS

Time deposits

At US. banks $ 16,189 $14,592

At non-1.5. banks 10,974 5,621
Savings deposits

At U.S. banks 1,556 1,199

At non-U.S. banks 644 —
Total § 29,363 $21,412

Amount carried at fair value® $ 15,986 £14,708
Weighted-average contractuat interest rate 4.67% 4.66%

LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

Senior notes 5108,914 $75,202
Subordinated notes 9,259 3,238
Junior subordinated notes 4,977 2738
Totat®? $123,150 $81,178
Amount carried at fair value® $ 27,204 $11,025
Weighted-average contractual interest rage™ 4.38% 4.32%

) Principally certain hybrid financial instraments with masurities of less than one year and zeso-strike wamants.

@ Certain borrowings and deposit liabilities at banks are carried at fair value in accordance with SFAS 155, SFAS 157 and SFAS 159. For additiona! information, see Note 1, “Symmary of
Significant Accounting Polices,” and Note 4, “Fair Value of Financia) Instruments,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements,

™ tn accordance with SFAS No. 107, “Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” the cairying amount of our total long-term borrowings ¢an be approximated at fair valve
using a discounted cash flow valuation model with inputs of quoted market prices far similar types of barrowing arrangements. The estimated fair value of our long-term borrowings at
November 30, 2007 was approximately $4.8 billion less than the carrying amount, The estimated fair value of our long-term borrowings at November 30, 2006 was approximately $250
million more than the carrying amount,

" Weighted-average contractual intergst rates for U.S.-dollas denominated obligations were 5.30% and 5,21% at November 30, 2007 and 2005, respectively. Weighted-average contractual
interest rates for non-U.S.-dallar denominated obligations were 3.42% and 3.15% at November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectivety.
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MATURITY PROFILE

The maturity dates of long-tertm borrowings are as follows:

1.5. DOLLAR NON-U.S, DOLLAR TOTAL

FIXED FLOATING FIXED FLOATING NOVEMBER 30, NOVEMBER 30,

N MILLIONS RATE RATE RATE RATE 007 2008
Maturing in fiscal 2008 — — — — — $ 17,892
Mataring in fiscal 2009 $ 2369 $ 42! $ 429 § 8104 § 25,023 13,583
Maturing in fiscal 2010 3,754 4,845 1,663 3,269 13,531 7.744
Maturing in fiscal 2011 2,215 3,315 1,798 7,287 14,615 12,412
Maturing in fiscal 2012 4,636 2,605 3.234 7,513 17,988 4,409
December 1, 2012 and thereafier 18,414 7,805 8,782 16,992 51,993 25.138
$ 31,388 $ 32,691 § 15900 § 43,165 $123,150 $ 81,178

At November 30, 2007, $863 million of oustanding long-term bor-
rowings are repayable at par value prior to maturity at the option of the
holder. These obligations are reflected in the above table as maturing at their
put dates, which range from fiscal 2009 to fiscal 2022, rather than at their
contractual maturities, which range from fiscal 2013 to fiscal 2031, In addi-
tion, $20.2 billion of long-term borrowitys are redeemable prior fo matu-
rity at our option undet various rerms and conditons, These obligadions are
reflected in the above tble at their contractual maturity dates, which range
from fiscal 2009 to fiscal 2034, racther than at their call dates which range
from fiscal 2009 to fiscal 2027, Extendible debt structures totaling approxi-
mately §5.4 billion are shown in the above table at their earliest manurity
dates, which range from fiscal 2009 to fiscal 2013. Extendible debt matures
on an initial specified manurity date unless the debt holders elect to extend
the term of the note for a period specified in the note.

Included in long-term borrowings is $5.1 billion of certain hybrid
financial instruments with early redemption features linked to market
prices or other triggering events (e.g., the downgrade of a reference obli-
gation underlying a credit-linked note). In the above maturity table, these
notes are shown at their contractual maturiry dates.

At November 30, 2007, our US. dollar and non—U.S. dollar delt
portfolios included approximately $12.9 billion and $16.9 billion,

respectively, of certain hybrid financial instruments for which the interest
rates and/or redemption values are linked to the performance of an
underlying measure (including industry baskets of stocks, conunodities
or credit events). Generally, such notes are issued as floating rate notes or
the interest rates on such index notes are effectively converted to floatng
rates based primarily on LIBOR through the use of derivacives.

END-USER DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

We use a variety of derivatve products including interest rate and
currency swaps as an end-user to modify the interest rate characteristics
of our long-term borrowings portfolio. We use interest rate swaps to
convert a substantial portion of our fixed-rate debt to floating interest
rates to more closely match the terms of assets being funded and to
minimize interest rate risk. In addition, we use cross—currency swaps to
hedge our exposure to foreign currency risk arising from our non-U.S.
dollar debt obligations, after consideration of non—U.S. dollar assets that
are funded with long-term debt obligations in the same currency. In
certain instances, we may use two or more derivative CONMracts w man-
age the interest rate nature and/or currency exposure of an individual
long-term borrowings issuance.

End-User Derivative Activities resulted in the following mix of

fixed and foating rate debt:

LONG-TERM BORROWINGS AFTER END-USER DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

NOVEMBER 30,

IN MILLIONS 2007 2006
U.S. dollar:
Fixed rate § 1,096 b S
Floating rate 81,762 57,053
Total U.S. dollar 82,858 57.995
Weighted-average effective interest rate 5.18% 5.60%
Non-U.S. dollar:
Fixed rate 269 645
Floating rate 40,023 22,538
Total Non-U.S. dollar 40,292 23,183
Weighted-average effective interest rate 4.15% 3.51%
Total $123,150 581,178
Weighted-average effective interest rate 4.83% 5.00%




JUNIOR SUBORDINATED NOTES

Junior subordinated notes are notes issued to trusts or limited partner-
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of: (i} issuing securities representing ownership interests in the assets of the

Trusts; {ii} investing the proceeds of the Trusts in junior subordinated notes

ships {collectively, the “Trusts”) and qualify as equity capital by leading ranng

agencies (subject to limitation). The Trusts were formed for the purposes

of Holdings; and (iii} engaging in activides necessary and incidental thereto.

The securities issued by the Trusts are comprised of the following;:

NOYEMBER 30,
IN MILLIONS 2001 2008
Trust Preferred Securities:
Lehman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust 111, Series K $ 300 $ 300
Lehman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust 1V, Series L 300 300
Lehnman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust V, Series M 460 399
Lehman Brothers Holdings Capiral Trast VI, Series N 225 225
Lehman Brothers Holdings Capital Trust VII 1,000 —
Lehman Brothers Heldings Capital Truse VIII 500 —
Euro Perpetual Preferred Securities:
Lehman Brothers UK. Capital Funding LP 256 231
Lehman Brothers UK, Capital Funding IT LP 369 329
Enhanced Capial Advantaged Preferred Securities (ECAPS®):
Lehman Brothers Holdings E-Capical Trust [ 255 296
“Enhanced Capital Advantaged Preferred Securities (Euro ECAPS®):
Lehman Brothers UK. Capital Funding [ L.E. 577 658
Lehman Brothers UK. Capital Funding [V L.E. 295 —
Lehman Brothers UK, Capital FundingV L.P. 500 —
$4,977 £2,738

The following table summarizes the key terms of Trusts with outstanding securities at November 30, 2007;

TRUST-ISSUED SECURITIES

ISSUANCE MANDATORY REDEEMABLE BY ISSUER
KOVEMBER 30, 2007 DATE REDEMPTION DATE ON OR AFTER
Holdings Capital Trust §li, Series K March 2003 March 15, 2052 March 15, 2008
Holdings Capital Trust IV, Series L October 2003 October 31,2052 Ocrober 31,2008
Holdings Capital TrustV, Series M April 2004 April 22, 2053 April 22, 2009
Holdings Capital Trust VI, Series N January 2005 January 18, 2054 January 18,2010
Holdings Capital Trust VI May 2007 June 1, 20430 May 31,2012
Holdings Capital Trust VIII May 2007 June 1, 20430 May 31,2012
UK. Capital Funding LP March 2005 Perpetual March 30,2010
U.K. Capiral Funding 1I LP September 2005 Perpetual September 21, 2009

Holdings E-Capital Trust [

August 2005

August 19, 2065

August 19, 2010

UK. Capital Funding 111 LP

February 2006

February 22, 2036

February 22, 2011

UK. Capital Funding IV LP

January 2007

Perpetual

April 25,2012

U.K. Capital FundingV LP

May 2007

Perperual

June 1, 2012

% Or on such earlier date as we may elect in connection with a remarketing.

The rtrust preferred securities issued by Holdings Capital Trust
VII and Holdings Capital Trust VIII were issued together with con-
tracts to purchase depositary shares representing our Non-Cumulative

Perpetuat Preferred Stock, Series H and Series I, respectively, with

certain circuimstances.

an aggregate redemption value of $1.5 billion. The stock purchase
date is expected to be on or around May 31, 2012, but could occur

on an earlier date or be deferred until as late as May 31, 2013 in
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CREDIT FACILITIES

We use both commirtted and uncommitted bilateral and syndicated
long-term bank facilities to complement our long-term debt issnance. In
particular, Holdings maintains a $2.0 billion umsecured, committed
revolving credit agreement with a syndicate of banks which expires in
February 2009, In addition, we nuintain a $2.5 billion multi-currency
unsecured, committed revolving credit facility (“Euvropean Facility™)

with a syndicate of banks for Lehman Brothers Bankhaus AG

(“Bankhaus”) and Lehman Brothers Treasury Co. B.V. which expires in
April 2010. Our ability to borrow under such facilities is conditioned on
complying with custontary lending conditions and covenants. We have
maintained compliance with the material covenants under these credit
agreements at all times. We draw on both of these facilities from time to
time in the normal course of conducting our business. As of November
340, 2007, there were no outstanding borrowings against either Holdings”

credit facility or the Evropean Facility.

NOTE 9 COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND GUARANTEES

In the normal course of business, we enter inte various comimit-
ments and guarantees, including lending commitments to high grade
and high yield borrowers, private equity investment commnitments,

liquidity commitments and other guarantees.

LENDING-RELATED COMMITMENTS
The following table summarizes the contractual amounts of lend-

ing-related commimments at November 30, 2007 and 2006:

EXPIRATION PER PERIOD AT NOVEMBER 30, CI]NTRM:T;]UT:II:AMUUHT
NOVEMBER 30,
IN MILLIONS 2008 2008 2010-2011 2012-2013 LATER 007 2006
Lending commitments
High grade $§ 5,579 $1,039 $6,554 $10.411 § 403 $ 23,986 $17,945
High vield 4,051 411 2,103 4,850 2,658 14,073 7,558
Contingent acquisition facilities
High grade 10,230 — — — — 10,230 1,918
High yield 9,749 — — — — 9,749 12,766
Mortgage commitinents 5,082 670 1,378 271 43 7,449 12,162
Secured lending transactions 122,661 455 429 468 1,846 125,859 83,071

We use various hedging and funding strategies to actively manage
our market, credit and liquidity exposures on these commitments. We do
not believe total commitments necessarily are indicative of actual risk or
funding requirements because the commiments may not be drawn or
fully vsed and such amounts are reported before consideration of hedges.

Lending commitments Through our high grade (investment
grade) and high yield (non-investment grade) sales, trading and under-
writing activities, we make commitments to extend credit in loan syn-
dication transactions. These commitments and any related drawdowns of
these facilities typically have fixed maturity dates and are contingent on
certain representations, warranties and contractual condidons applicable
to the borrower. We define high yield exposures as securities of or loans
to companies rated BB+ or lower or equivalent ratings by recognized
credit rating agencies, as well as non-rated securities or loans that, in
management’s opinion, are non-investment grade.

We had conunitments to high grade borrowers at November 30,
2007 and 2006 of $24.0 billion (net credit exposure of $12.2 billion,
after consideration of hedges) and $17.9 billion {net credit exposure of
$4.9 billion, after consideration of hedges), respectively. We had commit-
ments to high yield borrowers of $14.1 billion {net credit exposure of

$12.8 billion, after consideration of hedges} and $7.6 billion (net credit

exposure of $5.9 billion, after consideraton of hedges) at November 30,
2007 and 2006, respectively.

Contingent acquisition facilities We provide contingent commit-
ments to investment and non-investment grade counterparties related to
acquisition financing. We do not believe contingent acquisidon commit-
ments are necessarily indicative of actual risk or funding requirements as
funding is dependent upon both a proposed transaction being completed
and the acquiror fully utilizing our commitment. Typically, these com-
mitments are made to a potential acquiror in a proposed acquisition,
which may or may not be completed depending on whether the poten-
tial acquiror to whom we have provided our commitment is successful.
A contingent borrower’ ability to draw on the commitment is typically
subject to there being no material adverse change in the borrower’s
financial condition, among other factors, and the commitments also
generally contain certain flexible pricing features to adjust for changing
market conditdons prior to closing. In addition, acquirers generally uti-
lize multiple financing sources, including other investment and com-
mercial banks, as well as accessing the general capital markets for
completing transactions. Therefore, our contingent acquisition commit-
ments are generally greater than the amounts we ultimately expect to

fund. Further, our past practice, consistent with our credit facilitation




framework, has been to syndicate acquisition financings to investors. The
ultinmate timing, amount and pricing of a syndication, however, is influ-
enced by market conditions that may not necessarily be consistent with
those at the time the commitment was entered. We provided contingent
commitments to high grade counterparties related to acquisition financ-
ing of approximately $10.2 billion and $1.9 billion at November 30,
2007 and 2006, respectively, and to high yield counterparties related to
acquisition financing of approximately $9.8 billion and $12.8 billion at
November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Mortgage commitments Through our mortgage origination
platforms we make commitments to extend mortgage loans. At
November 30, 2007 and 2006, we had cusscanding mortgage commit-
ments of approximately $7.4 billion and $12.2 billion, respectively.
These commitments included $3.0 billion and $7.0 billien of residen-
tial mortgages in 2007 and 2006 and $4.4 billion and $5.2 billion of
commercial mortgages at 2007 and 2006. Typically, residential mort-
gage loan commitments require us to originate mortgage loans at the
option of a borrower generally within 90 days at fixed interest rates.

Consistent with past practice, our intention is to sell residential mort-
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gage loans, once originated, primarily through securitizations. The
ability to sell or securitize mortgage loans, however, is dependent on
market conditions.

Secured lending transactions In connection with our financing
acrivities, we had outstanding commitments under certain collateralized
lending arrangements of approximately $9.8 billion and $7.5 billion at
November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. These commitments require
borrowers to provide acceptable collateral, as defined in the agreciments,
when amounts are drawn under the lending facilities. Advances made
under these lending arrangements typically are at variable interest rates
and generally provide for over-collateralization. In addition, at November
30, 2007, we had commitments to enter into forward starting secured
resale and repurchase agreements, primarily secured by government and
government agency collateral, of $70.8 billion and $45.3 billion, respec-
tively, compared to $44.4 billion and $31.2 billion, respectively, at
November 30, 2006,

OTHER COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES

The following tble summarizes other commiunents and guaran-
tees at November 30, 2007 and 2006:

TOTAL
EXPIRATION PER PERLOD AT MOVEMBER 30, CONTRACTUAL AMOMNT
NOYEMBER 30,
N MILLIONS 2008 2009 2010-2011 2042-2013 LATER 007 2008
Derivative contracts " $87,394 $59,598 8152317 $210.496  §228,132 $737,937  §534,585
Municipal-securities-related commitments 2,362 733 36 HY 3,652 6,902 1,549
Ocher commitments with
variable interest entities 106 3,100 170 963 4,772 9,111 4,902
Standby letters of credit 1,685 5 — — — 1,690 2,380
Private equity and other
principal investments 220 675 915 173 — 2,583 1,088

) We believe the {air value of these derivative contracts is a more relevant measure of the obligations because we believe the notional amount averstates the expected payout, At November
30, 2007 and 2006, the fair value of these derivatives contracts approximated $36.3 billion and $9.3 billion, respectively.

Derivative contracts Under FASB Interpretation No. 45,
Guarantor’s Accornting and Disclosure Reguirements for Guarantees, Including
Indireet Guarantees of Indebteduess of Orhers ("FIN 457), derivative contracts
are considered to be guarantees if such contracts require us o make pay-
ments to counterparties based on changes in an underlying instrument or
index (e.g., security prices, interest rates, and currency rates) and include
written credit default swaps, written put options, written foreign exchange
and interest rate options, Derivative contracts are not considered guaran-
tees if these contracts are cash settled and we cannot determine if the
derivative counterparty held the contrcts’ underlying instruments at
inception. We have determined these conditions have been met for certain
large financial insticutions. Accordingly, when these conditions are mer, we
have not included these derivatives in our guarantee disclosures.

At November 30, 2007 and 2006, the maximum payout value of
derivative contracts deemed to meet the FIN 45 definition of a guar-
ancee was approximately $737.9 billion and $534.6 billion, respectively.
For purposes of determining maximum payout, notional values are
used; however, we believe the fair value of these contracts is a more

relevant measure of these obligations because we believe the notional

amounts greatly overstate our expected payout. At November 30, 2007
and 2006, the fair value of such derivative contracts approximated
$36.8 billion and $9.3 billion, respectively. In addidon, all amounts
included above are before consideration of hedging transactions. We
substantially mitigate our risk on these contracts through hedges, using
other derivative contracts and/or cash instruments. We manage risk
associated with derivative guarantees consistent with our global risk
management policies.

Municipal-securities-related commitments At November 30,
2007 and 2006, we had municipal-securities-related commitmenss of
approximately $6.9 billion and $1.6 billion, respectively, which are prin-
cipally comprised of liquidicy commitments related to trust cerrificates
backed by high grade municipal securities. We believe our liquidity com-
mitments to these trusts involve a low level of risk because our obliga-
tions are supported by high grade securities and generally cease if the
underlying assets are downgraded below investment grade or upon an
issuer’s default. In certain instances, we also provide credit default protec-
tion to investors, which approximated $468 million and $48 mullion ac

November 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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Other commitments with VIES We make certain liquidity commit-
ments and guarantees to V1Es. We provided liquidity commitments of
approximately $1.4 billion and §1.0 billion at November 30, 2007 and
2006, respectively, which represented our maximum exposure to loss, to
conunercial paper conduits in support of certain clients’ secured finane-
ing transactions. However, we believe our actual risk to be limited
because these liquidity commitments are supported by over-collateral-
ization with investment grade collateral.

I addition, we provide limited downside protection guarantees to
investors in certain V1Es by guaranteeing return of their inittal principal
Irvestment. Our maximum exposure to loss under such commitments was
approximately $6.1 billion and $3.% billion at Novernber 3(), 2007 and
2006, respectively. We believe our actual risk 1o be linited because our
obligations are collateralized by the VIES assets and contain significant
constraings under which downside protection will be available {c.g., the VIE
is required to liquidate assets in the event certain loss levels are triggered).

We participate in an A-1/P-1-rated muli-seller conduir. This
multi-seller issues secured liquidity notes to provide financing. Our
intention is to utilize this conduit for purposes of funding a portien of
our contingent acquisition commitments. At November 30, 2007, we
were contingently committed o provide $1.6 billion of liquidity if the
conduit is unable to remarket the secured liquidity notes upon their
marurity, generally, one year after a failed remarketing event. This conduit
is not consolidated in Holdings’ results of operations.

Standby letters of credit At November 30, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, we had conmmitiments under letters of credit issued by banks
to counterparties for $1.7 billion and $2.4 billion. We are contingently
liable for these letters of credit which are primarily used to provide col-
lateral for securities and commodities borrowed and to satisfy margin
deposits at option and commodity exchanges.

Private equity and other principal investments At November 30,
2007 and 2006, we had private equity and other principal investment
commitments of approximately $2.6 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively,
comprising commitments to privace equity partnerships and other prin-
cipal investment opportunities. [t has been our past practice to distribute
and syndicate certain of these commitments to our investing clients.

Giher In the normal course of business, we provide guarantees to
securities clearinghouses and exchanges. These guarantees generally are
required under the standard membership agreements, such that members
are required to guarantee the performance of other members, To miti-
gate these performance risks, the exchanges and clearinghouses often
require members to post collateral.”

In connection with certain asset sales and securitization transac-
dons, we often make customary representations and warranties about the
assets, Violations of these representations and warranties, such as early
payment defaults by borrowers, ntay require us to repurchase loans previ-
ously sold, or indemnify the purchaser against any losses. To mitigate
these risks, to the extent the assets being securitized may have been
originated by third parties, we generally obtain equivalent representa-

tions and warranties from these third parties when we acquire the assets.

We have established reserves which we believe to be adequate in con-
nection with such representations and warranties.

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to credit and
market risk as a result of executing, financing and settling various client
security and commodity transactions, These risks arise from the potential
that clients or counterparties may fail to satisty their obligations and the
collateral obtained is insufficient. In such instances, we may be required
to purchase or sell financial mstruments at unfavorable market prices. We
seek 1o control these risks by obtaining margin balances and other col-
lateral in accordance with regulatory and internal guidelines.

Certain of our subsidiaries, as general parmers, are contingenaly hable
for the obligations of certain public and private limited parmerships. In our
opinion, contingent liabilides, if any, for the obligadons of such partmerships
will not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition or Consolidated Statement of Income.

In connection with certain acquisitions and strategic investments, we
agreed to pay addidonal consideration contingent on the acquired entity
meeting or exceeding specified income, revenue or other performance
thresholds. These payments will be recorded as amouns become determin-
able. Had the determination dates been November 30, 2007 and 2006, cur
estmated obligations related to these contingent consideration arrange-
ments would have been $420 million and $224 million, respectively.

INCOME TAXES

We are under continuous examination by the Internal Revenue
Service {the “IRS™), and other tax authorities in major operating juris-
dictions such as the United Kingdont and Japan, and in various states in
which the Company has significant operations, such as New York. The
Company regularly assesses the likelihood of additional assessments in each
tax jurisdiction and the impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Tax reserves have been established, which we believe to be adequate
with regards to the potental for additional exposure. Once established,
reserves are adjusted only when additional information is obtained or an
event requiring a change to the reserve occurs, Management believes the
resolution of these uncertain tax positions will not have a material
impact on the financial condition of the Company; however resolution
could have an impact on our effective tax rate in any reporting period.

We have completed the appeals process with respect to the 1997
through 2000 IRS examinadon. Although most issues.were settled on a
basis acceptable to us, two issues remain unresolved and will carry into
litigatior with the 1RS, Based on the strength of its posidons, we have
not reserved any part of these issues. The aggregate tax benefits previously
recorded with regard to these two issues is approximately $185 million.

The 1RS has recently begun an examination with respect to our
2001 through 2005 tax years. The audit is in its inital stages and no
adjustments have been proposed. We believe we are adequately reserved
for any issues that may arise from this audit. The two issues from the
1997 through 2000 cycle which we plan ro litigate also have an impact
on the 2001 through 2005 tax years. The aggregate tax benefit previously

recorded with regard to these two issues is approximately $500 million.




LITIGATION

In the normal course of business, we have been named a5 a
defendant in a number of lawsuits and other legal and regulatory
proceedings. Such proceedings include actions brought against us and
others with respect to transactions in which we acted as an under-
writer or fimancial advisor, actions arising out of our activities as a
broker or dealer in securities and commodities and actions brought
on behalf of various classes of claimants against many securities firms,
including us. We provide for potential losses that may arise out of legal
and regulatory proceedings to the extent such losses are probable and
can be estimated. Although there can be no assurance as to the ulti-
mate outcome, we' generally have denied, or believe we have a meri-
torious defense and will deny, liability in all significant cases pending

against us, and we intend to defend vigorously each such case. Based
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on information currently available, we believe the amount, or range,
of reasonably possible losses in excess of established reserves not to be
material to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Condition or Cash
Flows, However, losses mmay be material to our operating results for
any particular future period, depending on the level of income for
such period.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

Toral rent expense for 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $250 million, $181
million and $167 million, respectively. Certain leases on office space
contain escalation clavses providing for additional payments based on
maincenance, utility and tax increases.

Minimum future rental commitments under non-cancelable
operating leases {net of subleases of approximately $325 million) and

future commitments under capital leases are as follows:

MINIMUM FUTURE RENTAL COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING AND CAPITAL LEASE AGREEMENTS

QPERATING CAPITAL
IN MILLIONS LEASES LEASES
Fiscal 2008 $ 281 $
Fiscal 2009 269 99
Fiscal 2010 251 101
Fiscal 2011 242 105
Fiscal. 2012 227 108
December 1, 2012 and thereafter 1,335 2,489
Total minimum Jease payments $2,605 $2.976
Less; Amount representing interest 1,534
Present value of future minimum capital lease payments $1,442

NOTE 10 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

On April 5, 2006, our Board of Directors approved a 2-for-1 com-
mon stock splic, in the form of a stock dividend that was effected on
April‘28, 2006. Prior period share and earnings per share amounts have
been restated to reflect the split. The par value of the common stock
remained at $0. 1) per share. Accordingly, an adjustment from Additional
paid-in capital to Comumon stock was required to preserve the par value
of the post-split shares.

PREFERRED STOCK

Holdings is authorized ro issue a total of 24,999,000 shares of pre-
ferred stock. At November 30, 2007, Holdings had 798,000 shares issued

and outstanding under various series as described below, All preferred

stock has a dividend preference over Holdings' common stock in the
paying of dividends and a preference in the liquidation of assets.

On March 28, 2000, Holdings issued 3,000,000 Depositary Shares,
each representing 1/100th of a share of Fixed/Adjustable Rate
Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series E {“Series E Preferred Stock™), $1.00
par value. The initial cumulative dividend rate on the Series E Preferred
Stock was 7.115% per annum through May 31,2005, On May 31, 2003,
Holdings redeemed all of its issued and outstanding shares of Series E
Preferred Stock, together with accumulated and unpaid dividends.

The following table summarizes our outstanding preferred stock at
November 30, 2007:

DEPOSITARY SHARES ISSUED AND DIVIDEND EARLIEST REDEMPTION REDEMPTION

SERIES SHARES OUTSTANDING RATE DATE VALUE
C 5,000,000 500,000 5.94% May 31, 2008 250,000,000
D 4,000,000 40,000 5.67% August 31, 2008 200,000,000
F 13.800,000 138,000 6.50% August 31, 2008 345,000,000
G 12,000,000 120,000 one-month LIBOR + 0.75%" February 15, 2009 300,000,000

1 Subject to a floor of 3.0% per annum.
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The Series C, D, F and G Preferred Stock rank equally as to divi-
dends and upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up and have no voting
rights except as provided below or as otherwise from time o time required
by kw. If dividends payable on any of the Series C, D, F or G Preferred
Stock or on any other equally-ranked series of preferred stock have not
been paid for six or more quarters, whether or not consecutive, the autho-
rized number of directors of the Company will automatically be increased
by two. The holders of the Series C, 1D, F or G Preferred Stock will have
the right, with holders of any other equally-ranked series of preferred
stock that have similar voting rights and on which dividends likewise have
not been paid, voting together as a class, to elect two directors to fill such

newly created directorships until the dividends in arrears are paid.

COMMON STOCK

Dividends declared per commeon share were $0.60, $0.48 and $0.40 in
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. During the years ended Novemnber 30,
2007, 2006 and 2005, we repurchased or acquired, pursuant to our stock
repurchase program, shares of our conmmon stock at an aggregate cost of
approximately $3.2 billion, $3.7 billion and $4.2 billion, respectively, or $73.85,
$69.61, and $51.59 per share, respectvely. These shares were acquired in the
open market and from employees who tendered mature shares to pay for the
exercise cost of stock options or for statutory tax withholding obligations on
restricted stock unit ("RSU™) issuances or option exercises. For addidonal
information, sce Note 2, “Share-Based Employee Incentive Plans—Stock

Repurchase Program,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Changes in the number of shares of cominon stock outstanding are as follows:

YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30,

2007 2008 2005
Shares outstanding, beginning of period 533,368,195 542,874,200 548,318,822
Exercise of stock options and other share issuances 17,056,454 22,374,748 53,142,714
Shares issued to the 138U Trust 24,500,000 21,000,000 22,000,000
Treasury stock acquisitions (43,037,230) {52,880,75%) {80.587.330)
Shares outstanding, end of period 531,887,419 533,368,195 542,874,206

In 1997, we established an irrevocable grantor trust (the “RSU
Trust”™) to provide common stock voting rights to employees who hold
outstanding RSUs and o encourage employees to think and act like
owners. In 2007, 2006 and 2005, we transferred 24.5 million, 21.0 mil-
lion and 22.0 million treasury slires, respectively, into the RSU Trust. At

November 30, 2007, approximately 72.5 million shares were held in the

R SU Trust with a total value of approximately $2.3 billion. These shares
are valued at weighted-average grant prices. Shares transferred to the
RSU Trust do not affect the total number of shares used in the calcula-
tion of basic and diluted earnings per share because we include amor-
tized RSUs in the caleulations. Accordingly, the RSU Trust has no effect

on total equity, net income, book value per share or earnings per share.

NOTE 11 EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

NOYEMBER 30,

IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA 2007 2006 2005
NUMERATOR:
Net income $4,192 £4,007 $3,260
Less: Preferred stock dividends 67 60 69
Numerator for basic earnings per share—net income applicable to conumon stock $4,125 $3,941 $3,191
DENOMINATOR:
Denominator for basic earnings per share—weighted-average common shares 540.6 543.0 556.3
Effect of dilutive securities:

Employee stock options 23.6 29.1 25.4

Restricted stock units 4.1 6.3 5.5
Dilusive potential common shares 27.7 35.4 30.9
Denonunator for diluted carnings per share—weighted-average

common and dilutive potential common shares 568.3 578.4 587.2
Basic earnings per common share $ 7.63 $ 7.26 $ 574
Ditused earnings per common share $ 7.26 $ 6.81 $ 5.43
W anti-dilutive options and restricted steck units excluded from the calculations of diluted earnings per share 13.7 44 87

On April 5, 2006, our Board of Directors approved a 2-for-1 com-

mon stock split, in the form of a stock dividend that was effected on

April 28, 2006. See Note 10, “Stockhalders’ Equiry” for additional

information about the stock split.
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NOTE 12 SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE PLANS

We adopted the fair value recognition provisions for share-based
awards pursuant to SFAS 123(R) effective as of the beginning of the
2006 fiscal year. For a further discussion, sce Note 1, “Summary of
Significant  Accounting  Policies—Accounting and  Regulatory
Developments,” to the Consolidated Finaneial Statenens,

We sponsor several share-based employee incentive plans.
Amortization of compensation costs for grants awarded under these
plans was approximarely $1.3 billion, $1.0 billion and $1.1 billion
during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The total income tax ben-
efit recognized in the Consolidated Statement of [ncome for these
plans was $515 million, $421 million and $457 million for 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. Not included in the $1.3 billion of 2007
amortization expense is $514 million of stock awards granted in
December 2007, which were accrued as compensation expense in
fiscal 2007.

At November 30, 2007, unrecognized compensation cost related
to non-vested stock option and RSU awards totaled $2.0 bitlion. The
cost of these non-vested awards is expected to be recognized over the
next 9.0 years over a weighted-average period of 3.8 years.

Below is a descriprion of our share-based employee incentive
compensation plans.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE PLANS

We sponsor several share-based employee incentive plans. The total
number of shares of comnton stock remaining available for future awards
under these plans at November 30, 2007, was 82.3 million (not including
shares that may be returned to the Stock Incentive Plan (the “SIP™) as
described below, bur including an additional 0.4 million shares autho-
rized for issuance under the Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. 1994
Management Ownership Plan (the * 1994 Plan™) that have been reserved
solely for issuance in respect of dividends on outstanding awards under
this plan). In connection with awards made under our share-based
employee incentive plans, we are authorized to issue shares of common
stock held in treasury or newly-issued shares.

1994 and 1995 Management Ownership Plans and Employee
Incentive Plan  The 1994 Plan, the Lehman Brothers Holdings Tnc. 1996
Management Ownership Plan (the 1996 Plan™) and the Lehman
Brothers Holdings Inc. Employee Incentive Plan (the “EIP") all expired
following the completion of their various ternis. These plans provided for
the issuance of RSUs, performance stock units, stock options and other
share-based awards o eligible employees. At November 30, 2007, awards
with respect to G05.6 million shares of comnion stock have been made
under these plans, of which 130.3 million are outstanding and 475.3 mil-
lion have been converted to freely transferable common stock.

Stock Incentive Plan  The SIP has a 10-year term ending in May
2015, with provisions similar to the previous plans. The SIP authorized
the issuance of up to the total of (i} 95.0 million shares (20.0 million as

originally authorized, plus an additional 75.0 million authorized by the

stockholders of Holdings at its 2007 Annual Meeting), plus (i) the 33.5
million shares authorized for issuance under the 1996 Plan and the EIP
that remained unawarded upon their expiration, plus (iii) any shares
subject to repurchase or forfeiture rights under the 1996 Plan, the EIP
or the SIP that are reacquired by the Company, or the award of which
is canceled, terminates, expires or for any other reason is not payable,
plus (iv) any shares withheld or delivered pursuant to the terms of the
SIP in payment of any applicable exercise price or tax wirhholding
obligation, Awards with respect to 31.1 million shares of common stock
have been made under the SIP as of Novemnber 30, 2007, 50.4 million
of which are outstanding.

1999 Long-Term Incentive Plan The 1999 Neuberger Berman
Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP™) provides for the grant of
restricted stock, restricted units, incentive stock, incentive units, deferred
shares, supplemental units and stock options. The total number of shares
of common stock that may be issued under the ETIP is 15.4 million. At
November 30, 2007, awards with respect to approximately 13.7 million
shares of common stock had been made under the LTIP of which 3.2
million were outstanding.

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

Eligible employees receive RSUs, in lieu of cash, as a portion of
their total compensation. There is no further cost to employees associated
with RSU awards. RSU awards generally vest over two to five years and
cotwert to unrestricted freely transferable commeon stock five years from
the grant date. All or a portion of an award may be canceled if employ-
ment is terminated before the end of the relevant vesting period. We
accrue dividend equivalents on outstanding RSUs (in the form of addi-
tional RSUs), based on dividends declared on our common stock.

For RSUs granted prior o 2004, we measured compensation cost
based on the market value of our common stock ar the grant date in
accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, Acotmting for Stock Issued to
Employees, and, accordingly, a discount from the market price of an unre-
stricted share of common stock on the RSU grant date was not recog-
nized for selling restrictions subsequent to the vesting date. For awards
granted beginning in 2004, we measure compensation cost based on the
market price of our common stock at the grant date less a discount for
sale restrictions subsequent to the vesting date in accordance with SFAS
123 and SFAS 123(R). The fair value of RSUs subject to post-vesting
date sale restrictions are generally discounted by three to eight percent for
each year based upon the duration of the post-vesting restricton. These
discounts are based on market-based swdies and academic research on
securities with restrictive features. RSUs granted in cach of the periods
presented contain selling restrictions subsequent to a vesting date.

The fair value of RSUs converted to comumon stock without
restrictions for the year ended November 30, 2007 was $1.2 billion.
Compensation costs previously recognized and tax benefits recognized in

equity upon issuance of these awards were approximately §760 million.
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The following table swanmarizes RSU activity for 2007 and 2006:

WEIGHTED AVERAGE

TOTAL NUMBER GRANT DATE
UNAMDRTIZED AMORTIZED OF RSUs FAIR VALUE
Balance, November 30, 2005 48,116,384 72,301,290 120,417.674 $38.35
Granted 8,251,700 — 8,251,700 7.4
Canceled (2,244,585) (72,424) {2.317,009) 43181
Exchanged for stock without restrictions - (25,904,367) (25.904.367) 28.93
Amortization {19,218,999) 19,218,999 —
Balance, Novernber 30, 2006 34,904,500 65,543,498 100,447,998 $43.37
Granted 38,839,114 —_ 38,839,114 68.92
Canceled (4,720,625) 1,079,269 (3,641,356) 51.27
Exchanged for stock without restrictions — (17,716,614)  (17,716,614) 31.51
Amortization (34,166,465) 34,166,465 _—
Balance, November 30, 2007 34,856,524 83,072,618 117,929,142 $53.33

The above table excludes approximately 49.7 million RSUs which
were granted to employees on December 7, 2007, including approxi-
mately 11.3 million RSUs awarded to retirement eligible employees and
expensed in fiscal 2007 and approximately 38.4 million RSUs awarded
to employees and subject to future vesting provisions.

Ofthe approximately 117.9 million RSUs outstanding at Novenber
30, 2007, approximately 83.1 million were amortized and included in
basic earnings per share. Approximately 16.5 million of RSUs outstand-
ing at November 30, 2007 will be amortized during 2008, and the
remainder will be amortized subsequent to 2008.

The above able includes approximately 5.8 million RSUs awarded
10 certain senior officers, the terms of which were modified in 2006 {the
“Maodified RSUs™). The original RSUs resulted from performance stock
units {*“PSUs"} for which the performance periods have expired, bur
which were not previously converted into RSUs as their vesting was
contingent upon a change in control of the Company or certain otler
specified circumstances as determined by the Compensation and
Benefits Committee of the Board of Directors (the “CIC RSUs”). On
November 30, 2006, with the approval of the Compensation and
Benefits Committee, each exgcutive agreed to a modificadion of the
vesting terms of the CIC RSUs to eliminate the change in control pro-
visions and to provide fer vesting in ten equal annual installmenss from
2007 to 2016, provided the executive continues to be an employee on
the vesting date of the respective installment. Vested installments will
remain subject to forfeiture for detrimental behavior for an additional
two years, after which time they will convert to common stock on a
one-for-one basis and be issued to the executive. The Modified RS5Us
will vest (and convert to comimon stock and be issued) earlier only upon
death, disability or certain government service approved by the
Compensation and Benefits Committee. Dividends will be payable by
the Corporation on the Modified RSUs from the date of their modifi-

cation and will be reinvested in additional RSUs with the same terms.

Also included in the previous table are PSUs for which the number
of RSUs to be earned was dependent on achieving certain perforiance
levels within predetermined performance periods. During the perfor-
mance period, these PSUs were accounted for as variable awards. At the
end of the performance period, any PSUs earned converted one-for-one
to RSUs that then vest in three or more years. At November 30, 2006,
all performance periods have been completed and any PSUs earned have
been converted into RSUs. The compensation cost for the RSUs pay-
able in satisfaction of PSUs is accrued over the combined performance
and vesting periods.

STOCK OPTIONS

Employees and Directors may receive stock options, in lieu of cash,
as a portion of their total compensation. Such options generally become
exercisable over a one- to five-year period and generally expire five- to
ten years from the date of grant, subject to accelerated expiration upon
termination of employment.

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing mode! to measure the
grant date fair value of stock options granted to employees. Stock options
granted have exercise prices equal to the market price of cur common
stock on the grant date. The principal assumptons utilized in valuing
options and our methodology for estimating such model inputs include:
(i) risk-free interest rate - estimate 1s based on the yield of US. zero cou-
pon securities with a maturity equal to the expected life of the option;
(ii) expected volatility - estimate is based on the historical volatility of our
conunon stock for the three years preceding the award date, the implied
volatility of market-traded options on our common stock on the grant
date and ather factors; and {jii) expected option life - estimate is based on
internal studies of historical and projected exercise behavior based on
different employee groups and specific option characteristics, including
the effect of employee terminations. Based on the resuls of the model,
the weighted-average fair value of stock options granted were $24.94,
$15.83 and $13.24 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The weighted-

average assurnptons used for 2007, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:
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YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30,

003 2008 1005
Risk-free interest rate 4.72% 4.49% 3.97%
Expected volatility 25.12% 23.08% 23.73%
Annual dividends per share $0.60 $0.48 %40
Expected life 7.0 years 4.5 years 3.9 years

The valuation technique takes into account the specific terms and conditions of the stock options granted including vesting period, termination

provisions, intrinsic value and tme dependent exercise behavior.

The following table summarizes stock option activity for 2007 and 2006:

STOCK OPTION ACTIVITY

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE EXPIRATION

OPTIONS EXERCISE PRICE DATES

Balance, November 30, 2005 101,750,326 $31.36 12/05—11/15
Granted 2,670,400 66.14
Exercised (22,453,729 28.38
Canceled (570,626) 31.63

Balance, November 30, 2006 81,396,371 $33.12 12/06—05/16
Granted 10,200 72.07
Exercised {15,429,250) 28.86
Canceled (371,778) 31.64

Balance, November 30, 2007 65,605,543 $34.39 01/08—04/17

The rtoral intrinsic value of stock oprions exercised in 2007 was
approximately $711 million for which compensation costs previously

recognized and tax benefits recognized in equity upon issuance rotaled

approximately $238 million. Cash received from the exercise of stock
options in 2007 totaled approximately $443 million.
The table below provides additional information related to stock

options outstanding:

OUTSTANDING AT NOVEMBER 30,

OPTIONS EXERCISABLE AT NOVEMBER 30,

2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Number of options 65,605,543 81,396,371  1(11.750.326 51,748,377 54561.355 52,638,434

Weighted-average exercise price $34.39 $33.32 $31.36 $30.24 $30.12 $27.65

Aggregate intrinsic value (in millions) $1,867 $3.284 $3,222 $1,676 $2.376 $1.861
Weighted-average remaining

contractual terms in vears 4.00 4.84 3.46 3.70 4.25 4.58

At November 30, 2007, the number of options outstanding, net of
projected forfetrures, was approximately 65 million shares, with a weighted-
average exercise price of $34.19, agpregate intrinsic value of approxinately
$1.8 billion, and weighted-average renuining contractual terins of 3.97 years.

At November 30, 2007, the intrinsic value of unexercised vested

options was approximately $1.7 billion for which compensation cost and

tax benefits expected to be recognized in equity, upon issuance, are
approximately $508 million.

RESTRICTED STOCK

In addition to 1X8Us, we also continue to issue restricted stock to
certain Neuberger employees under the LTIP. The following table sum-

nwarizes restricted stock activity for 2007, 2006 and 2005:

2007 2008 005

Balance, beginnirg of year 671,956 1,042,376 1,541,692
Granted — 43,520 15,534
Canceled (4,444) (6,430} {37.446)
Exchanged for stock without restrictions (311,892) {407,510 (477,404)
Balance, end of vear 355,620 671,956 1,042,376
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At November 30, 2007, there were 355,620 shares of restricted
stock outstanding, The fair value of the 311,892 shares of restricted stock
that became freely tradable in 2007 was approximately $23 million.

STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM

We maintain a comimon seock repurchase program to manage our
equity capital. Qur stock repurchase program is effected through open-
market purchases. as well as through employee transactions where
employees tender shares of common stock to pay for the exercise price
of stock optons and the required tax withholding obligations upon
option exercises and conversion of RSUs to freely-tradable common
stock. In January 2007, our Board of Directors authorized the n:purcﬁase,
subject to market conditions, of up to 100 million shares of Holdings’
common stock for the management of our equity capital, including

offserting dilution due to employee stock awards. This authorization

superseded the stock repurchase program authorized in 2006. During
2007, we repurchased approximately 34.6 million shares of our common
stock through open-market purchases at an aggregate cost of approxi-
mately $2.6 billion, or $75.40 per share. In addition, we withheld
approximacely 8.5 million shares of conumon stock from employees at an
equivalent cost of approximately $373 million. At November 30, 2007,
approximately 57 million shares remained available for repurchase under
this authorization.

In January 2008, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase,
subject to market conditions, of up to 100 million shares of Holdings’
common stock for the management of the Firm's equity capital, includ-
ing consideration of dilution due to employee stock awards, This resolu-

tion supersedes the stock repurchase program authorized in 2007

NOTE 13 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We provide both funded and unfunded noncontributory defined
benefit pension plans for the majority of our employees worldwide. In
addition, we provide certain other postretirement benefits, primarily
health care and life insurance, to eligible employees. We use a November
30 measurement date for our plans.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 158, which requires an
employer to recognize the over- or under-funded status of its defined
benefit postretirement plans as an asset or liability in its Consolidated
Statement of Financial Condition, measured as the difference berween

the fair value of the plan assets and the benefit obligation. For pension

plans, the benefit obligation is the projected benefit obligation. For other
postretirement plans, the benefit obligation is the accumulated postre-
tirement obligation. Upon adoption, SFAS 158 requires an employer to
recognize previously unrecognized actuarial gains and losses and prior
service costs within Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)
{net of tax), a coniponent of Stockholders’ equiry. We adopted this provi-
sion of SFAS 158 for the year ended November 30, 2007.

The following table illustrates the incremental effect of the applica-
tion of SFAS 158 on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition
at November 30, 2007

BEFORE APPLICATION SFAS 158 AFTER APPLIGATION
IN MILLIONS OF SFAS 158 ADOPTION ADJUSTMENTS OF SFAS 158
Prepaid pension cost $ 662 £ (35N $ 3
Deferred tax assets 3.183 137 3,320
Total Assets 691,277 (214) 691,063
Liabtlity for pension and postretirement benefits 123 ! 116
Deferred tax liabilities 1.008 3 1,011
Total Liabilities 668.577 # 608,573
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) (100} {210) (310)
Total Stockholders” Equity § 22,700 § (210 $ 22,490

The minimum pension liability of §24 million was eliminated
with the adoption of SFAS 158.
The following table provides a summary of the changes in the

plans’ benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets, and funded status and

amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Condition for our U.S. and non-U.S. defined benefit pension and

postretirement benefit plans:
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DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

OTHER

PENSION BENEFITS POSTRETIREMENT
[N MILLIONS us. KON-L.S. BENEFITS
NOVEMBER 30, 2007 2006 2001 2006 2007 2006
CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $1,168 $1,017 $514 $399 S61 $ 60
Service cost 54 47 7 8 1 1
Interest cost 67 61 26 20 3 3
Plan amendiments and curtailments (3) 3 (L) — — —
Actuarial loss/{gain) (177 69 (1) 37 (6 2
Benefits paid (32) @9 ) @ (6) o)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes — — 28 57 — —
Benefit obligation at end of year 1,077 1,168 484 514 53 al
CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 1,147 1,030 494 378 - —
Actual return on plan assets, net of expenses 94 90 28 43 - —
Employer contribution —_ 50 48 26 6 5
Benefits paid (32) {29) (12} () (6) {5)
Foretgn currency exchange rate changes - : —_ 30 53 — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of vear i,209 1,147 588 494 — —
Funded/{underfunded) status™" 132 {21 104 {200 {53) {61)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss/(gain) ¥ 455 161 9
Unrecognized prior service cost/ (benefi)! 30 1 {0
Prepaid/(accrued) benefit cost™ § 464 $142 $(71)
Accumulated benefit obligation—funded plans $ 947 $1,020 $457 $494
Accumulated benefic obligation—unfunded plans 63 76 12 —

™ In accordance with SFAS 158, the funded/(underfunded) status was recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition at November 30, 2007 and Unrecognized net
actuarial gain/(loss) and Unrecognized prior service cost/(benefit) was recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity at November 30, 2007,

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE ASSUMPTIONS USED TO DETERMINE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

OTHER
PENSION BENEFITS POSTRETIREMENT
.S, NON-U.5. BENEFITS
NOYEMBER 30, 2007 2006 2007 2008 2007 2006
1iscount rate 6.66% 5.73% 5.00% 4.82% 6.45% 5.70%

Rate of compensation increase 5.00% 5.00% 4.60% 4.30%

The following table presents the pre-tax net actuarial loss/  comprehensive income/{lossy at November 30, 2007:

(gain) prior service cost/(benefit) recognized in accumulated other

OTHER

PENSION BENEFITS POSTRETIREMENT

us. NOR-U.S. BEREFITS
Net actuarial loss/(gain) $238 $ 94 $(16)
Prior Service cost/ (benefir) 27 — (N
Total $265 $ 94 $(17)

The following table presents the estimated pre-tax net actuarial  net periodic cost/(income) and recorded inte the Consolidated
loss/(gain) and estimated prior service costs/(credits) that will be  Statement of Income in fiscal 2008:

amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss} into
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PENSION BENEFITS OTHER POSTRETIREMENT
IN MILLIONS 0s. NON-U.S. BENEFITS
Net actuarial boss/(gain) $10 $ 4 §(1)
Prior Service cost/(benefit) $ 4 5— 5(1)

COMPONENTS OF NET PERIODIC COST
PENSION BENEFITS POSTRETIREMENT

IN MILLIONS U.S. PENSIONS HOR-LU.S. BENEFITS
NOVEMBER 30, 2007 2006 2005 007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Service cost 357 $49 $42 $7 $8 $7 51 §2 $§2
[nterest cost 67 61 56 26 20 19 4 3 3
Expected return on plan assets {86) 76) (¢5)] @an (26} (24} _ — —
Amortization of net actuarial loss 26 30 33 11 10 11 - — —
Amortization of prior service cost 4 4 3 — 1 i (1) {1) n
Net periodic cost 368 $68 $60 $7 $13 $14 $4 $4 §4

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE ASSUMPTIONS USED TO DETERMINE NET PERIODIC COST FOR THE YEARS ENDED NOVEMBER 30,

PENSION BENEFITS POSTRETIREMENT
U.5. PENSIONS NON-U.S. BEMEFITS
2007 2006 2005 7007 2008 2005 2007 2006 2005
[iscount rate 5.73% 5.98% 5.90% 5.00% 4.82% 4.80% 5.70% 5,701 5.90%
Expected :fr:tum on plan assets 7.50% 7.50% 8.50% 7.50% 6.57% 6.96%
Rate of compensation increase 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 4.60% 4.30% 4.30%
RETURN ON PLAN ASSETS PLAN ASSETS

US. and non-U.8..Plans  Establishing the expected rate of return
on pension assets requires judgment, We consider the following factors
in determining these assumptions:

B The types of investment classes in which pension plan assets are
invested and the expected compounded return we can reasonably
expect the portfolio 1o earn over appropriate time periods. The
expected return reflects forward-looking economic assumptions.

® The investment returns we can reasonably expect our active invest-
ment nanagement program to achieve in excess of the remurns
expected if investments were made strictly in indexed funds.

B Invesunent related expenses,

We review the expected long-term rate of return annually and
revise it as appropriate. Also, we periodically cormission detailed asset/
liability studies to be performed by third-party professional investment
advisors and actuaries. These studies project stated furure returns on plan
assets. The studies performed in the past support the reasonableness of
our assuniptions based on the targeted allocation investment classes and

market conditions at the time the assumptions were established.

Pension plan assets are invested with the objective of meeting current
and future benefit payment needs, while minimizing future contributions.

US. plans  Plan assets are invested with several investment imanagers.
Assets are diversified among U.S. and international equity securities, U.S,
fixed income securities, real estate and cash. The plan employs a mix of active
and passive investament management programs. The strategic target of plan
asset allocation is approximately 65% equities and 35% US. fixed income.
The investnient sub-conunittee of our pension committee reviews the asset
allocation quarterly and, with the approval of the pension conunittee, deter-
mines when and how to rebalance the portfolio. The plan does not have a
dedicated allocation to Lehman Brothers common stock, although the plan
may hold a minimal investment in Lehman Brothers common stock as
a result of investment decisions made by various investment managers.

Non-U.S. plans Non-U.S. pension plan assets are invested with
several investment managers across a range of different asset classes. The
strategic target of plan asser allocation is approximarely 75% equities,
20% fixed income and 5% real estate.

Weighted-average plan asset allocations were as follows:

U.S. PLANS NON-U.S. PLANS
NOY 30, 2007 NOY 30, 2006 NOY 30, 2007 NOY 30, 2006
Equity securities 16% T2% 69% 72%
Fixed income securities 24 23 14 14
Rea! estate _ —_ 4 5
Cash _ 5 13 9

1004 100% 100% 100%
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EXPECTED CONTRIBUTIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING NOVEMBER 30, 2008

We do not expect it to be necessary to contribute to our U.S. pension plans in the fiscal year ending November 30, 2008. We expect to con-
tribute approximately $8 million to our non—IU.S. pension plans in the fiscal year ending November 30, 2008

ESTIMATED FUTURE BENEFIT PAYMENTS

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

PENSION
IN MILLIONS LS. NOK-US. POSTRETIREMENT
Fiscal 2008 $ 37 8 7 5§ 0
Fiscal 2009 41 7 5
Fiscal 2010 43 7 3
Fiscal 2011 46 7 5
Fiscal 2012 51 8 5
Fiscal 2013—2017 308 42 24
POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
Assumed health care cost trend rates were as follows:
NOVEMBER 30,

2007 2006
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 9% 9%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assuimed to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 5% 5%
Year the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2012 2011

A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would be intmaterial wo our other postretirement plans.

NOTE 14 INCOME TAXES

We file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return reflecting the income of Holdings and its subsidiaries. The provision for income taxes

consists of the following;

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES

NOVEMBER 30,

I MILLIONS 2007 2006 2005
Current:
Federal $ 121 $1.024 $1,037
State 50 91 265
Foreign 1,232 890 769
1,403 2,005 2,071
Deferred:
Federal 405 (80) {634)
State 23 22) 59
Foreign [§1] 42 191
418 (60} (502)
Provision for income taxes $1,821 $1,943 $1,569

Income before taxes included $6.8 billion, $2.7 billion and $1.9 billion that also were subject to income taxes of foreign jurisdictions for 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.
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The income tax provision differs from that computed by using the statutory federal income tax rate for the reasons shown below:

RECONCILIATION GF PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES TO FEDERAL iINCOME TAXES AT STATUTORY RATE

NOVEMBER 30,
1N MILLIONS 2007 2006 2005
Federal inconie taxes at statutory rate $2,104 $2,008 $1.690
State and local taxes 48 45 134
Tax-exempt income {114) (129) (133)
Foreign operations (225) a7 (113)
Other, net 8 (26) (7
Provision for income taxes §1,821 $1,945 $1.569

The provision for income taxes resulted in effective tax rates of 30.3%,
32.9% and 32.5% for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively The decrease in the
effecave tax rate in 2007 compared to 2006 was primarily due te a more
favorable mix of earnings which resulted in lower tax expense from foreign
operations as compared to the U.S. statutory race. The increases in the effec-
tive tax rates in 2006 and 2005 compared with the prior years were primar-
ily due o an increase in level of pretax earnings which minimizes the
impact of certain tax benefit items, and in 2006 a net reduction in certain
benefits from foreign operations, partially offset by a reduction in state
and local taxes due o favorable andit sertlements in 2006 and 2005,

In 2007, we recorded an income tax benefit of $2 million, and in
2006 and 2005 we recorded income tax charges of $2 million and $1

million, respectively, from the transladon of forgign currencies, which was

recorded directly in Accumulated other comprehensive income/ (loss).
Income tax benefits related to employee stock compensation plans of
approximately $434 million, $836 million and $1.0 billion in 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively, were allocated to Additional paid-in capital.

Deferred income taxes are provided for the differences between the
tax bases of assets and labilities and their reported amounts in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. These temporary differences will
result in future income or deductions for income tax purposes and are
measured using the enacted tax rates that will be in effect when such
items are expected to reverse.

Net deferred tax assets are included in Other assets in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition. At November 30, 2007

and 2006, deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

NOVEMBER 30,
IN MILLIONS 2007 2006
Deferred ax assets:
Liabilities and other accruals not currently deductible 5 161 § 415
Deferred compensation 1,930 1,657
Unrealized investment activity _ 251
Foreign tax credit carryforwards 246 214
Foreign operations {net of associated tax credits) 1,049 709
Net operating loss carryforwards 75 64
Other 132 91
Total deferred tax assets 3,593 3,401
Less: valuation allowance 273 (5)
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 3,320 3,396
Deferred tax liabilites:
Excess tax over financial depreciation, net (104) (103)
Acquired intangibles (369) (384)
Unrealized investment activity (373) —
Pension and retirement costs (104) (1923
Other (59) (47}
Total deferred tax liabilities (1,011) (726)
Net deferred tax assets $2,309 $ 2,670




We have permanently reinvested earnings in certain foreign subsid-
iartes. At November 30, 2007, $4.3 billion of accunuulated earnings were
permanently reinvested. At current tax rates, additional Federal income
taxes (net of available tax credits) of approximately $1.1 billion would
become payable if such income were to be repatriated.

We have approximately $215 million of Federal net operating loss
carryforwards that are subject to separate company limitations.
Substantially all of these net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire
between 2023 and 2026, At November 30, 2007, £5 million of the
deferred tax asset valuation allowance relates to Federal net operating loss
carryforwards of an acquired entity that is subject to separate company
limitations. If future circumstances permit the recognition of the
acquired tax benefit, goodwill will be reduced. The remaining deferred
tax asset valuadon allowance of $268 million relates to losses from for-
eign legal entities in which the prospect of future profitability does not
meet the more likely than not recognition threshold.

We are under continuous examination by the IRS, and other tax
authorities in major operating jurisdictions such as the United Kingdom
and Japan, and in various states in which the Company has significant
operations, such as New York. The Company regularly assesses the likeli-

hood of additional assessmients in each tax jurisdiction and the impact
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on the Consolidated Fimncial Statements. Tax reserves have been estab-
lished, which we believe to be adequate with regards to the potensial for
additional exposure. Once established, reserves are adjusced only when
additional information is obtained or an event requiring a change to the
reserve occurs. Management believes the resolution of these uncertain
tax positions will not have a material impact on the financial condition
of the Company; however resolution could have an impacr on our effec-
tive tax rate in any one particular period, .

We have completed the appeals process with respect to the 1997
through 2000 RS examination. Although most issues were settled on a
basts acceptable to us, two issues remain unresolved and will carry into
litgation with the TRS. Based on the swength of our positions, we have
not reserved any part of these issues. The aggregate tax benefits previously
recorded with regard o these two issues is approximately $185 million.

The IRS has recently begun an exanunation with respect to the
2001 through 2005 tax years. The audit is in its initial stages and no
adjustments have been proposed. We believe we are adequarely reserved
for any issues that may arise from this audit. The rwo issues from the
1997 through 2000 cycle which we plan to litigate also have an impact
on the 2001 through 2005 tax years. The aggregate tax benefiz previously

recorded with regard to these two issues is approximately $500 million,

NOTE 15 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

For regulatory purposes, Hcﬂdings and its subsidiaries are referred
w collectively as a CSE. CSEs are supervised and examined by the SEC,
which requires minimum capital standards on a consolidated basis. At
November 30, 2007, Holdings was in compliance with the CSE capical
requirements and had allowable capital in excess of the ntinimum capital
requirements on a consolidated basis.

In the United States, Leliman Brothers Inc. {"LBI™) and Neuberger
Bernuan, LLC (“NB LLC") are registered broker-dealers in the ULS. that
are subject to SEC Rule 15¢3-1 and Rule 1,17 of the Commodity
Futures Trading Conunission, which specify minimum net capital
requirements for the registrants. LBE and NB LLC have consistently
operated with net capital in excess of their respective regulatory capital
requirements. LBI has elected to caleulate its minimum net capital in
accordance with Appendix E of the Net Capital RRule which establishes
alternative net capital requirements for broker-dealers that are part of
CSEs. In additen to meeting the alternative net capital requirements,
LBI is required to maintin tentative net capital in excess of $1 billion
and net capital in excess of $500 million. LBI is also required to notify
the SEC in the event that its tenative net capital is less than §5 billion.
As of November 30, 2007, LBI had net capital of approximately $2.7
billion, which exceeded the minimum net capital requirement by
approximately $2.1 billion. As of November 30, 2007, NB LLC had net
capital of approximately $188 million, which exceeded the mimmum

net capital requirement by approximately $183 million.

Lehman Brothers International (Europe) (“LB Europe™), a2 United
Kingdom registered broker-dealer and subsidiary of Holdings, is subject
to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority (“FSA™)
in the United Kingdom. Financial resources, as defined, must exceed the
total financial resources requirement of the FSA. At November 30,2007,
LB Europess financial resources of approximately $16.2 billion exceeded
the minimum requirement by approximately $3.8 billion. Lehman
Brothers Japan {(“LB Japan™), a regulated broker-dealer, is subject to the
capital requirements of the Financial Services Agency in Japan and the
Bank of Japan. At November 30, 2007, LB Japan had net capital of
approximately $1.3 billion, which was approximately $748 million in
excess of Financial Services Agency in Japan's required level and approx-
imately $5312 million in excess of Bank of Japan’s required level.

Lehman Brothers Bank, FSB (“LB Bank™), our thrift subsidiary,
is regulared by the Oftice of Thrift Supervision. Lehman Brothers
Commercial Bank (“LI3 Comunercial Bank”), our Utah industrial
bank subsidiary is regulated by the Utah Departmemt of Financial
Instituttons and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. LB Bank
and LB Commercial Bank exceeded all regulatory capital require-
ments and are considered to be well capitalized as of November 30,
2007. Bankhaus is subject to the capital requirements of the Federal
Financial Supervisory Authority of the German Federal Republic. At
November 30, 2007, Bankhaus’ financial resources exceeded its mini-

mum financial resources requirement.
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Certain other subsidiaries are subject to various securities, com-
modities and banking regulations and capital adequacy requirements
promulgated by the regulatory and exchange authorities of the coun-
tries in which they operate. At November 30, 2007, these other
subsidiaries were in compliance with their applicable local capital
adequacy requirements.

In addition, our AAA rated derivatives subsidiaries, Lehman
Brothers Financial Products Inc. (“LBFP”} and Lehman DBrothers

Derivative Products Inc. (‘LBDP”), have established certain capital and

operating, restrictions that are reviewed by various rating agencies. At
Noventber 30, 2007, LBFP and LBDP each had capital that exceeded
the requirements of the rating agencies.

The regulatory rules referred to above, and certain covenants can-
tained in various debt agreements, may restrict Holdings’ ability to
withdraw capital from its regulated subsidiaries, which in turn could
linit its ability to pay dividends to sharcholders. Holdings fully guaran-
tees the payment of all liabilities, obligations and commitments of certain

of its subsidiaries.

NOTE 16 QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

The foliowing table presents unaudited quartetly results of opera-
tions for 2007 and 2006. Certain amounts reflect reclassifications to
conform to the current period’s presentation, These quarterly resulis

reflect all normal recurring adjustments that are, in the opinion of

management, necessary for a fair presencation of the results. Revenues
and net income can vary significantly from quarrer to quarter due to

the nature of our business activities,

QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

{N MILLICNS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA

FOR THE QUARTER ENGED

NOVEMBER 30, 2007 AUGUST 31, 2007 MAY 31,2007 FEBRUARY 28, 2007

Total revenues $14,890 $14,739 $15,579 $13,795
Interest expense 10,500 10,431 10,067 B,748
Net revenues 4,390 4,308 5,512 5,047
Non-interest expenses;

Compensation and benefits 2,164 2,124 2,718 2,488

Non-personnel expenses 996 979 915 860
Total non-interest expenses 3,160 3,103 3,633 3,348
Income before taxes 1,230 1,245 1,879 1,699
Provision for income taxes 344 318 606 553
Net income 886 § 887 $ 1,273 $ 1,146
Net income applicable to common stock 870 s 870 § 1,256 § 1,129
Earnings per commen share:

Basic $ 1.60 $ 1.61 $ 233 $ 2.09

Dilated $ 1.54 § 1.54 $ .21 5 1.96
Weighted-average commion shares:

Basic 542.6 540.4 538.2 540.9

1Jiluted 363.7 565.8 568.1 575.4
Dividends per conimon share 3 0.15 $ 0.15 § 0.15 § 0.15
Book walue per common share (ar period end) $ 39.44 § 3829 § 37.15 $ 35.15
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FOR THE QUARTER ENDED

IN NILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA NOVEMBER 30, 2006  AUGUST 31, 2006 MAY 31, 2006 FEBRUARY 28, 2006
Total revenues $13,160 $11.727 $11,515 $10,307
Interest expense 8,627 7.549 7.104 5,846
Net revenues 4,533 4,178 4,411 4.461
Non-interest expenses:

Compensation and benefits 2,235 2,060 2,175 2,199

Non-personnel expenses 4 809 751 738 711
Tota} non-interest expenses ) 3,044 2,811 2913 2,410
Income before taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change 1,489 1,367 1,498 1,551
Provision for income taxes 485 451 196 513
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — 47
Net income $ 1004 $ 96 $ 1,002 § 1,085
Net income applicable to common stock § 987 $ 899 § 986 $ 1,069
Earnings per common share:

Basic § 183 $ 1.66 $ 181 $ 1.9

Diluted $ 172 $ 157 $ 169 $ 183
Weighted-average common shares:

Basic . 539.2 5409 545.1 546.2

Diluted 573.1 573.3 582.8 584.2
Dividends per common share 3 012 $ 012 $ 012 $ 012

Book walue per common share (at period end) $ 3387 § 32.16 $ 31.08 $ 30.01
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

AS OF OR FOR THE YEAR ENDED NOVEMBER 30,

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF IKCOME {IN MILLIONS)
Total revenues $ 59,003 § 46,709 $ 32,420 $ 21,250 $ 17,287
Interest expense 39,746 29,126 17,790 9,674 8,640
Net revenues 19,257 17.583 14,630 11,576 8,647
Non-interest expenses:
Compensation and benefits 9,494 8,669 7.213 5,730 4,318
Non-personnel expensest! 3,750 3,009 2,588 2,309 1,716
Real estate reconfiguration charge — - — 19 77
Total non-interest expenses 13,244 11,678 801 8,058 611
Income before taxes and cumulstive effect of accounting change 6,013 5,905 4,829 3,518 2,536
Provision for incoms taxes 1,821 1,945 1,569 1,125 765
Dividends on trust preferred securities®™ —_ — — 24 72
Income before cumulative effect of accounting change 4,192 3,960 3.260 2,369 169
Cumulative effect of accounting change — 47 — — —
Net income $ 4,192 $ 4,007 $ 3.260 § 2,369 3 L.6Y9
Net income applicable to common stock $ 4,125 $ 3941 $ 3191 $ 2297 $ 1,649
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINAKCIAL CONDITION (IN MILLIONS)
Total assets - $691,063 $503,545 $3410,063 $357,168 $312,06%
Net asses® 09 372,959 268,936 211,424 175,221 163,182
Long-term borrowings® ¢ 123,150 81,178 53,899 49,365 35,885
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption™ — — — — 1,310
Total stockholders” equity 22,490 19.19 16,794 14,920 13.174
Tangible equity capital® 09 23,103 18,567 15,564 12,636 10,681
Total long-term capital 145,640 100,369 70,693 04,285 50,369
PER COMMON SHARE DATA (IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMQUNTS)™
Earnings per share;
Basic § 7.63 § 726 § 574 § 418 § 336
Diluted $ 7.2 $ 681 § 543 § 39 s 37
Wcightr:d average common shares outstanding:
Basic 540.6 543.0 5356.3 549.4 491.3
Diluted 568.3 578.4 587.2 581.5 319.7
ividends declared and paid per common share § 0.60 $§ 048 $ 040 $ 032 § 024
Book value per common share® $ 39.4 $ 3387 $ 2875 $ 2466 $ 2209
SELECTED DATA
Leverage ratio®™ 30.7x 26.2x 24.4x 23.9x 23.7x
Net leverage ratio®® 16.1x 14.5x 13.6x 13.9x 15.3x
Employees 28,556 25,936 22,919 19,579 16,188
Assets under management {in billions) 5 282 $ 225 $§ 175 $ 137 $§ 120
FINANCIAL RATIDS
Compensation and benefits/net revenues 49.3% 49.3% +49.3% 49.5% 49.9%
Pre-tax margin 31.2% 33.6% 33.0% 30.4% 29.3%
Return on average common stockholders’ equity ! 20.8% 23.4% 21.6% 17.9% 18.2%
Return on average tangible common stockholders’ equiry™! 25.7% 29.1% 27.8% 24.7% 19.2%




.

LerManN BROTHERS 2007 ANNUAL REFORT
Selected Financial Data
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% Non-personnel expenses exclude real estate reconfiguration charges of $19 million and $77 million for the years ended November 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

@ We adapted FIN 46(R) eftective February 29, 2004, which required us to deconsoligate the trusts that issued the prelerred securities. Accordingly, at and subsequent to February 29, 2004,
preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption were reclassified to junior subordinated notes, a component of kong-term barrowings. Dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption, which were presented as Dividends on trust preferred securities in the Consolidated Statement of Income theough February 29, 2004, are included in Interest
expense in periods subsequent to February 29, 2004,

ES

We calculate net assets by excluding from total assets: {i) cash and secunties segregated and on deposit for reguiatory and other pucpases; (i) callateralized lending agreements; and (iii}
identifiable intangible assets and goodwill. We believe net assets to be 2 more useful measure of our assels than total assets becavse it excludes cerain low-risk, non-inventory assets. Net
assels as presented are not necessarity comparable to similarty-titled measures provided by other companies in the securities industry because of different methods of presentation.

AT NOVEMBER 30,

TH MILLIDNS 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Total assets $691,063 $503,545 $410,063 $357,168 $312,061
Cash and securities segregated and on deposit for regulatory

and other purposes {12,7143) (6,001) {5,744) {4,085) (31000
Collateralized lending agreements {301,234) {225,156 (189,639) (174,578 142,218)
Identifiable intangible assets and goodwil! 4,120 (3,362) {3,256) (3,284) (3,561)
Net assets $372,959 $268,936 $211,424 $175,221 $163,182

=

Long-term borrowings exclude borrowings with remaining contractuat maturities within twelve months of the financial statement date.

g

We calculate tangible equity capital by including stockholders' equity and junior subordinated notes (at November 3G, 2003, preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption), and
excluding identifiable intangible assets and goodwill. See "MO&A—Liquidity, Funding and Capital Resources—Balance Sheet and Financial Leverage" for additional information about
tangible equity capital. We believe tangible equity capital to be a more meaningful measure of gur equily base as it includes instruments we consider to be equity-like due to their
subordinated nature, long-term maturity and interest deferrzl features and excludes assets we do not consider available to support our remaining net assets {see nole 3 above). These
measures may not be comparable to gther, similarly titled calculations by other companies as a result of ditferent calculation methedologies.

. AT NOYEMBER 30,
IN MILLIONS 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Total stockholders’ equity $ 22490 $ 19191 $ 16,794 $ 14920 $ 13104
Junior subardinated notes (subject to limitation)®® 4140 2,138 2,026 1,000 1,068
Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill {4,120 13,362) (3,256) (3,280 (3,561}
Tangible equity capital $ 23103 § 18,567 $ 15,564 $ 12,636 $ 10,681

4 Preferred securities subject to mancatory redemption at November 30, 2003.

® Qur definition for tangible equity capital limits the amount of junicr subsrdinated notes and preferred stock included in the calculation to 25% of tangible equity capital. The amount
excluded was approximately $237 million at November 30, 2007. No amounts were excluded in prior periods.

® Total long-term capital includes fong-term borrowings (excluding any borrowings with remaining contractual maturities within twelve months of the financial statement date) and total
stackholders’ equity and, at November 30, 2003, preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption. We believe total long-term capital is useful to investors as a measure of our
financial strength.

M Common share and per shara amounts have been retrospectively adjusted 1o give effect for the 2-for-1 commen stack split, effected in the form of a 100% stock dividend, which became
effective April 28, 2006.

@ The book value per common share calculation includes amortized restricted stock units granted under emplovee stock award programs, which have been included in total stockholders’ equity.
B |everage ratio is defined as total assets divided by total stockholders’ equity.

Y% Nat |everage satio is defined as net assets {see note 3 above} divided by tangidle equity capital (see note 5 above). We befieve net leverage based on net assets and tangible equity capital to be
a more sreaningful measure of leverage as nef assets excludes cerain low-risk, non-inventory assets and we believe tangible equity capilal to be a more meaningful measure of our equity base.
Het leverage as presented is not necessarily comparable to simitary-titled measures provided by other compantes in the securities industry because of different methods of presentation.

% Return on average common stockhlders' equity is computed by dividing net income applicable to common steck for the period by average cemmon stockholders' equity. Return on average
tangible common stockholders’ equity is computed by dividing net income applicable to commoen stock for the pesied by average tangible common stockholders' equity. Average tangible
cemmon stockholders' equity equals average total common stockholders’ equity less average identifiable intangible assets and goodwill. We believe tangible common stockholders' equity
is a meaningful measure because it reflects the common stockholders’ equity deployed in our businesses. Average common stockholders’ equity, Average identifiable intangible assets
and goodwill and Average tangible common stockholders’ equity are caloulated as:

AS OF DR FOR THE YEAR ENDED NDVEMBER 20,

IN MILLIONS 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Het income applicable to common stock $ 4,125 $ 3941 $ 3191 § 2297 $1.649
Average stockholders' equity $20,910 $17,971 $15,936 $14.059 $9,899
Less: average preferred stock (1,095) {1,085 (1,195 (1,210 (838)
Average common stockholders' equity $19,815 $16,876 $14.741 $12.842 $9,061
Less: average identifiable intangible assets and goodwill (3,755) (3,312} (3,272) (3,547) 471}
Average tangible common stockholders' equity $16,059 $13,564 $11,469 $9295 $8.590
Return on average common stockholders' equity 20.8% 23.4% 21.6% 17.9% 18.2%

Return on average tangible common stockholders' equity KH.7% 29.1% 27.8% 24.7% 19.2%
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OTHER STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

COMMON STOCK

TICKER SYMBOL: LEH The common stock of Lehman
Brothers Holdings Inc., par value 80,10 per share, is listed on the NewYork
Stock Exchange. As of December 31, 2007, there were 530,588,207 shares
of the Company's conunon stock outstanding and approximately 23,200
holders of record. On January 28, 2008, the last reported sales price of
Lehman Brothers’ common stock was $60.63.

Lehntan Brothers Holdings currently is authorized to issue up
to 1,200,000,000 shares of common stock. Each holder of common
stock is entitled to one vote per share for the election of directors
and all other matters to be voted on by stockholders. Holders of
common stock may not cumulate their votes in the election of
directors. They are entitled to share equally in the dividends that may
be declared by the Board of Directors, after payment of dividends on
preferred stock. Upon voluntary or inveluntary lhiquidation, dissolu-
tion or winding up of the Company, holders of common stock will
share ratably in the assets reimaining after payments to creditors and
provision for the preference of any preferred stock, There are no
preemptive or other subscription rights, “poison pills,” conversion
rights or redemption or scheduled instaliment payment provisions
relating to the Company’s common stock.

PREFERRED STOCK

Lehman Brothets Holdings currently is authorized to issue up to
24,999,000 shares of preferred stock. par value $1.00 per share. Lehman
Brothers’ Board of Directors may autherize the issuance of classes or
series of preferred stock from time to time, each with the voting rights,
preferences and other special rights and qualifications, limitations or
restrictions specified by the Board. A series of preferred stock may rank
as senior, equal or subordinate to another series of preferred stock. Each
series of preferred stock will mnk prior to the common stock as to divi-
dends and distributions of assets.

As of January 28, 2008, Lehman Brothers has issued and out-
standing 798,000 shares of preferred stock in four series (each repre-
sented by depositary shares) with differing rights and privileges. The
outstanding preferred stock does not have voting rights, except in
certain very limited circumstances involving the Company’ failure to
pay dividends thereon and certain matters affecting the specific rights
of the preferred stockholders.

ANNUAL MEETING

Lehman Brothers’ annual meeting of stockhelders will be held on
Tuesday, April 15, 2008 ac 10:30 a.m. at its global headquarters at 745
Seventh Avenue, New York, New York 10019 in the Allan 8. Kaplan
Auditotiwm on the Concourse Level.

DIVIDENDS

In January 2008, our Board of Directors increased the fiscal
2008 annual conunon stock dividend rate to $0.68 per share from an
annual dividend rate of §0.60 per share in fiscal 2007 and $0.48 per
share in fiscal 2006. Dividends on the common stock are genenally
payable, following declaration by the Board of Directors, in February,
May, August and November.

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT FOR COMMON STOCK

Questions regarding dividends, transfer requirements, lost certificates,
changes of address, direct deposit of dividends, the Direct Purchase and
Dividend Reinvesoment Plan, or other inquiries should be directed to:

The Bank of New York Telephone: (B00) 824-3707 {U.S)
Shareholders Services Deparonent (212) 815-3700 (non-U.S.)
PO. Box 11258 E-mail: shareowners@bankofiyy.com
Church Streer Station Web site: http://wwnwstockbay.com
New York, New York 10286-1258

DIRECT PURCHASE AND DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

Lebman Brothers’ Direct Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment
Plan provides both existing stockholders and first-time investors with an
alternative means of purchasing the Company’ stock. The plan has no
minimuni stock ownership requirentents for eligibility and enrollment.
Plan participants may reinvest all or a portion of cash dividends and/or
make optional cash purchases up to a maximum of $175,000 per year
without incurring comumissions or service charges. Additional inferma-
tion and enrollment forms can be obtained from the Company’s Transfer
Agent listed above.

ANNUAL REPORT AND FORM 10-K

Lehman Brothers will make available upon request, without
charge, copies of this Annual Report and the 2007 Annual
Report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Requests may be directed to:

Jeffrey A. Welikson, Corporate Secretary
Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc.

1271 Avenue of the Americas, 42nd Floor
New York, New York 10019

Telephone: (212) 526-0858

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FiRM
Ernst & Young LLP

5 Times Square

New York, New York 10036
Telephone: (212) 773-3000

WEB SITE ADDRESS

htp://wwwlehman.com

PERFORMANCE GRAPH AND TABLE

The performance graph and table below illustrating curnulative
stockholder return compares the performance of our Common Stock,
measured at each of the Company's last five fiscal year-ends, with that of
the S&P Financial Index and the S&P 500 Index. These comparatives
assume $100 was invested in the Common Stock and each index on
November 30, 2002, and that all dividends were reinvested in full,

INVESTOR RELATIONS
(212} 526-3267

MEDIA RELATIONS
(212) 526-4382

3260 ] Lchmun Brothers Holdings Inc. s

350 W sarsm SN
$220 B S&P Financiak }]’ -
200
$180
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$140
$120
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2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Cumulative Total Return In Dollars at November 30,

002m 2003 2004 205 2008 00
Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. 10000 11851 13863 210.14 24743 21220
S&P 500 100.00 11509 129.38 14085 16090 17333
S&P Financials 10000 11820 13138 14610 168.04 15018

i Comparative assumes $100 was invested in the Common Stock and each index on
November 30, 2002, and that all dividends were reinvested in full, .

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

THREE MONTHS

ENDED 2007 ROV. 30 AUG. 31 MAY 21 FEB. 28
High $67.73 $82.05  §79.21 $86.18
Low §51.59 $49.06 568.07 §72.26
THREE MONTHS

ENDED 2006 NOV. 30 AUE. 31 MAY 31 FEB. 29
High $78.89 $69.48 $78.85 $74.79
Low $63.04 $38.37 $62.82 $62.14

The above table has been adjusted to reflect the April 28, 2006 2-for-1 stock split.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Lehman Brothers continues to be committed to industry best
practices with respect to corporate governance. The corporate gover-
nance documents that have been adopted by the Firm reflect the lsting
standards adopted by the New York Stock Exchange, the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act and other legal and regulatory changes.

The Company’s Board of Directors currendy consists of ten mem-
bers. The Board of Directors has determined that, with the exception of
Mr. Fuld, all of the Company’ directors are independent, and the Audi,
Nominating and Corporate Governance, Finance and Risk, and
Compensation and Benefits Committees are composed exclusively of
independent directors. The Audit Commiittee includes a financial expert
as defined in the SEC’s rules.

The Board of Directors holds regularly scheduled executive sessions
in which non-management directors meet independently of manage-
ment. The Board and the Audit, Nominating and Corporate Governance,
and Compensation and Benefits Committees each conduct a self-evalu-
ation at least annually.

The current committees of the Board of Directors and their mem-
bers are set forth on page 128. During fiscal 2007, the Board of
Direcrors held 8 meetings, the Audit Commiuee held 11 ineetings, the
Compensation and Benefits Commitnee held 7 meetings, the Finance
and Risk Committee held 2 meetings and the Nominatng and
Corporate Governance Commnittee held 5 meetings. Overall director
antendance at Board and committee meetings was 96%.

The Company has established an orientadon program for new
directors to familiarize them with the Company’s operations, strategic
plans, Code of Ethics, management and independent registered public
accounting firm.

The Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines also contem-
plate continuing director education arranged by the Company. Directors
receive presentations from senior management on different aspects of the
Company’s business and from Finance, Legal, Compliance, Internal Audit,
Risk Management and other disciplines at Board meetings throughout
the year.

Descriptions of the director nomination process, the compensation
received by directors for their service and certain transactions and agree-
ments between the Company and its directors may be found in the
Company’s 2008 Proxy Statement.

The Board of Directors recognizes that legal requirements and gov-
ernance practices will continue to evolve, and the Board will continue to
reevaluate its practices in light of these changes.

CORPORATE GOYERNANCE DOCUMENTS AND WEB SITE

The corporate governance documents that have been adopted by
the Firm reflect the listing standards adopted by the New York Stock
Exchange, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other legal and regulatory
requirements. The following documents can be found on the Corporate
Governance page of the Company’s Web site at www.lehman.com/share-
holder/corpgov:

® Corporate Governance Guidelines

® Code of Ethics

@ Audit Committee Charter

8 Compensation and Benefits Committee Charter

@ Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter

COMMUNICATING WITH THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Information an how to contact the non-management members of
the Board of Directors, and how to contact the Audit Committee regard-
ing complaints about accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing
matters, can be found on the Corporate Governance page of the
Company’s Web site at wwwlehman.com/shareholder/corpgov.

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION AND BY-LAWS

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. is incorporated under the laws of the
State of Delaware, Copies of the Company’s certificate of incorporation
and by-laws are filed with the SEC as exhibits to the Companys 2007
Annual Report on Form 10-K, See “*Awilable Information™ in the Form
10-K. An amendment to the certificate of incorporation requires a major-
ity vote of stockholders, voting together as a single class, unless the amend-
ment would affect certain rights of preferred stockholders, in which case
the consent of two-thirds of such preferred stockholders is required. The
by-laws may be amended or repealed or new by-laws may be adopted by
a mujority vote of stockholders or by a majority of the entire Board of
Directors then in office, provided that notice thereof is conuined in the
notice of the meeting of stockholders or of the Board, as the case may be.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEES

The Company’s Board of Directors currendy consists of ten direc~
tors. The number of directors is established from time to time by the
Board of Directors, although there muust be at least six and not more than
twenty-four directors. In addition, under certain circumstances involving
Lehman Brothers’ failure to pay dividends on preferred stock, preferred
stockholders may be entitled to elect additional directors.

Directors (other than any that may be elected by preferred stock-
holders as described above) are elected by a majority of the votes cast by
the helders of the Company’s common stock represented in person or by
proxy at the Annual Meeting, except in the event of a contested election
in which a plurality vote standard is rerained. A director may be removed
by 2 majority vote of stockholders. Directors are elected annually for a
one-year terin expiring at the annual meeting of stockholders in the fol-
lowing year.

Vacancies in the Board of Directors and newly created directorships
resulting from an increase in the size of the Board may be filled by a
majority of the remaining directors, although less than a quorum, or by a
sole remaining director, and the directors so elected will hold office undl
the next annual election. No decrease in the number of directors consti-
tuting the Board will shorten the term of any incumbent director.

A majority of the entire Board, or of any comunittee, is necessary to
constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and the vote of a
majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is pres-
ent constitutes the act of the Board or committee. Actions may be taken
without a meeting if all members of the Board or of the committee
consent in writirng,

GEO AND CFO CERTIFICATIONS

The Company has filed with the SEC as exhibits to its 2007 Annual
Report on Form 10-K the cerdfications of the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer required under Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and SEC Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14{a)
regarding the Companys financial statements, disclosure controls and
procedures and other matters. In addition, following its 2007 annual
meeting of stockholders, the Company submitted to the NYSE the
annual certification of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer required
under Section 303A.12{a) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual, that he
was not aware of any violation by the Company of the NYSES corporate
governance listing standards.
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Sewior Leadership

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Richard §. Fuld, Jr.
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer
Ceommittees: Executive
{Chairman)

Direcior since 1990

Michael L. Ainslie
Private Investor and
Former President and
Chief Executive Officer
of Sotheby’s Holdings
Committees: Audit
Director since 1996

John E Akers
Retired Chairman of
International Business
Machines Corporation
Conmittees: Compensation
and Benefits (Chairman);
Finance and Risk
Director since 1996

Roger S. Berlind
Theatrical Producer
Committees: Audit;
Finance and Risk
Director since 1985

Thomas H. Cruikshank
Retired Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
of Halliburton Company
Committees: Audit
(Chairman); Nominating
and Corporate Governance
Director since 1996

Marsha Johnson Evans
Rear Admiral,
U.S. Navy (Retired)
Conmuittees: Compensation
and Benefits; Finance and
Risk; Nominating and
Corporate Governance
(Chairman)
Director since 2004

Sir Christopher Gent
Non-Executive Chairman
of GlaxoSmithKline ple
Connirtees: Audit;
Compensation and Benefits
Director since 2003

Roland A. Hernandez

Retired Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
of Teletnundo Group, Inc.
Comunittees: Finance

and Risk

Director sinee 2005

Dr. Henry Kaufinan

President of Henry
Kaufman & Company, Inc.
Commuitiees: Finance

and Risk {Chairman)
Dirceror sinee 1995

John D. Macomber

Principal of JI2M
[nvestment Group
Comnittees: Compensation
and Benefits; Executive;
Nominating and
Corporate Governance
Director since 1994

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Richard §. Fuld, Jr.
Chairnian and Chief

Executive Officer

Jasjit 8. Bhattal
Chief Executive Officer,
Asia-Pacific

Erin M. Callan*
Chief Fmancial Officer

Scott J. Freidheim
Co-Chief Administrative
Officer

Dave Goldfarb
Global Head of Strategic
Partnerships, Principal
Investing and Risk

Joseph M. Gregory
President and Chief
Operaung Officer

Jeremy M. Isaacs
Chief Executive Officer,
Europe, Middle East
and Asia-Iacific

Theodore P. Janulis
Global Head of Mortgage
Capital

Stephen M. Lessing
Head of Client
Relationship Management

Ian T. Lowitt
Co-Chief Administrative
Officer

Herbert H. McDade III
Global Head of Capital
Markets/Equities

Hugh E. McGee III
Global Head of Investment
Banking

Andrew ]J. Morton
Global Head of Capital
Markets/Fixed hicome

Christopher M. O’Meara*
Giobal Head of Risk
Managetment

Thomas A. Russo
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc. and
Chief Legal Officer

George H. Walker
Global Head of

[nvestment Management

OTHER OFFICERS

Mark H. Burton

Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Barbara M. Byrne
Vice Chatrman
Lehman Brothers Inc,

Kunho Cho
Vice Chairtnan
Lehman Brothers Ine.

Howard L. Clark, Jr.
Vice Chairman and
Member of Board
of Directors
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Leslie J. Fabuss
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc,

J. Stuart Francis
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Frederick Frank
Vice Chairman and
Member of Board
of Directors
Lehnian Brothers Inc.

Joseph D. Gatto
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Ruggero F. Magnoni
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers inc.
and Lehman Brothers
International {Europe)

Vittorio Pignatti Morano
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Grant A. Porter
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Robert D, Redmond
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Felix G, Rohatyn
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Casey Safreno
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Joseph G. Sauvage
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Marvin C. Schwartz
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Peter Sherratt
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

Andrew R. Taussig
Vice Chairman
Lehman Brothers Inc.

*Effective December 1, 2007, Erin M. Callan assurned che tole of chief financial officer and
Christoper M. O'Meara asumed the role of global head of risk management.
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